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This unfinished—and unflattering—portrait by Gilbert Stuart ironically came to be the most famous depiction of Washington. Martha Washington criticized it as not a “true resemblance.” Photograph © 2013 Museum of Fine Arts, Boston; National Portrait Gallery, Smithsonian Institution / Art Resource, NY
Martha and George Washington entertained a great many visitors at their grand Mount Vernon estate beside the Potomac. In fact, the visitors became so frequent that George resorted to removing signage in order to confuse would-be houseguests. Library of Congress, Prints & Photographs Division, LC-DIG-pga-01228
This print depicts Independence Hall at the time of the signing of the Declaration of Independence in 1776. This building served as the principle seat of government, except for periods when Congress was forced by the advancing British forces to evacuate. With the postwar government failing, Washington and other patriot leaders returned in 1787 for the Constitutional Convention. Library of Congress, Prints & Photographs Division, LC-DIG-pga-04142
With the help of his assistants, Washington produced an amazing 140,000 documents during the Revolutionary War. Foreseeing his letters’ value to posterity, he checked virtually all of the scribes’ work and held each letter to exacting standards. He spent his nights documenting his actions and explaining to Congress what was needed to conduct the war. This image of his inaugural address depicts Washington’s own fine penmanship. National Archives (Records of the U.S. Senate)
Washington was born into a family of relatively modest means but worked (and married) his way into wealth. This depiction of Washington as a child is titled “Father, I cannot tell a lie: I cut the tree,” and perpetuates the cherry tree myth. Washington indeed told a great many lies, and his knack for deception enabled the United States to outwit the British and win the war. Library of Congress, Prints & Photographs Division, LC-DIG-pga-02152
The Sons of Liberty punish a Loyalist for his opposition to the Revolution. The practice of “tarring and feathering” had originated in 1189 with Richard the Lionheart during the Crusades, but was not used extensively until the colonists revived it during their revolt against Britain. National Archives photo no. 148-GW-436 (The George Washington Bicentennial Commission)
Throwing caution to the wind, Ethan Allen launches a daring surprise attack on Fort Ticonderoga in May 1775. The sleeping British did not even have time to dress, let alone put up a fight. National Archives photo no. 111-SC-94758 (Signal Corps Photographs of American Military Activity)
This portrait depicts Benjamin Franklin, John Adams, and Thomas Jefferson poring over a draft of the Declaration of Independence at Jefferson’s lodgings in Philadelphia in June 1776. In an early draft, Jefferson referred to the American people as “subjects.” While he simply crossed out other errors in the draft, this was the only word that he obliterated with furious strokes of his pen. The American people were no longer “subjects” of any king. Library of Congress, Prints & Photographs Division, LC-USZC4-9904
George Washington organizes a masterful secret retreat from Long Island during a violent storm in August 1776. According to one soldier’s diary, the troops, “strictly enjoined not to speak, or even cough,” silently filed into the boats, and New England fishermen used their unique skill set to ferry them to safety in Manhattan. National Archives photo no. 148-GW-174 (The George Washington Bicentennial Commission)
During that winter of 1777–1778 at Valley Forge, Washington pleaded with Congress for food, clothing, and supplies, writing, “I am now convinced, beyond a Doubt that unless some great and capital change suddenly takes place in that line, this Army must inevitably be reduced to one or other of these three things. Starve, dissolve, or disperse, in order to obtain subsistence.” National Archives photo no. 148-GW-436 (The George Washington Bicentennial Commission)
Sloppy in appearance and crude in manner, Charles Lee was reputed to have a romantic life “of the transient kind.” A military genius who resented serving under Washington, he got along better with his pack of dogs than he did with most people. Library of Congress, Prints & Photographs Division, LC-USZ62-3617
“Parade with us, my brave fellows!” Washington shouts as he leads the charge at Princeton in January 1777. With his hat in hand, he rode ahead on his horse, yelling, “There is but a handful of the enemy, and we will have them directly.” Despite being caught in the crossfire, Washington emerged unscathed as he had done time and again. He believed that a divine Providence protected him. National Archives photo no. 148-GW-335 (The George Washington Bicentennial Commission)
American women were crucial to winning the Revolutionary War, with some even jumping into battle. When John Adams wrote his wife of the Continental Army’s defeats, Abigail confidently declared that if Washington’s troops were overrun, the British forces would then be compelled to fight “a race of Amazons in America.” National Archives photo no. 148-GW-436 (The George Washington Bicentennial Commission)
Alexander Hamilton served as Washington’s shrewd right-hand man and one of his closest confidants during the war. After the United States’ victory, he ardently advocated a more centralized nation. National Archives photo no. 148-GW-436 (The George Washington Bicentennial Commission)
A mere five feet tall and 120 pounds, James Madison was an intellectual giant and a driving force behind the drafting of the Constitution. He declared that creating even a “limited monarchy . . . was out of the question” and used his masterful political skills to help form the new republican government. Library of Congress, Prints & Photographs Division, LC-DIG-ppmsca-19166
The wily Benjamin Franklin used his guile to charm the French court—particularly the female contingent. Through parties and chess games, he persuaded the French to send aid to the American cause and eventually declare war on Britain. As the war wound down, he then infuriated the French by working with John Adams and John Jay to outmaneuver them in the peace process. Library of Congress, Prints & Photographs Division, LC-DIG-pga-01591
INTRODUCTION
“The tree of liberty must be refreshed from time to time with the blood of patriots and tyrants.”
—THOMAS JEFFERSON, 1787
A bloodthirsty Congress demands revenge. The commander in chief weighs torture. Politicians clash with generals over war policy. Americans’ liberties come under attack. No, this is not the post-9/11 United States. This is the side of the American Revolution you never knew.
Many hold the mistaken belief that America’s Founders simply divined the answers to antiquated problems that are of little importance today. This could not be further from the truth. Instead of knowing all of the solutions, the founding generation battled the horrors of war as they struggled to define what it meant to be an American. And their definition remains relevant. While much of their correspondence involved horses and bayonets, they nevertheless confronted the same fundamental issues of leadership and government that continue to perplex us. In doing so, the Founders forged the American way. From their triumphs emerged bedrock principles that have direct applicability to contemporary debate. This book tells the story of those American ideals from our humble beginnings.
Long before he was known as the “Father of Our Country,” George Washington was the “Devourer of Villages.”1 The great leader first tasted warfare two decades before the Revolutionary War when he led a peacetime act of aggression against a French diplomatic party. In doing so, he unwittingly sparked a bloody war that spanned two continents.
At the time, the territory inland from the eastern seaboard of the American colonies was a vast wilderness, dominated by the rolling hills of the Appalachians. On a wet May morning in 1754, an abundance of broadleaf trees created a thick canopy that shaded Washington and his troops from the rising sun. The smell of fresh pollen and moist earth permeated the air as the soldiers crouched behind the large, moss-covered boulders thrown haphazardly about the little glen. The natural beauty of the verdant fauna amidst the jagged rock was the least of Washington’s cares, however. He and his regiment were primed for attack.
Washington’s early morning trap consisted of forty haggard colonists along with thirteen semi-naked Native American allies. Ironically, Washington and his soldiers were poised in this foreign land under orders not to destroy, but to build.2 Not yet at war, the age-old blood rivals Britain and France fiercely contested this region, since each viewed the Ohio River basin as the key to dominating the continent. And the young Washington marched headstrong into this international powder keg.
Not yet the regal image now depicted on the dollar bill, Washington was a fresh-faced surveyor-turned-warrior with long, red-brown hair atop his prominent forehead, large gray-blue eyes, long, broad nose, and rippling jaw.3 A muscular six feet and 175 pounds, he was literally a giant among men of the time, although a bit unusually proportioned, with “[h]is shoulders narrow for his height but his hands and feet tremendous.” 4 He possessed a commanding presence despite his youth, and “exuded such masculine power as frightens young women.”5 This fearsome young man ached for glory.
When the upper echelons of Virginia society sent Washington to stake Britain’s claim to the Ohio Valley, the twenty-one-year-old Washington was determined to prove himself. But dealing with the French was no easy task. During his first diplomatic attempt to drive them from the region, Washington was cordially received and invited to dine with the French officers. “The Wine, as they dosed themselves pretty plentifully with it, soon banished the[ir] Restraint,” he wrote. “They Told me That it was their absolute Design to take possession of the Ohio [River basin], and by G___ they would do it.”6 Washington used this alcohol-induced intelligence to advocate that the British construct a fort in the area to establish control.
Obtaining approval to do so, the ambitious young lieutenant colonel led his militia through the spring mud of the thick virgin wilderness, lugging along the supplies necessary to construct the stronghold. But what had begun as an adventure quickly deteriorated into a perilous mess. As it turned out, the colonists enjoyed the realities of military service far less than their idealized notions of battle.
Washington struggled to hold his militia together as they grumbled about their low pay, dwindling rum, and the wet, inhospitable conditions. 7 Some deserted and many others were threatening to follow suit. Desperate to pacify his shoeless—and even shirtless—men, Washington confiscated supplies along the way.
“I doubt not that in some points I may have strained the law,” he recorded, “but I hope, as my sole motive was to expedite the march, I shall be supported in it, should my authority be questioned, which at present I do not apprehend, unless some busybody intermeddles.”8 Bending the rules as his unit slowly disintegrated in the middle of the vast wilderness, Washington was not only wary of Native American attack, but above all feared disgrace before his superiors back in Virginia.9
It was at this increasingly desperate time that he received intelligence from his Native American ally, a shrewd Seneca warrior named Chief Tanacharison. Although not the actual ruler of the Iroquois Confederacy that dominated much of the region, Tanacharison was called the “Half King” due to his diplomatic and military leadership within the confederation. The man’s very appearance provoked fear in the British and French alike: usually bare-chested except for ornamental necklaces that swung around his sinewy neck, the Half King wore large earrings in his startlingly stretched earlobes. Above a dark, weathered face and wrinkled brow, his bronzed head was bald except for long, braided hair stemming from the very back of his scalp.10 And this menacing warrior had an ax to grind—both figuratively and literally.
The Half King harbored a seething hatred for the French, whom he accused of boiling and eating his father.11 Tanacharison was born into a tribe described by Jesuit missionaries as “altogether barbarous, being cruel, sly, cunning, and prone to bloodshed and carnage,” and his vendetta was no trivial matter.12 He viewed the British “fools” as the lesser of two evils and was eager to fight alongside them to exact his revenge.13 So he approached Washington with a report that a French scouting party of approximately fifty soldiers loomed nearby.14 The Half King convinced the young Virginian that they “had bad hearts” and were “resolved to strike the first English they meet.”15
Under strict orders from the French governor not to attack unless provoked, these French soldiers were likely to be little threat. France’s explicit goal, in fact, was to “keep up that Union which exists between the [British and French] Crowns.”16 Although Washington was likewise ordered in no uncertain terms to act “on the defensive,” he feared imminent attack and lusted for a glorious military victory before his enemies could strike.17 Late that night, Washington led his small force on an eight-hour march “in small path, & heavy rain, and night as dark as it is possible to conceive,” to rendezvous with the Half King’s war party.18 “They groped their way in single file, by footpaths through the woods, in a heavy rain and murky darkness, tripping occasionally and stumbling over each other, sometimes losing the track for fifteen or twenty minutes,” but found the enemy camp before sunrise.19
Disregarding his direct order to warn all Frenchmen away before initiating hostilities, Washington was persuaded by Tanacharison to stage a joint strike. He approached with his exhausted men “in Indian fashion,” stealthily setting up his ambush.20 He and his still-soaked team peered over a small cliff at the French force, whose blue, well-tailored uniforms made them absurdly obvious targets against the muted browns and greens of the early morning forest floor.21 Washington’s hodgepodge group of young militiamen presented a stark contrast to their foes’ prim color coordination. Some, like Washington, boasted decorative red uniforms complete with three-pointed black hats. Others sported the tattered remains of the earth-toned wool and linen coats and breeches that they wore on their farms back home. Whatever their dress, all had guns pointed at their French foes.
They patiently aimed between the small maples that clung to the cracks in the outcropping and waited with bated breath in anticipation of an intense fire fight. Alongside Tanacharison’s braves, they watched their prey wake and prepare for the day. The groggy, unsuspecting French party was surrounded.22
In his signature gallant fashion, Washington rose from his hiding place at seven o’clock and boomingly ordered the attack.23 A startled French sentry attempted to sound an alarm, but to no avail, as he quickly fell to the Americans’ lead. Although they were meant to serve more as a construction crew than a lethal fighting force, Washington’s men proved exceedingly efficient in mowing down their targets as they took “their Arms, and fir’d briskly till [the French] were defeated.”24 After this brief, bloody firefight, a majority of the Frenchmen were killed or captured.
Washington’s formal report back to his commander described the battle with detached military precision: “I there upon in conjunction with the Half King . . . formed a disposition to attack them on all sides, which we accordingly did and after an Engagement of abt 15 minutes we killed 10, wounded one and took 21 prisoners, amongst those that were killed was Monsieur De Jumonville, the Commander.”25 His diary account provided a fuller picture, albeit one that still glossed over the more gruesome details: “we killed Mr. de Jumonville—also nine others . . . . The Indians scalped the dead.”26 Washington’s brevity, however, was largely self-serving. Though accounts of that day differ, it appears that Washington was actually covering up a massacre.27
After the firing abated, the French regiment’s wounded commanding officer, Joseph Coulon de Villiers de Jumonville, attempted to negotiate a surrender.28 He handed Washington papers showing that the party was merely on a diplomatic mission. But as Washington attempted to translate them from French, Tanacharison seized the opportunity to exact his revenge.29 Shouting “Tu n’es pas encore mort, mon père,” which translates as “You are not yet dead, my father,” he split Jumonville’s skull with his hatchet and plunged his hands into the Frenchman’s brain.30 “The tall Virginian who until that instant had thought himself in command did nothing while the Half King’s warriors, as if on signal, set about killing the wounded,” an egregious violation of European military protocol.31 Washington, powerless, stared in horror as the helpless Frenchmen were cut down in a bloody rage. In a matter of seconds, nearly all of the injured Frenchmen were slaughtered before his eyes.32
Fearing French reprisal as well as damage to his own reputation, Washington astutely communicated only the most self-aggrandizing details back to Virginia. In demonstration of his bravery, he wrote, “I heard the bullets whistle, and, believe me, there is something charming in the sound.”33 But despite his best efforts, the cover-up was unsuccessful and word of the massacre quickly reached the colonial, British, and French governments. The French were incensed by the atrocity and readied their counterattack against Washington and his countrymen. In London, the debacle was derided as “a volley fired by a young Virginian in the backwoods of America [that] set the world on fire.”34 Washington’s scandalous “Jumonville Affair” had sparked the global Seven Years’ War.
This telling episode serves as a symbolic prelude to Washington’s epic role in achieving the United States’ independence. The life-and-death struggles were violent. They were desperate. They were messy. And above all, Washington did what he thought necessary to defend his country. In doing so, the “Founder of Our Nation” sent shockwaves throughout the world and set enduring precedents that continue to define us to this day. With so many repercussions across space and time, this real life story holds more twists than any fiction writer could invent.
History books often portray Washington as a semi-omniscient demigod who was so unlike us that he never struggled to find his way. America has lost sight of the man and replaced his memory with a distant sphinx. This is not a new phenomenon. When British novelist William Makepeace Thackeray made Washington into a character in The Virginians in 1857, it elicited public outcry. America was horrified at the attempt to portray Washington “like other men.”35 One critic of the book exclaimed, “Washington was not like other men; and to bring his lofty character down to the level of the vulgar passions of common life, is to give the lie to the grandest chapter in the uninspired annals of the human race.”36
Nathaniel Hawthorne joked, “Did anyone ever see Washington nude? It is inconceivable. He had no nakedness, but I imagine he was born with his clothes on, and his hair powdered . . . .”37 While it lacks (too much) nudity, this book unveils Washington and the other extraordinary yet very real human beings behind that great chapter of history. It honors the Revolution’s leaders not by burying their humanity or enshrining them as one-dimensional figures; instead, it depicts them as actual people who faced and triumphed over seemingly insurmountable obstacles—ones remarkably similar to those that still plague us.
When Washington led the Continental Army through the Revolutionary War, he had learned from his youthful blunders of two decades earlier during that morning ambush. He drew upon his harsh experience along with his own wisdom to formulate principled approaches to dilemmas that are eerily similar to those we face today. By confronting—and eventually conquering—these challenges, he defined the American way. His epic role in leading the states to independence would forever shape the new nation.
As the United States’ first and only commander in chief prior to the drafting of our Constitution, Washington personified our Founders’ intent when they ratified the Constitution’s precious few words proclaiming “The President shall be Commander in Chief of the Army and Navy of the United States . . . .”38 The unquestioned choice to be the first president, he served as the model for the office at its creation. The founding generation looked to Washington’s Revolutionary War leadership as their guide for designating the presidential powers in their new government. This book analyzes General Washington’s specific actions and beliefs as he forged the very meaning of our Constitution amid the heat of battle for independence.
We all know how the war ended. What is surprisingly unknown are the specifics of how we achieved that grand victory. This book reveals the Revolutionary War precedents for America’s modern crises.39 It delves into some of the overlooked—and often lurid—details that are especially applicable to today’s most contentious debates. To best discuss the varied episodes in America’s chaotic triumph, this book organizes the chapters by topic. Rather than just providing an ordinary “play-by-play” of the war, it groups the discussions according to the topics most relevant to today: prisoner abuse, congressional interference in war policy, military tribunals, and Americans’ rights.
By drawing from reams of primary source documents, this book brings to light facts that have been largely overlooked (and sometimes intentionally buried) by history. The subsequent pages hold such forgotten materials as the Founders’ warnings against government debt, General Washington’s letters justifying prisoner abuse to save American lives, a vivid eyewitness account of the military commission that swiftly executed a captured enemy operative, and evidence of a power struggle between Washington and Congress over war tactics. These surprising stories help fill the void in our understanding of our ingenious Founders’ pragmatic approach to governing an America at war.
The book begins after the United States’ victory. It traces the formation of our democratic republic, with Washington serving as the prototype for the presidency. The chapters in Part I answer the “why should we care?” question at the outset of the book: we should care about our history because the supreme law of the United States was shaped by these very events. By establishing that Washington’s Revolutionary War powers were the same ones that the Framers intended for the presidency, this part encourages the reader to actively deduce the direct modern constitutional relevance of Washington’s surprising precedents discussed in Parts II–V.
The subsequent parts address Washington’s approach to hot-button issues of post-9/11 America: prisoner abuse (Part II), congressional war power (Part III), military tribunals (Part IV), and Americans’ rights (Part V). The final part brings us full circle back to the end of the war. It discusses the founding generation’s idolization of Washington and their hearty approval of his leadership chronicled in Parts II–V. This serves as a capstone, leading up to Washington’s role in forming the postwar government and the practical implications of his wartime actions for our Constitution. Finally, the Epilogue discusses the modern legal significance of this forgotten history, showing the practical means by which the precedents explored in this book have a direct impact on modern law.
These pages emphasize the many colorful characters of the Revolution in order to tell the vivid stories of the war based on the people who lived them. Instead of taking a high-level approach, the book shows the personal impact of the Revolution on the human beings directly affected. To do so, it relies heavily on primary sources from both the American and British sides in order to provide rich eyewitness accounts.40 Delving into some of these previously lost documents, this book injects incendiary new facts into the present discussion and is intended to serve as fodder for debate.
No longer is Washington “entombed in his own myth—a metaphorical Washington Monument that hides from us the lineaments of the real man.”41 The following pages depict a great human being who struggled with dilemmas similar to those we face today. With tremendous strength of character, he successfully led his countrymen through deep crises and helped found the most prosperous nation on earth. Over two centuries later, we still have more to learn from him.
I
THE KING OF AMERICA
“I am free to acknowledge that His Powers are full great, and
greater than I was disposed to make them. Nor, Entre Nous,
do I believe they would have been so great had not many of
the members cast their eyes towards General Washington as
President; and shaped their Ideas of the Powers to be given to
a President, by their opinions of his Virtue.”1
—PIERCE BUTLER, REPRESENTATIVE
OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTION, 1788
Even as the embers of war still smoldered, he found peace. Standing alongside the blue-gray waters of the Potomac River, the gentleman farmer gazed across his sprawling estate. The lush foliage of billowing weeping willows and blossoming laurel dotted the softly rolling fields, which glimmered in the fiery light of the rising sun. A silent spring breeze grazed his weathered face, sending the aromas of earth and grass into the air. Over the farmer’s impressive frame, still powerfully built after fifty-five years of backbreaking use, soared his mansion’s majestic white columns. They rose two stories to meet a striking red roof, topped by two large chimneys, pointed dormers, and an ornately domed cupola. Beneath this grandiose architectural crown, a white, neoclassical Georgian-style mansion provided a comfortable home for the gentleman and his beloved wife, along with her two rambunctious young grandchildren who had been orphaned during the war.
He had fought courageously for his country and had earned this peaceful life with his loved ones. And he enjoyed it immensely. But as the sun’s first rays appeared to ignite the horizon, his serenity was shattered by the clacking hooves of an approaching horse. The messenger brought dire—but not unexpected—news: the gentleman farmer’s nation was crumbling and it needed him. Emerging from his retirement, he would save the country. Again.
The chapters in Part I explore the creation of the United States Constitution. They examine Washington’s crucial role in its formation and how his wartime precedents shaped the powers of all future American presidents.
1
The Not-So-United States
Victorious, they set the world on fire. The scrappy Americans stunned Great Britain—the mightiest empire on earth—and sparked a powder keg of political unrest across the Old World and the New. These patriots’ revolutionary republican ideology and military triumph helped ignite uprisings in France, Ireland, the Netherlands, Poland, Haiti, and Latin America.1 At home, the Americans needed to harness that revolutionary fire to forge a nation, lest it rage out of control and consume their grand experiment. For while their victory in the Revolutionary War was glorious, the aftermath was less so. Facing bankruptcy and internal strife, the United States turned once again to its father and protector: the warrior-turned-farmer, George Washington.
As commander in chief of the Continental Army during the Revolution, Washington triumphantly led a confederation of thirteen allied state governments. But following their victory, the American states were only loosely united under the governing document known as the “Articles of Confederation and Perpetual Union.” Ironically, these Articles created a decentralized union that proved to be far from perpetual.
The United States were less a cohesive nation than thirteen independent, sovereign states loosely tethered by a weak central government—the Confederation Congress.2 Americans of the era often referred to their nation in the plural form. They did not yet conceive of themselves as one indissoluble nation composed of thirteen parts, but rather as a voluntary confederation of independent allied states where many citizens felt greater allegiance to their own region than to any new national government.3
Washington had seen this firsthand back during the war. His Continental Army—sick, hungry, shivering—huddled within their makeshift winter encampment at Valley Forge, where bone-chilling winds proved far more deadly than the British could ever hope to be. With ice and bodies piling up around him, Washington feared mutiny among his troops and sought reassurance. He did not obtain it. In one of the Revolution’s darkest hours, he ordered a few soldiers to swear allegiance to the United States. They shockingly refused, instead declaring, “New Jersey is our country!”4
Such political disunity stemmed from deeply rooted fear. Americans were wary of replicating the British system where their liberties were suppressed by a distant government that was deaf to their wishes. To avoid the reemergence of such a regime after their fight for independence erupted, the states clung fiercely to local rule. The individual states retained most of the power over their own citizenry rather than relinquish it to the new national Congress. Even though it had authority over diplomacy and military decisions, Congress was at the mercy of the states since they supplied most of the soldiers and resources to the Continental Army.5
Under this arrangement, rather than a single American army, Washington had led what was akin to a coalition force, supplied with food, munitions, and soldiers by separate little nation-states.6 And despite having a common foe, the states bickered among themselves about the costs. As a result, they dangerously undersupplied Washington’s army, and the weak Congress could do little but entreat them to provide more troops. Like unruly children supervised by a feeble grandmother, the states quarreled while the Congress implored them to behave.
Washington saw this as a deeply flawed system. He described the national Congress as a “half-starved government [that] limped along on crutches, tottering at every step.”7 The fragile nation did have its glue, however. The thirteen states’ coalition was held together during the war in large part by the states’ belief in the leadership of one man: Washington. As commander in chief, he had become “the most effective bond, as well as conspicuous symbol, of union.”8
But the war ended and the Americans’ conspicuous symbol retired. Mere weeks after the last British troops evacuated New York City following the peace treaty, Washington resigned his commission as commander in chief in order to “retire from the Great Theater of Action” and “take leave of all the employments of public life.”9 He returned to Mount Vernon, his sprawling plantation on the Potomac, where he enjoyed the life of a gentleman farmer.
When not spending time with his family, entertaining dinner guests, or partaking in his favorite leisure activity of foxhunting, Washington oversaw a diversified business that included farming tobacco and wheat, breeding mules, milling flour, and weaving cloth. He commanded hundreds of slaves, who worked from sunrise to sunset on the many tasks of his bustling estate. While he increasingly recognized the contradiction between his fight for liberty and his ownership of slaves, writing, “there is not a man living who wishes more sincerely than I do, to see a plan adopted for the abolition” of slavery, he declined to free them.10 Eventually he would arrange for their emancipation in his will, but during his lifetime he remained far too dependent on them to tend his home, fields, and other enterprises.11 And after years of neglect during the war, he found his estate especially in need of their hard work.
Washington’s was a busy but tranquil occupation: instead of leading armies across the Delaware River to defend American liberty, he led investors in building canals so that he could better transport produce.12 Retiring to bed by nine o’clock almost every evening, he rested well, knowing that he had liberated his country after so many years of war.
While he was far removed from the public spotlight, he was certainly not forgotten. In fact, his self-imposed exile from politics stunned the world. After the war, his popularity was at such a height and his hold on the military so ironclad that some expected him to pronounce himself king of the United States. Washington’s voluntary surrender of power only further elevated his demigod status among the people. The annals of civilization were littered with triumphant generals who had helped their people throw off one tyrant only to take his place. But Washington broke from that cycle. He freed his people and then returned to his farm to leave the path open for republican self-government.
For both his inspirational leadership during the Revolution and his selfless retirement afterward, Washington was almost universally revered throughout America and beyond. A mere rumor of Washington passing through a town was enough to elicit a spontaneous parade. Even his critics were pressured into silence, since any attack against the great man was considered unpatriotic.13
One of the few men of the era to dislike Washington was his portraitist. Gilbert Stuart was a personable Rhode Islander whose lifelike portraits catapulted him to artistic stardom. He was a powerfully built, happy-go-lucky gentleman with an “attachment to the pleasures of the table and convivial society,” which a friend attributed to his time living in Ireland.14 Possessing “wit at will,” the painter relied on his knack for conversation to keep his subjects animated and to draw forth “the inmost soul upon the surface of the countenance.”15 But when he landed the appointment as Washington’s portraitist, his charm failed him.
Washington despised sitting for portraits almost as much as he disliked strangers’ attempts at familiarity. In no mood for idle conversation about military tactics with some bohemian artist, he rebuffed Stuart’s efforts at small talk. He was a master at masking his emotions and was not about to bare his soul. At one point during the sitting, Stuart tried to loosen up his subject by pleading, “Now, sir, you must let me forget that you are General Washington and that I am Stuart the painter.” Ever advocative of proper decorum, Washington replied, “Mr. Stuart need never feel the need of forgetting who he is, or who General Washington is.”16
Despite this resistance, Stuart perceived that beneath Washington’s stern, composed exterior was a man of fiery temperament. He perceived “features in [Washington’s] face totally different from what he ever observed in that of any other human being; the sockets of eyes, for instance, are larger than what he ever met with before, and the upper part of the nose broader.” His unusual features were “indicative of the strongest and most ungovernable passions, and had he been born in the forests, it was [Stuart’s] opinion that he would have been the fiercest man amongst the savage tribes.”17 The painter wanted to capture his subject’s true “fierce and irritable disposition” in the portrait, but Washington shut him out. Stuart believed that Washington, “like Socrates,” was possessed of “great self-command [that] always made him appear a man of a different cast in the eyes of the world.”18
Stuart grumbled, “an apathy seemed to seize him, and a vacuity spread over his countenance most appalling to paint.”19 Possibly out of spite, the artist emphasized Washington’s stern glance and the severe lines around his mouth that were caused by his false teeth.20 This portrait was far from a flattering glamour shot, and Stuart never actually finished it. But Americans loved Washington so much that they nevertheless embraced the steely image that emerged from the sitting. Ironically, it was this stiff, almost annoyed-looking representation of the dynamic man that would grace the dollar bill and shape countless people’s perception of him.21
Whatever his expression, Washington was internationally recognized as liberty’s great champion and seen as “a living embodiment of all that classical republican virtue the age was eagerly striving to recover.”22 He was lauded for uniting “the intrepidity of Aristides, the patriotism of Cato, the military prudence of Caesar, and the humanity of Scipio.”23 The world marveled at “[t]he virtuous simplicity of his retirement after the consummation of his country’s independence; the harmony of his public and his private life; the purity of his patriotism and the splendor of his military career, [which] formed altogether such a union of goodness and greatness in the character of one individual as was calculated to excite the warmest interest, and command the admiration of mankind.”24
Distant admiration, however, was not what the United States needed after the war. Washington’s retirement had added to the political void. No longer faced with the immediate threat of British invasion, and without a leader to unite them, the states quickly fell into discord. And Congress was ineffectual at holding them together—the quarrelling children were growing into rowdy teens and the feeble grandmother was losing control. The United States were far from united.
2
Not as Happy in Peace as They Had Been Glorious in War
These were desperate times. Besides being perilously disunited, the country was in dire straits economically. In order to fund the war, America had already spent far beyond her means, racking up $54 million in federal debt and an additional $24 million in state debt.1 The fragile nation was deeply indebted to her French allies for their wartime monetary assistance and also owed vast sums to her own American patriots who had provided guns, rations, and blood for the war effort. These soldiers and civilian suppliers had been essential in keeping Washington and his army fighting. But now that they had won, the resultant debt threatened to crush the fledgling nation. The thirteen states were not “as happy in peace as they had been glorious in war.”2
Thomas Jefferson expressed the view of many Americans in decrying “public debt as the greatest of dangers to be feared.”3 The nation’s vast outstanding debt was reminiscent of their plight under the British monarchy. The Crown had exhausted much of its wealth during the Seven Years’ War and endeavored to fund its debt by taxing the colonies—which was one of the main reasons for the Revolution in the first place. Now America had its own financial predicament, and many feared that a large national debt might pave the way back to monarchy. “We must not let our rulers load us with perpetual debt,” Jefferson warned.
We must make our selection between economy and liberty or profusion and servitude. . . . This is the tendency of all human governments. A departure from principle becomes a precedent for a second; that second for a third; and so on, till the bulk of society is reduced to mere automatons of misery, to have no sensibilities left but for sinning and suffering. . . . And the fore horse of this frightful team is public debt. Taxation follows that, and in its train wretchedness and oppression.4
While he disagreed with Jefferson on many issues, Alexander Hamilton, the primary architect of the American financial system, likewise wrote, “Nothing can more interest the national credit and prosperity than a constant and systematic attention to husband all the means previously possessed for extinguishing the present debt, and to avoid, as much as possible, the incurring any new debt.”5 As far as many of the Founders were concerned, “Public Debt is a Public curse.”6
Americans and the world were losing faith in the new nation’s ability to meet its obligations. Veterans began to assume that they would never see their war salaries. They had been given IOUs because Congress and the states lacked the funds to pay them. But by the late 1780s, the war had been over for a few years and the veterans had lost confidence that they would ever see their hard-earned compensation. The humble veterans began selling their government’s promissory notes for a fraction of their value. They needed to eat today, and gave up hope that the United States would repay them tomorrow.
The veterans certainly had good reason for concern. Some politicians believed the nation should extricate itself from its crushing burden by simply refusing to repay, thereby making the loans worthless to the nation’s—irate—creditors. But while many people did not mind bilking the French, such a default would severely harm those veterans and other Americans to whom vast sums were owed.7 Further, it would destroy the government’s credibility and make borrowing in the future difficult, to say the least.
Washington had already made up his mind on this issue: he insisted that the country pay down its debt. He approached the matter as a question of honor, explaining, “the path of our duty is plain before us, honesty will be found on every experiment, to be the best and only true policy, let us then as a Nation be just, let us fulfil the public Contracts . . . with the same good faith we suppose ourselves bound to perform our private engagements.”8 Only by acting honorably and working to extinguish the debt would the new nation enjoy legitimacy and thrive.
Washington joined with those who advocated that the country repay quickly. “No pecuniary consideration is more urgent, than the regular redemption and discharge of the public debt,” he believed; “on none can delay be more injurious, or an economy of time more valuable.”9 He encouraged the nation to act virtuously by “shunning occasions of expence, but by vigorous exertions in time of Peace to discharge the Debts which unavoidable wars may have occasioned, not ungenerously throwing upon posterity the burthen which we ourselves ought to bear.”10
In the 1780s, however, it appeared that the nation would never be able to dig itself out of its financial hole—no matter how virtuously it behaved. Congress had little means of doing so, since under the Articles of Confederation it lacked the power to control the nation’s spending or collect taxes.
Congress could do little more than implore the states to finance the central government with donations. Congress proposed various methods by which the states might raise revenue towards paying off the national debt, but the states, each unwilling to have its citizens bear the brunt of higher taxes, refused to implement any of these ideas. They had their own debts to handle and their own citizens to care for.
The impasse fed interstate strife. Politicians clashed over whether the states should repay separately or the national government should assume the debt as a united body. While some intellectuals like Jefferson opposed entrusting the national government with such power, other, more down-to-earth Americans criticized the measure as simply unfair—certain southern states had already made great headway in repaying their debt and decried efforts to bail out the northern ones.
The debt controversy threatened to split the United States apart. The situation became so desperate that the Congressional Board of Treasury warned that if the national government could not procure more funds from the states,11 “nothing . . . can rescue [the United States] from Bankruptcy, or preserve the Union of the several States from Dissolution.”12
Washington certainly had his opinions, but he largely remained on the sidelines—albeit monitoring the situation intently. Although geographically isolated out on his farm, he was kept apprised of the nation’s struggles by the parade of visitors who came to pay homage. These uninvited guests showed up at his door just about every day, sometimes ten or twenty at a time. Whether they were friends, veterans, or curious strangers, Washington was ever polite. Seeing it as his public duty, he fed and visited with almost every one of them. The retired commander was so inundated, in fact, that he went for over a year-long stretch without a peaceful dinner alone with his beloved wife. In search of some respite, he resorted to posting inadequate signage to his estate, causing many prospective visitors to get lost on the snaking paths through the dark woods that hid Mount Vernon.13
While exhausting, these visitors kept Washington abreast of the condition of the republic. Between them, his deluge of letters, and the many newspapers he avidly read, he became “the focus of political intelligence for the new world.”14 And he was aghast to learn of the nation’s looming economic collapse. But it was not his place to interfere. He was retired. He had successfully done his part to set the nation on its course and now hoped that it would find its own way forward. While Washington passively observed, however, matters only grew worse.
The United States’ fiscal disarray fed rampant inflation. The national currency, called the Continental, became virtually worthless as Congress attempted to print the country’s way out of debt. With so many bills in circulation, the Continentals’ value plummeted and many Americans’ cash savings became worth less than the mattresses that hid them. It became common to describe something of little value as “not worth a Continental.”15 The currency was such a laughingstock that “barber-shops were papered, in jest, with the bills; and the sailors, on returning from their cruise, being paid off in bundles of this worthless money, had suits of clothes made of it, and with characteristic lightheartedness turned their loss into a frolic, by parading through the streets in decayed finery, which, in its better days had passed for thousands of dollars!”16
Rather than place blame where due—on the nation’s massive war debt and the states’ refusal to coordinate a response—citizens and leaders alike turned their wrath on merchants and creditors. Even though these shopkeepers and financiers were merely acting rationally when they refused to take payment with the worthless Continentals, they became the scapegoats for public outrage. For example, the Connecticut legislature blasted them as “evil-minded persons, inimical to the liberties of the United States of America,” who had “endeavored to depreciate the bills of credit of this and the said United States.”17 Reflecting the public anger, Washington likewise lashed out against “monopolizers, forestallers, and engrossers,” describing them as “pests of society” who should be “hanged upon a gallows.”18
With the national currency crumbling, rather than work together to return to solvency, some states turned to further emissions of their own separate currencies. This drove inflation higher and fractured national unity.19 It was an economic and political mess, as the sister states not only refused to work together, but also blamed one another like “little jealous, clashing, tumultuous commonwealths.”20 The states’ bickering took on “an ominous likeness to the meetings and resolves which in the years before 1775 had heralded a state of war.” Many ventured that it would not be long before “shots would have been fired and seeds of perennial hatred sown” among the peoples.21
Such insolvency and internal turmoil left the country perilously vulnerable to external threats. The weak young nation found itself in a world fraught with aggressors. This was an age when a renewed British assault appeared imminent. The British had already violated their peace treaty with the Americans by retaining troops on the United States’ western frontier for years after the Revolution ended. Britain made it abundantly clear that she was bitterly unwilling to relinquish her interests in America’s lands and many feared that she would soon come to collect her lost colonies. And Britain was not the only threat.
Reports abounded that Spain might prey upon the nation’s weakness to expand her New World empire. The Spanish began aggressively asserting their military might in the region by restricting America’s navigation rights on parts of the Mississippi River, thus impeding the nation’s development of its western frontier. Although humiliated and outraged by these affronts, the nation was too weak to respond. Not only was Congress too broke to pay for a national army, the government could not even fashion a united military front from among the states’ separate militias. Congress simply did not have the power under the Articles of Confederation to protect the nation.
Upon obtaining reports of his country’s deteriorating condition, Washington derided the nation as “little more than a shadow” and Congress as a mere “nugatory body.”22 The country was increasingly helpless as the major European powers licked their lips, hungrily eyeing America’s fertile territory.
3
The Shadow Government
The American “shadow” government was unable to reverse the nation’s descent into anarchy. This fact was made abundantly clear to Washington and the rest of the nation by a poor farmer in the Massachusetts backcountry.
Daniel Shays, the uneducated son of an Irish indentured servant, toiled on a small farm with his wife and six children. His dark, accusatory eyes, doughy chin, pug nose, and drooping jowls made him resemble a bulldog, which was a fitting match to his personality.1 A “smart, active” man with “much taste for the military,” he was a fiery veteran of the Revolution who had courageously fought in multiple decisive battles.2 But he had fallen on tough times after the war ended.
In a microcosm of the nation’s general suffering after the grand Revolution, Shays’ family was brought to the brink of financial ruin by the deep recession and rampant inflation that gripped the country. Like many other veterans, he had yet to receive his military pay and pension from the cash-strapped government and was therefore unable to pay down his debts. He lost possession of half his farmland to creditors. And he was relatively fortunate, since many of his neighbors lost everything.3 Even worse, others were carted off to jail, since any debt above a mere five dollars was cause for imprisonment. The people of Massachusetts—the hotbed of unrest that had started the Revolution just a few years earlier—were again rearing for a fight.
Reigniting his firebrand spirit and oratory, Shays led his fellow debtors in protest. The frustrated group started out peacefully, calling for debtor relief and government reform. But the financiers were unwilling to lose money on their loans and continued to go after the delinquent farmers’ lands. Unmoved by the farmers’ pleas, the Massachusetts government refused to halt the foreclosures. Instead, the state infuriated the farming communities by suggesting they exercise patience and frugality.4 From the farmers’ perspective, it was preposterous to ask them to be any more patient as their lands were confiscated. It was impossible for them to be any more frugal when they were having trouble just feeding their families.
Enraged, the protesting farmers seized local courthouses—without courts, the creditors could not foreclose on them. Meeting with success, Shays’ mob grew bolder. During the dog days of summer in 1786—barely two and a half years after the official conclusion of the Revolution—Shays donned his Continental Army uniform once again and led a crowd armed with muskets, pitchforks, and clubs to the highest court in Massachusetts. A reluctant leader who yearned to preserve peace amidst the protest, Shays negotiated the peaceful surrender of the courthouse; however, such a transgression would not go unanswered by the state.
Declaring that he would “vindicate the insulted dignity of government,” the governor of Massachusetts sent the state’s militia to confront the insurgency.5 Governor James Bowdoin was a stern-looking gentleman with a gently cleft chin, arched eyebrows, and a high, aristocratic brow framed by long, regally styled gray hair. A brilliant intellectual in his mid-fifties who had served in the Continental Congress as well as various political posts during the Revolution, he was no stranger to rebellion. But although he had helped to lead the people in their revolt against the British monarchy, he had little sympathy for rebellion against the new republic.
Bowdoin feared that if he did not crush the uprising quickly, the republic for which they had just fought would be lost. Unwilling to allow this “civil War” to “destroy the fair temple of American liberty,”6 he vowed to take “vigorous measures [towards] the effectual suppression of the Insurgents.”7 Instead, he ended up fanning the flames.
Having inherited enormous wealth from his merchant father, this Harvard-educated member of the Boston elite was far more adept at writing scientific papers in Latin than at empathizing with farmers. He thus became an easy target for the rhetoric of the brewing class war. The poor farmers viewed Bowdoin as yet another wealthy Boston merchant seeking to oppress them. The firestorm spread further, and Shays was unable to mediate a peaceful resolution when Bowdoin’s state militia fired on a group of rowdy protesters one hot summer day. Three farmers fell dead, while the rest scattered in terror. With blood spilled, Shays proclaimed, “The seeds of war are now sown.”8 And with that, the farmers began a new revolution. This time they sought to throw off the reins not of the British but of Massachusetts and the new American government.
Calling upon the lingering revolutionary spirit, thousands of famers—many of the very same men who had just fought the British—joined in the so-called “Shays’ Rebellion.” The revolt raged for almost a year, pitting Bowdoin’s Massachusetts establishment army—financed by the wealthy merchants of Boston—against the “common people,” whose champions “tried to make real the vision of justice and equality embodied in our revolutionary declaration of independence,” as a monument to the rebellion put it. Adopting the revolutionary rallying cry, “True Liberty and Justice may require resistance to law,” these class warriors’ uprising led many Americans to fear that the Revolution’s democratic impulse would rage unchecked, pulling the nation into perpetual anarchy.9 Democracy was a new experiment for the Americans, and perhaps it was already a failed one.
In bloody skirmishes that pitted neighbor against neighbor, the poorly armed farmers were confronted by the booming cannons and rifles of Bowdoin’s well-trained state militia. Despite Shays’ fierce leadership, his hungry, ill-equipped and ill-trained men were scattered before the Massachusetts militia’s firestorm. Losing battle after battle, the farmers began to return home as the bodies began to pile up in the fields. The rebellion was crushed. With ransoms on the heads of the rebel leaders, Shays fled into hiding in Vermont. He lived on the lam for many months, seeking to escape the Massachusetts gallows.
Governor Bowdoin, meanwhile, suffered politically for his harsh suppression of the rebellion. He was voted out of office and replaced with a more conciliatory administration. The incoming governor pardoned Shays as a step towards reconciliation with the farming communities. Shays was able to return to what was left of his farm and resume his humble existence. Although his rebellion in and of itself was not much of a military threat to the new country, it was significant as a symbolic one. The message of Shays’ Rebellion was clear: the American republic was failing miserably.
Washington could remain on the sidelines no more. He was appalled by the country’s downward spiral. “What gracious God, is man! that there should be such inconsistency and perfidiousness in his conduct?” he lamented. “It is but the other day, that we were shedding our blood to obtain the Constitutions under which we now live; Constitutions of our own choice and making; and now we are unsheathing the sword to overturn them.”10 Reflecting on the economic and political turmoil all around him, Washington bemoaned how far his nation had fallen:
No morn ever dawned more favourably than ours did; and no day was ever more clouded than the present! . . . Without some alteration in our political creed, the superstructure we have been seven years raising at the expence of so much blood and treasure, must fall. We are fast verging to anarchy and confusion!11
He warned, “the wheels of Government are clogged, and . . . from the high ground on which we stood, we are descending into the vale of confusion and darkness.”12
So perilous was the situation that “even respectable characters [spoke] of a monarchical form of Government without horror.” Washington exclaimed, “what a triumph for our enemies to verify their predictions! what a triumph for the advocates of despotism to find that we are incapable of governing ourselves, and that systems founded on the basis of equal liberty are merely ideal and fallacious!”13
Just four years after his glorious victory over America’s bitter British foes, the nation’s founding hero asserted in 1787, “We are either a united people under one head, and for federal purposes; or we are thirteen independent sovereignties, eternally counteracting each other.”14 Without some sort of federal power that “pervade[d] the whole Union,” Washington could “not conceive” how the United States would survive.15 The nation needed a new government.
Washington was gravely concerned about his legacy. He was intent on protecting his pedestal in history and feared risking it by coming out of retirement. He agonized over the reputational damage should he throw his support behind government reform only to have it fail. But in the end, he was a man of action and not about to sit idly by while his beloved country unraveled. He readied his trusty horse and set off from his estate to meet with other leaders in a desperate attempt to salvage the United States.
4
The Phoenix
Washington leapt back onto the public stage in grand style. On a bright Sunday afternoon in May 1787, his black carriage cut through the bustling streets of Philadelphia.1 And this was no understated entrance. Accompanied by a ceremonious cavalry escort and a parade of top military officials, his arrival was heralded by the competing booms of celebratory cannon and gun salutes. With a population of 30,000 people, the city was the largest in the nation and throngs of these inhabitants were eager to witness the national hero’s thundering arrival.
The spring air was filled with a fanfare of chiming bells and the loud cheers of citizens crowded alongside the dusty cobblestone streets.2 As the carriage passed, admirers fawned from the ornately trimmed windows of the two- and three-story brick buildings that hugged Philadelphia’s streets. Women applauded in their colorful, low-necked cotton bedgowns and white ruffled aprons; men in billowing white shirts, woolen waistcoats, dark breeches, and white stockings waved their tricorne hats in the air; children, squirming in uncomfortable miniature versions of the adults’ clothing, cheered the procession. Washington was the first American superstar and known to elicit a few shrieks from young women—puritanical norms be damned!
Washington’s carriage slowed to a stop in front of the finest house in the city. Here he was to be graciously hosted by its owners, who were honored by his mere presence. As the crowd roared in adulation, Washington’s large, almost majestic frame emerged from the carriage. Standing up to full height, his tall powerful figure presented a simply regal appearance. With his white-powdered hair tied in black satin and his famously masculine features, he exuded the confidence and grandeur for which the nation yearned. A man of elegantly understated fashion, he dressed in the fineries befitting his high station, yet nevertheless carried himself with his trademark humility as a servant of his nation.3 Although he was not a king, the eminent man sure was treated like one.
Washington was just one of Virginia’s delegates to the nation’s Constitutional Convention. The elected assemblies of the states had chosen representatives from among America’s top political leaders to attend this convention for the purpose of fixing the nation’s government. 4 These seventy men were considered by many to be the “wisest and best men in the country,” and such confidence in their wisdom and character would be crucial to the public’s acceptance of their plans for mending the country.5
Americans feared both ends of the political spectrum: a repressive government that would lead them back to monarchy or an unchecked democracy where unruly masses effectuated perpetual chaos. Further complicating matters, each state had different—and often conflicting—interests. For example, small states wanted protection from the large states’ dominance in national affairs, and southern states wanted to ensure the continuation of slavery while many northern states had abolished it.
The country was so fractured, in fact, that Rhode Island refused to send delegates to the Philadelphia convention. The Rhode Islanders viewed the meeting as an illegal assembly that threatened to usurp their state’s sovereignty.6 They even threatened to use their veto power under the Articles of Confederation to quash anything the convention accomplished. In such a climate of dissention and suspicion, to say that the public was skeptical of the ability of even the nation’s “best and brightest” to create a sound and agreeable government was an understatement. Everyone knew that the situation was precarious and that the delegates needed to find a delicate balance in order for the public to accept their reforms.
Washington gathered with the first-arriving delegates at the Pennsylvania State House. This two-story hall was already historic: it was colloquially called “Independence Hall” because the Declaration of Independence had been signed there eleven years earlier. With that one daring stroke during the early part of the war, America dismembered the British Empire. And in the ensuing struggle, the hall remained a meeting place for the Continental Congress and the epicenter of the American war effort. The stately brick building had black shutters and white trim, with pale masonry and ornate windows lending decorative detail to an otherwise boxy facade. The small grounds included a square courtyard that was barren except for a few freshly planted elm trees. Guarding this yard was a seven-foot wall that afforded an air of solemn secrecy.7
Privacy was of the utmost importance in fostering frank discussion among the delegates. To this end, the building was shielded from curious onlookers by sentries posted at all doors. To protect further against distraction, the guards spread fresh dirt on the cobblestones outside to soften the blows of powerful hooves of passing horses. High above the dampened din of the street, this sanctuary’s gently slanted roof was dominated by a tall, churchlike bell tower that coaxed the delegates’ eyes heavenward as they approached. This was fitting, since they faced a lofty challenge and would need all the help they could get to prevent the country from disintegrating.
The May sun’s powerful rays poured through high windows as Washington entered the building. The obsessively punctual celebrity was cordially greeted by the few delegates already present.8 Also in attendance was perhaps the second most famous American: Benjamin Franklin. This world-renowned scientist and diplomat had not only greatly advanced human understanding of electricity, but also invented the lightning rod, the Franklin stove, the odometer, and a host of other contraptions. During the Revolution, the wily gentleman had used his guile to charm the French court—particularly the female contingent. Through parties and chess games, he wore down France’s resistance to involvement in the fight against the British. He masterfully persuaded the French to send aid to the American cause and eventually declare war on Britain, which proved decisive in the American victory. For these many achievements, he was internationally praised.
Now in his mid-eighties, Franklin suffered from gout, a painful form of arthritis caused by eating rich foods and imbibing large quantities of alcohol. So immobilized, he had to be carried to the hall from his nearby home.9 Even as his frail limbs hobbled beneath his round abdomen, his aged, balding head was ever filled with ingenious ideas, and he still inspired deep reverence. His star power combined with Washington’s to lend the convention an even greater air of importance.
As Washington and Franklin entered the hall’s cavernous meeting room, they were greeted by its familiar dark hardwood floors and white walls adorned with ornate molding. Before them was a grand fireplace topped with a white mantle beneath a large chandelier encircled by a decorative ceiling medallion. The room was a beautiful sight.
The gentlemen present were from all walks of life—farmers, lawyers, printers, merchants, financiers—but all were patriots and the vast majority had served their country during the Revolutionary War, politically or militarily, or both.10 These proud men took the opportunity to rekindle friendships and reestablish acquaintances with fellow alumni of the war effort. They could accomplish little else, since they had to wait for other states’ less punctual delegates to arrive.
At first, Washington and the other delegates were unconcerned about the paltry attendance. The journey from far-flung states such as New Hampshire and Georgia took up to three weeks and, with bad weather hitting parts of the eastern seaboard, it was possible that some of the other delegates were merely delayed. But as the nation’s leaders trickled into Philadelphia only slowly over the next two weeks, many feared that some delegates were boycotting the Constitutional Convention and that it would end before it started—they were keenly aware that many Americans opposed the convention and there was a real chance that a proper quorum of states would never be reached. And without a quorum, the convention’s recommendations would lack the political weight necessary for legitimacy.
With this elephant in the room, a palpable anxiety permeated the hall despite the cordial conversation. The delegates knew that without adequate attendance, their convention would fail, and possibly the nation along with it.
Finally, they arrived. With just twenty-nine delegates from nine states in attendance, they reached a quorum and the convention was officially convened. Over the next few days, twenty-six more delegates trickled in, better late than never. In all, fifty-five of the seventy delegates originally chosen actually showed up to represent the independent states. America had sent her finest and the convention proved to be quite an eclectic assemblage of minds.
Their ages ranged from an impetuous 26-year-old veteran named Jonathan Dayton to the sickly 81-year-old sage, Franklin.11 Like Dayton and Franklin, the vast majority of these men were held in high esteem for their contributions to the patriot cause during the war. Alexander Hamilton, for example, at only thirty years old, had already served as Washington’s shrewd right-hand man and closest confidant during the war. His sharp chin and pointed nose matched his cutting criticism of the Articles and ardent advocacy of a more centralized nation. While Washington, Hamilton, and Dayton were joined by other decorated war veterans, the room was actually dominated by politicians.
About three-quarters of the delegates had served in Congress, while others had served in their state legislatures. Each was lauded for steering the United States through the perilous Revolution. One such politician was James Madison, who at age thirty-six had already proven himself a masterful consensus builder as a member of Congress during the Revolution. He was a mere five feet tall and 120 pounds, but his intellect towered over the convention even if he did not. The young gentleman was praised for blending “the profound politician, with the Scholar”12 while adeptly “command[ing] the rich resources of his luminous and discriminating mind.”13 Such mental prowess and the “polish of his pen” were “united [with] a pure and spotless virtue.”14 The fine-featured Madison, with his white powdered hair and prominent widow’s peak, arrived to the convention in his usual fastidiously prepared fashion: he had already outlined a plan for a whole new government. With this trick up his sleeve, the slight young man quietly joined the assemblage as they took their seats.
Whether military or political veterans, these august men were the nation’s elite. They were property owners and professionals. In a time when few Americans attained any advanced education, 60 percent of these gentlemen had attended college, touting degrees from Yale, Harvard, Princeton, or Columbia.15 Whatever their credentials, they were quite a colorful—and rather portly—group.
From the upper crust of society, the majority of this well-fed contingent were rather overweight, a sign of wealth during this era since it signaled access to plentiful food and minimal manual labor.16 These men were certainly known more for their oratory than their aerobics. Because clothes were a signal of a gentleman’s station, each was fashionably dressed in a painstakingly tailored waistcoat that primly hugged his torso and flowed to mid-thigh.17 The rich greens, blues, browns, and reds of their jackets made them a more colorful group than the typical men outside. Their metal buttons, fine threading, and straight lines added to the air of dignity with which these lauded men carried themselves. Under their coats were white ruffled dress shirts crafted from fine fabrics and lace, neatly tucked into snug-fitting breeches that typically matched the colors of their waistcoats. In the fashion of the time, they wore white knee-high stockings and low-heeled leather shoes fastened with ostentatious buckles. The attire would certainly have been uncomfortable in the summer heat, but it was important to the delegates to dress properly. They were intensely aware that they were important men doing historic work.
Despite the impressive assemblage of intellect and accomplishment, Washington stood head and shoulders above the rest, both literally and figuratively.18
5
Wield the Sword
From the start of the Constitutional Convention, Washington was “held in awe by the delegates and already the de facto leader of the country.”1 In one of their first acts, his fellow delegates unanimously elected him president of the convention. Washington, meticulously groomed in his characteristic understatedly elegant fineries, presided from a lone desk in the front of the room. Adding to the pomp, his station was elevated by two steps above the rest. Here, he sat on a throne-like wooden chair with a high back, topped with a gilded carving of a rising sun that vaguely resembled a halo over his head.2
When Washington rose to speak, a reverent hush seized the delegates. This silence was not just respectful but also practical—Washington was not a powerful speaker. It would take some effort to hear his words.
Washington did not like making speeches. At parties he was “much more open and free in his behaviour,” especially “in the company of ladies,” but when addressing large crowds he came off as stiff and mumbling.3 This awkwardness owed partly to his horribly uncomfortable false teeth, which continuously chafed his mouth as he labored to project his voice. He had begun losing his teeth in his twenties and they were almost all gone now. He blamed this on his penchant for cracking nuts with his teeth, but it was more likely due to the nutrition and dental hygiene typical of the time, along with the noxious substance called calomel that was used as a medicine for the many illnesses from which he suffered as a young adult. As was common practice for a man of his stature, he obtained dentures made from hippopotamus ivory and human teeth. However, in an age when dentists typically only offered teeth they purchased from white men, what was uncommon was that Washington used teeth pulled from slaves—more likely due to his frugality than egalitarianism.4 In any case, while his language was “manly and expressive,” his voice was hushed and his words indistinct.5
Being such a force of nature, he nevertheless commanded the room when he set forth the challenge they faced:
It is too probable that no plan we propose will be adopted. Perhaps another dreadful conflict is to be sustained. If to please the people, we offer what we ourselves disapprove, how can we afterwards defend our work? Let us raise a standard to which the wise and honest can repair. The event is in the hand of God.
After this statement, Washington remained largely silent for the rest of the convention. His silence, however, did not mean he was not heard. He was still a dominating presence, one that was crucial to keeping the delegates in check as they argued over how to salvage the nation. His glance was often enough. Even though these men were prominent in their own right, they all revered Washington to the point of trepidation.
Washington, distant and aloof as he monitored the debates, was like a stern judge before a courtroom. In fact, at one point during a lull in the discussions, Hamilton dared a fellow delegate to slap Washington on the back like a close chum and say, “My dear General, how happy I am to see you look well.” Accepting Hamilton’s challenge, the delegate stepped up onto Washington’s platform, bowed, and carried out the dare. Washington was offended by the young man’s audacity. Not taking kindly to displays of familiarity, he frigidly pulled his hand away and glared. The silence was broken only by the sounds of the other delegates squirming with embarrassment.7
With this intimidating man watching over them, the delegates met day in and day out, engaging in fervent debates. But they did have a way to calm their nerves—for while the state of the nation was sobering, the delegates were not. They began their mornings with light breakfasts accompanied by beer or hard cider.8 The discussion continued during their large midday meal, consisting of pork, beef, stews and meat pies, potatoes and puddings, along with relishes and sauces.9 All was washed down with plenty of rum, wine, ale, and hard cider, as the delegates talked on into the night by flickering candlelight.
On one particularly rambunctious night at a local tavern, 55 delegates ran up a tab showing 60 bottles of claret, 54 of Madeira, 22 of porter, 12 of beer, 8 of whiskey, 8 of hard cider, and 7 bowls of alcoholic punch “so large that, it was said, ducks could swim around in them.”10 Since that equaled three bottles of alcohol and multiple shots per delegate, it is likely they had some assistance from thirsty locals.
While Washington viewed alcohol as “the source of all evil” and partook only sparingly in such gatherings,11 Franklin was happy to take advantage of the delegates’ thirst. During the proceedings in the assembly room, he sat near the front immediately opposite Washington’s “throne,” peering wisely through the bifocals he invented and only occasionally making a pointed statement.12 Franklin chose instead to conduct his important diplomacy during the after-hours parties at his nearby home.13 He was credited with saying, “God, to relieve [man’s] dryness, created the vine and revealed to him the art of making le vin. By the aid of this liquid he unveiled more and more truth.”14 With alcohol in their systems, Franklin was able to uncover his fellow delegates’ candid views and use one-on-one diplomacy to make them more amenable to his “truths” for the direction of the nation.15
The delegates soon came to the realization that the Articles of Confederation needed to be scrapped, just as Madison had planned. Their convention had originally been intended to fix the existing government rather than scrap it, but the delegates decided it was unsalvageable. As Madison and Hamilton so ardently insisted, if the nation was to survive, they would need to “rethink leadership of the colonies from the ground up.”16 And so they began to discuss radical new ways to govern. Their goal was to craft a new kind of constitution to replace the Articles that would govern the nation effectively and according to the Revolution’s principles of liberty and equality. This was easier said than done, however.
The precious few words in this new constitution would, they hoped, govern the nation for many years into the future. Washington and the Founders were quite cognizant of the need to structure a government that would function not only during their lives, but for generations to come.17 Therefore, they needed to create a written constitution that was acceptable to the people of the present, but also flexible enough to respond to the needs of the future. This central governing document would serve as the “Supreme Law of the Land” for millions of Americans over many generations, and so the delegates agonized over what to include in it. The stakes could not be higher.
Washington and his compatriots sought to create a sweeping new system in which the failings of the British monarchy would never reemerge.18 William Maclay, a skeletal-looking, outspoken veteran of both the Seven Years’ War and the Revolution, reminded the room, “We have lately had a hard struggle for our liberty against kingly authority [and] everything related to that species of government is odious to the people.”19 Unsurprisingly, the office of the presidency became a hotly contested issue, since the delegates feared it would lead to a new kind of king.
The delegates spoke out fiercely against creating a presidency that could potentially serve as “the foetus of monarchy.”20 Although monarchy was a time-honored form of governance, Madison declared that creating even a “limited monarchy . . . was out of the question.” He added, “The spirit of the times—the state of our affairs, forbade the experiment.”21 Washington and the vast majority of other delegates could not agree more. They “did not consider the Prerogatives of the British Monarch as a proper guide in defining the Executive powers,”22 and worked to ensure that “America’s president would wield a less threatening kind of executive power than Britain’s king.”23 As the delegates debated how to accomplish this goal, the heat of their passions filled the room—quite literally, since the windows remained shut and the heavy green drapes drawn in order to maintain secrecy.
To these patriots, one of the most dangerous of the president’s powers was his command of the military. After all, the Americans had just fought a bloody war against the British Crown’s abuse of his military power. The Declaration of Independence, which listed their justifications for rebellion a few years earlier, clearly stated:
[King George III] has kept among us, in times of peace, Standing Armies without the Consent of our legislatures. He has affected to render the Military independent of and superior to the Civil Power . . . : For quartering large bodies of armed troops among us: For protecting them, by a mock Trial from punishment for any Murders which they should commit on the Inhabitants of these States . . .24
The British monarch’s use of his commander-in-chief power had led to the bloody war. And a repeat was to be avoided at all costs.25
At the outbreak of the Revolution in 1775, the king’s example certainly had a profound impact on Americans’ understanding of the term “commander in chief.”26 Many of the states had previously modeled their respective governors’ military powers around British precedent, and the Founders had looked to them as a starting point of reference at the beginning of the war. But as the Revolution escalated, the king’s powers—and even some of the governors’—were increasingly rejected. Americans feared that if they merely followed the British example, they would wind up having their liberties quashed all over again. The patriots sought to build their own commander from the ground up.
Luckily, by the time of the Constitutional Convention twelve years later, Americans had an intellectual antidote to the evils of the British example. To find a model for the new American commander in chief, the delegates and the citizenry at large had to look no farther than the statuesque man sitting quietly at the front of the room. “As Americans in 1787 tried to envision a republican head of state who could protect them against old King George without becoming a new King George, they did have a particular George in mind.”27
Washington afforded the nation “an example of the national leader par excellence.”28 While America had seen other commanders in chief,29 it was Washington who distilled these precedents into a distinctive, American version. He had overcome many of the evils of the old ways and introduced new meaning to the term commander in chief amid the bloodshed of war. Thus, when it came time to contemplate how to allocate military powers within the new government, the Americans looked to the decorated war hero whom many considered “the greatest man in the world.”30
While the delegates originally considered spreading the commander-in-chief powers among multiple persons, that notion changed when they appealed to their memories of the “situation during the late war.”31 The memories of Washington’s actions as revolutionary commander convinced the delegates that “[f]rom the nature of the thing, the command of armies ought to be delegated to one person only. The secrecy, dispatch, and decision, which are necessary in military operations can only be expected from one person.”32
And with Washington in mind, the delegates scrapped the idea of dividing up the commander-in-chief role. Instead they determined “that the sword ought to be put in the hands of the representatives of the people.”33 That person would be the president of the United States.
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Supreme Law of the Land
With a vote, the delegates bestowed the full set of commander-in-chief powers on the president. But they did not elaborate on what exactly those powers were. They did not need to. When the delegates described the new presidency’s military power with the amazingly few words, “The President shall be Commander in Chief of the Army and Navy of the United States,” they were not being cagey. On the contrary, they needed no further description because it was so evident to the voters what they meant: the same powers that General Washington had exercised in the war to protect them.1
“When men spoke of the great national representative, of the guardian of the people” that the proposed president would become, “they were thinking in terms of the Father of His Country.”2 As the only American commander in chief, Washington had forged the meaning of presidential war powers in the heat of battle. He taught America “how to govern a nation at war”3 and showed firsthand that the country needed a strong commander to survive. While his military authority was sweeping, he used it virtuously. This convinced the delegates and the broader populace that the new American commander in chief, based on Washington’s precedents, could be powerful without trampling liberty.
One delegate warned, “The Executive will have great opportunitys of abusing his power; particularly in time of war when the military force, and in some respects the public money will be in his hands.”4 But Washington’s example assuaged their fears. Another delegate explained that the powers allocated to the president in the Constitution were “greater than [he] was disposed to make them,” and he believed those powers would not “have been so great had not many of the members cast their eyes towards General Washington . . . and shaped their Ideas of the Powers to be given to a President, by their opinions of his Virtue.”5
The patriots were confident in knowing that their paradigm for the new presidency’s military powers was the man who was pivotal to the birth of the United States. Washington had served as “the great protector of the Mass of the people,” and now the president would continue that role.6 Surely, lesser men would eventually occupy the office. But if they ever questioned what it meant to be the American commander in chief, the country needed only to look back to the righteous precedents that Washington had set during the Revolution. With this in mind, they finalized the Constitution.
After an entire summer of vigorous argument and difficult compromise, the great republic began with a sacrificial lamb. The lamb’s skin was soaked in water for one day and then placed in an alkaline vat of liquor and lime. Stirred at least twice daily with a long wooden pole, the lambskin sat for about a week before it was hung to dry on a stretching frame. A craftsman painstakingly scraped the skin with a blade, turning it into a fine parchment. Once prepared, it was shipped to Philadelphia, where the fledgling nation’s anxious political leaders transcribed onto it the concise words of the new Constitution.
Washington’s exalted example and unfailing perseverance had guided the delegates through long cantankerous days and nights to agree on a mere four pages of parchment that would create the new American government. In addition to naming the president as commander in chief, the Constitution outlined his nonmilitary powers, as well as the powers of Congress and the Supreme Court. On September 17, 1787, the thirty-nine exhausted delegates who had not abandoned the effort signed the parchment. Few were completely satisfied with the new Constitution. Washington certainly was not, but he conceded that it was the best they could do. He wrote, “That the Government, though not absolutely perfect, is one of the best in the world, I have little doubt.”7
After the convention, a woman asked Benjamin Franklin whether this Constitution would create a monarchy or a republic. Franklin dryly replied, “A republic, if you can keep it.” Our Founders provide guidance on how we might do so.
When the Constitution went before the states for ratification, it faced a barrage of criticism. Many believed it would be rejected. The voters feared relinquishing local power to a national government. They were suspicious of the new presidency.8 But in the end, the American people adopted the Constitution largely because of their esteem for Washington’s Revolutionary War leadership. As a delegate admitted, “Be assured, his influence carried this government.”9
That unsatisfying eighteenth-century document became the “Supreme Law of the Land” and still governs the United States to this day. The few words immortalized on that old parchment define the nation. They embody the radical ideal that every citizen has a right to “life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness,” regardless of his or her heredity.10 Forged amidst turmoil, this document has never really escaped it. Its words not only have served as kindling for uprisings and wars but also remain at the center of contemporary debates over our nation’s soul.
America’s memory of General George Washington’s Revolutionary War powers has faded over the past two centuries. However, the Constitution has not. The Commander in Chief clause remains unaltered. The president still derives his constitutional military power from those precious few words that the Founders wrote during that hot summer of 1787. What it means to be the “American commander in chief ” may be murky now, but it was not so back then. The founding generation ratified that clause with a specific person in mind. That gentleman farmer, who saved the fledgling nation, set precedents that still define those war powers necessary to defend the United States.
II
CRUEL AND USUAL PUNISHMENT
“Justice and Policy will require recourse to be had to the Law
of retaliation, however abhorrent and disagreeable to our
natures in cases of Torture and capital punishment.”1
—GENERAL GEORGE WASHINGTON, 1776
The lessons may be forgotten, but history never dies. Early in the Revolution, an enraged General Washington wrote to Congress regarding the capture of a young woman “of easy virtue.”2 The “trollop” of a Loyalist spy, she had been instructed to transmit to British forces an encrypted letter concerning American military plans.3 But she proved to be a bumbling conduit. Disobeying orders, this “infamous hussy”4 gave the letter to a local baker with whom she had “shared idyllic hours of dalliance,” and requested that he deliver it instead.5 Noticing that the letter was directed to a British officer, the baker grew suspicious and turned it over to the American authorities.
Washington was outraged by the treacherous letter and dispatched his troops to capture the woman. They quickly located the not-so-sly minx and brought her back to their general. Washington notified Congress, “I immediately secured the Woman, but for a long time she was proof against every threat and perswasion to discover the Author.”6 He was desperate to find the mole among the American forces, but the “subtle, shrewd jade” obstinately refused to reveal the traitor behind the plot.7 General Washington faced a familiar dilemma: how far are we willing to go in order to save American lives?
Through undisclosed means, “at length she was brought to a confession.”8
The Americans captured a whopping 14,000 enemy soldiers during the Revolutionary War, and some of them became casualties in the United States’ struggle to forge a nation.9 The chapters in Part II analyze General Washington’s treatment of enemy combatants.10 Part I demonstrated that Washington served as the model for the future presidents’ war powers, and this part begins delving into precisely what his Revolutionary War precedents were.
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The Currents of War
A midst the bubbling waterfall of a sleepy New England state park lies an innocuous boulder. As the afternoon sun pours through the leaves of the maple trees that dominate the area, this curiously round stone blends into the picturesque scenery. Here, the boulder lay forgotten for hundreds of years, much like the lessons to be learned from the story behind it.
The quaint Connecticut town of East Haddam that developed around the boulder appears distinctly puritanical to this day, with friendly suburbanites painstakingly grooming their neat lawns and colonial style homes. At a small bend in the tame Connecticut River, the village is known for its stately opera house, quiet streets, and serene fall foliage. Of all places, one would never expect East Haddam to have been the site of a gruesome crime spawned from the fervor of an angry mob. But it was. That boulder’s present location is a testament to the violence that once engulfed the region—it lies there as the direct result of a horrific attack on a local family.
In the lead-up to the Revolutionary War, the American colonists began to rebel against Britain’s dominion in the 1760s. Following the Seven Years’ War, Britain passed several measures that infuriated the colonists. British taxpayers were fed up with the enormous expense of defending the colonies from the French, the Native Americans, and other aggressors. Thus, the British government sought to force the colonists to share more of the burden for their own defense. The Americans did not take kindly to this new, stricter motherland.
First, the British forbade the colonies from expanding into the vast, fertile lands west of the eastern seaboard. Britain’s objective was to appease the Native Americans by permitting them to live peacefully on these lands and thereby avoid costly battles. With the Appalachian Mountains between them, the tribes and the colonies were less likely to fight. But the Americans, having long eyed these lands for their own westward expansion, were incensed by such meddling.1 And London was not done antagonizing them.
Next, London struck closer to home with a law commanding that the Americans quarter British troops in their houses. This Quartering Act seemed fair to the British, since they were merely requiring the colonists to house their own defenders. From the American perspective, however, their military protectors suddenly appeared more like oppressors. At any time, the Americans might face armed British soldiers bursting into their homes and demanding quarter. In light of this perceived threat to their property, family, and liberty, violent rebellion began to seem all the more justified.
But nothing enraged the Americans as much as London’s encroachment on their wallets. In an effort to increase tax revenues, Parliament passed the Tea Act of 1773.2 This law was intended to induce the Americans to switch from smuggled, untaxed Dutch tea to the British variety. Even though this infamous act reduced the price of legally imported tea, it created a tea monopoly for the British East India Company, thereby threatening to force tea smugglers and other “entrepreneurial” colonists out of business. Although the colonies were not only among the most prosperous but also among the lowest-taxed places on earth, the Americans were nevertheless outraged by the Crown’s intrusion.3 To them, the Tea Act stood “as a mark of Supremacy of [the British] Parliament.”4 In retaliation, bands of protesters throughout the colonies used force and intimidation to drive the British tea from colonial ports. The Connecticut contingent of one such group, called the “Sons of Liberty,” was particularly irked by a certain East Haddam resident’s penchant for British tea.5
Abner Beebe was a mill owner and physician who remained loyal to the British Crown even as the colonies were beginning to rebel. He was an educated, churchgoing man who gave food to the poor and contributed funds to the local paupers’ cemetery. A middle-aged father, he was born in East Haddam and raised to respect his colony’s mother country. Staunch in his convictions, he “spoke very freely in Favor of [the British] Government” and criticized the tea parties staged by the patriots.6 He publicly argued that the motherland’s “government had a right to make whatever laws they pleased” and refused to join the boycott on British tea.7 The Sons of Liberty viewed Beebe’s obstinacy as a grievous transgression against the patriotic cause.
Heated with patriotic passion, a mob of young men swarmed towards Beebe’s home, undeterred by the bone-chilling winds of the New England winter. Inside the house on that dreary February night, the unsuspecting family labored to stay warm as they tended to a child who had fallen ill. Their quiet was shattered by a pounding at the door. Abner Beebe unlatched the door to find a mob at his step. As he spoke to them, it quickly became apparent that they were not seeking a gentlemanly political debate. They were lugging hot pitch. As his family watched in horror, Beebe “was assaulted by a Mob, stripped naked, & hot Pitch was poured upon him, which blistered his Skin.”8
The practice of “tarring and feathering” had originated in 1189 with Richard the Lionheart during the Crusades, but was not used extensively until the colonists revived it during their revolt against Britain. It entailed stripping the victim to his waist or completely naked, and then pouring hot, hissing tar over him. This would burn his bare skin, and, if poured over his head, it would likely render him blind in one or both eyes.9 The tar of the revolutionary era was of such a quality that it melted only at relatively high temperatures, the average being 140°F.10 With painful third-degree burns sustained after just approximately five seconds of contact with material of that temperature, Beebe’s skin was likely heavily damaged as a result of his prolonged exposure.11
Removing the tar was even more painful. It took hours or even days to peel the hardened tar from the victim’s body, and his flesh often peeled off along with the tar. Infection typically followed, especially in a case like Beebe’s, where the attackers concocted a humiliating covering more creative than feathers.12
As if being beaten, stripped, and burned with tar were not enough punishment for Beebe, he was then “carried to a Hog Sty & rubbed over with Hogs Dung. They threw the Hog’s Dung in his Face, & rammed some of it down his Throat.” To ensure public disgrace, he was “in that Condition exposed to a Company of Women.” Leaving Beebe’s body virtually lifeless (although he would survive the attack), the mob next turned to his home and family. “His House was attacked, his Windows broke.” So traumatized, “a Child of his went into Distraction upon this Treatment.” Finally, the mob ransacked Beebe’s gristmill and rolled its millstone down into the stream, where for centuries the boulder has remained by the waterfall in East Haddam, largely forgotten, much like the story behind it.13
Attacks of this kind were rampant during the Revolution. People like Abner Beebe were viewed as a threat to the revolutionary spirit and the emergence of the new nation. For his part, Washington morally abhorred such cruelty. He wished for America to treat her enemies with dignity and humanity. But despite his moral opposition, he came to find harsh measures necessary for victory. In fact, his conversion was swift—he arrived at this conclusion soon after the outbreak of war.
After years of smoldering discord between the government of King George III and the American “rabble in arms,” war erupted on April 19, 1775, at 5:00 A.M., in the small town square of Lexington, Massachusetts. 14 The British had placed neighboring Boston under martial law in an attempt to subdue the surging patriot defiance. They quartered troops in private homes and turned the freedom-loving city into an occupied zone. The Massachusetts legislature had been stripped of its political power and the people were now subjected to edicts from the royal governor and the occupying military forces.
The New Englanders were not the sort to be suppressed without a fight. Hearing the British drumbeat at sunrise on that brisk spring morning, the American militiamen emerged from a local tavern to defy the occupiers. The colonists had long relied on such groups of townsmen for defense. However, while their original purpose was to protect the towns from a Native American or perhaps French attack, the colonists now saw their former protectors as the threat.
The British troops were on their way to confiscate the rebellious Massachusetts colony’s munitions, but the patriots would not stand for another such affront. As the first rays of morning light illuminated the village, Lexington’s stout little wooden bell tower continued—almost pathetically—to sound the alarm while British soldiers poured into the town square.15 They were surprised by what they found. About seventy bold American farmers and shopkeepers stood tall on the small, dewy town green, boldly facing a well-trained column of approximately one thousand British regulars.16
The British—derisively called “redcoats” or, more colorfully, “lobster back sons-a-bitches” by the Americans in a scornful nod to their well-tailored red uniforms—were in sour spirits. They had marched all night and waded up to their waists through a swamp that blocked their route. Enraged by the insolence of the colonists before them, the British demanded: “You damned rebels, lay down your arms!”17 This remark was particularly offensive because the Americans did not see themselves as treasonous rebels, but as honorable men courageously defending their families and property. When the defiant colonists scoffed at the demand, the British shouted “huzza!” and raced towards the Crown’s unruly subjects with sharp bayonets affixed to the end of their muskets.18
Terrified by the enormous mass of red and metal rapidly nearing, some of the Americans decided to go home. But suddenly, just as the Americans began to disperse, the confused scene was pierced by the boom of a gun. While each side blamed the other, reports of that fateful moment indicated that an unknown man had been secretly watching the events unfold from afar.19 He peered down his Scottish flintlock pistol at the advancing redcoats and, pulling the trigger, unleashed a deafening thunder and spray of pungent, singeing gunpowder.20 The explosion sent the lead ball hurling erratically through the barrel of the gun towards the startled British. And with this “shot heard round the world,” all hell broke loose.
Redcoats and patriots flinched at the sound. They squeezed their trigger fingers, sending simultaneous blasts hurling in every direction. Before the British officers could regain control of their units, blood flew and men on both sides fell to the ground, yelping in pain. The British shot a volley of fire towards the startled colonists, killing ten and injuring ten others before the Americans scattered in terror.21
Word of the bloodbath spread like wildfire throughout New England. One patriot reported, “there was a general Uproar through the Neighboring Colonies; the Echo of which soon extended through the Continent.”22 Rage militaire engulfed the region as men grew impassioned in defense of their families and homes.23 Militiamen responded to the call to arms by the thousands. The war for America had begun not with an eloquent speech or a noble declaration but with one unauthorized shot from a lone sniper.24
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Exitus Acta Probat
At the outset of hostilities, America’s Continental Congress met to plan a strategy for the patriotic cause. This group was composed of political and intellectual leaders from throughout the colonies, with Washington attending as a representative of Virginia. Having gained approximately twenty-five pounds of muscle since the Jumonville scandal in 1754, the matured man carried his formidable two-hundred-pound frame with the majesty of a natural-born athlete. When ordering from his tailor, he described himself as “a Man full 6 feet high & proportionably made; if any thing, rather slender than thick for a person of that highth with pretty long Arms and thighs.”1 Many history books describe him as taller, but Washington was not one to misinform his tailor—he took his appearance quite seriously.
Washington arrived at Independence Hall in 1775 looking the part of a military expert. In a not-so-subtle reminder of his previous military service during the Seven Years’ War, he shrewdly wore his blue Virginia militia uniform. This was complemented by his hair, which was powdered white and tied in the back with a satin bow. Such a style was considered very masculine and militaristic, thereby serving as yet another indication of his soldier status.
Ironically, Washington had in fact been retired from military life for fifteen years. His only military experience after the Jumonville disaster had been predominantly in backwoods warfare, and he had done poorly by most standards. He had never commanded anything larger than a regiment, let alone an army, in battle. Due to his limited success, Washington had been unable to obtain a commission in the British Army and had resigned from the Virginia militia.
Despite his lackluster record, Washington still had more military experience than most Americans in 1775. To the group of military novices in the Continental Congress, he was the relative expert. And defer to him they did. When military questions arose, their natural reaction was to turn to the man in uniform standing with a militaristic posture “as straight as an Indian.”2 Although he preferred to remain silent, Washington provided thoughtful contributions if asked for his opinion. Unsurprisingly, when time came to decide who would lead the new American army, Washington catapulted to the shortlist of candidates.
The southern gentleman’s impeccable manners, humble demeanor, and almost aristocratic dignity endeared him to the congressmen. Cited for his “handsome face,” “graceful attitude and movements,” “self command,” and willingness to risk his personal fortune, he embodied the noble new “American Commander in Chief ” that Congress aimed to create.3 One delegate observed that Washington had “so much martial dignity in his deportment that you would distinguish him to be a general and a soldier from among ten thousand people.”4 On top of all these attributes, Washington humbly exuded a je ne sais quoi that the Revolution badly needed. And so, after much deliberation and argument, dominated by north-south tensions, the Virginian was unanimously appointed as America’s first commander in chief.
In all of these deliberations, however, Congress neglected to address the matter of how to treat their foes. They passed not one resolution concerning the treatment of captured British and Loyalist fighters. Congress’s first mere mention of the subject on record was in Washington’s commission as commander in chief of the Continental Army:
You shall take every method in your power consistent with prudence, to destroy or make prisoners of all persons who now are or who hereafter shall appear in Arms against the good people of the united colonies.
And whereas all particulars cannot be foreseen, nor positive instructions for such emergencies so before hand given but that many things must be left to your prudent and discreet management, as occurrences may arise upon the place, or from time to time fall out, you are therefore upon all such accidents or any occasions that may happen, to use your best circumspection and (advising with your council of war) to order and dispose of the said Army under your command as may be most advantageous for the obtaining the end for which these forces have been raised, making it your special care in discharge of the great trust committed unto you, that the liberties of America receive no detriment.5
With this resolution, the Continental Congress empowered their new commander to decide whether to destroy or imprison enemies of the fledgling nation. They immediately followed this grant of authority with a further declaration leaving much to Washington’s discretion, or “best circumspection,” in how to deploy the Continental Army in defense of the emerging states.6 In so doing, Congress indicated that decisions regarding prisoner treatment would be the commander’s prerogative.7
With these powers, Washington set out for Boston. His mission was to defeat the British who were besieged within the city by enraged New Englanders. The city had been transformed into a virtual military camp as nearly 14,000 British troops poured in and the townsfolk fled. Boston’s civilian population had plummeted by more than 60 percent, to a mere 6,753 American inhabitants.8 With the town largely emptied, the redcoats had certainly made themselves at home, living in the stately brick and wooden homes of Boston, making use of its tidy shops and churches, helping themselves to its bountiful fish stocks, and patrolling the cobblestone and dirt roads for spies loyal to the patriot cause. But however comfortable the redcoats were, the fact of the matter was that they were dangerously trapped—pinned by the tens of thousands of American militiamen from Massachusetts and surrounding colonies who had joined the cause after the opening battle on Lexington’s town green.
Before things escalated further, Congress attempted to negotiate peace during the summer of 1775. They presented the British with an “Olive Branch Petition” in which the colonies agreed to cease their uprising if King George III and Parliament revoked their oppressive new laws and withdrew their troops. But by August, the king had had enough insolence.
The first in a line of British kings of German descent to have actually been born in Britain, George III proudly declared, “Born and educated in this country, I glory in the name of Britain.”9 And he was certainly ready to place Britain’s interests before those of the American colonies. Thirty-seven years old at the time, he had already ruled for fifteen years and had supported certain efforts to tax the colonies. This did not win him fans in America. Washington captured the sentiment of many when he said, “Great Britain hath no more right to put their hands into my pocket . . . than I have to put my hands into yours.”10 As the conflict escalated, the colonists came to vilify George III as a ruthless tyrant, who “has plundered our seas, ravaged our Coasts, burnt our towns, and destroyed the lives of our people.”11
In reality, the king was a reserved, thoughtful man, willing to endure pains to do what he thought was right—and he expected others to do the same. For example, when his bid to marry his true love was opposed, he broke off the relationship, writing, “I am born for the happiness or misery of a great nation and consequently must often act contrary to my passions.”12 He eventually married, and even though he did not meet the bride chosen for him until their wedding day, he nevertheless enjoyed a happy marriage—and a remarkably faithful one for monarchs of the era—fathering fifteen children. But this happy twist of fate did not erase his “grin and bear it” mentality. So when the colonists rebelled against the burdens placed on them by Parliament, the king was not particularly sympathetic.
With large bulging eyes and cheeks, George III possessed a high forehead and thick, carefully groomed hair. He was so well coifed, in fact, that the arsenic used in the hair products of the time may have contributed to his bouts of insanity.13 He was very lucid, however, when the patriots began to rebel. Infuriated by their attack against British power, he declared war on the “dangerous and ill designing” patriots.14 Although a pious Anglican, he was not particularly forgiving and vowed to crush these “wicked and desperate persons within [his] Realm.”15 Britain scoffed at America’s olive branch. The fight was on.
In summer of 1775, the war escalated and prisoner counts along with it. Reports abounded that the British were mistreating their American captives. “His Excellency,” as Washington was called, raised the matter with his British Army counterpart, General Thomas Gage, a high-browed, beady-eyed aristocrat. The two men were no strangers. Ironically, the now bitter rivals had once been rather friendly. Gage had commanded Washington in the Seven Years’ War and respected the young man’s bravery after he organized a successful retreat that saved many of Gage’s troops. In fact, the British general had sympathized with Washington when he was passed over for promotion in the British Army many years before and the two had maintained cordial relations following the war. However, after two decades, time and distance had severed their ties and their relationship had cooled, to say the least.
Washington was shocked and horrified by reports that Americans captured during the siege of Boston were left “languishing with Wounds, and Sickness; that some have been even amputated” by British troops under Gage’s command.16 He yearned for all prisoners to be treated with humanity and had ordered his men to care for the enemy combatants in their custody. But Gage was not reciprocating. To Washington, this conduct was a terrible offense, and it was very personal. Both honor and pragmatism demanded retribution.
Washington was not a detached general but one who fought alongside his men. Battle after battle, he led the charge, sometimes having multiple horses shot out from under him as he continued to fight. Although none of his several horses were actually white, popular tales often depicted him as a princely leader atop a great white horse in the thick of battle. While aloof in his mannerisms and occasionally gruff with his subordinates, he suffered alongside his troops, and it fostered mutual respect. So when his captured brethren were abused, he wanted not only to avenge them but also to protect other Americans from future harm. Using his British captives as leverage achieved both objectives.
Washington’s personal motto was Exitus acta probat, Latin for “the outcome justifies the deed.” He was an extremely principled man, but history has lost sight of his very practical side. While he earnestly endeavored to raise America’s treatment of her prisoners above the barbarity of previous European wars, it became clear to him that the only way he could save his captured countrymen was to potentially mutilate the redcoats in his custody.17 Washington was morally opposed to mistreating prisoners. But he was even more opposed to letting Americans suffer. He was a practical man and if he could use British captives to defend his countrymen, he would. When it came down to saving Americans, the outcome justified the deed.
Retribution was the primary means by which armies remedied enemy breaches of the laws of war. And so Washington warned Gage, his friend-turned-foe,
My Duty now makes it necessary to apprize you, that for the future I shall regulate my Conduct towards those Gentlemen, who are or may be in our Possession, exactly by the Rule you shall observe towards those of ours, now in your Custody.
If Severity and Hardship mark the Line of your Conduct (painful as it may be to me) your Prisoners will feel its Effects.18
In the broadest reading, this letter expressed the view that the enemy’s actions justified amputating limbs of British prisoners. And these were not empty threats, since Washington held a number of British troops captive early in the war. While it was unlikely that he truly intended to go to that extreme in order to protect American prisoners at this stage, the British indeed complained that the American side was already mistreating British captives in other ways.
One report of abuse comes from when Washington’s forces attacked the lighthouse on an island in Boston Harbor that summer of 1775. Their mission was to disrupt British night shipping by extinguishing the warning light. And so on a steamy July night, with the darkness and crashing waves masking their advance, three hundred American minutemen boarded whaleboats and stealthily made their way towards the small rocky island and its thirty-two unsuspecting British guards.19 In a fierce 2:00 A.M. ambush, the stench of gunpowder pierced the salty sea air. The patriot muskets quickly killed a third of the redcoats and the remainder surrendered before the Americans triumphantly ignited the lighthouse into a towering inferno.20 But the Americans’ jubilance was short-lived. The tide had receded, beaching their getaway boats. Trapped on the island, the Americans watched the British gunboats race to the scene.
The tide returned just in time for the Americans to jump into their makeshift armada with their captives and get to the opposite shore before the British cannon could blow them to pieces. The infuriated British were able to hit only two Americans before the rest made it to safety. Once ashore, the Americans promptly put their new captives to work, forcing them to carry a cannon up a hill.21 Word traveled back to the British lines that this was just the tip of the proverbial iceberg.
After Gage had received Washington’s warning, he spat off an angry rejoinder. His intelligence, he said, had indicated that Americans were abusing captured redcoats, using extreme forced-work tactics and even starvation in order to compel the captured British troops to help the American side:
My intelligence from your army would justify severe recrimination. I understand there are of the King’s faithful subjects, taken some time since by the rebels, laboring, like negro slaves, to gain their daily subsistence, or reduced to the wretched alternative, to perish by famine or take arms against their King and country. Those who have made the treatment of the prisoners in my hands, or of your other friends in Boston, a pretence for such measures, found barbarity upon falsehood.23
Neither Washington’s threat to General Gage nor the Americans’ possible abuses were based on any congressional resolution regarding the treatment of enemy captives. Washington led the way, informing Congress of his actions only after the fact.24 Likewise, no state legislative body instructed the commander on the matter of prisoner treatment. Instead, the Continental Army informed the Massachusetts legislature that “Gage is resolved to know no distinction of Rank among our Prisoners in his Hands, which obliges Genl. Washington (very contrary to his disposition) to observe the same Rule of Treatment to those Gentlemen, . . . which otherwise may appear harsh and cruel.”25
Washington considered it within his powers as commander in chief to decide the treatment of enemy prisoners without any need for a congressional resolution. He determined the best course of action based on his understanding of the laws of war. And his views on the matter did not always align with those of Congress.
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American Fortitude
In August 1775, mere days after Washington’s hostile exchange with General Gage, the Americans ambushed the British transport ship HMS Hope as it sailed up the Delaware River.1 The outnumbered British quickly surrendered, and the Americans captured a British officer named Major Christopher French. Approximately fifty years old, described as “small of stature” and having coarse, stern features, he was imprisoned in Hartford, Connecticut.2 While there was little indication of serious mistreatment, the prissy Major French began complaining to Washington about the “Incivility or Contempt” with which he was treated by the townspeople.3 They mocked and insulted him, leaving him outraged that such rabble should dare speak to a British officer in such a manner.
Like a disgruntled customer who sends a note to the corporate office about an unpleasant cashier, French dashed off several angry letters to Washington, who diligently replied to each. At first the general responded cordially, pledging that “suitable Provision shall be made for you and your Companions, and shew you every civility.”4 But as the war dragged on and the British continued to abuse their captives, his tone shifted.
Referring to the mistreatment of Americans by the British, Washington curtly told French, “I should illy support my Country’s Honor, and my own Character, if I did not shew a proper Sense of their sufferings, by making the condition of the Ministerial Officers, in some Degree, dependant on theirs.”5 Major French escaped before Washington educated him in the sufferings of American prisoners, but the commander’s thinly veiled threats conveyed his emerging belief that abusing British prisoners was justified.
In December 1775, over seven months after the outbreak of war, Congress finally passed a resolution concerning prisoner treatment. However, it was largely at odds with Washington’s declared stance. As he held the British forces in Boston, the Continental Congress resolved
That such as are taken be treated as prisoners of war, but with humanity, and allowed the same rations as the troops in the service of the Continent; that the officers being in pay should supply themselves with cloaths, their bills to be taken therefor, that the soldiers be furnished as they now are.6
With this edict, Congress sought to take the high road and elevate the nation’s conduct above less-noble struggles of the past.
As a matter of principle, Washington agreed. He was morally opposed to mistreatment, in theory, and had initially preferred to “err on the side of mercy than that of strict Justice.”7 Experience taught him, however, that the high standard he sought was not practical, and that harsh measures might be necessary to save American lives. Just weeks after Congress’s decree that prisoners be treated humanely, Washington again threatened to abuse a British captive.8 This time, he needed to protect a captured national hero.
Washington was enraged by reports that the British had abused the popular American patriot Colonel Ethan Allen. Allen was a flamboyant farmer-turned-statesman-turned-land-speculator best known as the charismatic leader of a “merry band” of militiamen called the Green Mountain Boys.9 Allen was born into a relatively prosperous farming family in the sparsely populated hills of northwestern Connecticut. But farm life was not enough for this fiery character. Like many ambitious youth at the time, he journeyed to the frontier to find his fortune and eventually made his way to the wilderness of Vermont. Not yet a state, it was a hotly disputed area over which New York landowners attempted to assert control while the squatters living there sought independent statehood. The “wild west” of New England, this region was dominated by a rambunctious lot. Allen fit right in.
With a long face, narrow-set eyes, big nose, and bushy brown hair, Allen matured into a loud man with a penchant for taking the law into his own hands. Married to an uneducated and rigidly religious woman who did not care for her husband’s debaucherous streak, he faced constant criticism at home.10 This made Allen rather eager to escape the house.
He escaped to the local taverns and town hall, where he became not only a connoisseur of cheap rum but also a raucous figure in the community. Standing over six feet tall, he was impossible to ignore as he shouted and his large face grew ruddy with passion. With his incendiary oratory, Allen had a knack for whipping his audiences into action. He soon emerged as the grandiloquent leader of the frontiersmen seeking to forcefully secure their Vermont land claims against wealthy New Yorkers. Many of these Green Mountain Boys, including Allen himself, had outstanding arrest warrants in New York for beating anyone who challenged their claims. Enjoying a good fight almost as much as a good drink, this guerilla force readily followed Allen into battle time and again.
When the Revolutionary War broke out, the unhappily married thirty-seven-year-old Allen was ready to leap into the center of the struggle. Even though most of the action was in Massachusetts, Allen led the unruly Green Mountain Boys into the backwater of upstate New York to take part in America’s first offensive of the war. Their target was the formidable, granite-walled Fort Ticonderoga. Known as the “Gibraltar of North America,” this imposing British fortress secured the waterway connecting Canada to New York. Overlooking Lake Champlain, Ticonderoga was in a heavily wooded and largely uninhabited area, then just beginning to enjoy the effects of spring’s slow march northward.
Allen’s men set out on a midnight raid on a rain-soaked May night in 1775, under orders to seize the boats of wealthy British merchants so that the American forces might use them as ferries across the lake.11 Stumbling upon “choice liquors” in a Loyalist’s cellar, however, the Vermonters took to drinking instead.12 At three o’clock in the morning, they decided to make do with just the single boat they had secured to ferry as many men as possible before they lost the cover of darkness.
After two trips across the choppy, cold water, only ninety men were in place. Two-thirds of the American troops were still stranded on the other side of the lake, but Allen decided to attack before daybreak anyway. His force a less-than-optimal mixture of drunk and hung over, the brazen Allen and his dysfunctional militia charged the fort.
Luckily for Allen, the British had only one sentry on duty, and he was helping himself to an unauthorized catnap. Taken by complete surprise, the undermanned fort put up little resistance, as the half-naked British soldiers did not even have time to put on their pants, let alone ready their muskets.13 In a stunning blow to the British, the fort fell to the Americans, thereby thwarting Britain’s plan to invade through Montreal. Perhaps more importantly, the Americans acquired the gunpowder and artillery that Washington needed to rain hell on the British in Boston. Washington was rather pleased.
Drunk with confidence—and booze—after this triumph, Allen began lobbying Congress to expand the war, writing, “I will lay my life on it, that with fifteen hundred men, and a proper artillery, I will take Montreal.”14 Eager to spread the Revolution to the French Canadians, Congress agreed to a daring invasion of Canada. Washington, though not technically authorized by Congress to do so, was so enthusiastic about the plan that he sent up his own separate brigade.15
As usual, Allen was among the first to charge to the front lines of the fight. Patience not being one of his virtues, he led approximately one hundred men in a foolhardy attack on Montreal ahead of the main American force.16 Outnumbered two to one, his rogue team fought ferociously but was quickly defeated and Allen was captured. Now wise to the plans for a larger assault, the British repelled the American invasion of Canada. Allen was trapped.
British Brigadier Prescott ordered that Allen be tightly shackled and chained within the dark hull of a prison ship moored in Montreal’s harbor. Prescott was an odious character, whose large, almost serpentine eyes were suited to his oppressive disposition. He became known for his “many acts of petty tyranny,” and Allen felt the brunt of his wrath.17
Rather than languish in defeat in his dank wooden prison, however, Allen was defiant, much to his dour captor’s vexation. Choosing to “behave in a daring, soldier-like manner, that [he] might exhibit a good sample of American fortitude,” the colorful Allen challenged each of his guards to a manly fistfight as they passed by.18 While not one of them accepted his challenge, Prescott found Allen’s bravado infuriating and ordered that he be treated “with much severity.”19
The British beat Allen, deprived him of adequate water and rations, and repeatedly threatened him with hanging.20 For weeks he was held almost naked, wearing little more than the heavy iron chains that cut his wrists and weighed him to the ground.21 “I have suffered every thing short of death,” he reported.22 The large man withered as his health deteriorated. But the plucky Allen survived. Unsure of what to do with this defiant troublemaker, the British shipped him off to England, where he was imprisoned in a dark old castle in Cornwall.23 Like an exhibit at the zoo, he slept in hay infested with vermin as locals bribed guards for a peek at the giant who had taken Ticonderoga.
Everyone expected that Allen would be swiftly hanged. But when word reached Washington that Allen was “thrown into Irons and suffers all the Hardships inflicted upon common Felons,” the commander was incensed, to put it mildly.24 He felt bound by his strong sense of honor to employ all means necessary to protect Allen. And Washington was prepared to go to great lengths to save an American life.
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Necessary Evil
In a lucky twist of fate, the Americans captured Ethan Allen’s tormentor, Brigadier Prescott, during a subsequent battle. Washington now had his bargaining chip. And he used it. He promptly contacted the new commanding British general, William Howe, who had assumed leadership of the British forces after Parliament recalled Thomas Gage. The British government had lost faith in Gage after he had failed to finish off the colonists’ insurrection in Boston, and had transferred the reins to Howe in hopes of a speedy end to the war. Washington was now negotiating with a more sympathetic character.
General Howe was a British aristocrat who, although a capable commander, nevertheless benefitted from his family’s money and connections. His grandmother had an affair with King George I, and so his family tree—more resembling a twisted bush—positioned Howe as King George III’s illegitimate uncle. Having begun his military career as a teenager, Howe gradually rose through the ranks to achieve his current lofty rank. Now forty-seven years old, he was a brawny six feet tall, with a broad nose and black eyes that sparkled almost as much as his stellar reputation.1 While fond of merriment—“a glass and a lass” in particular—Howe also had a darker side and “suffered from the Howe family fits of gloom.”2 And he was a bit gloomy about his present appointment as well.
Ironically, Howe sympathized with the American cause, and he took up arms against the colonists only because he “was ordered, and could not refuse.”3 Even as he plotted to trounce them, he nevertheless hoped for reconciliation.
Washington was not so conciliatory, however, when he warned Howe that “whatever Treatment Colonel Allen receives; whatever fate he undergoes, such exactly shall be the Treatment and Fate of Brigadier Prescott, now in our Hands. The Law of Retaliation, is not only justifiable, in the Eyes of God and Man, but absolutely a duty, which in our present circumstances we owe to our Relations, Friends and Fellow Citizens.”4 He seemed to go beyond Congress’s resolution on the subject, which had merely “Ordered, That General Washington be directed to apply to General Howe on this matter, and desire [Prescott] may be exchanged” for Allen.5
Washington was ardent in the defense of his men. He made it clear that if the British continued to abuse Allen and carry out their plans to hang him, Prescott would suffer for it. And this more extreme stance likely saved Allen’s life: although the British repeatedly threatened to hang Allen without trial, when rumors reached England that Prescott was being dreadfully abused and would likely be killed if they executed Allen, King George III took notice. He ordered that Allen be sent back for a fair trial.6 After Allen arrived in America, Washington secured his release in exchange for a captured British colonel, and he commended Allen for his fortitude and “enthusiastic zeal.”7
General Washington’s hard-line view on the treatment of enemy captives was not reserved for captured British troops. At a time when American courts were sentencing Tories to brandings and Continental Army troops purportedly executed surrendering Loyalist soldiers, Washington also condoned at least some of this conduct.8 After word reached New York City that the Americans’ invasion of Canada had been repelled, there was a great uptick in the “bitterness of feeling already shown towards the loyalists.”9 Tensions boiled over one balmy June night when patriots hauled Tories into the streets “with candles forced to be held by them, or pushed in their faces, and their heads burned.”10 By Wednesday of that same week, the riots continued in broad daylight throughout downtown Manhattan.
Pastor Shewkirk, viewing the pandemonium from his Moravian Church, chronicled the “unhappy and shocking scenes” in his diary. He reported witnessing several Tories being made to “ride the rails,” a practice in which a victim was forced to straddle a sharp metal rail that was hoisted onto patriots’ shoulders. They paraded through the streets, the victim wincing as the rail cut into his legs and groin. “Some were stripped naked and dreadfully abused.”11
Israel Putnam, a stout, burly American major general affectionately called “Old Put” by his troops, confronted one such procession. Known for his reckless courage and fighting spirit, he was nevertheless appalled by the abuse and would not stand for it. The rotund leader condemned his fellow patriots’ behavior and dispersed the angry mob. Surprisingly, however, Washington reprimanded Old Put for doing so.
While the commander would not order that Loyalists be abused—they were Americans, after all—he would not necessarily stop others from doing so. Washington scolded Old Put, arguing that “to discourage such proceedings was to injure the cause of liberty in which they were engaged, and that nobody would attempt it but an enemy of his country.”12 Washington’s arguments justifying abuse sharpened further as the war went on and the Americans’ desperation increased.
Following the standstill at Boston, the British evacuated. In what was perhaps the most memorable Boston Saint Patrick’s Day parade, the redcoats marched down the city’s streets on March 17, 1776, and onto their cannon-laden ships. Howe retreated to Canada and the Americans rejoiced. Spontaneous celebrations erupted. Rum spilled into the streets of Boston to the sound of fife and drum.
But Washington knew better. He foresaw darker days ahead. Like many others, he predicted that New York City would be Howe’s next target. In light of Britain’s naval supremacy, the location was indefensible from the American military’s perspective. “What to do with the city?” asked Washington and his officers. “. . . It is so encircled with deep navigable waters that whoever commands the sea must command the town.”13 While the British had over one hundred men-of-war in their worldwide armada, the Americans had zero. These were not good statistics for defending an island. But America and its political leaders expected a defense of the city, and the commander obliged. He marched with the Continental Army for over two hundred miles down from Boston to occupy Manhattan and Brooklyn.
Washington began to brace for the impending attack, ordering that his troops erect elaborate forts and dig trenches throughout the area. After months of toil, the Americans watched in dread as the British armada approached the city. But with his army in good health and good spirits, Washington tried to stay optimistic. Having chased the British from Boston, he hoped that he could repel their superior firepower and numbers again. He believed that the righteousness of the revolutionary cause would make the Americans formidable fighters even if they lacked experience and training. “Let us therefore animate and encourage each other,” he declared, “and show the whole world that a freeman, contending for his liberty on his own ground, is superior to any slavish mercenary on earth.”14 America was drunk with confidence.
It was at this time, July 1776, that America was officially born. At the outset of hostilities in Massachusetts a year earlier, only the radicals had wanted independence while most of the colonists hoped for reunification. But after a year of fighting, reconciliation became impossible in the face of the British atrocities and America’s surging patriotism. Thomas Paine, a recent immigrant from Britain, wrote a stunning essay calling for an American republic to break from the British monarchy. This bestselling pamphlet, Common Sense, galvanized public support for independence and convinced the colonists that “The Sun never shined on a cause of greater worth” than their revolution.15 In response, the congressmen decided to do something of which they became rather fond: they appointed a committee.
This five-man committee was tasked with drafting a statement justifying the colonies’ break from their mother country. Thomas Jefferson, a brilliant thirty-three-year-old attorney from Virginia, took the lead. He was a man of striking contrasts. Born into one of Virginia’s most distinguished families, he could be rather elitist at times but nevertheless fancied himself fiercely egalitarian and even sneered at the mention of aristocratic blood.16 He took obsessive notes, including each day’s barometric pressure and the minute details of his vegetable garden, but somehow lost track of his own debts to his wine distributor. He was a rather humorless intellectual, yet one of his favorite books was Don Quixote.17
Jefferson enjoyed the privilege of a classical liberal education, studying philosophy, language, science, history, law, and the classics. He loved to learn almost any subject, although he complained while studying ethics and metaphysics.18 After his formal schooling ended, he read ravenously throughout his life. His genius was seemingly limitless: besides being a lawyer and statesman, he was also an architect, geographer, scientist, inventor, naturalist, agriculturalist, fiddler, and philologist—to name just a few of his “hobbies.”19 Although his looks improved with age, as a youth he was described as “certainly not handsome, and in order to establish his social attractiveness, his friends f[e]ll back on ‘his countenance, so highly expressive of intelligence and benevolence.’”20 With his freckles, sandy hair, long gangly limbs, and soft-spoken demeanor, Jefferson appeared to his fellow congressmen as more of a nerdy youth than a powerful politician. But whatever he lacked in public presence, he more than compensated with his mighty pen.
With only a couple of weeks and a busy schedule, Jefferson pretty much threw the Declaration of Independence together. Downplaying his masterpiece, he later wrote, “Neither aiming at originality of principle or sentiment, nor yet copied from any particular and previous writing, it was intended to be an expression of the American mind.”21 His Declaration eloquently outlined America’s grievances against King and Parliament, making a rousing case for the colonies’ natural right to throw off the bonds of tyranny. But the Continental Congress decided to table it.
Fierce debate ensued, with multiple colonies initially rejecting the call for immediate independence. But Congress finally voted in favor of officially breaking from the British Empire on July 2, 1776. One delegate prophesied: “The Second Day of July 1776, will be the most memorable Epocha, in the History of America. . . . It ought to be solemnized with Pomp and Parade, with Shews, Games, Sports, Guns, Bells, Bonfires, and Illuminations from one End of this Continent to the other from this Time forward forever more.”22 But the fastidious delegates wanted to make some edits to Jefferson’s draft, so they did not adopt the Declaration of Independence until two days later. And hence, even though July 2 marked the day of the official vote for independence, July 4 stuck in the national consciousness as the United States’ birthday.
The nation was born into the jaws of an angry lion. The British were not as pleased with the Declaration of Independence as the Americans were. They saw it as outrageously treasonous and were determined to squash the rebellion. They invaded.
Howe’s troops landed in Brooklyn in the heat of late August 1776. He faced the scattered American force, which was little more than a mob, untrained and underequipped. Most had “nothing but a wretched farmer’s costume and a weapon.”23 In contrast, the British troops were well equipped and had five or six times as much military experience. Typically in their late twenties, they were about five years older on average than America’s army of “beardless boys.”24 The British promptly routed the Americans, sending them recoiling back to the banks of the East River. Here, lacking a navy, the Americans were trapped with no avenue of retreat. The Revolution was nearly ended right then, as Washington’s Continental Army stared in the face of annihilation.
In a fortuitous twist, the prevailing winds shifted. Unusually for August, a large storm brought strong northerly winds that made it impossible for Howe’s ships to sail up the East River. But Howe was patient, perhaps overly so. The British troops in Brooklyn set up camp for the night, fully confident that they would destroy Washington’s forces when the winds shifted again in the morning. The Americans hunkered down in their trenches, miserable in the pouring rain, dreading the inevitable bloodbath. Ominous booms of thunder mingled with those of British mortars in signaling the doom of the coming onslaught. Washington, with hardly any sleep in days, must have been gut-wrenchingly distressed by his army’s plight, but he did not show it. He maintained his outwardly cool composure and made his rounds to assess the situation. After much deliberation, he decided he had no option but to retreat.
In a bold maneuver, Washington ordered his men to commandeer every small ship they could find for a stealthy withdrawal across the river. But his plan quickly went awry when the sailors determined that the waters were too choppy to ferry the men and equipment across. And so the stoic general waited in Brooklyn, hoping for a break in the storm. When one of Washington’s officers reported that retreat would be impossible that night, all seemed lost. But in another bizarre turn of fate that many would later call divine intervention, the winds suddenly shifted at around eleven that night, allowing passage.
Washington rode his horse through the downcast camps, instructing his regiments on the clandestine mission. “All orders were given from officer to officer,” one soldier explained, “and communicated to the men in whispers.”25 The soldiers, “strictly enjoined not to speak, or even cough,” silently filed into the boats.26 Washington’s team of Massachusetts fishermen and sailors put their experience navigating New England’s perilous waters to amazing use, as the makeshift armada silently ferried thousands of men across the rough river all night. 27 The howling winds and choppy seas masked the sounds of their escape from the unsuspecting British crouched in their trenches nearby.
But as the sun rose, Washington feared his time was up. He had left hundreds of his men at the front line so as not to alert the British to the withdrawal. These decoys had no backup nor any means of escape should the British pounce in the morning light. But in a final “peculiar providential occurrence . . . a very dense fog began to rise, and it seemed to settle in a peculiar manner over both encampments” in Brooklyn while miraculously leaving much of the river and Manhattan clear for the Americans to escape.28 Under this cover of fog, Washington remained in Brooklyn, fearlessly rounding up the last troops onto the boats. The fog lifted and the winds shifted later that morning, allowing the British ships to complete their trap. But they were too late: their prey had escaped.
Although Washington’s main force had slipped away, the British were not left empty-handed. From the Battle of Brooklyn and subsequent victories, Howe greedily collected thousands of captives. The British now had plenty of hapless American prisoners at their disposal, on whom they “took a most cruel revenge. Out of over 2600 prisoners taken on [one] day, in two months & four days 1900 were killed in the infamous sugar houses and other prisons in the city, [perishing] of hunger, cold, infection, and in some cases, actual poison.”29 This mass slaughter was overseen by a sadistic Loyalist named William Cunningham.
Howe appointed Captain Cunningham, a man “whose cruelty and wickedness [were] almost inconceivable,”30 to serve as provost marshal in command of Britain’s prisons in the area. Described as “a man of great physical powers, and of fine personal appearance,”31 Cunningham was placed in the post as a reward for his “blatant toryism.”32
This native of the Ninety-Six District in the backwoods of South Carolina possessed quite a vicious streak. A “scaw-banker” by trade, Cunningham had made his living by “enticing mechanics and rustics to ship to America, on promise of having their fortunes made in that country; and then by artful practices, produced their indentures as servants, in consequence of which on their arrival in America they were sold.”33 After his return from the seas, his “fiend-like disposition” only intensified. Once, upon receiving word that a man had insulted his elderly father, Cunningham walked nearly four hundred miles from Florida back home to South Carolina with a rifle on his shoulder and “his blood on fire.” Arriving at the offender’s house, Cunningham barged in and shot him in front of his own family. It was here that he “first tasted blood; and like the tiger, the taste created a thirst which could never be quenched.” Cunningham formed a band of merciless Tory “blood-hounds” who roamed the South, massacring any patriots they could find, even torturing those who had retired to civilian life.34
Once he was promoted to the command of the prison camps in New York City, “Bloody Bill” Cunningham’s cruelty and bloodlust knew no bounds. The tortures he inflicted on the American prisoners became infamous throughout the colonies.35 In order to “gratify his bloodthirsty instincts,”36 Cunningham made his captives suffer horribly. One such prisoner described finding himself “among the collection of the most wretched and disgusting looking objects that I ever beheld in human form . . . surrounded with the horrors of sickness, and death. Here thought I, must I linger . . . til death should terminate my sufferings.” 37 And Cunningham was happy to assist with the dying part.
Bloody Bill openly confessed to being an accessory to thousands of murders as provost marshal, “both with and without orders from Government.” He admitted that “there were more than two thousand prisoners starved . . . by stopping their rations,” which he sold for his own profit.38 He used this ill-gotten profit to pay for the “drunken orgies that usually terminated his dinners.”39 For those prisoners who were able to subsist on the meager nourishment left over after Cunningham’s greed was satiated, many “fell victim to his murderous violence.”40
Cunningham’s “hatred of Americans found vent in torture by searing irons and secret scourges to those who fell under the ban of his displeasure.”41 Others “were hanged in the gloom of night without trial”42 while their “ferocious murderer” indulged in “the pleasure of hearing their shrieks of agony at the gallows.”43 The bodies were either buried in ditches or simply dumped into the harbor.
So grotesque were the accounts that Washington commissioned a special envoy to investigate their truthfulness. When questioned, Cunningham put his hands on his hips and “with great insolence answered every word was true.”44 Washington felt powerless to stop his countrymen’s suffering, and confided to his brother, “I am wearied almost to death with the retrograde Motions of things.”45 With the American cause on the brink of defeat, Washington lashed out.
He swiftly shot off a warning to General Howe:
I am again under the necessity of remonstrating to you upon the Treatment which our prisoners continue to receive in New York. Those, who have lately been sent out, give the most shocking Accounts of their barbarous usage, which their Miserable, emaciated Countenances confirm. . . . [I]f you are determined to make Captivity as distressing as possible, to those whose Lot it is to fall into it, let me know it, that we may be upon equal terms, for your Conduct must and shall mark mine.46
Washington was going to protect his compatriots, and if that meant threatening—and potentially applying—Cunningham’s own gruesome tactics, so be it.
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Fully Justifiable
The tension over prisoner treatment escalated when Washington’s jealous second-in-command,1 Major General Charles Lee, was captured by the British. Sloppy in appearance and crude in manner, Lee was reputed to have a sex life “of the transient kind.”2 And it played right into British hands: Lee was caught after leaving his army behind for an evening of “female sociability” at Widow White’s Tavern in Basking Ridge, New Jersey.3
The eccentric Charles Lee was born into an unhappy home in Cheshire, England. The son of a British officer, he served in his father’s regiment starting at the shockingly young age of eleven.4 Although he was never properly socialized, he grew into a shrewd tactician as he fought for the British all over the world. Unlike Washington, he distinguished himself enough in the Seven Years’ War to warrant promotion in the British ranks. Returning to Europe, he continued his successful military career in wars from Portugal to Poland.
Lee was a man who made enemies quickly. On one such occasion, he took umbrage at an Italian officer’s comments, grabbed his gun, and challenged the offender to a duel. In the end, he lost two fingers and killed the Italian.5 Lee’s “warmth of temper” resulted in many similar encounters while he battled his way across the continent.6
As the colonists and Britain headed down their collision course during the early 1770s, Lee grew ever more sympathetic to the patriots’ loudening calls for liberty. He left the battles of Europe behind and returned to America in 1773 to set up a farm in Virginia. But his quiet life as a farmer was short. When war broke out in 1775, Lee leapt into the fray. He was not one to shy away from a fight.
At the outbreak of war with his mother country, Lee possessed far more military experience and education than Washington, so he expected to be appointed commander in chief. But when the Continental Congress met to select the commander, Lee was in for a surprise. The Congress viewed the tall, dignified, and morally respected Washington as a better leader for the colonies’ cause than the crude, pinched-faced Lee. Unlike Lee, Washington was “discreet and virtuous, no harum-scarum, ranting swearing fellow, but sober steady and calm.”7 While Washington was seen as a happily married pillar of Virginian society, the skinny, homely Lee was continuously rebuffed by women and displayed “hints . . . of homosexuality.”8 Perhaps most importantly, Washington was willing to work without pay, while Lee demanded a stipend from the cash-strapped Congress.9 Washington won the job, but Lee remained insubordinate.
Many regarded the slovenly Lee as militarily superior to Washington. In fact, the British viewed Lee as their primary strategic foe.10 Lee agreed. Living up to his spiteful and arrogant reputation, he showed his animosity towards Washington by writing letters to various American leaders explaining why he should replace Washington as commander. And, being the opposite of Washington, he was completely unrestrained in his angry tirades.
In fact, after spending the night with Widow White, the undressed Lee was finishing a letter denouncing Washington as “damnably incompetent” when the British dragoons appeared outside.11 Unluckily for Lee, his sentries were busy sunning themselves when the redcoats swept in on horseback.12 The British quickly scattered Lee’s unwary guards and secured the tavern’s perimeter. The pack of dogs that invariably—and bizarrely—accompanied Lee began barking, and the house erupted into a hushed frenzy. Before Lee could even get his clothes on, Widow White frantically burst into the room and attempted to hide him under her bed. But the British would not be fooled, and they fired into the tavern. The commanding British officer announced from outside, “If the general does not surrender in five minutes, I will set fire to the house.” After two minutes of panicked debate, Widow White emerged from the door into the chill morning air. Screaming for mercy, she offered the general’s surrender. Lee, caught with his pants down, followed.13
Howe was overjoyed with the capture of America’s tactical genius. The British predicted that the “Coup de Main [had] put an end to the Campaign,” since it would leave the Continental Army without a true military strategist.14 British bands played victory tunes to honor the “most miraculous Event,” while soldiers toasted the king until they were too inebriated to raise their cups.15 The news raised such “great hopes . . . of an early termination of the war” that a dreadful speller in one British village speedily organized a festival:
Thursday next will be helld as a day of regoicin in commemoration of the takin of General Lee, when their wil be a sermint preached, and other public demonstrascions of joye, after which will bee an nox roasted whole & everery mark of festivety & bell ringing imagenable, width a ball & cock fiting at night.17
The guards who had to watch over Lee were less pleased. They quickly came to despise his crude, conniving ways, and complained about having to spend any time with such an “atrocious monster.”18
After obtaining intelligence that Lee was being abused, Washington jumped to his defense—even though he knew that Lee had been exploiting the Continental Army’s recent defeats to garner support in Congress for his ouster as commander.19 Washington warned General Howe that “any violence which you may Commit upon his Life or Liberty will be severely retaliated upon the Lives or Liberties of British Officers, or those of their Foreign Allies at present in our hands.”20
While Washington did “beg that some certain Rule of Conduct towards Prisoners may be settled,” he reasoned that abuse was not only justified as a means of protecting Americans but required by honor.21 Shortly thereafter, he again warned the British forces that “if their rule of Conduct towards our prisoners is not altered, we shall be obliged, however disagreeable it may be, to make retaliation,” and that “any Accounts of ill Usage coming thro’ them, would be so authentic, that we might safely proceed to take such measures towards their prisoners as would be fully justifiable.”22
In expressing his position to Congress, Washington was even more candid. After learning of the “Inhuman Treatment to the whole, and Murder of part of our People after their Surrender” in New York, and now of Lee’s condition, he determined that “Justice and Policy will require recourse to be had to the Law of retaliation, however abhorrent and disagreeable to our natures in cases of Torture.”23
Despite their previous resolution directing that prisoners be treated with humanity just six months earlier, the Continental Congress came to follow Washington’s lead. After waffling in the early stages of the war, they relinquished their idealistic opposition to prisoner maltreatment in light of the practical realities of battle, observing, “No fact can be clearer that interest alone (and not principles of justice or humanity) governs men.”24 Just as Washington had been doing, Congress began to convey this hardened view to the enemy. Benjamin Franklin wrote to the British saying, “the United States are not unacquainted with the barbarous treatment their people receive when they have the misfortune of being your prisoners.” He warned, “if your conduct towards us is not altered, it is not unlikely that severe reprisals may be thought justifiable.”25
Echoing Washington’s position that unsavory tactics might sometimes be called for in the course of war, Congress formally resolved,
that if the enemy shall put to death, torture, or otherwise ill-treat any of the hostages in their hands, or of the Canadian or other prisoners captivated by them in the service of the United Colonies, recourse must be had to retaliation as the sole means of stopping the progress of human butchery, and that for that purpose punishments of the same kind and degree be inflicted on an equal number of their subjects taken by us, till they shall be taught due respect to the violated rights of nations.26
With this official resolution, Congress’s stance finally fell in line with their commander’s actions post hoc. Congress declared that prisoner abuse was a necessary—if unseemly—tool to fight the war effectively and maintained this position for the rest of the Revolution.
Like their commander, the congressmen were outraged by the reports of the British troops’ treatment of Lee. They retaliated by urging the Massachusetts Council to inflict similar treatment on Archibald Campbell, a British lieutenant colonel in their custody. Campbell, “a member of parliament and a gentleman of fortune,” was one of Britain’s finest leaders.27 At thirty-six years old, he was a somewhat portly gentleman with large, bulging eyes and a double chin. Nicknamed “Archy,” he not only “greatly distinguished himself by his proficiency in the various branches of erudition”28 but also “proved himself an able and gallant officer.”29 Nevertheless, he was captured when he sailed right into an American-controlled port, due to a rather stupid error.
General Howe, in his haste to escape Boston, had failed to warn Campbell about the evacuation.30 Believing that the city remained under British control, Campbell approached its harbor and discovered a hodgepodge American flotilla swarming around him. Though outnumbered and outgunned, Campbell resisted ferociously. Six American boats repeatedly charged Campbell’s two ships, only to be repelled over and over. But as the sun began to set on the day of fighting, American reinforcements finally arrived and Campbell desperately tried to escape—by dashing deeper into the harbor, which he still believed to be in British hands. He was shocked by the thunder of shore batteries when the Americans began to fire on him. Disoriented, Campbell put up one last fierce naval firefight. But it was in vain. His ships ran out of ammunition and he reluctantly surrendered. The Americans stormed the boats and took him as their prized prisoner.31
Washington was bemused by the blunder and incredulous that Howe allowed it to occur. But regardless of how he captured Campbell, he was ready to use him as a bargaining chip. Congress, likewise eager to do so, resolved
[t]hat General Washington be directed to send a flag to General Howe, and inform him, that, should the proffered exchange of General Lee . . . not be accepted, and the treatment of him, as above mentioned, be continued, that the principles of retaliation shall occasion five of the . . . field officers, together with Lieutenant Colonel Archibald Campbell, or any other officers that are, or shall be, in our possession, equivalent in number or quality, to be detained, in order that the same treatment which General Lee shall receive, may be exactly inflicted upon their persons.32
The Massachusetts Council responded to this resolution by placing Campbell in “severity of . . . confinement as is scarce ever inflicted upon the most atrocious Criminals.”33 He was subjected to a forced march, showered with “dirt and filth,” and struck with stones. Deprived of the “very necessities of life,” he had to survive on bread and water.34 As he attempted to keep up a stoic front, his American captors held him in a small, cold, dark dungeon that was covered with excrement.35 For a toilet, he used a bowl that was neither cleaned nor even emptied. Having a long, pale face even prior to captivity, the wretched aristocrat now undoubtedly presented a simply ghostlike appearance.36 The British were outraged by the “cruel and savage manner” in which Campbell was treated, and they vowed revenge. 37
Meanwhile, Washington had obtained new intelligence indicating that “General Lee, though under confinement, is comfortably lodged, has proper attendants, and a plentiful table.”38 Rather than suffering the tortures originally feared, he was being provided with a “very decent room” as well as “all necessaries that are requisite, and amongst others, a bottle of wine per diem.” Although he “frequently behave[d] as if he was not in his perfect mind,” he was in relatively good shape.39 In fact, he was said to have voluntarily supplied the British with secret advice on how to defeat the American forces as he dined with the officers and drank away the days.40
In light of this information, Washington decided that Campbell’s cruel treatment was injurious to the American cause, “for the Enemy have three hundred of our Officers, whom we have little Chance of exchanging, upon whom they may retaliate.”41 While abuse could be used to save American lives, it was a double-edged sword: unjustified cruelty could provoke the British to slaughter more Americans. And Washington’s goal was to protect his men. Now denouncing Campbell’s harsh treatment as “impolitic,” he urged Congress to reverse its tactics.42
Congress rejected Washington’s plea and refused to reverse its bloodthirsty stance. Even though it had originally resolved to treat Campbell in the same manner as the American prisoner Lee was being treated, it rebuffed Washington’s efforts to ameliorate Campbell’s cruel confinement.43 Campbell was being treated more harshly than Lee, but “[t]here were other circumstances beside the treatment of General Lee, to produce this indignant sensibility on the part of Congress. Accounts were rife at this juncture, of the cruelties and indignities almost invariably experienced by American prisoners at New York.”44 The congressmen were also offended by Howe’s conduct, including his abrasive response to their attempts to make a trade for Lee. Congress declared, in a statement originally laced with epithets, that “the conduct of General Howe alone induces Congress to treat [Campbell] in [such] a manner . . . .”45 Digging in their heels, the congressmen had apparently broadened their justification for the severe treatment of Campbell. Washington and Congress were at odds.
Despite congressional pressure, Washington maintained that mistreating Campbell in this instance was unjustified and would not further the American cause.46 To abuse a prisoner in false retaliation would be a tactical error, since it would erode Washington’s power to use prisoner abuse as a means of improving the treatment of those American prisoners who were actually being abused.47 As Congress and Washington wrestled over Campbell, it was unclear who should dictate such treatment.
Washington professed to Campbell, “it is as incompatible with my authority as my inclination to contravene any determination Congress may make.” But he nevertheless wrote to the president of the Massachusetts Council on his own accord—effectively circumventing Congress—in order to express his “disinclination to any undue severities” and to advise against the abusive measures.48 In response, Congress passed a resolution ordering that “General Washington be informed, that Congress cannot agree to any alteration.”49
But in the end, it was Washington’s—and not Congress’s—order that was heeded. The Massachusetts Council moved Campbell to a more comfortable setting, where he was better treated.50 Washington again wrote to Congress, which then finally backpedaled and formally directed months later that Campbell be treated humanely.51 After their initial indecisiveness, Congress came to abide by Washington’s case-by-case determinations and eventually acknowledged, “so far as regards the Treatment of Prisoners, and the Conduct of the War many public Exchanges having taken place by agreement of the [American and British] Commanders in Chief.”52 The commander decided whether to abuse or not, based on what he deemed consistent with the laws of war.
Lee was eventually freed when Washington exchanged him for Brigadier Prescott (Ethan Allen’s former tormentor). By that point, his British captors were happy to see their irksome prisoner go and even congratulated one another on being rid of him.53 The episode was over, but not before Washington had flexed his authority on the subject.
While Washington sought better treatment for Campbell in this episode, he did not show the same mercy to all of the British captives. In fact, with reports circulating that the British were inflicting “torture by searing irons and secret scourges,”54 his arguments for treatment in kind involved gruesome practices.55
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To Defend the Nation
The British vehemently protested the “outrages committed by the American troops” against their British and Tory prisoners, and “their violations of all the humaner principles of war.”1 One British officer decried how his compatriots in captivity were “experiencing every severity, perhaps famishing for want of food, and ready to perish with cold,” adding that these prisoners had “little to expect from the humanity of Americans.”2 Reports circulated that bands of Americans were “stabbing and knocking out the brains of innocent [men].”3 Other witnesses lamented the “List of Barbarities which have been committed by Washington & his Savages.”4
When General Howe pressed the issue, Washington responded delicately. He admitted, “’tis true, there are some who have been restricted to a closer confinement and severer treatment.”5 He did not elaborate on those severities, but confirmed that at least some of the British intelligence was accurate.
Potentially signaling the existence of barbarous practices being employed by the Continental Army, Howe learned that musket balls with nails through them had been found at abandoned American encampments. He wrote angrily to Washington, appalled that the Continental Army had evidently been employing the “infamous” practice of “the Ball.”6 Exactly how these nail-spiked musket balls were used is unclear, but one technique referred to as “the ball,” originally developed in China and later adopted in Europe, involved restraining a person against a wall with ropes or even nails and then repeatedly swinging a small ball, suspended from the ceiling, into the victim’s forehead. Initially this torture was psychological, but after repeated bouncing over days or even weeks it caused blood to rush to the victim’s forehead and eyes, resulting in pain, blindness, and eventually death.7 Using a ball embedded with a nail would be bloodier faster. Another possibility—perhaps more probable—is that these balls were intended as projectiles. A hurling musket ball with a nail in it would inflict maximum damage on an enemy’s flesh. However the ball was used, the results would be gruesome.
Washington responded to Howe’s complaint with a parry, saying, “the contrivance is highly abhorred by me, and every measure shall be taken to prevent so wicked and infamous a practice being adopted in this Army.” But he did not deny that the ball had already been used.8 And this was not the only abhorrent contrivance employed by the Americans in their efforts to survive the war.
Another documented practice was called “spicketting,” in which the victim was “bound, stood with one foot on a sharpened stake and then whirled around literally screwing the stake into his foot.”9 This was typically used by angry mobs against Loyalists and often rendered the victim permanently crippled. While Washington expressed his “most earnest wish, that . . . there be every exercise of humanity, which the nature of the case will possibly admit,”10 he indeed found cases whose nature did not permit humane treatment. Mistreatment indeed occurred—mobs forced some onto hot coals, whipped others, and even cut off some men’s ears11—and Washington did not always express a desire to stop it.12 In fact, behavior of this kind was at times openly condoned and even rewarded.
In one such incident, an American officer was accused by the British of “the most indecent, violent, vindictive severity” against British prisoners and of “an intentional murder.”13 Colonel David Henley, an impetuous twenty-nine-year-old patriot from Massachusetts, was a zealous defender of the revolutionary cause, known for being “warm and quick in his natural temper.”14 He turned that temper on the British, even going so far as setting his hometown aflame because it was occupied by redcoats.
After his brother was killed by the British, Henley’s anger blossomed into searing hatred, which he vented on the British prisoners in his custody. British eyewitnesses alleged that Henley came upon eight prisoners conversing casually one day. Then, for some unknown reason, he purportedly went berserk, charging at them “with a drawn dagger like a maniac, and in an instant mortally wounded two of the group.”15 Another witness claimed that Henley stabbed a prisoner with a bayonet because the redcoat had defiantly declared he “would stand by King and his country, till he died.”16
To appease the British for these alleged offenses, the Americans put Henley on trial. But it was a sham inquiry since the Americans were unwilling to condemn one of their own.17 The tantrum-prone patriot was cleared of wrongdoing, and Washington then appointed Henley as his intelligence officer and commander of prisoners. The commander had placed Henley in charge of screening prisoners and procuring intelligence.
Washington had shown that he was willing—if absolutely necessary—to use prisoners as pawns in an effort to protect his people. In fact, British intelligence suggested that he may even have used random executions to further the American cause. One episode revolved around a gentleman affectionately known as “Old Huddy.”
Captain Joseph Huddy was an ardent patriot from New Jersey.18 The state militia had sent him to oversee the defense of Toms River, including its small yet strategic port and its salt warehouses. At the time, Toms River was a busy seaside village that had become a prominent center of activity for patriot privateers, who used small merchant ships jerry-rigged with cannon to seize the lucrative cargoes of Loyalist and British ships. They grew to be quite a threat. One privateer sailed across the Atlantic to assault the British mainland—the first such attack in seven centuries—in the process coining the battle cry “I have not yet begun to fight!”19 Britain was determined to eradicate the menace and encouraged Loyalist assistance in doing so.
After a privateer attacked a prominent Loyalist ship off the coast of New Jersey, the outraged Tory’s “Board of Associated Loyalists” launched an offensive.20 Their heavily armed regiment descended on Toms River in a surprise attack. Old Huddy’s small defensive force was completely outgunned and outnumbered, but refused to surrender without a fight. Stationed in a wooden blockhouse—more akin to just a reinforced house than a true defensive fortification—Huddy bravely defended the town.21 Despite his heroics, the patriots were overwhelmed. The town rendered defenseless upon Huddy’s defeat, the Tories then went about pillaging, burning down the blockhouse, the salt warehouse, and all but two homes.22 The privateer port destroyed, the Loyalists next turned their bloodlust back towards their new captive, Old Huddy. They grabbed their defenseless prisoner and “on a gallows made of mere rails he was cruelly treated and then hanged.”23
As the shell-shocked townspeople emerged from the rubble, news of the gruesome episode began to spread rapidly throughout the countryside. The inhabitants of the surrounding region “cried out for retaliation.”24 Referring to the incident as “the most wanton, unprecedented and inhuman Murder that ever disgraced the Arms of a civilized people,” Washington demanded that the Loyalist officer who ordered the execution be handed over.25 Otherwise, he wrote, “I shall hold myself justifiable in the Eyes of God and Man, for the measure to which I shall resort.”26 When the British refused to comply, Washington called for blood.
Terrified British captives reported to their superiors, “Mr. Washington & Congress are going to commit such an act of Cruelty, and Breach of Faith that cannot be equaled in civilized Nations.”27 One British prisoner explained that the Americans were intent on making “the Innocent suffer for the guilty” by ordering prisoners to draw lots for their lives.28 Thirteen slips of paper were placed in a hat, “all blank except one, upon which was written the word ‘unfortunate.’”29 In protest and fear, the British prisoners refused to draw. The Americans were unrelenting, however, and simply drew slips for them. The “unfortunate lot” fell on Captain Charles Asgill, “who was immediately ordered into close Confinement . . . and [was] to be hanged” unless the British surrendered the leader of the party who murdered Old Huddy.30
“An amiable youth,” Asgill was the twenty-year-old son of a prominent English baronet.31 With his soft, youthful features, arched eyebrows, and pug nose, he certainly looked the part of a lamb being led to the slaughter. His noble family’s only son, he had lived a privileged life, splitting his time between London and his family’s scenic holiday estate along the River Thames. Washington agonized over the quandary before him. He was all too aware that the young man was an innocent victim in all this. However, not only did Huddy’s murder demand retribution as a matter of principle, but to turn a blind eye could endanger future American captives. If Washington did not retaliate, the British side was liable to treat other American prisoners similarly.
Washington needed to send a strong signal to his enemies. While he suffered “anxiety and poignant distress” over the pending execution, he nevertheless remained “firm and inflexible in his determination to obtain satisfaction, or pursue a course, that will tend to deter others from a repetition of crimes so derogatory to the laws of humanity, of war, and of justice.”32 Supported by Congress and the American public, Washington did not relent. And his resolve set off an international incident.
When word of Asgill’s plight reached his family estate, his mother fainted and his sister disintegrated into an emotional wreck. “The extreme grief of his mother, the sort of delirium which clouded the mind of his sister at hearing of the dreadful fate which menaced the life of her brother, interested every feeling mind.”33 Lady Sarah Asgill, determined to save her son, composed herself and quickly launched an international lobbying campaign.
The valiant woman proved to be a shrewd diplomat. Spreading word of her family’s plight—albeit with the slight misinformation that Charles was only nineteen, a detail that made her “teen” son seem even more sympathetic—she successfully elicited the “attention and solicitude of almost all Europe.”34 In a time when news generally traveled slowly, this heart-wrenching story spread like wildfire as it found its way to the lips of every town gossip. The far-flung “interest which young Asgill inspired” was so great that “the first question asked of all vessels that arrived from any port in North America, was an inquiry into the fate of this young man.”35 The world watched the showdown as Britain refused to remit Huddy’s killer and Washington readied the young man to be hanged in retaliation.
Pulling on Britain’s heartstrings, Lady Asgill threw herself at the feet of George III and pleaded for direct intercession. The British king, eager to have this scandal behind him, ordered his commanders to remit Huddy’s killer to Washington. They disobeyed—whether from shocking insubordination or simple miscommunication is unclear. Since the British proved immalleable, Lady Asgill redirected her efforts to the Americans’ allies. Next, the Dutch implored the Americans to pardon young Asgill, but Washington was unrelenting.36 Finally, the resolute Lady Asgill approached the United States’ most important ally, France.
The Americans desperately needed French money and support for their cause, and Lady Asgill knew it. And luckily for Captain Asgill, she was of French Huguenot origin and held sway in the French court. She wrote a letter to France’s leaders, “the eloquence of which [was] that of all people and all languages, because it derive[d] its power from the first and noblest sentiments of our nature.”37 It was “enough to move the heart of a savage,” yet Washington refused to back down.38 Only after months of negotiations and even a direct appeal from Queen Marie Antoinette was Asgill released, but not before Washington had made America’s intent to exact an eye for an eye abundantly clear.
George Washington abhorred prisoner abuse. He wanted to elevate his nascent republic’s conduct to a higher moral plane than the brutal European wars of the past. And so, at the start of the war, he ordered that the British prisoners in his custody be treated with humanity. But the brutal realities of war compelled him to deviate from this lofty ideal.
The British fiercely abused their American captives. They beat them. They burned them. They starved them. They butchered them. Washington was forced to act. And so he used his captives. Abuse became a weapon by which Washington could retaliate against the British outrages and help prevent future harm to his people. It was a horrible but practical tool. It was used to obtain better treatment for American prisoners, to suppress Loyalists, and even to save lives. The commander in chief was willing to deploy this necessary evil against the enemy in order to defend the nation.
The world and circumstances certainly have changed. Brute reprisals have largely been replaced by individual punishment for violations of the laws of war. No longer are we using prisoners as leverage to save American captives—we have given up on hopes that terrorists will treat our people with humanity. Instead, we debate whether torture should be a last resort in obtaining information that will save American servicemen and civilians alike. However imperfect the analogy may be—and it certainly is imperfect—it is worth remembering Washington’s precedents as today’s commander in chief grapples with what must be done to defend the American people.
Washington’s actions were rooted in an innate sense of right and wrong in view of his moral obligation to protect his countrymen. This fundamental principle continues to influence our thinking today.
Walking along the well-trod paths of a serene park in East Haddam, Connecticut, one could expect to pass families out for an afternoon of exploring nature. The park is known for its tranquility, as the gentle roar of a waterfall drowns out the noises of the quaint suburbia that surrounds it. The peacefulness that visitors enjoy as they stroll alongside the gushing stream’s gray boulders ensures that thoughts of war and prisoner abuse are the last thing on their minds.
While times and tactics may have changed, history does not. America’s past remains, bubbling just beneath the surface like Mr. Beebe’s millstone.
III
DICTATOR OF AMERICA
“[T]he Congress having given up the government,
confessing themselves unequal to it, and creating
Mr. Washington dictator of America . . .”
—LORD GEORGE GERMAIN, BEFORE THE BRITISH
HOUSE OF COMMONS, 1776
At the heart of New York City’s famous Wall Street, a majestic statue of George Washington soars above the bustling foot traffic. From atop a large marble pedestal, the towering bronze sculpture stoically gazes over the crowd towards the New York Stock Exchange. The great hero wears a flowing jacket decorated with large buttons beneath a striking cape. With his right hand extended outward, he steps forward as if to honor the proverbial right foot on which he set the nation.1
This tribute to the nation’s father stands before the entrance to Federal Hall, which houses a museum commemorating Washington’s role in founding our country. In a nod to the democratic republic’s roots in classical antiquity, the hall boasts Greek revival architecture with marble columns and a relief etching inspired by the Parthenon. Complete with Washington’s Greek-godlike statue in front, the scene appears to have been plucked from the Acropolis and dropped into Manhattan. Although such a grand building would rise over its surroundings in most other parts of the United States, here it is dwarfed by gleaming skyscrapers on all sides. As the fabled New York financial district has grown around it, Federal Hall has remained as a tribute to a long-ago era. The stark contrast between the sleek modern city and the stout old hall presents the appearance of a time warp—one that abruptly pulls passersby back to the nation’s roots.
Washington’s image stands at a symbolic crossroads of America’s affluence and apprehension. Like the republic they honor, Federal Hall and its monument have not been immune from attack. The terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 marked a turning point not only for the nation, but also for Federal Hall. The structure was so shaken when the Twin Towers fell that the trauma spread deep cracks in its walls, and many feared they might crumble. As the country has worked to mend its wounds from that infamous day, construction crews have labored to reinforce Federal Hall. But the nation has not just returned to the status quo. The national psyche has been fundamentally altered as we seek to guard against future attacks.
Vowing “never again,” New York City blockaded Wall Street as a precaution against the terrorist threat. This historic street, which has borne the weight of everything from horse-drawn carriages to Model Ts to yellow hybrid taxicabs, is now accessible only on foot. Pedestrians are closely monitored by video surveillance and heavily armed New York police as they mill beneath Washington’s likeness.
The statue’s face glimmers with the reflections of camera flashes. Visitors from all around the world, wearing jeans and T-shirts, come to snap photographs of the area, blocking annoyed financiers, lawyers, and other professionals busily rushing by in their well-tailored dark suits. Whether the members of this motley crew of pedestrians take the time to admire historic Federal Hall and get a picture or just take it for granted as they bound to their next meeting, Washington’s monument stands as a testament to the great man’s critical role in creating the prosperous city and nation around it.
On Wall Street, Washington is celebrated for making America possible. He changed the course of history, and the Americans working in the skyscrapers that surround Federal Hall owe him their gratitude. Even as those buildings shook and the Twin Towers fell, the “Father of Our Country” stood firm as the stoic protector of New York City. Little do the passersby know that Washington once lobbied Congress to burn lower Manhattan to the ground. And he got his wish.
The chapters in Part III delve into how Washington exercised his war powers in relation to the authority of Congress. In so doing, they detail how the concept of the American commander in chief developed in the heat of war.
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Scorpion on a Leash
“Had I been left to the dictates of my own judgment,” General Washington confided to a relative, “New York should have been laid in Ashes.”1 He wrote these words in a moment of frustration. Congress had just overruled his military tactics. While willing to grant him broad authority over enemy prisoners, they were wary of granting any military leader sweeping control over war strategy. Instead, they kept Washington on a short leash early in the war and micromanaged his military decisions. But this leash lengthened as the war raged—and Washington became untethered once America realized that their commander needed to be a powerful one in order to protect the nation.
Washington was not always so trusted. In fact, America watched him with suspicion at the outset of the Revolution. Many feared that he might use his military power to subjugate the politicians and strangle the infant republic in its crib. One such watchdog was a fiery patriot from Massachusetts, John Adams.
At forty years old, Adams was a prominent Boston attorney who had emerged as one of the leaders of the Revolution. His ingenious head was balding on top, with a powdered mane that bushed out on the sides. Highly educated in Enlightenment republican values, he drew upon his vast erudition as his small bow mouth lobbed fierce calls for independence. Accentuating the ardor of his fiery words, his ruddy cheeks grew redder and his blue eyes blazed with his passion for the revolutionary cause.2 Known to drink a large tankard of hard cider every morning before breakfast, Adams was not a man characterized by unfailing restraint.3 In his unbounded zeal to oust the British, he was a strong proponent of creating an army and selecting Washington to lead it. This did not mean he had complete faith in Washington, however. “We don’t choose to trust you Generals, with too much Power, for too long Time,” he said.4 Prevailing republican ideology held that a professional army was a tool of tyranny that was liable to corrupt whoever controlled it. Needless to say, Adams kept a close eye on the United States’ first commander.
With this kind of mistrust permeating the nation, it was unsurprising that Washington’s commission as commander in chief was careful to remind him that he was required to “observe such orders and directions, from time to time, as you shall receive from this, or a future Congress of these United Colonies, or committee of Congress.”5 Adams and other suspicious congressmen were intent on scrutinizing his war tactics, and with this directive they reserved the right to meddle incessantly. They developed committees to oversee the war effort, even sending (sometimes militarily clueless) congressmen to the warfront so that they might approve or disapprove of Washington’s proposed tactics. While America saw Washington as a virtuous and principled man, they were not ready to hand over the reins completely . . . yet.
Washington was careful to earn America’s trust early in the war. He assured Congress and the state legislatures that he was a reluctant general who had given up “the Enjoyments of domestic Life” in order to restore “Peace, Liberty, and Safety.”6 Keenly aware of the long history of military leaders helping to overthrow one tyrant only to take his place, Washington knew that Congress feared their commander would turn out to be the fabled scorpion hitching a ride on the frog’s back across the river. And so he tried to convince the political “frogs” that it was not necessarily in a commander in chief’s nature to sting them by usurping their power and trampling the Revolution’s republican ideals.7 He reminded Americans of his great devotion to liberty as a civilian, and he asked them not to perceive him differently now that he was the commander in chief. “When we assumed the Soldier,” he said, “we did not lay aside the Citizen, & we shall most sincerely rejoice in that happy Hour when the establishment of American Liberty . . . shall enable us to return to our Private Stations in the bosom of a free, peaceful & happy Country.”8 And his actions reinforced his words.
The commander endeavored to shape the army into a symbol of American virtue. He wanted to show that his army was not something to be feared, but a group of upstanding fellow citizens led by a righteous commander who humbly served them.
Washington encouraged his men to attend religious services. Although raised in a pious Christian household, Washington himself was not openly religious, partaking in Anglican services only irregularly and refusing communion.9 In keeping with his proclivity for understatement, he chose to keep his beliefs private, shying from displays of religiosity and even direct references to Jesus Christ, preferring to instead refer to “the Divine Author of our blessed Religion.”10 While he was unwilling to shout it from the rooftops, Washington’s writings reflect deep-seated faith. He repeatedly wrote of a divine “Providence” that “protected [him] beyond all human expectation” so that he might serve a higher purpose—leading his country.11 And religion was crucial to doing so. Washington viewed it as an important part of the budding republic, and professed his ardent desire that “every officer and man, will endeavour so to live, and act, as becomes a Christian Soldier defending the dearest Rights and Liberties of his country.”12 To this end, he provided for chaplains from various denominations to accompany his army. Ecumenical in his approach, he understood religion to be crucial to fostering morality among his troops, thereby assuaging the fears of the populace they were supposed to protect.
In other attempts at imposing piety on his ranks, he actively combated his troops’ vices. As his troops enjoyed all that New York City had to offer, prostitution flourished. “The whores continue their employ which is become very lucrative,” wrote a New England colonel, reassuring his wife that he only learned about it as part of his official duty.13 An area near St. Paul’s Church in lower Manhattan, ironically called the “Holy Ground,” became a notorious rendezvous spot for soldiers and the “bitchfoxy jades.”14 One soldier wrote of the women, “I thought nothing could exceed them for impudence and immodesty . . . . To mention the Particulars of their Behavior would so pollute the Paper I write upon that I must excuse myself.”15
The Holy Ground was not just debauched but also dangerous. Tales of murderous prostitutes gained support from discoveries of soldiers’ limbs and heads at the park.16 Washington did his best to stamp out the prostitution, sending patrols and repeatedly warning his men of the dangers of such moral failing. And prostitution was not the only vice that Washington actively combated.
Although fond of occasional gambling himself, he outlawed dice and cards, viewing them as pastimes that should be kept in check.17 He strongly discouraged profanity and worked—often in vain—to make his army into a good neighbor to the surrounding populace. When citizens complained of soldiers skinny-dipping within eyesight of refined women, Washington strove to keep his troops clothed and in line. Frisky, naked soldiers were terrible for public relations. Despite Washington’s efforts, rumors of depravity circulated—even about Washington himself.
Some gossips claimed that the great moral enforcer did not practice that which he preached. A rumor circulated that Washington was “very fond” of a Jersey girl named Mary Gibbons. A Tory spy testified at his own trial that the commander “maintained her genteelly in a house [and] came often at night in disguise” to visit her. Upon hearing the startling accusation, the patriot judges immediately halted the trial to confer with the general. After “many conferences” with Washington, the trial resumed with no further mention of the alleged affair.18 Such accusations were very likely just vicious rumors circulated by Loyalists in an attempt to discredit Washington and the revolutionary cause along with him. If they fostered distrust in Washington and his army, the Loyalists could help end the war.
But Washington was tireless in shining his own image along with that of his army. The last thing he wanted was to stoke the citizenry’s fear that the army would run out of control and trample on their liberties.
To assuage their fears, Washington consistently avoided any action that could be perceived as a power grab. As the leader of these soldiers, he knew his every action was eyed with suspicion. And so he went out of his way to demonstrate that he had no intention of wresting power from the politicians in Congress or the states. In fact, he chose to err on the side of being overly deferential.
General Howe once addressed a letter to “George Washington, Esq.” But Washington refused to accept the letter. This was because Howe had failed to acknowledge his official designation as the congressionally appointed leader of the American army. After some diplomatic haggling, Howe tried presenting the letter to “George Washington, Esq., &ca, &ca.,” attempting to use “&ca.” as a sort of catchall to cover Washington’s positions. Washington again rejected the letter. Finally, Howe addressed the letter to “His Excellency, General Washington,” and Washington accepted it.19 He was not being vain. On the contrary, he was making it clear that his position as commander of the army had been delegated to him by the civil authorities. So if Howe harbored any illusions of negotiating a separate peace with Washington, thereby leaving Congress without a military, such hopes were swiftly put to rest.20
Washington also tried to allay suspicion by seeking congressional authorization for his every move. Even on matters such as troop deployment and the interception of ships—matters that just about any other military commander in history would have assumed he had authority to decide—Washington asked Congress for approval.21 When he received an answer, he followed it almost unquestioningly. Although he did not have Jefferson’s erudition or Franklin’s quick wit, Washington was politically brilliant, and he knew precisely how he needed to act in order to engender trust and define the role of America’s first commander in chief. And so, like a child eager to please a hovering parent, he asked, “Mother, may I?” at almost every turn. And Congress was quite the helicopter mother.
The “obedient son” wrote Congress constantly, informing them of his actions. Rather than focusing all of his energies on formulating tactics, “[i]n the hours ‘allotted to sleep,’ [General Washington] sat in his headquarters, writing a letter, with ‘blots and scratches,’ which told Congress with the utmost precision and vigor just what was needed” to conduct a war.22 In fact, he produced so much correspondence—a whopping 140,000 documents during the war—that he employed a team of scribes who lived with him for this purpose.23 Foreseeing his letters’ value to posterity, he checked virtually all of the scribes’ work and held it to exacting standards. Every letter bearing his name had to be direct, grammatically correct, and free of the slightest error. Washington wanted perfection. And that was a lot to ask, considering the tremendous volume of letters he sent.
Washington also wanted each letter to display the right tone. At the beginning of the war, that tone was one of deference. Even when seeking such basic necessities as munitions or money to pay troops, he carefully worded his letters as requests rather than demands. “I am not fond of stretching my powers,” he wrote tellingly; “and if the Congress will say, ‘Thus far and no farther you shall go,’ I will promise not to offend whilst I continue in their service.”24
Congress did not hesitate to appoint committees to pull their commander’s strings. And if Washington was frustrated with the growing bureaucracy’s micromanagement, he certainly hid it well. He trod patiently as he shaped this novel role of American commander in chief. This concept was an experiment and Washington sought to define it very carefully. The concept of “the republican commander” was an evolving one, however. It was adapted as the new nation learned the necessities of war the hard way.
Washington’s strict subservience to Congress waned as the war effort deteriorated, for while he was amazingly restrained and principled, it eventually became clear that this new kind of scorpion needed a more powerful sting if America was going to win. This reality became extremely apparent when Congress’s meddling helped lead the nation to the brink of destruction.
The politicians in Philadelphia did not fully grasp their army’s predicament in 1776. John Adams, who headed the Board of War in the Continental Congress but admitted that he knew little about warfare, urged Washington to defend New York City. “No effort to secure it ought to be omitted,” he said, for the city was “a kind of key to the whole continent.”25 The congressmen were not military experts, but that would not stop them from letting their commander know their opinions. They were motivated by the political—rather than military—consideration that ceding a major city was liable to turn public opinion against the war.
And Washington hung on their words. He knew that in attempting to defend an island without a navy, he was at a tremendous disadvantage. But, after heading to Philadelphia for a strategy session with Congress, he agreed to make a stand at New York.26 Bending to political pressure and perhaps his own inexperience, Washington attempted to fortify the city.
Washington’s first attempt to defend New York had almost destroyed the new country, as we saw in Chapter 10. The British onslaught in the Battle of Brooklyn had nearly crushed Washington’s army. Even after his brilliant escape across the East River, Washington was not safe yet. He found himself precariously situated in Manhattan. Like Brooklyn, the island was indefensible against Britain’s overwhelmingly powerful navy coupled with its better-trained army. However extensive his fortifications, he could not count on his shaken men to stand and fight. To make matters worse, even if he could find a way to inspire courage, many of his men were not physically capable of standing. Washington’s own army was in tatters, quite literally.
Adams, ever the gifted orator, described the troops’ sorry condition: “Our Army . . . is an Object of Wretchedness, enough to fill a humane Mind, with Horror. Disgraced, defeated, discontented, dispirited, diseased, naked, undisciplined, eaten up with Vermin—no Cloaths, Beds, Blanketts, no Medicines, no Victuals, but Salt Pork and flour.”27 Unable to obtain funds from the cash-strapped Congress, Washington was months behind in paying this wretched lot, and he had no way to provide supplies either. At this stage in the war, the leashed American commander could do little more than plead with Congress for more supplies. And his requests went largely unfulfilled.
In an attempt to remedy their hunger, the “filthy, divided, and unruly” troops violated Washington’s orders and ransacked deserted homes in search of food and clothing.28 It made for a miserable end to the summer, as the soldiers were preoccupied merely with eating rather than such “luxuries” as cleanliness. Contrary to Washington’s hygiene orders, they bathed and washed their clothes rarely, if at all. One traveler described these desperate men in rather colorful terms: “These troops stationed here are Yankee men, the nastiest devils in creation. It would be impossible for any human creature whose organs of smelling were more delicate than that of a hog to live one day under the less of this camp.”29 At this point, Washington might have been less cross if they had resumed their skinny-dipping antics.
In these conditions, infection and disease ran rampant. The Americans were so plagued by “putrid disorders” that an estimated one in four soldiers were diseased.30 The most dreaded ailment was smallpox, a vile malady that brought rashes, burning fever, and death. Extremely contagious, it festered among Washington’s men and erupted in an epidemic so dire that John Adams described it as “ten times more terrible than Britons, Canadians and Indians together.”31 Smallpox threatened to decimate Washington’s army.
While the British troops had some natural tolerance to the disease from repeated exposure in their densely populated home country, the virgin American wilderness had isolated the colonists from it. Therefore, this new outbreak hit them much harder since their immune systems needed to work to develop the antibody defenses that many of their enemies’ bodies already possessed. Washington himself had contracted the disease as a teen, and his face still bore the scars (it is believed that he never fathered children due to sterility caused by this bout with smallpox). His troops lacked his immunity, however.
The British sought to exploit this advantage by pioneering in germ warfare. One British officer recommended, “Dip arrows in matter of smallpox, and twang them at the American rebels [to] disband these stubborn, ignorant, enthusiastic savages.”32 There was little evidence that the British utilized arrows, but many accused them of using human conduits instead. Reports abounded that they went as far as intentionally infecting American civilians and sending them to spread the disease to the American side.33 While it is difficult to confirm such accusations, Howe indeed dumped boatloads of sick civilians near Washington’s lines. Whether these civilians were intentionally infected or Howe merely took full advantage of their preexisting illness is unclear, but the effect was the same: they spread horror and disease.
Washington was aghast and wrote, “The information I received that the Enemy intended spreading the smallpox amongst us, I could not suppose them capable of; I now must give some credit to it, as it has made its appearance.”34 Days later, he wrote with more conviction, saying, “This I apprehend is a weapon of defence, they are using against us.”35 Such germ warfare was not unprecedented—General Gage had purportedly used smallpox to wipe out some of his Native American foes during the Seven Years’ War. What was new and particularly outrageous to Washington was that such dirty tactics might be used against other white men. While he could not prove that the British were doing so, he was ready to take every precaution. The viral threat was so extreme that Washington’s most important military decision of the war was not a tactical one during battle. It was medical.
Many doctors and New York’s legislature, called the Provincial Congress, warned against smallpox immunization, claiming that it actually exacerbated the epidemic.36 The inoculation was a grotesque procedure that had been used in India for thousands of years but was still relatively new to the Europeans. First, the administering doctor used a pin to prick the pustule of a smallpox victim. Next, he extracted the puss and contained it in a jar. Then the doctor would scratch the skin of a healthy inoculation recipient to create an open wound. Finally, he dabbed the infected puss into the wound to spread the disease in a controlled fashion.37 This was a far healthier way to contract smallpox than by inhalation or casual contact. The patient inoculated with the puss would normally contract just a mild case of smallpox for a few weeks and then enjoy immunity to subsequent exposure. However, there was a catch. During those weeks of illness and recovery, the patient could spread the disease to others, giving them a full-blown, deadly case. While those who contracted the disease via inoculation suffered a mere 0.9 percent mortality rate, among those who contracted it via natural means, 17 percent perished—and the others suffered horribly.
Washington had mixed feelings about inoculation. He was reasonably well acquainted with the process, since his second cousin had previously set up a smallpox inoculation hospital, and Washington had even allowed his beloved stepson Jacky to be inoculated before going away to school in Europe. Nevertheless, he feared that mass inoculation would spread the disease further if the newly inoculated patients were not properly quarantined. And even if they were, Washington ran the risk that the British might attack while many of the American troops were still weakened.
Although he had seen the efficacy of inoculation firsthand, Washington—in his typical subservient fashion—abided by the New York legislature’s opposition to it. Upon receiving news that the New York authorities had arrested a doctor caught inoculating American troops, Washington presented “his Compliments to the Honorable The Provincial Congress, and General Committee” and expressed that he was “much obliged to them, for their Care, in endeavouring to prevent the spreading of the Small-pox (by Inoculation or any other way) in this City, or in the Continental Army.” He then ordered that his officers “take the strictest care, to . . . prevent Inoculation” and that any soldier who allowed himself to be inoculated “must expect the severest punishment.” Further, any officer who was inoculated would be “cashiered and turned out of the army, and have his name published in the News papers throughout the Continent, as an Enemy and Traitor to his Country.”38
Washington was serious about following the New York civil authority’s direction. But, with his headstrong wife’s help, he came to change his mind. And in doing so, he altered the course of history.
Martha Washington was a “small plump, elegantly formed woman”39 with hazel eyes, dark hair, and “those frank, engaging manners, so captivating in Southern women.”40 She was certainly seen as physically attractive, but people seemed to be most struck by her intelligence and her “sweet and radiant” temperament.41 A rich widow, she had married Washington when they were both twenty-seven years old, and in doing so, catapulted his social and financial standing. You can make more in a minute than you can make in a lifetime. While their relationship was not a particularly romantic one, they nevertheless shared a deep devotion to and admiration for one another. In fact, Washington was said to wear a locket containing a miniature picture of her around his neck every day of their marriage.42
Loving life almost as much as she loved George, Martha saw inoculation as a way to pursue both loves: if she gained immunity, she could join her husband at his encampment without contracting the deadly version of smallpox from his soldiers. So she took matters into her own hands. Despite the fact that her husband’s army threatened death to soldiers who sought inoculation, she pressed on undeterred. Washington, underestimating her tenacity, privately confided to his cousin, “Mrs. Washington . . . talks of taking the Small Pox [inoculation], but I doubt her resolution.”43 To his surprise, she underwent the procedure.44 After several weeks, she recovered and rejoined her beloved husband without trepidation of the baneful disease.
Rumors had it that one of Martha’s reasons for being inoculated was to persuade her husband of the procedure’s merits.45 And it was around this time that Washington began to tout its benefits. The Americans’ efforts to combat smallpox by outlawing inoculation had failed, and Washington came to see the procedure as the only solution to the epidemic.
Despite the opposition from civil authorities in New York and elsewhere, Washington asserted his military authority and petitioned Congress to reverse course.46 Congress agreed, and Washington ordered mass inoculations of his troops to commence. This move was unprecedented. Washington’s army would become the first in history to utilize wholesale smallpox inoculation. Washington’s emerging boldness as a leader in the face of civilian disagreement would help save thousands of men and probably the American army itself.
The inoculation campaign did little, however, to alleviate the near-term suffering in New York during the summer of 1776. It was too late to help the soldiers who had already contracted smallpox. They languished in the streets of Manhattan along with their comrades who suffered from other diseases such as dysentery. In all, nearly 3,800 men reported being too sick to fight.47 And to make matters worse, even those who did not succumb to illness were ready to desert.
Thousands of American deserters filled the roads to Connecticut and New Jersey as soldiers fled to the comfort of their homes. Some were ill; others were just sick of being unpaid, inadequately supplied, and poorly led by civil authorities. One proud soldier, a devout patriot who had served the cause dutifully, wrote to his wife, “You are afraid that I shall stay in the cause of liberty till I shall make myself a slave to it. I have too much reason to fear that will be the case. I hope to come home soon and see you. Wishing you goodnight, your most kind and affectionate husband till death.”48 Suffering terribly and longing for home, he soon quit and returned to his family in Massachusetts, where he worked as a shoemaker for the rest of the war. Similar sentiments were rife in the American ranks, threatening to tear Washington’s army apart.
As impotent as he was angry, Washington complained to Congress that his soldiers, “instead of calling forth their utmost efforts to a brave and manly opposition, in order to repair our Losses, are dismayed, Intractable, and Impatient to return. Great numbers of them have gone off . . . .”49 Worse yet, many of the Americans did not merely go home, but actually defected to the British side. This was unsurprising, since the British redcoats were faring much better just across the river in Brooklyn.
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Between a Hawk and a Buzzard
The British were far happier and healthier than their wilting foes. Rather than a weak commander and an interfering, cash-strapped civil authority, the British enjoyed a powerful, streamlined military leadership. They received regular pay from Britain’s deep coffers and even gorged themselves on the plentiful food provided by Britain’s all-powerful navy.
Contrary to the popular American conception of the redcoats as battle-scarred “sweepings of the London and Liverpool slums, debtors, drunks, common criminals and the like, who had been bullied and beaten into mindless obedience,”1 they were actually demographically similar to their American counterparts. The redcoat foot soldiers were mostly young farmers and unskilled laborers who were not forced into service but instead lured by the promise of food, pay, and adventure.2 And while the Americans thought the redcoats were street trash, the British soldiers did not think too highly of the patriots either. One Brit wrote of them:
While every clown that tills the plain,
Though bankrupt in estate and brains,
By this new light transformed to traitor,
Forsakes his plough to turn dictator.3
The young men on both sides of the war had a tremendous amount in common. The patriots and redcoats shared the same religion, customs, and heritage. Despite popular misconceptions, they even shared a similar accent. While one might imagine the British complaining about preparations for the coming “hahd wintuh,” denizens of the British Isles actually spoke like the Americans in lamenting the “hard winter.”4 This is because the “British accent” is actually a manufactured one that did not fully take hold until after the war.
Both the British and the Americans originally shared a rhotic accent in which they pronounced the “R’s” in their words. However, around this time, something peculiar started to occur in Britain: the people began a concerted effort to change their pronunciation to non-rhotic. 5 As the Industrial Revolution catapulted individuals of low birth rank into titans of British industry, these nouveau riche Londoners sought to distinguish themselves from fellow commoners.6 And so, they actively cultivated a non-rhotic accent to signify their new elite status. “London pronunciation became the prerogative of a new breed of specialists—orthoepists and teachers of elocution,” and it was these men who “decided on correct pronunciations, compiled pronouncing dictionaries and, in private and expensive tutoring sessions, drilled enterprising citizens in fashionable articulation.”7
Thus, while the British manufactured their posh new accent during the late eighteenth century, the Americans continued to pronounce their “R’s”—only Boston and New York City followed the trend, developing their own non-rhotic accents since they remained “under the strongest influence by the British elite.”8 During this summer of 1776, however, the new accents had not yet taken hold and the British and American soldiers still largely spoke in the same rhotic manner. They were still brothers—albeit bitterly estranged ones who were prepared to kill one another.
Unlike their republican brethren, the British soldiers were proud to fight for their king. They faced harsh penalties for breaking the British military code, but those strict regulations kept them safer and healthier. For example, they were required to put on a clean shirt two or three times a week, and to ensure that their linens were washed.9 Needless to say, Brooklyn smelled far better than Manhattan on those hot summer nights. Reasonable hygiene, adequate rations, and a natural resistance to smallpox helped keep disease in check and the redcoats prepared for their next attack.
The British discipline was far from perfect, however, and the redcoats also found time to abuse the locals. One British officer described the New York women as “fair nymphs” who were “in wonderful tribulation, as the fresh meat our men have got here has made them as riotous as satyrs.” Rape had become so commonplace, he wrote, that “A girl cannot step into the bushes to pluck a rose without running the most imminent risk of being ravished, and they are so little accustomed to these vigorous methods that they don’t bear them with the proper resignation.”10 A fiendish British officer made light of the situation, joking that as a result they had “most entertaining courts-martial every day” to try the attackers.11
One girl complained of being deflowered by a band of British grenadiers. 12 Picked from among the strongest and tallest soldiers, grenadiers had the power to hurl baseball-sized iron spheres far away from their comrades before the burning fuses ignited the gunpowder within. Apparently, some of these elite fighters also used their strength against American women. Rather than condemn the attack on the girl, the British laughed at her testimony that even in the dark she knew that her attackers were grenadiers by their size. In another case, the British troops mocked a woman who was attacked by seven men. They claimed laughingly that her real complaint was “not of their usage” but rather “of their having taken an old prayer book for which she had a particular affection.”13 Washington and his troops were powerless to stop these atrocities.
In September 1776, one British officer wrote to the chief strategist in London that the war was “pretty near over,” and King George III believed his forces were close to victory.14 His army sickly and disintegrating, Washington was close to agreeing. At this point, General Howe could pretty much destroy the Continental Army whenever he wished. But he still hoped for a peaceful end to the rebellion and for the colonies’ return to the British Empire. Viewing himself as a sort of peace negotiator, he rejected the “rash” course of “crushing at once a frightened, trembling enemy,” and instead “he generously gave them time to recover from their panic . . . .”15
Washington used this time to formulate a plan. He knew that he had little hope of defending Manhattan Island against the combined power of Britain’s healthy, well-trained, and well-armed army and navy. And so he decided to run—again.
The American commander made the rather obvious military observation that he should retreat. But he was not confident that he had the authority to order a full withdrawal, since his commission from Congress directed him to confer with his “council of war.” 16 Washington felt bound by this language to obtain their sign-off before any major action. 17 The members of this war council were all appointed by the meddling Congress, and most were relative novices in military matters. In fact, only one, the slovenly military genius Charles Lee, was a professional soldier. Seeking to be deferential to the politicians’ and officers’ wishes, however, Washington dutifully brought the question of withdrawal before this group.
Washington and the war council “all agreed that the Town was not tenable if the Enemy was resolved to bombard and Cannonade it.”18 Yet a majority on the council foolishly decided against a full withdrawal. Instead, “a Course was taken between abandoning it totally and concentrating our whole strength for its defence.”19
Why would Washington take this militarily inexcusable risk? Because he believed that the micromanaging politicians expected him to do just that. Washington and the council were “influenced in their Opinion, to whom the determination of Congress was known, against an Evacuation totally; suspecting that Congress wished it to be maintained at every hazard . . . .”20 Further, many of the novices on the war council—and even Washington, to a degree—had the naive view that they could still defeat the British, and they did not want to hurt morale further by another retreat. Therefore, the council made a decision that was contrary to Washington’s best judgment, but the commander respectfully acquiesced.21
Washington quickly informed Congress that he would retain forces on Manhattan Island even though it was “extremely obvious, from all Intelligence,” that the British intended to encircle the Americans and “endeavour to cut this Army in pieces.”22
Washington and his officers had bowed to civil authority, but their discontent was surfacing. With Congress and its war council peering over his shoulder at every turn, the commander in chief still lacked full command over his army.23 His officers, feeling that Congress was forcing them to fight the war with one arm tied behind their back, began to question their political masters more openly. “The councils of the Congress seem to be dark and intricate, and very badly calculated,” wrote one of Washington’s officers. While the soldiers were trapped on the island, fearing for their lives and “anticipating the apprehended evil,” Congress was at a safe distance in Philadelphia.24 And when Congress did send observers to survey the army’s condition, these “Philadelphia gentlemen who came over on visits, upon the first cannon shot went off in a most violent hurry.”25 Washington and his army remained on the field, almost literally staring down the barrel of a gun. Washington’s assistant wrote to his wife, “We are still here in a posture somewhat awkward; we think (at least I do) that we cannot stay and yet we do not know how to go—so that we may be properly said to be between a hawk and a buzzard.”26
Meanwhile, a comfortable eighty-two miles away in Philadelphia, Congress spent precious time debating the predicament. With the army’s fate hanging in the balance, the politicians back at cozy Independence Hall finally decided to send a small delegation to meet with Howe. This group consisted of Ben Franklin, John Adams, and Edward Rutledge, a twenty-six-year-old North Carolinian who was the youngest man to sign the Declaration of Independence. The distinguished trio set off immediately by horse across New Jersey and then rowed out to Howe’s base on the southernmost tip of the island.
Greeted by an intimidating row of enemy fighters, Franklin and his two young co-diplomats were escorted into Bentley Manor, a stately stone house that was being used as a barracks. It was in a filthy state, but the redcoats had cleaned up one room overlooking the bay for the meeting. 27 Once inside, the Americans drank claret and ate ham, tongue, and mutton while they awaited their British adversary. 28 The veil of civility failed to mask the dangerous situation in which they sat.
The so-called “Staten Island Peace Conference” convened on September 11, 1776. This attempt to end the war was doomed from the start, however, and both sides knew it. Howe entered the meeting room in his sharp uniform, fully aware that he had the upper hand. He informed the delegation that it was in the Americans’ best interest to rescind their Declaration of Independence. While Howe attempted to be conciliatory, he could not help but act the role of a conqueror stating his terms: should they rejoin the empire, he would spare them. Howe indeed had authorization from London to pardon many of the patriots, and he was surprisingly eager to use it.
After three hours of discussion (in which Howe did most of the talking), the British general emotionally revealed that he viewed the schism between Britain and her former colonies with regret and still regarded the congressmen as his British kinsmen. He continued, “if America shall fall, I should feel for and lament it like the loss of a brother.” The wily Franklin said dryly, “we will use our utmost endeavors to save your lordship that mortification.” Howe, not one for dry humor, responded with a long monologue outlining his attempts at peace to the stone-faced congressmen. He explained his desire to reunite the empire by bringing the colonies—whom he viewed as his American brothers—back under the Crown. To that, Adams retorted with his typical biting eloquence: “Your lordship may consider me in what light you please . . . except that of a British subject. ”29 Little did Adams know that his name was on a secret list of patriots to whom Howe was forbidden to grant pardon should America agree to end the rebellion. 30
Luckily for Adams, there would be no peace or pardoning that day. As Howe’s secretary summarized the conference, “They met, they talked, they parted. And now nothing remains but to fight it out.”31 Although their meeting was fruitless, at least the congressmen had bought Washington a few more days of respite.
Washington met again with his war council. This time, they had intelligence that the British forces were preparing for an imminent attack, and the council agreed to a full withdrawal from Manhattan. Congress also changed tunes, deciding to allow the commander in chief to determine the timing of an evacuation.32 Finally relinquishing the power to make such a tactical decision, Congress notified Washington that no part of the army “should remain in that city a moment longer” than he judged appropriate.33 Washington could now do what he needed in order to save his army. He quickly pressed every available horse and wagon in the vicinity into service and commenced another mass retreat.34 But Congress still prohibited him from acting on his more controversial wish: to set Manhattan ablaze.
Washington knew that the British forces were salivating at the thought of taking the island. With its large Loyalist population, great ports, ample housing, and plentiful sources of supplies, New York was the perfect place for them to live during the coming winter. The British troops could be healthy, well supplied, and ready to trounce the feeble American forces come spring. Further, Washington knew he had little chance of recovering the island, since such an amphibious invasion would require a navy to match mighty Britain’s, and he had virtually none. So the only logical tactic was to deprive the British of the city.35
But Congress forbade him. They ordered Washington to do “no damage” to New York. Clueless of the military realities, they declared that they had “no doubt of being able to recover” the city if the British took it.36 Washington grudgingly obeyed, although in private he grumbled that if he had his say, he would have “laid the city in ashes.”37 And his wish would come true.
With the British invasion looming, Washington hurriedly withdrew his army up Manhattan with the goal of escaping into the Bronx. But he was too late. Howe was not about to allow him to slip away yet again. This time, the British pounced before the Americans had the chance to run.
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Onslaught
One Sunday morning during the dog days of summer 1776, a groggy baby-faced Connecticut private named Joseph Plumb Martin lay quietly in a defensive trench.1 Only fifteen years old, he was too young to fight without his guardians’ consent, so he had threatened to run away unless his grandparents allowed him to enlist. They gave in.
And now this headstrong youth from a wealthy family, excited to be a part of the American cause, had been enjoying a seemingly peaceful morning. “The Hills, the Woods, the River, the Town, the [British] Ships . . . all Heightened by a most clear & delightful morning, furnished the finest Landscape that either art and nature combined could draw, or the Imagination conceive.”2 With the sun little over an hour high, the day was already warm. As the menacing British warships silently passed by, Martin began amusing himself by reading some papers he found among the debris on the ground. It was the calm before the storm.
“I was demurely perusing these papers,” the teenager recalled, “when all of a sudden there came such a peal of thunder from the British shipping that I thought my head would go with the sound. I made a frog’s leap for the ditch, and lay as still as I could, and began to consider which part of my carcass was to go first.”3 The ground trembled along with the American soldiers as the British warships launched a fearsome barrage from seventy cannons. Just four days after the collapse of peace talks, the violent bombardment of Manhattan was underway.
One British soldier observed, “The scene was awful and grand, I might say beautiful, but for the melancholy seriousness that which must attend every circumstance where the lives of men, even the basest malefactors, are at stake.”4 The patriots did not think the scene was quite as beautiful. They were cowering in their trenches when 12,000 well-aligned British troops began to wade onto the shore in droves like a red war machine. Spotting their approach, the panicked Americans ran or surrendered. Barely any American rounds were fired, and the British forces invaded with “nothing to hinder them.”5
Once ashore, the redcoats were welcomed by New York’s Loyalists as a liberation party. To the patriots’ chagrin, the Tories cheered and hoisted the British troops onto their shoulders as they celebrated like “overjoyed bedlamites.” The British soldiers were equally elated: they had landed without losing a single man.6
Receiving no orders from their superiors, Martin and his battalion ran like hell, while “the grape shot and langrage flew merrily, which served to quicken [their] motions.”7 They made a mad dash to a nearby house, where they came upon women and small children crying amidst the mayhem. Even though it was still morning, the soldiers were in need of a stiff drink. Much to their delight, the women placed a bottle of rum on the table and the thirsty soldiers helped themselves. Fortified with some liquid courage, Martin and his friends then snuck out the door and ran for miles to safety.
Hearing the British bombardment, Washington leapt onto his horse and raced to the scene. When he arrived, he was not pleased with what he saw. “The demons of fear and disorder” had infected his troops, sending them scattering.8 Even in areas where they outnumbered the British, the Americans fled, dropping their muskets, bullets, food, and even clothing to run faster.9 In Washington’s view, his soldiers were becoming a little too adept at running away. He was a man of action. Honor required that he stand and fight. Therefore, he boldly ordered his troops to stand their ground. Almost as if he were trying to beat honor into them, he struck several officers as they disobeyed.
Washington scrambled to organize a counterattack, but the Americans were too terrified to return fire. He could take no more of such impotence. In one of the few times the remarkably stoic general lost his temper, he dashed his hat on the ground and exclaimed, “Good God, have I got such Troops as those!”10 Mad with rage, he mounted his horse and charged at the invaders. Almost no one followed him.
The commander rode with nearly suicidal fury and virtually no backup to within a football field of the redcoats. Frustrated by his inability to stop the British and distraught over the peril to his nation, the tremendously unflappable man lost control of his faculties. And it almost cost him his life. There he was, blind with anger, singlehandedly opposing the invasion. Realizing the horror about to transpire, two of his aides frantically grabbed for his horse’s reins as bullets whizzed past, kicking up the earth around them. The commander almost died in that instant. But luckily for the him—and for the Revolution—muskets were rather inaccurate weapons.
The French developed the flintlock musket in 1610. This ingenious contraption antiquated the need to ignite gunpowder with a match. Instead, the hammer used a piece of flint to cause the spark that created the (somewhat) controlled explosion that forced the lead musket ball through the gun barrel and hurling towards its target. This invention helped revolutionize warfare. The strength of these guns accounted for the prominence of the French musketeers, who were immortalized in the famous novel The Three Musketeers. Not to be outdone by their rivals, the British developed a similar musket and introduced it to their American colonies. Although tweaks were certainly made to the design over the next century and a half, the weapon remained largely the same. And Washington owed his life to this lack of innovation.
Violently propelled by exploding gunpowder, the musket ball rolled around the gun’s barrel in an erratic spin. Like an inexperienced pitcher trying to throw a curve ball, the musket sent the ball hurling on an unpredictable path. A famous British marksman noted that “a soldier’s musket, if not exceedingly ill-bored (as many of them were), will strike the figure of a man at eighty yards” or perhaps more, but at a distance much farther than that, “you may as well fire at the moon and have the same hope of hitting your object.”11 Although this clumsy musket was the preferred weapon, both sides of the conflict had varied arsenals at their disposal.
Both the Americans and the British used rifles as well. Rifles enabled far greater accuracy, but they were often “more noisy than useful” in warfare, for three main reasons. 12 First, they required a longer reload time. While a trained soldier could reload a musket in about thirty seconds, a rifle could require a multiple of that time since the powder needed to be packed more tightly. And those extra seconds could mean the difference between life and death as the enemy swarmed towards him. Second, line marksmen had little chance to make use of their rifles’ accuracy: they lacked the time, and often they could not see well enough to aim amidst the smoke of battle. Finally, the rifle’s third fatal flaw was that it lacked a bayonet. Muskets were often fitted with sharp metal bayonets at the end of their barrel so the gun could be used like a spear. This was crucial. Just as a schoolyard fight might start out with punches and turn into a close grappling match, a battle of armies would often progress from distant shots to messy hand-to-hand combat. These factors helped ensure that the musket remained the weapon of choice for modern armies—fortuitously for Washington.
The young Brits peered eagerly at the large enemy leader draped in his gold-trimmed blue coat astride a brawny, brown horse. Their glorious target mere yards away, they pulled their triggers, emitting a cloud of gunpowder that singed their hands and nostrils. The lead balls bounced around the chambers of their muskets, burst out haphazardly, and spun harmlessly past Washington and his horse. This gave the irate commander’s aides the opportunity to usher him to safety. Thus, the clumsiness of the old musket design saved the Revolution, allowing the commander an opportunity to flee with his troops up Manhattan.
While disgraced by his troops’ cowardly retreat, Washington did see one of his goals accomplished: the Americans left the British with a nasty surprise.
Downtown Manhattan erupted into a raging inferno. Although Congress had forbade Washington from destroying the city, some of his less deferential compatriots apparently took matters into their own hands. Ardent in their attachment to the revolutionary cause, some patriots declared that they “would set fire to their own houses sooner than they should be occupied by the King’s troops.” 13 Around midnight on September 21, 1776, a fire broke out at Fighting Cocks Tavern and simultaneously in other downtown locations.14 How it started was never proven, but Americans and British alike believed that the patriots used “matches and combustibles that had been prepared with great art and ingenuity” to set the town ablaze. 15
Aided by the summer evening’s warm breeze, the fire quickly spread among the wooden homes and shipping wharves. The sky soon turned a smoky red as the scorching heat engulfed a quarter of the city. Because Washington had taken many of the city’s church bells for smelting into cannon, the British had difficulty sounding an alarm.16 This not only slowed the containment effort but also exacerbated the panic. Many of the sleeping townspeople were not awakened to the danger until the fire was lapping at their doors. Others did not wake at all. One aghast British soldier described the heartrending scene:
It is impossible to conceive a scene of more horror and distress . . . . The sick, the aged, women, and children half naked were seen going they knew not where, and taking refuge . . . . The terror was encreased by the horrid noise of the burning and falling houses . . . the confused voices of so many men, the shrieks and cries of the women and children, the seeing the fire break out unexpectedly in places in the distance, which manifested a design of totally destroying the city . . . made this one of the most tremendous and affecting scenes I ever beheld. 17
The redcoats wanted instant revenge. Mobs of British soldiers and Tories seized two suspected patriot saboteurs and threw them into the fire. The British brutally cut off the hand of another patriot suspect and hung him up by his feet. 18
Some inevitably suspected that Washington was secretly behind the plot—especially in light of his professed desire to burn the city. “Many circumstances lead to conjecture that Mr. Washington was privy to this villainous act,” it was asserted.19 Finding “villainy even in the virtuous Washington,” the British pegged the arsonists as his “emissaries.”20 It is unlikely that Washington was directly complicit in starting the fires since Congress had forbade him and he remained deferential. But that did not mean he was unhappy about the blaze. Privately he applauded the destruction since he was convinced that the congressmen’s order was an imprudent one. “Providence, or some good honest fellow, has done more for us than we were disposed to do for ourselves,” he wrote.21
While Washington would have liked to see the whole of Manhattan burn to the ground, about a quarter of it did. And the Americans were not done making the British miserable.
Desperate to stand up to the British after months of defeat, Washington eventually succeeded in organizing a counterattack. He knew that even a moral victory would do much to assure Congress that their budding faith in him was justified. At Harlem Heights, miles north of the British forces, he got his troops to stop their panicked flight and huddle in a line of trenches that stretched across the woods and buckwheat fields that dominated the area.22 There, in the late summer heat, they lay in wait for their pursuers. His trap set, Washington patrolled on horseback, ready to ambush the rapidly advancing British forces.
When the redcoats finally arrived at Harlem Heights, they were stunned. Expecting the Americans to run away as usual, they “were never so surprised” as to see the Americans charging at them instead.23 The patriots fought ferociously, and many lives were lost on both sides. But then an unusual thing happened. From the booming smoke of battle, a mass of red uniforms began to real backwards. For the first time in the New York campaign, the British retreated. One “mortified” British officer later wrote to a friend, “If I only had a pair of pistols, I am sure I would at least have shot a puppy of an officer I found slinking off in the heat of the action.”24
The Americans had little time to gloat, however. British reinforcements soon arrived, and Washington prudently decided to retreat rather than pursue. Although his instinct was to fight, his level head prevailed. He knew that winning the war required him to protect his army.
Had Washington ordered a full retreat days earlier, as he had contemplated, the patriots would have had time to evacuate in an orderly fashion. But the commander had bowed to political pressure and the delays permitted the disastrous redcoat assault. Thus the evacuation was so chaotic that a large battalion became detached from Washington. Trailing behind, this 3,500-man force was marching up Manhattan away from the British invasion when it came terrifyingly close to an enemy contingent of 8,000 advancing along the same road. The British would easily have decimated the American force but for an unexpected bit of good luck named Mary Murray.
While Congress’s political pressure and meddling had helped get the Continental Army into this mess, she would help get them out. An ardent patriot who lived on that road, the fifty-one-year-old Quaker still possessed the wiles to attract the British officers’ attention. And work her charm she did, luring them into her home. Inside, she showered them with jokes, cakes, and generous helpings of wine.
Inexplicably, “they were induced to tarry two hours or more.” As the officers lingered with Mrs. Murray and her Portuguese wine, the patriots fled to safety. “It became almost a common saying among our officers,” wrote one soldier, “that Mrs. Murray saved this part of the American army.”25
Mrs. Murray may have helped them live to fight another day, but the Americans’ problems were far from over. With all the desertion and defeat, Washington’s army was now mostly a ragtag group of neophytes. One redcoat described them as a band of “lads under 15, and old men. And few of them had the appearance of soldiers. Their odd figures frequently excited the laughter of our soldiers.”26 The British were shocked to discover that the American soldiers were not even all male. The revolutionary cause was so desperate for manpower that some women entered the fight.
When John Adams wrote his wife of the army’s defeats, Abigail Adams confidently declared that if the men failed, the British forces would then be forced to fight “a race of Amazons in America.”27 And the British side certainly did confront some ferocious American women. The patriot ladies were particularly active on the home front, quartering soldiers, defending their homes, and hiding supplies from enemy raids. By working the fields and sewing uniforms, they fed and outfitted the troops. And as these ardent patriots played their part, God help those who opposed them.
In one comical incident, a “stingy merchant” in Boston refused to sell his coffee, a commodity that was in very short supply. His refusal was seen as unpatriotic and it brought the ire of the local populace. Fed up, a hundred or more caffeine-deprived women marched down to demand the coffee. But when they arrived, the wealthy bachelor rebuffed them—not the smartest move. As “a large concourse of men stood amazed,” one of the women “seized him by his neck and tossed him into the cart.” Thoroughly frightened, the merchant handed over his keys and the women seized the coffee. The miser purportedly received multiple spankings before the women finally released him. 28
Some women even followed the men right onto the battlefield. Like many others, Mary Hays McCauley was eager to take an active role in the fight for independence. She followed her husband to the army camp, where she cooked and cared for the soldiers. But the fiery twenty-three-year-old did not stop there; she became a “pitcher,” bringing water to cool the cannon that her husband manned. A strong, heavyset woman described as having a florid complexion and a love of banter, she dashed through the smoke, whizzing to and fro, helping her husband and his fellow soldiers.29 Accounts of the battle say that when her husband was wounded, an enraged Mary grabbed a ramrod, hiked up her dress, took over the cannon and continued to fire incessantly at the approaching British. Both the Americans and their enemies were stunned. Joseph Martin described the scene in his diary:
One little incident happened, during the heat of the cannonade, which I was eye-witness to, and which I think would be unpardonable not to mention. . . . [W]hile in the act of reaching a cartridge and having one of her feet as far before the other as she could step, a cannon shot from the enemy passed directly between her legs without doing any other damage than carrying away all the lower part of her petticoat, looking at it with apparent unconcern, she observed, that it was lucky it did not pass a little higher, for in that case it might have carried away something else, and ended her and her occupation.30
Even Washington was reportedly impressed. Mary and her husband survived the battle and she returned home to live a good, long life.
Mary Hays McCauley was far from the only female soldier among the patriots. Not only did other women jump to the aid of soldiers in battle, but some even enlisted.31 In fact, “It was not an unusual circumstance to find women in the ranks disguised as men, such was their ardor for independence.”32 The Americans needed all the help they could get, and Washington certainly appreciated patriotic zeal from wherever it came.33
Washington’s men (and women) not only faced the well-trained redcoats, but also Britain’s German mercenaries—the dreaded “Hessians.” In the eighteenth century, Germany was not yet a united nation but a patchwork of impoverished smaller states. These agricultural communities had little commercial activity and poor farmland but droves of excellent fighters. And so their rulers utilized this resource by selling mercenary services to other princes and nobles around Europe. The German states became the largest suppliers of soldiers in the world and charged a premium for their men’s fighting prowess.34
Ever mindful of its coffers, England had first attempted to obtain cheaper troops. British envoys requested soldiers from Catherine the Great in Russia and Frederick the Great in Prussia, but both Greats refused. To them, lending troops to the British war machine was akin to throwing their young men to the wolves. After approaching the Netherlands and even considering the Moors in Morocco, the British finally decided that the Hessian warriors were worth their price.35 And it was steep. In fact, the Duke of Brunswick sent just 4,300 soldiers but received 160,000 pounds (roughly equivalent to $300 million in modern U.S. dollars), while another noble used the profits from his fighters to build a new castle. Taking on this hefty expense, Britain hired 30,000 German mercenaries to crush the American rebellion.36
The Hessian soldiers were, by and large, castoffs of German society. Referred to as “expendable people” in their homeland, their ranks included debtors, unemployed laborers, and school dropouts. Many of them were forced into service involuntarily when they were kidnapped by wandering bands of military “recruiters.”37 Once in the “employment” of the German nobles, these ruffians were ruthlessly shaped into a lethal fighting force. Unlike Washington, their generals exercised iron-fisted control.
The common soldiers saw little of the hefty compensation paid to their nobles. Instead, many hoped to get rich from the plunder they could carry from battle.38 As they marched, some would sing:
Be quick, brothers, to arms!
Let us go to America.
Assembled is our army.
Long live victory!
That red gold, that red gold
That comes rolling out from there
There we’ll all get it, get it, there we’ll all get more gold.39
To obtain that gold, some Hessians resorted to ransacking American towns. The Americans accused them not only of looting homes and farms, but also of slaughtering surrendering soldiers, abusing the sick and elderly, and raping women. 40 Britain had used foreign mercenaries such as these for centuries, but in America they were especially hated since they were seen as vicious interlopers in a battle between estranged brothers. And, along with his German friends, the British older brother was winning.
The Americans viewed the Hessian hordes as demonic, otherworldly creatures. The patriots described these frightening figures as having “broad shoulders, their limbs not of equal proportion, light complexion with a b[l]ueish tinge, hair cued as tight to the head as possible, sticking straight back like the handle of an iron skillet.” The Hessians wore distinctive armored helmets, and blue or Jäger green uniforms with brass ornamentation that made an intimidating clanging sound as they marched.41 Many of these seasoned mercenaries sported large bushy mustaches, which many boys fighting in the American army could not yet grow.
In his chaotic, ill-timed, ill-managed retreat, Washington had lost New York and many of his troops along with the city. It was starting to become clear to everyone that congressional meddling was not helping the cause. Americans needed a decisive military leader if they were going to stand a chance against the world’s greatest military power.
But Washington would have to wait. As he watched helplessly from across the Hudson River, the last American stronghold on Manhattan, Fort Washington, fell to the combined Hessian and British force. The commander witnessed his troops fight bravely, only to be overrun. Even more heart-wrenching, many of those who surrendered were brutally slaughtered by the slashing Hessians.42 Washington was reported to turn away from his officers and cry “with the tenderness of a child.”43 This was perhaps the lowest point in his life. He had failed his nation. He feared that the Revolution was lost. And it nearly was.
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The Times That Try Men’s Souls
By the fall of 1776, the commander had nearly run out of troops to command. Devastated by losses and desertions, Washington’s force was slashed to just a couple thousand men. While he had commanded about 20,000 men prior to the British invasions of Brooklyn and New York, he now led a mere 3,500. His army was vastly outnumbered. To compound matters, more American Loyalists were joining the British side than there were patriots joining Washington. The states refused to send Washington more troops since they wanted to keep their men close to home for their own defense rather than send them away to another defeat.1 Congress was impotent. In fact, Congress would not—and could not—even give Washington money to pay his men.
The army had many directors but little coherent direction. Washington had bent to the political pressure in defending New York and it had led to disaster. This was no way to fight a war. With Congress attempting to micromanage Washington’s every move, the American war machine was less a machine than a schizophrenic squirrel that jumped from one task to another without coordination.
Washington recomposed himself and resolved to find a way to salvage the American cause. While the valiant general’s propensity was to stand his ground and “fight like a man,” he knew he could not win in New York. Honor gave way to reason, and Washington took the advice of his officers: the only way to give the Revolution a chance was to flee with his disintegrating army into New Jersey.
He was now on the run—and he loathed every minute of it. His confidence fading as quickly as his troops, Washington fled through the cold, muddy streets of New Jersey during the miserable autumn of 1776. They were chased by a seemingly unstoppable British and Hessian force, which ravaged the countryside as it pursued. “Indiscriminate ruin” and “horrid depredations” fell upon “every person they met with, infants, children, old men and women.”2 Rape was reportedly commonplace. In one account, a young girl “was taken from her father’s house, carried to a barn about a mile, there ravished, and afterwards made use of by five more of these brutes.” In another, a man’s wife and ten-year-old daughter were likewise brutalized.3 The advancing British and Hessians were seen as a demonic horde that the American commander was powerless to stop.
All Washington could do was flee. The American army retreated all the way across the state, finding a slight reprieve once they had crossed the Delaware River, whose flowing waters finally halted the destructive British advance. But with the world’s mightiest navy at General Howe’s disposal, this river provided Washington only temporary protection—the British could readily continue the chase. And with the weather unseasonably warm that December, the British appeared ready to do precisely that.
But before he squashed Washington’s tattered force, Howe bizarrely ordered his troops to halt. As usual, he was in no hurry. Still holding out hope of reconciliation between Britain and its colonies, Howe felt no need to crush Washington’s army—only to intimidate them.4 So he stationed three Hessian regiments to harass Washington from across the river, where they taunted their prey with intermittent bouts of artillery fire. While their presence was unnerving, these Hessians were little immediate threat. Howe had decided it was winter.
A hard frost had arrived just in time to cool Howe’s pursuit. As was custom during the era, the British forces would hunker down for the winter of 1776–1777. Rather than remain in the field and endure the ravages of the cold, gentlemanly armies instead withdrew from battle until spring.5 Accordingly, leaving the Hessians in New Jersey, Howe and the bulk of his men returned to their winter quarters in their new prize: New York City. Although he should have chased Washington and crushed him with the full might of the British forces, Howe preferred to retire to his elegant New York City mansion, where he “lay warm in bed with Mrs. Loring.”6
An attractive blonde in her mid-twenties, Elizabeth Loring was married to a Loyalist named Joshua Loring. She interpreted her marriage vows loosely, however, as did her husband. Joshua served in Howe’s staff and seemed unperturbed by his wife’s rather public dalliance with his boss. In fact, he acted more like her pimp than her husband as he gladly accepted generous military payments in exchange for permitting this not-so-secret affair.7 “He fingered the cash, the General enjoyed Madam,” quipped one Loyalist.8
Howe did indeed enjoy this arrangement immensely. Although he had a wife back in England, he was emboldened by the expanse of the Atlantic and openly pursued his adulterous infatuation.9 He had “found his Cleopatra in an illustrious courtesan” and indulged in her along with plentiful helpings of rum.10 Together they gambled, danced, and drank into the nights. They lived in a three-story Turtle Bay estate boasting views of the East River and fashionable decor imported from England.11 Howe had quite the love shack. Charles Lee, never one to mince his words, crudely summed up the British general: “Howe shut his eyes, fought his battles, drank his bottle, had his little whore.”12
Meanwhile, American Loyalists criticized Mrs. Loring as a distraction. They wanted Howe to end the war and they despised his mistress for diverting his attention from the effort. The Loyalists sang:
Awake, arouse, Sir Billy,
There’s forage on the plain.
Ah, leave your little filly,
And open the campaign. 13
But Billy slept. And in a way, that “courtesan” helped save the Continental Army, as Howe’s dalliance provided Washington with time to lick his wounds.
The United States were at rock bottom. The Revolution had turned into a disaster and the fight for liberty seemed lost. “Trembling for the fate of America,” Washington feared that Howe might seize Philadelphia, where he would surely hang any congressman he caught. 14 And, to his shame, his own army was in no position to stop another Howe onslaught. In fact, without coats to warm them or even shoes to protect their feet, Washington’s battered and decaying army struggled just to survive the elements. Thomas Paine, the so-called mouthpiece of the Revolution whose patriotic pamphlets helped to rouse public opinion, famously wrote, “These are the times that try men’s souls.”15
In suffering solidarity, Washington rode on horseback alongside his withering troops as they retreated that miserable autumn of 1776. Although he hid his anxiety behind the strong face that he presented to his men, Washington privately confided, “I never was in such an unhappy, divided state since I was born. . . . I am wearied to Death.”16 He predicted, “I think the game is pretty near up.”17
The commander was not the only one distraught over the American army’s poor performance. As people looked for someone to blame for the crushing defeats in New York, General Washington stood out as the most obvious responsible party. Some of his own officers quietly questioned his competency as a military commander.
Eager for Washington’s job, the conniving General Lee was quick to impugn Washington for America’s defeats. Going behind his commander’s back, Lee tattled to Washington’s bosses in Congress about Washington’s “fatal indecision of mind,” calling it “a much greater disqualification than stupidity or even want of personal courage. ”18 Not one for self-restraint, Lee did not stop there. He also wrote to another officer, “Entre nous, a certain great man is most damnably deficient. He has thrown me into a situation where I have my choice of difficulties.” 19 With Lee’s name on the short list of contenders, whispers about replacing Washington crept through the country.
Even as a growing chorus was questioning his capability, Washington retained the ardent loyalty of his troops and the majority in Congress. Although their confidence in the cause was wavering, his troops still believed in him and held out hope for victory. By behaving so heroically yet humbly during the first phases of the war, Washington had built up a deep reservoir of goodwill. And he needed every last drop.
“My neck does not feel as though it was made for a halter [noose],” Washington declared .20 His persistence was unsinkable. He was determined to outlast the British and knew it would require decisive action. And so he began to voice his exasperation with Congress’s cluelessness —although in his typical polite and subtle manner. “Give me leave to say . . . our Affairs are in a more unpromising way than you seem to apprehend,” he told Congress. The Continental Army, he warned, “is upon the eve of its political dissolution.”21 The simmering tension between the commander and Congress began to bubble.
Washington went further, expressing some frustration with his own lack of power. Unable even to create a permanent army since it was seen as a stepping stone to tyranny, he was forced to plead with his freezing, starving, unpaid soldiers to reenlist time and again. Under this arrangement, he risked losing most of the remnants of his army when their terms expired at the end of the year. The longer they delayed in raising a standing army, he warned Congress, “the more difficult and chargeable would they find it to get one.”22 Although the commander’s neck was not fit for a noose, it certainly sported a figurative leash that was beginning to chafe. Then a funny thing happened.
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Reevaluation
Whether it was desperation that brought clarity or panic that brought action, Congress decided to remove the leash it had kept around Washington’s neck.
With Howe able to seize Philadelphia at just about any time he wished, the elegant Independence Hall was no longer the safe haven it had been. Unbeknownst to Congress, Howe had actually made no preparations to invade Philadelphia that winter of 1776–1777. He was, after all, content to enjoy his winter quarters in Manhattan, partying with Mrs. Loring.1 But the proximity of the British forces “seized the nerves of some members of Congress.”2 And when a local newspaper announced good intelligence that the British intended to push for Philadelphia, “much alarm” spread throughout the city.3 With “massacre and starvation chill[ing] the blood in every vein,” there was panic all around: “Where shall we go; how shall we get out of town? Was the universal cry.”4 The national government was paralyzed.
If captured by the British, the members of the Continental Congress would surely be hanged as traitors. So they began to scatter: John Adams and Thomas Jefferson returned to their homes, while Franklin was off lobbying the French for more assistance. In fact, so many congressmen were absent, on account of flight or illness or sheer exhaustion, that there were often not enough members for a quorum. The bold Continental Congress that had issued the Declaration of Independence only months earlier was now just a nervous shadow of itself, as the last holdouts anxiously milled within Independence Hall.
This rump Congress became more erratic. They ordered Washington to publicly refute the “false and malicious” report that they were about to flee Philadelphia.5 Washington, however, realized that his controlling mother was acting a bit batty and thus disobeyed. He politely responded that following Congress’s order would “not lead to any good end” and that he would “take the liberty to decline.” As if already asserting his growing power as commander, he instead recommended that Congress would be wise to evacuate.6 Little did Washington know, they already had.
Congress resolved to reconvene in Baltimore, approximately one hundred miles farther from Howe’s men. The fact that they transferred to this backwater was itself another sign of desperation. At the time, Baltimore was a rough, dirty boomtown that was known more as a smelly haven for pirates than as a political center. The intellectual John Adams was appalled by what he described as the population’s crude quest for profit by any means. Another delegate described Baltimore as “the damnedest hole on earth.”7 But the brutal realities of war had morphed from a far-off, virtuous battle for liberty in Boston and New York, into a very real and very near threat.
Fearing for their own lives, as well as for the American cause, the congressmen realized that their experiment with a weak commander had failed. The limits placed on Washington’s control over his own army’s tactics were hampering the war effort and endangering Congress itself. It had become painfully obvious that they needed their commander to protect them.
They had jealously clung to power and nervously watched Washington’s every move, but now Congress changed course. The attempt to conduct the war by congressional committee—rather than granting full military authority to the commander—had reduced the civilian leadership to this desperate state. And so, while in flight to Baltimore, Congress temporarily ceded its military authority to Washington.
In a groundbreaking resolution, the congressmen voted that “General Washington be possessed of full power to order and direct all things relative to the department, and to the operations of war,” until they reconvened a week later.8 Finally, the commander in chief had full command of his own army, if only for a brief time. With this resolution, Congress threw out the mold for a weak American commander and launched their first experiment with an empowered one. Even though they gave him only a week, Congress had basically unleashed Washington for a run around the yard. They would never get him back on that tight leash again.
Washington’s tone shifted in his writings to the states and Congress. 9 In a circular he wrote to the neighboring states about his shortage of weaponry, his tenor was less suppliant, more commanding. Previously he had pleaded for supplies, but now he insisted, “proper Steps should be immediately taken in your State to Collect all that can be purchased from private People.” He reminded the states to make sure they obtained quality equipment rather than “light trash Arms” as he had received before.10 Left to their own devices, the states had imperiled his army with deficient supplies, so Washington grew more forceful. The emboldened leader next turned to Congress.
Washington had beseeched Congress for more troops and supplies for months, and by December 20, 1776, he had had enough of begging. “I have waited with much Impatience to know the determinations of Congress on the Propositions made some time in October last for augmenting our Corps of Artillery and establishing a Corps of Engineers,” he wrote in one of his longest letters to Congress, adding that further delay would cause “greatest injury to the safety of these states.”11 These were strong words for a southern gentleman.
Washington would wait no more. Exercising his new power, he ordered that three artillery battalions be recruited, since cannon, mortars, and howitzers had been proving decisive in battle. While the Americans were mostly firing little musket balls and missing their targets more often than hitting them, the British were tearing holes in the patriot lines with artillery fire. Aim mattered little when you sent large balls of lead hurling towards your foe. Raising battalions had been Congress’s prerogative and they had bungled it, leaving the army lacking. 12 But now, Washington could take such matters into his own hands.
He even went further and started to spend Congress’s money. Without consulting the politicians, Washington promised pay raises to certain regiments. He wrote that such an unprecedented measure “may appear to Congress premature, and unwarrantable; but . . . the Execution could not be delayed till after their Meeting at Baltimore.”13 And he was not done tugging on Congress’s purse strings. Determining that he desperately needed even more cannon in particular, Washington took it upon himself to order that they be cast.14 Rather than ask Congress, he would see to it himself and inform Congress of his actions afterward.
The American commander in chief was becoming a bold one. Washington admitted, “I am going a good deal out of the line of my duty to adopt these Measures, or advise thus freely,” but said that necessity required it. “The Enemy are daily gathering strength from the disaffected [Americans who joined their cause]; this strength like a Snow ball by rolling, will Increase.”15 And so Washington seized the chance to act. He wrote to Congress, “It may be said that this is an application for powers that are too dangerous to be Intrusted. I can only add that desperate diseases require desperate Remedies; and with truth declare, that I have no lust after power . . . .”16 The commander had to assert his authority if America was going to stand a chance. So he did.
Washington even began to criticize Congress’s command structure. Its labyrinth of committees had attempted—largely ineffectually—to micromanage the war. He criticized the actions of “Committees without any kind of Controul,” and singled out the committee that oversaw prisoner exchange. Prisoners were being handled in an embarrassingly disorganized fashion; some even wandered around without any one person policing their whereabouts. And Washington blamed Congress’s setup, in which the commanding officer was “obliged to attend to the business of so many different departments as to render it impossible to conduct that of his own with the attention necessary.” Revealing his frustration, he added, “nothing can be more Injurious.”17 In contrast to his timidity in the beginning of the war, Washington was now ready to take control from Congress and work to fix such inefficiencies. It had become painfully clear that the politicians would not do so on their own.
When it came time for Congress to rescind Washington’s temporary war powers just days after they had bestowed them, the delegates reconsidered. It was at this opportune time that Washington’s officer and confidant, Nathanael Greene, made a direct appeal to Congress on his commander’s behalf.
Greene was a thoughtful and intelligent young Quaker who had become one of Washington’s most trusted officers and closest friends. He was a handsome man whose long, thin nose pointed down to a bow mouth that contrasted with the sharp angles of his rectangular face. This was fitting, since he indeed was a man of contrasts. Bucking his religion’s pacifist doctrine, Greene had taught himself military history and strategy—much to the chagrin of his fellow Quakers. But Greene, unrepentant, jumped to join the patriot cause. A likable, dependable, down-to-earth man, Greene did not always offer the best military advice, but Washington knew he could always count on Greene to be trustworthy and courageous. 18
Like many in America, and especially in the military, Greene was fed up with Congress’s inefficacy. He wrote to Washington, “There is so much deliberation and waste of time in the execution of business before this assembly, that my patience is almost exhausted.”19 He took matters into his own hands, requesting that the politicians relinquish military control to Washington. In his typical commonsense way, Greene urged, “Greater Powers must be lodged in the Hands of the General than he has ever yet exercised,” reasoning that the commander could not “be in Readiness so early as General Howe” unless the congressmen would “delegate to him full Power to take such Measures as he may find Necessary to promote the Establishment of the New Army. Time will not admit nor Circumstance allow of a reference to Congress.”20
Congress listened. The new concept of an “American commander in chief ” was an experiment, and its initial phases had failed miserably. New York had been lost along with most of the Continental Army. The American cause was on the brink of destruction. Practical men, they realized that the American commander in chief needed sweeping military control in order to protect the United States from her foes.
By late December 1776, Congress had concluded that the rule-by-committee approach did not work. They not only extended the duration of Washington’s power, but also expanded its scope:
This Congress, having maturely considered the present crisis; and having perfect reliance on the wisdom, vigour, and uprightness of General Washington, do, hereby,
Resolve, That General Washington shall be, and he is hereby, vested with full, ample, and complete powers to raise and collect together, in the most speedy and effectual manner, from any or all of these United States, 16 battalions of infantry . . . ; to appoint officers for the said battalions; to raise, officer, and equip three . . . and to establish their pay; to apply to any of the states for such aid of the militia as he shall judge necessary; to form such magazines of provisions, and in such places, as he shall think proper; to displace and appoint all officers under the rank of brigadier general, and to fill up all vacancies in every other department in the American armies; to take, wherever he may be, whatever he may want for the use of the army, if the inhabitants will not sell it, allowing a reasonable price for the same; to arrest and confine persons who refuse to take the continental currency, or are otherwise disaffected to the American cause; and return to the states of which they are citizens, their names, and the nature of their offences, together with the witnesses to prove them . . .21
While initially limited to six months, these plenary powers would be renewed again and again as the war raged on, since it was abundantly clear that the American commander needed full authority over the nation’s war machine. Washington was empowered to raise new regiments, set their pay, call for the states’ militia, take private property, arrest Loyalists, and appoint and dismiss officers.
Congress viewed control over officer rankings as a particularly dangerous power. They relinquished it grudgingly, retaining appointment authority for the highest positions—brigadier general and above. For the rest, soldiers would no longer be obliged to curry favor with the civilians in Congress for promotion. Now their military careers were dependent on pleasing their general. This was especially alarming to Congress since many soldiers scorned Congress’s inefficacy and would no longer need to feign loyalty to them. Their general already held the troops’ admiration and now he also controlled their careers and future. His power over his soldiers was complete, and some feared he could use this power to destroy the republic.
For all intents and purposes, Washington was able to make whatever military decisions were necessary to fight the war. To reinforce this sweeping authority, Congress sent a circular letter to the states explaining why General Washington’s powers had been expanded and asking them to “give him all the aid in their power.”22 Many believed that those expanded powers “constituted him in all respects a military Dictator.”23 In fact, Washington’s new mandate was seen as so sweeping that one enemy leader, in a speech at the British House of Commons, claimed that the Continental Congress had made Washington the “dictator of America.”24
Originally derived from the Latin “dictare,” which meant “to prescribe” or “to command,” the term “dictator” was rooted in ancient Rome. And dictatorship was not always seen as negative.
Many of the American leaders were well versed in the classics and, unsurprisingly, looked to history as they experimented with the new American republic. Prior to the establishment of the Roman emperors, beginning with Augustus in the first century B.C., Rome had been a republic for nearly five centuries. Although the aristocratic class dominated this ancient republic, free Roman men at least had the opportunity to vote for their leaders. In turn, these leaders followed a largely unwritten, complex constitution based on separation of powers, with checks and balances, among three branches of government. In times of emergency, however, they dissolved their republican government and replaced it with a dictatorship. Their dictator held virtually absolute power over the state, albeit for just six months, after which his powers would lapse and the republic would be reinstated.25 During his tenure as dictator, he could do just about anything necessary to save the nation from military defeat.26
With the present crisis upon them, the American congressmen recalled the saga of Lucius Quinctius Cincinnatus. A humble farmer who lived in the Italian countryside during the early Roman Republic, in the fifth century B.C., Cincinnatus famously served his country during a time of military crisis. A mountain people known as the Aequians had attacked, and the Romans were on the verge of defeat. The Roman senate was thrown into a panic by the thought of enemy hordes soon descending upon Rome. In this desperate situation, they suspended their republic and granted Cincinnatus dictatorial powers for six months. He used that time to defeat the Aequians and save Rome. Afterward, the people sought to crown Cincinnatus king. Instead, the great hero relinquished his dictatorial powers and simply returned to his farm. For his selfless devotion to his people, he was hailed as a paragon of simplicity and virtue. Washington would forever be compared to him.
Washington was really a new type of dictator. Unlike the Romans, Congress did not dissolve the republic and transfer the sovereign power of the nation from the people to Washington. His powers were vast, but they were largely confined to military matters. The supreme authority of the nation remained with the people, while the American commander had full military power to defend them. While perhaps seemingly subtle in the practical sense, this was an important philosophical distinction to the Americans.
In defending Congress’s grant of authority to Washington, John Adams argued that “Congress never thought of making him [a true] dictator or of giving him a sovereignty.”27 The United States was not suspending civilian rule. Americans retained their rights, and their commander was still subject to Congress in civilian matters. But by making Washington a military dictator, Congress established the precedent of a strong commander in chief who possessed broad military authority to defend the United States without congressional meddling during wartime.
Washington instantly understood the ramifications of his new authority. The country’s experimentation with the concept of “American commander in chief ” had just reached a turning point. In his response to Congress, Washington wrote,
they have done me the honor to intrust me with powers, in my Military Capacity, of the highest nature and almost unlimited in extent. Instead of thinking myself free’d from all civil Obligations, by this mark of their Confidence, I shall constantly bear in mind, that as the Sword was the last Resort for the preservation of our Liberties, so it ought to be the first thing laid aside, when those Liberties are firmly established.28
He was assuring Congress that a strong commander could nevertheless be a republican one. Washington was very aware of Congress’s fears about military rule. He was eager to show them otherwise. He would prove that the American commander could be a powerful one who used his military authority to defend liberty rather than destroy it.
Washington promptly put his military supremacy to good use: the newly empowered commander made a daring bid to turn the tide of battle.
18
Victory or Death
Everyone expected Washington to use the winter of 1776–1777 to gather his army’s strength. The British assumed he had no other choice. One British commander wrote, “The fact is their army is broken all to pieces and the spirit of their leaders and abettors is all broken.”1 But Washington’s spirit would never be broken.
He did not have time to waste the winter rebuilding. With morale so low and pay so absent, Washington’s soldiers were unlikely to reenlist when their terms expired on December 31. The commander faced the very real possibility of his army evaporating. As he met with a member of Congress, he “appeared much depressed, and lamented the ragged and dissolving state of his army in affecting terms.” While the congressman “gave him assurance of the disposition of Congress to support him,” Washington knew he could expect little help. Only half paying attention to the congressman, he continued “to play with his pen and ink upon several small pieces of paper.” Almost like a madman, he was writing over and over: “Victory or Death.”2 This would be the secret code for his stunning surprise attack.
Washington took a risk. He reasoned, “as nothing but necessity obliged me to retire before the Enemy . . . I conceive it to be my duty, and it corrisponds with my Inclination, to make against them so soon as there shall be the least probability of doing it with propriety.”3 In his usual style, Washington concocted an overly complicated plan to attack the Hessians in Trenton, New Jersey. This time, however, his elaborate scheme actually succeeded.
The newly empowered commander was a cunning one. Washington had been defeated time and time again when he attempted to rely on brute force. This time, he would launch a daring surprise attack, as he had done long ago in the Jumonville massacre. Even if it risked what was left of his fading force, he did not hesitate to try now that Congress was in disarray and he was in full control of his army.
The Hessians in Trenton underestimated the American fighting spirit. They believed that Washington’s beaten-down force was “almost naked, dying of cold, without blankets, and very ill supplied with provisions.” And they were correct on all counts—the Americans were indeed “dying and cold.”4 But as the German mercenaries nested comfortably for the winter in the warm homes, inns, and shops of Trenton, they misjudged Washington’s daring. Little did they know, he was poised for a yuletide attack.
On Christmas Day, Washington and his men faced another nor’easter. The same type of nasty storm that had enabled his escape from Brooklyn that summer now pelted his face with sleet. One of the worst storms in years, “it rained, hailed, snowed, and froze, and at the same time blew a perfect hurricane . . . .”5 But much like before, this nor’easter also masked Washington’s movements from his adversaries. He quickly organized a small flotilla of barges and packed them with his troops. Under the cover of wintry darkness, he and his makeshift fleet nervously rowed through the jagged chunks of ice on the Delaware River. The men stood together shaking—due to cold and fear—as they carefully navigated the treacherous currents.6
Then Washington ordered his men to march through the night, dead set on reaching the Hessians before the first light. But in the 28-degree weather with violent winds, the exhausted troops slowed to a crawl. The men “were nearly half dead from cold for the want of clothing,” and many of them “had not a shoe to their feet and their clothes were ragged as those of a beggar.” Washington rode alongside them, his squared nose flaming red in the wind,7 and warned in his deep, breathy voice, “Keep up with your officers.” If they stopped, they would likely freeze to death, as two of them did.8 But Washington was not just looking out for them. He was running out of time. They were late and each additional ray of sun that shone on the horizon further derailed his plan.
The Americans finally arrived at Trenton in the early morning of December 26, 1776, hours behind schedule. Although they had lost the cover of darkness, they had acquired a camouflage of snow that literally covered them. And luckily, the German guards had skipped their patrols. While popular narrative blamed this lapse on hangovers from their Christmas binge, it was more likely that they were in fighting form but merely “unwilling to emerge into the teeth of a bad snowstorm.”9 Trenton’s snowy streets were largely deserted—despite his troops’ tardiness, Washington had not lost the element of surprise after all.
In the light of morning, however, he realized that only a fraction of his men were in position. Just one section of his multipronged assault plan had made it across the river and to Trenton by then. So Washington took another risk. Like a desperate gambler, he went for broke and decided to attack the force of one thousand Hessians anyway.
At just after eight in the morning, he launched the assault. Upon his order, the American cannon and muskets sprayed the little town with lead, catching the Germans by surprise. The soundly sleeping Hessian commander needed to be summoned three times before he put on his clothes and ran out into the storm. The bewildered Hessians grabbed their muskets and attempted to resist, but with the howling winds and horrendous visibility they were unsure of which direction to fire! Adding to the chaos, the civilian townsfolk ran screaming in terror through the once-quaint town’s icy roads, making it even more difficult for the Hessians to hear their officers’ commands.10
In the confused hour-long fight, many of the Americans’ frozen guns malfunctioned. But the patriots were undaunted. They resorted to running towards their enemies brandishing their swords and yelling at the top of their lungs—and it worked.11 The Hessians “ran like frightened devils” or surrendered in droves. 12 As the Hessians laid down their guns, the weapons were covered in snow. Not realizing that their enemies had capitulated, the Americans almost shot them. But right before the massacre, a few of the Americans’ young eyes drew close enough to notice that they were unarmed.13 When the Hessians surrendered, Washington secured a treasure trove of prisoners and munitions. The Americans killed or wounded one hundred Hessians and captured over nine hundred, while suffering amazingly few casualties themselves.
Patriots everywhere were overjoyed. Washington proclaimed, “it is a glorious day for our country,”14 as news of the victory spread quickly and soon filled the newspapers throughout the states.15 Reports circulated that “Congress untied the General, and then he instantly fought and conquered at Trenton.”16 Capitalizing on the boost in morale, Washington tried to persuade his men to continue fighting after their commissions expired on the 31st. While he had once disdained the crude manners and antihierarchical tendencies of the northern soldiers, he had grown to respect them deeply. And so, the regal Washington humbled himself before these farmers and craftsmen who filled his ranks, pleading with them as brothers in arms.17
As they stood in a line on the frozen battleground listening to their commander, the soldiers were moved by his call. Despite their appreciation for their general, however, many were eager to escape the horrendous winter conditions and return home. When he asked those reenlisting to step forward, his men hesitated. So Washington then sweetened the pot. Reaching beyond his traditional powers, he promised his men a 67 percent pay raise over the next month should they remain.18 He informed Congress after the fact, adding, “I thought it no time to stand upon trifles.”19
Washington’s patriotic and monetary appeal saved the army. Many of the soldiers reenlisted. In a letter explaining to his fiancée why he could not yet return to her, one soldier summed up the growing sentiment among the troops: “I cannot desert a man (and it would certainly be deserting in a court of honor) who has deserted everything to defend his country.”20 Plus, he would enjoy the pay raise.
From their Baltimore hideout, Congress expressed the “highest satisfaction” with this victory and hoped that it would “prove the fore runner of future success.” They praised their (now dictatorial) commander, writing, “it is entirely to your wisdom and conduct the United States are indebted for the late success of their arms.” Reaffirming their faith in him, they added, “May you still proceed in the same manner to acquire that glory, which, by your disinterested and magnanimous behaviour, you so highly merit.”21 As Washington continued to flex his military muscles, his behavior was not always seen as so magnanimous, however.
But now, he needed to contend with the British backlash. When General Howe received word of the defeat at Trenton, he was furious. No longer willing to wait until spring to crush Washington, he ordered thousands of new troops into New Jersey. And he knew just the man to lead the mission: the decorated general Lord Cornwallis.
At the time, Cornwallis was about to walk the gangplank to sail back to England for a visit with his sick wife, Jemima. But to his dismay, his winter leave was abruptly canceled and he was instead sent to “bag the fox” in New Jersey. Of noble blood, Cornwallis was a highly educated and skilled military leader. Like Howe, he sympathized with the Americans. In fact, Cornwallis was one of the few members of the British House of Lords who called for Britain to stop taxing the colonies before the war. When the war arrived, however, he was ready to defend Britain’s interests ruthlessly against the rebels. He had helped to crush the Americans in the Battle of New York and was now ready to finish off Washington’s army.
Having just celebrated his thirty-ninth birthday, Cornwallis was a short, well-fed gentleman, whose round, dour face and drooping eyes masked a cunning intellect. He was known as an affable man, but not above occasional fits of rage. Respected by his countrymen for his military service in the Seven Years’ War, he was feared by the American side as a tremendously shrewd “madman.”22 Cornwallis displayed a particularly aggressive countenance that winter, having been kept away from his adored wife.
Gathering additional forces along the way, Cornwallis swept through the cold, slushy roads of New Jersey towards Trenton. He was prepared to destroy Washington’s force of approximately 5,000 exhausted men with his 8,000 well-trained and well-fed troops. But the foxy Washington still had some more tricks up his painstakingly tailored sleeve.
Slowed by the muddy roads, Cornwallis’s main force did not arrive at the outskirts of Trenton until January 2, 1777. Washington knew he could not stop a prolonged assault, but because night battles were treacherous and therefore rare at the time, he needed only to hold back Cornwallis’s superior force until darkness fell.
As soon as the mass of redcoats was spotted five miles outside the town at ten o’clock in the morning, Washington unleashed a small team of sharpshooting riflemen to harass them. Firing unexpectedly from behind trees and walls, the Americans slowed down Cornwallis’s troops for five precious hours with their guerilla tactics. But the British forces were unstoppable. For Washington, the early January sunset could not come soon enough.
Cornwallis arrived in Trenton late that afternoon. Washington urgently sought a defensible position and came upon a scenic stone bridge over a creek. While the Assunpink Creek would normally be too shallow to provide a defense, it was now swollen from the storm, making it treacherous to ford. Besides, Washington did not have time to be too picky. Dusk settled in, and Washington’s forces stood nervously in position along the raging creek. As the drumbeats of the red hordes neared, they braced for the attack.
Amid the ensuing battle, Washington was like a one-man fortress. Sitting stoically on his horse on the American-held side of the bridge, he was a symbol of American resolve. When one soldier accidentally bumped into his commander during the battle, he was astonished to find that “the horse stood as firm as the rider and seemed to understand that he was not to quit his post and station.”23 Unlike his defeat in New York, Washington would see to it that his men did not retreat this time. He would personally make sure they stood and fought. And as usual, he led by example.
Washington’s “firm, composed, and majestic countenance . . . inspired confidence and assurance.”24 Amazingly, the Americans held their ground. The patriots fired mercilessly across the creek with their guns and eighteen artillery pieces as Cornwallis sent his men in suicidal droves towards the bridge.25 Between the descending darkness and the choking smoke, the British found themselves charging blindly into unfamiliar terrain.26 The darkness was pierced only by terrifying flashes of fire from muskets and cannon. The Americans drove back three attacks.
When the formerly picturesque bridge ran red with the “killed and wounded and red coats,” Cornwallis decided to wait for morning to try again.27 He knew he could readily overwhelm Washington’s beleaguered troops then. With the dawn’s light, his men would be able to see their targets and also wade through the waist-deep creek as it calmed. And so Cornwallis told his officers, “We’ve got the old fox safe now. We’ll go over and bag him in the morning.”28
But the fox was not about to wait around for that. Wary of being encircled by Cornwallis’s larger force, Washington had no intention of lingering to see what happened in the morning. Instead, he only waited until midnight’s darkness again came to his aid. Then he began another daring maneuver, using the same trick he had employed in his stealthy escape from Brooklyn. He left some men behind to tend fires and make noise, thus deceiving Cornwallis into believing the whole army remained just across the bridge, while the bulk of the force slipped away into the night.
Washington did not want just another retreat, however. He lusted for further victory. Emboldened by his new commander-in-chief powers, he was eager to use them to turn the tide. He could take quick, decisive action without getting approval from Congress. So instead of retreating again to safety across the Delaware River, he chose to drive deeper into enemy-held New Jersey.
Drawing upon his spy network, Washington obtained detailed maps of the region. From these, he learned of largely unknown backwoods roads that had recently been cut through the pine forests. His goal was to use these secret paths to slip past Cornwallis’s main force towards an unsuspecting British rearguard of just one thousand men. As he had done in Trenton, he wanted to conduct a surprise attack on an isolated inferior force; but first he had to get to them.
Washington ordered his exhausted men to march for twelve miles that night against the stinging winter winds.29 It was now January 3, and they had been running on adrenaline since their all-night march and their victory in Trenton a little over a week earlier. While their jubilance had buoyed them, the wear was starting to show.
The cold had returned, freezing the muddy roads and the Americans along with them. With starlight as a guide, they marched in utter silence, huddling together and struggling to survive in their scant clothing. Hungry and fatigued, many fell asleep standing up when their column stopped. 30 Some perished along the way, falling into icy ponds or simply collapsing on the road. Like marching zombies, the Americans had become so accustomed to hardship that they were seemingly numbed to the misery.
As daylight arrived, Washington and his men were approaching the sprawling farms and orchards of Princeton. The morning was “bright, serene, and extremely cold, with a hoarfrost that bespangled every object.”31 But the wearied Americans had little time to enjoy the sparkling scenery. Washington’s plan had worked beautifully: they stunned the enemy yet again. But the British quickly spotted the ragged Americans and fired on them. The battle was on.
“Parade with us, my brave fellows!” Washington shouted as he led the charge. With his hat in hand, he rode ahead on his horse, yelling “There is but a handful of the enemy, and we will have them directly.”32
His men were awe-struck by their commander. One admiring soldier marveled at seeing him “brave all the dangers of the field and his important life hanging as it were by a single hair with a thousand deaths flying around him. Believe me, I thought not of myself.”33 The Americans charged!
But the attack almost led to disaster. Perhaps too brave, Washington was caught directly in the crossfire as he led the charge. The British and the Americans were a mere thirty yards apart, and Washington in between, when both lines unleashed a barrage of bullets. An American officer, assuming that Washington had to have been hit, covered his eyes with his hat. But, miraculously, Washington appeared to be bulletproof. Again.
According to one popular tale, back during the Seven Years’ War, Washington’s Native American foes attempted to kill him in a particularly bloody battle. Their sharpshooters fired shot after shot right at him, with no effect. They were shocked. A brave recalled, “I had seventeen clear shots at him . . . and after all could not bring him to the ground. This man was not born to be killed by a bullet.” The chief ordered that they stop firing and declared, “This one is under the special protection of the Great Spirit.” Washington too chalked up his survival to a higher power, writing to his younger brother, “I now exist and appear in the land of the living by the miraculous care of Providence, that protected me beyond all human expectation; I had 4 Bullets through my Coat, and two Horses shot under me, and yet escaped unhurt.”34 He survived similar close calls in Brooklyn and during his retreat from Manhattan. And now during this battle at Princeton, he was again miraculously unscathed.
When the “most horrible music” of musketry subsided, Washington’s baritone voice emerged, ordering his men to continue their charge.35 His dashing figure pierced through the smoke like a supernatural force. Reveling in the battle, the commander shouted, “It’s a fine fox chase boys!”36
He inspired the selflessness the Americans needed to overcome their fears. Despite being outnumbered approximately five to one, the British resisted fiercely, but it was of no use. The Americans overwhelmed their foes, and, in doing so, achieved another stunning victory. The patriots had exacted more than 500 enemy casualties and captured over 200 prisoners while losing just a few dozen men. 37 Washington had turned the psychological tide of the war.
When Cornwallis received word of the rout, he raced towards Princeton with his force “in a most infernal sweat, running, puffing and lowing and swearing at being so outwitted.”38 But he arrived an hour too late. Washington had already evacuated to the north, deeper into New Jersey. The patriots briskly marched another fifteen miles before collapsing in exhaustion.39 After some searching, Washington decided to hunker down for the winter in Morristown, New Jersey, for some much-needed rest. Just twenty-five miles from Howe’s stronghold in New York City, Morristown afforded the Continental Army protection by its surrounding hills as well as food from its ample farmland.
19
Idolatry
News of the American victories spread rapidly around the globe. Frederick the Great, the king of Prussia, described Washington’s back-to-back triumphs as “the most brilliant of any recorded in the annals of military accomplishments.”1 This was extremely high praise from a man of such great military acclaim—and the praise was justified. For the first time, it appeared to America and the world that the ragtag American forces might actually be able to humble the British Empire.
For his part, General Howe saw his recent defeats as little more than embarrassing skirmishes, but he did not care to suffer any more of them. He decided to abandon New Jersey for the winter. As usual, he was in no hurry. Happily partying with Mrs. Loring in New York, he assumed he would simply finish off Washington in the spring.
The Americans’ empowered commander had retaken most of New Jersey. And with it, Washington’s reputation reached new heights. “Had he lived in the days of idolatry,” the Pennsylvania Journal remarked, Washington would have been “worshipped as a god.”2 With his strong popular backing, the commander gained even more authority.
Previously, the war council appointed by Congress had shot down Washington’s ideas time and again, contributing to the disastrous delay in escaping Manhattan. Now Congress informed Washington that he was “not bound by their opinion, but ought finally to direct every measure according to his own judgment.”3 Washington had grown accustomed to the frank debate in the war council meetings, and he would continue to hold these meetings, but now he felt free to reject the council’s conclusions. And he would.4 He had the power to lead his troops as he saw fit.
At this stage, Washington was less concerned about public opinion than he was about protecting his frazzled and fatigued army. In order to do so, he would have to assert his authority more forcefully vis-à-vis the politicians. For one thing, he began to criticize the congressmen more openly. In one letter, he vented his frustration over Congress’s “superficial view of the [war] and circumstances of things in general and their Own Troops in particular.” According to Washington, Congress was “not sufficiently acquainted with the state and strength of the army.”5
When he obtained reports that Congress had ordered up troops without informing him, he wrote, “I heartily wish Congress would inform me of the dispositions they make of the troops. Their not doing it, disconcerts my arrangements and involves me in difficulties.”6 Washington had grown impatient with Congress’s military incompetency and did not want them attempting to lead troops behind his back. The American army could no longer function as a many-headed beast; it needed to be united under Washington’s decisive command. Congress largely agreed and acknowledged that their commander was better equipped to make the military decisions.
In another letter, Washington blasted congressmen for leaking reports to the public. To Washington, proper public disclosure was imperative, and he ran his army accordingly. He had little patience with blabbing congressmen. He blasted Congress as “impolitic” and behaving “injuriously to the common cause.” He called it “still more impolitic . . . for individual members to detail matters to the public without Stamping them with the authority of their body.”7 He was now the master of the war effort, and Congress was hampering it. Washington wanted Congress to “shape up” and he let them know it.
Throwing his weight around, Washington bluntly told Congress, “we can no longer drudge on in the old way.”8 He was frustrated that Congress had granted him the power to fight but he still lacked the resources to do so. He faulted Congress for “ill-timing the adoption of measures,” explaining, “by delay in the execution of them, or by unwarranted jealousies, we incur enormous expenses and derive not benefit from them.”9 The young nation’s scarce resources were precious and Washington, who had honed his penny-pinching skill as he shrewdly built up Mount Vernon in Virginia, had some ardent opinions on the matter. He urged Congress to assert its political authority in relation to the states so that he might better obtain the means to pay, feed, clothe, and arm his troops. This was a far cry from the servile Washington who had edited his letters to make them sound more deferential early in the war.
Like earlier in the war, Washington’s actions reinforced his words. But now, he began standing up to Congress rather than obligingly following its militarily imprudent commands. For example, when some congressmen called for another foolhardy attempt to invade Canada, he objected. “I am always happy to concur in sentiment with Congress,” he wrote, “and I view the emancipation of Canada as an Object very interesting to the future prosperity and tranquility of these States; but I am sorry to say, the plan proposed for the purpose does not appear to me to be eligible.”10 Ethan Allen’s invasion of Canada and subsequent attempts had been disasters, and Washington did not want to repeat them. While many in Congress likewise saw an invasion of Canada as impractical, other members continued to press the matter. When the issue came up again a month later, Washington repeated his opposition and declined to proceed with the invasion.11 He was now the master of war tactics, not Congress, since he was far better versed in military strategy and more familiar with the strength of his own forces. Barely keeping his army together, he knew that an offensive against Canada would be a ludicrous military decision.
The commander risked exceeding the limits of his vast military authority by objecting to the invasion on political grounds as well. He reasoned that ousting the British from Quebec would leave the country vulnerable to a French attack down the road. 12 While the Americans were courting the French as allies, Washington still did not trust his old adversaries. Luckily for the American cause, Congress acquiesced to their commander’s opposition and abandoned the invasion.
Washington had grown bold. In one episode he may have gone too far. He asserted too much authority, and some politicians began to question their benevolent military dictator.
In an effort to turn more of the patriots’ American brothers against them, General Howe offered amnesty to defectors. He proposed that any American who swore allegiance to the Crown would be pardoned. This was a very appealing proposition for many Americans—especially since it appeared that the British were winning. The patriotic exuberance that characterized the beginning of the war had faded. And now many Americans saw Howe’s offer as a great opportunity to return to their homes and farms in peace, and to escape punishment for their transgressions against the mother country. If Washington was going to lose anyway, they might as well save themselves.
This was a tremendous predicament for Washington, as Howe’s amnesty proposal threatened to spur mass defection from the American cause. Washington wrote with alarm that many Americans were being “Influenced By Inimical Motives, [and] Intimidated By The Threats Of The Enemy.”13 Many were beginning to swear allegiance back to the Crown. Washington already faced Loyalist Americans who were working against him, but now Howe’s plot threatened to turn the moderates and even some patriots against him as well—or at least keep them from fighting on his side.
Washington no longer knew whom he could count on to fight for him, and thus he drew the proverbial line in the sand.
Washington declared that “it had become necessary to distinguish between the friends of America and those of Great-Britain.” So he ordered an oath of his own. In early 1777, to pressure his countrymen to “stand ready to defend the [nation] against every hostile invasion,” Washington presented an ultimatum:
. . . I do therefore, in behalf of the United States, by virtue of the powers committed to me by Congress, hereby strictly command and require every person having subscribed such declaration, taken such oath, and accepted such protection and certificates from Lord and General Howe, or any person acting under their authority, forthwith to repair to Head-Quarters, or to the quarters of the nearest general officer of the Continental Army or Militia (until farther provision can be made by the civil authority) and there deliver up such protections, certificates, and passports, and take the oath of allegiance to the United States of America.14
This was an uncharacteristically draconian order. But if Howe’s oath was persuading moderate Americans to abandon the patriot cause, Washington would take drastic measures to reverse that trend. He required this “counter-oath” from his countrymen if they wanted to remain in their homes. If they had pledged their allegiance to Britain and now refused to pledge to the United States, then they’d better run. Washington was “hereby granting full liberty to all such as prefer the interest and protection of Great-Britain to the freedom and happiness of their country, forthwith to withdraw themselves and families within the enemy’s lines.” Adding a thinly veiled threat, Washington concluded, “And I do hereby declare that all and every person, who may neglect or refuse to comply with this order, within thirty days from the date hereof, will be deemed adherents to the King of Great-Britain, and treated as common enemies of the American States.”15
Washington’s order elicited a firestorm of criticism. It was condemned as undemocratic and possibly a sign that Americans had invested their commander with too much power. While many states adopted comparable measures, some Americans saw it as a power too dangerous to entrust to any military leader, however beloved. It was one thing for Washington to command his own troops or punish the enemy, but it was another when he started to order American civilians around. Many of those civilians declared that their empowered commander had grown insensitive to personal liberties and was morphing from a military dictator into an absolute one. One congressman believed that Washington had “assumed the Legislative and Executive powers of Government in all the states.”16
A proud republican who deeply believed in the ideals of his budding country, Washington did not intend to use his broad military powers to trample the civilian leadership’s nonmilitary laws. John Adams defended America’s commander, stating that “General Washington’s proclamation . . . does not interfere with the laws of Civil Government of any State; but considering the Army was prudent and necessary.”17 Washington felt wounded by assertions otherwise, and he never actually enforced the order. However, he never recanted it either.18 As the master of the military, he was not one to back down.
In stark contrast to his defense of New York City, Washington next informed Congress that he did not intend to protect their capital city at all costs. 19 Political pressure had compelled him to take, and linger in, indefensible positions in New York; he would not repeat that mistake in Philadelphia. After Washington drove back the enemy forces at Trenton and Princeton, Congress had returned from Baltimore in March 1777. But Washington did not make them feel particularly welcome.
Even though Philadelphia was the political heart of the nation and the politicians expected him to defend it with the full might of the Continental Army, Washington declined. He knew he could not risk his fragile army against another major British naval and land assault. His main focus was to defend his army, even if it meant ceding cities to the British war machine. Thus, he needed the flexibility of a quick retreat, and so he sent Nathanael Greene to inform Congress of his new defensive strategy.
Greene reported back to Washington, “I explained to the House your Excellency’s Ideas of the next Campaign [and] it appear’d new to them. ”20 Put less delicately, Congress was shocked. They had expected their commander to defend their capital to the bitter end.21
Many of the remaining patriots fled Philadelphia. John Adams colorfully described the largely abandoned city to his wife: “This City is a dull place, in comparison of what it was. More than half the Inhabitants removed into the country as it was their Wisdom to do—the remainder are chiefly Quakers as dull as Beetles.”22 Whatever his dislike for the current populace, however, Adams and other congressmen had not expected Washington to run from any threat to their seat of government. But Washington had adopted a “Fabian Strategy.”23
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Dictator Perpetuo
Washington, the “American Cincinnatus,” again borrowed from the wisdom of the Roman Republic. His new defensive strategy was based on that of Quintus Fabius Maximus, the fabled Roman general who successfully wore down the stronger Carthaginian forces during the First Punic War, in the third century B.C. Like the army of Fabius Maximus, Washington’s forces were relatively weak, so rather than risk his army in the all-out defense of Philadelphia or any other location, he would wear down the British by engaging them in smaller battles much as Fabius had done. Washington’s main goal was to preserve his troops, even if that meant ceding land.
Howe indeed had his sights set on Philadelphia, just as Congress feared. Having failed to break the Americans’ will, he was growing less sure of his ability to suppress the rebellion. In December 1776 he had been confident of a speedy end to the war, but by April the next year he concluded, “my hopes of terminating the war this year are vanquished.”1 By retaking much of New Jersey, Washington had thwarted Howe’s plan to conquer the states one by one. In doing so, he made it very clear to Howe that the patriotic fervor was surprisingly durable; thus, Howe decided to strike at its heart. He saw the conquest of their political capital and largest city as a way to break the Americans’ unsinkable spirit. And so the indecisive Howe finally resolved to attack the American political leadership in Philadelphia.
Howe sailed with his armada of a staggering 228 ships from New York, around Washington’s army in New Jersey, and landed near the not-so-bustling capital city. No longer dealing with a subservient commander who obediently followed Congress’s commands, John Adams now wondered, “Will W. attack him? I hope so . . . .”2
While he knew he could not risk his army in a “winner takes all” battle, Washington did resist before ceding Philadelphia to Howe. “Public and Congressional opinion clamored for its defense,” and Washington so obliged.3 He was a deferential dictator, after all. Plus, to avoid battle completely would be disadvantageous, since it would surely breed discontent among his troops and potential recruits.4 As he showed repeatedly, Washington was as idealistic as he was practical.
The commander also had a theatrical side, which he displayed by leading his troops on a choreographed public relations parade through Philadelphia. The townspeople arose at seven o’clock one rainy August morning in 1777 to the sounds of fife and drum, and saw droves of American soldiers marching through their streets. Washington rode his horse in grand ceremonial style, followed by thousands of soldiers. In fact, they had been threatened with thirty-nine lashes should they abandon the parade, so they marched obediently before the admiring crowds who leaned out of Philadelphia’s windows and waved from the rooftops.5 Washington warned the soldiers to follow the drumbeat “without dancing along or totally disregarding the music.”6 Despite their “motley assortment of dress and occasional undress,” the troops “offered an amazing display.”7 Washington sought to exhibit a powerful, trained army that would intimidate the city’s Loyalists and inspire men to join the cause.8
Due to troop reorganization as well as the surging “patriotism” that not-so-magically accompanied the warmer weather each year, Washington’s force had swelled to approximately 11,000 men. But he was still at a great disadvantage. With much of his ill-equipped force composed of unruly militiamen, Washington faced 13,000 well-fed professional soldiers under Howe’s command. Therefore, he resorted to his Fabian hit-and-run campaign, to Congress’s dismay.
Washington confronted Howe at Brandywine Creek on September 11, 1777. In a hard-fought battle, Howe and Cornwallis outgeneraled Washington. Suffering a disastrous 1,000 casualties versus Howe’s 500, the Americans were forced to retreat. But Washington’s focus was to protect his army, not Congress’s capital.
Eager for another victory like those at Trenton and Princeton, Washington attacked Howe yet again at Germantown on October 4, 1777. His overly complicated assault did not go well, however. One early historian vividly captured the scene:
the air grew darker as the smoke of the guns, and the still denser smoke of stubble and hay, which the enemy had set fire to, to increase the confusion, mingled with the fog; all hanging over the battle-field in sulphurous folds, which there was no wind to blow aside. And from it came shouts and huzzas, and shrieks and groans, and reverberations of cannon, and the crackling of musketry; and under it the fierce work still went on, the deadly thrust and clash of bayonet, the deadly struggle hand to hand, eyes glaring mortal hate into eyes they had never seen before, and foot sternly pressed on palpitating limbs and bespattering human blood. Look well to it, King George! think well of it under the gilded canopy of your royal closet!9
Rather than risk the rest of his men in further attempts at defending Philadelphia, Washington fled with his battered army twenty miles back to Valley Forge for the winter. He had allowed the British to take the capital.
Howe was delighted with his new prize. He, Mrs. Loring, and his troops eagerly set up camp for the winter in the elegant homes that had been abandoned by the fleeing patriots. Just as he did in New York, he would enjoy the city’s pleasures with parties and rum. But foremost, he was happy in knowing that he had dealt a psychological blow to the patriots.
Many Americans were indeed gravely disheartened by the loss. Cuttingly, Adams criticized Washington’s “injudicious Maneuvre” and denounced “timorous, defensive [action], which has involved us in so many Disasters.”10 But Washington was unrepentant. He reasoned that “while we have an Army in the field,” Britain’s conquest of the cities “will avail them little. It involves us in difficulty, but does not, by any means, insure them conquest. They will know, that it is our Arms, not defenceless Towns, they have to Subdue, before they can arrive at the haven of their Wishes.”11
While Congress realized that empowering the American commander was necessary to wage war effectively, many remained nervous. Some of the politicians believed that Washington’s “influence was already too great; that even his virtues afforded motives for alarm; that the enthusiasm of the army, joined to the kind of dictatorship already confided to him, put Congress and the United States at his mercy.”12
Some feared that Washington would act less like Cincinnatus than like Julius Caesar, who became dictator perpetuo, or “dictator in perpetuity,” after gaining control of Rome in the first century B.C. Even Adams, who had nominated Washington for the post and defended him, feared that the “Idolatry and Adulation” for Washington might grow “so excessive as to endanger our liberties” and pave the way for monarchy. In fact, Adams went as far as to applaud Washington’s dearth of great victories because it meant the nation could “allow a certain citizen to be wise, virtuous and good without thinking him a deity or a savior.”13
Regardless of their fear, Congress had little choice—a weak American commander would spell defeat. Washington needed to be powerful to fight the return of the British monarchy and so Congress reaffirmed his authority again and again. The states followed suit.
The New York legislature wrote to Congress concerning the fact that they had “invested a military officer with dictatorial powers.”14 Such a declaration would have stirred outrage at the start of the war, but now the Americans were more comfortable with it. New York was acknowledging Washington’s authority rather than criticizing it, and added, “no objection has, that we know of, been made by any State to [this] measure. Hence we venture to conclude, that other States are in sentiment with this.”15 Thus far, Washington had demonstrated that the experimental republican commander could wield expansive military power without undermining civilian rule. And he would continue to do so.
Although he had certainly become more forceful, Washington remained largely respectful of Congress and the other civil authorities. The American commander was a powerful one, but still a republican one. Although he had extensive powers, he need not always use them.
When the army’s chief surgeon recommended establishing military hospitals, Washington responded, “altho’ the Congress have vested me with full powers . . . and I dare say would ratify whatever appointments and Salaries I should fix; yet I do not think myself at liberty to establish Hospitals, upon such extensive plans and at so great an expense, without their concurrence.”16 Washington was being careful not to extend his powers further into matters that were arguably tangential to warfare. He believed that the politicians retained authority over the nation’s purse and was therefore deferential when it came to pecuniary concerns.
Although he had previously promised the soldiers pay raises and had ordered cannon, he generally did not feel that he should spend the states’ and Congress’s money without their approval. “Money matters are not within the Line of my duty,” he wrote, even when they were “intimately connected with all Military Operations.”17 Intent on protecting the republic, this dictator purposefully confined his powers to the military.
Even regarding issues explicitly delegated to him, Washington still acted respectfully. One such issue was AWOL soldiers. Suffering defeat after defeat, Washington faced mass desertion as his exhausted, starving troops grew eager to return to their homes. When a large number of soldiers fled to eastern Pennsylvania, he refused to impose martial law and directly punish them. Congress had granted him power to try deserters, but he did not want to get into the business of hunting down Americans in their own towns. 18 Instead, he left the matter to the civil authorities, whether those authorities were fully functioning or not.
He deferred to local government even if it was “extremely weak” and chaotic, saying, “I am not fully satisfied of the legality of trying an inhabitant of any State by Military Law, when the Civil authority of that State has made provision for the punishment of persons taking Arms with the Enemy.”19 As will be addressed further in Parts IV and V, Washington’s powers over enemies and military tactics were plenary, but he did not see the American commander in chief—even the empowered one that developed over the course of the war—as having authority over American citizens.
Washington also continued to convey his demands with respect for the civil authorities. For example, when he was empowered to call forth militiamen directly from the states, he did so delicately. Demanding soldiers from the states was a worrisome power, and at the beginning of the war it would likely have been perceived as an appalling encroachment on state sovereignty. Now, the states had become more obliging, but Washington was nevertheless sensitive to their concerns. “I would not wish to distress the States, but when there is an absolute necessity,” he wrote almost apologetically; “but from the present poor prospect of an early reinforcement to the Continental Army, I fear I shall be obliged to make the demand. If I do, I am confident that your State, notwithstanding their former exertions will contribute their quota.”20
After Washington’s initial six-month “dictator” term expired, Congress reaffirmed his extensive powers repeatedly throughout the war.21 For example, when Congress contemplated perilous battles in the southern and mid-Atlantic states, they made it clear that they expected their commander to wield great authority and trusted him to do what was best to defend the nation. Specifically, Congress resolved that Washington “consider himself at liberty so to direct the military operations of these states as shall appear to him most expedient.”22 This was indeed a recurring theme.
Confident in their decision to make the American commander into a powerful one, Congress granted Washington additional powers as the war progressed. For example, while Washington had already taken the lead in dealing with captured enemy combatants, Congress explicitly gave him the power to negotiate the exchange of prisoners. Congress also removed a restriction that confined his fighting to the United States theater.23 Washington was finally the master of his troops in conducting an international war.
Whether fighting in the United States or in a foreign nation, the commander in chief had the ultimate say over war tactics. The president of Congress explained to Washington:
Congress confide fully in your Excellency’s Prudence and Abilities; and I am directed to signify to you their wish, that neither an undue Degree of Delicacy or Diffidence may lead you to place too little Reliance on your own Judgment, or pursuade you to make any further Communications of your Designs than necessity or high Expedience may dictate.24
And America’s empowered commander in chief used that judgment to make the nation proud.
The founding generation’s understanding of “commander in chief ” developed gradually. At the outset of the war, in addition to appointing officers, Congress retained the “sole and exclusive right and power” to direct military operations.25 They feared that the army would crush the fragile new republic, so they experimented with a weak commander in chief who was essentially a congressional puppet. But their experiment failed. Congress’s attempts to micromanage Washington were a disaster. The limited commander they had envisioned was simply incapable of defending the country. They learned from their mistakes.
The restrictions on Washington’s control over military tactics evaporated as the war progressed and Washington proved that a strong commander could still be a republican one. Congress acquiesced to his exercise of greater power and formally granted him more military authority. The shift away from congressional control was made anxiously. But if the American war effort was to overcome its schizophrenia, it needed one master. And that master was Washington.
From this tug of war over military power emerged a strong American commander with broad discretion over military decisions. Congress and the states controlled the military’s purse strings,26 oversaw all civil matters, and expected to be consulted and informed by their commander whenever feasible. For his part, the American commander possessed authority over military tactics and enemy treatment. 27 And Washington used this authority to defend his nation fiercely—and virtuously.
Washington lived up to the challenge of being America’s first republican commander. He promised, “whatever Military Powers shall be intrusted to me, shall ever be exerted first to establish and then protect the Civil.”28 And he lived true to his word, exercising his military powers with great restraint and respect for the civil authorities. “While acting in my Military capacity,” he wrote, “I am sensible of the impropriety of stepping into the line of civil Polity.”29 As will be discussed in greater detail in Parts IV and V, Washington used his expansive mandate to guard the rights of his people rather than trample them. The nation’s worries about a powerful commander subsided.
The Framers revisited the issue of commander-in-chief authority after the war. When drafting the Constitution, they drew upon their vivid memories of the Revolution, recalling, “Such was the situation of our affairs then, that the power of dictator was given to the commander-in-chief, to save us from destruction. This shows the situation of the country to have been such as to make it ready to embrace an actual dictator.”30 And that dictator had saved the United States from destruction. The founding generation had learned the hard way that the American commander in chief needed to be a powerful one if he was to defend his nation, and that “war powers needed to be fixed to guarantee effective common defense.”31
So when they designated the president as “Commander in Chief of the Army and the Navy of the United States” in 1787, it was clear to the American people what this meant: the role that General Washington had forged amidst battle. The wartime American commander was to be a new kind of deferential republican dictator—he had broad authority to lead the military in defending the nation, while Congress and the states held authority over the American people.
“The task of facing and fighting the enemy was enough for the ablest of men,” observed one early biographer, “but Washington was obliged also to combat and overcome the inertness and dullness born of ignorance, and to teach Congress how to govern a nation at war.”32 He defined the role of the American commander in chief not only for Congress but also for posterity.
Back on Wall Street in New York City, Washington is honored for his bravery in forging the nation. The grand statue in front of Federal Hall reminds New Yorkers and throngs of passing tourists that the nation’s Constitution and prosperity can be attributed in great part to his heroism as the first American commander in chief. Ironically, had he been granted his dictatorial powers initially, the great man depicted by the statue may have used them to torch all of Manhattan.
IV
TRIBUNALS & TRIBULATIONS
“Resolved, That General Washington shall be, and he is hereby
vested with full, ample, and
complete powers to . . . arrest and confine persons . . .
who are disaffected to the American cause.”
—RESOLUTION OF THE CONTINENTAL CONGRESS,
DECEMBER 27, 1776
Many have heard of Washington’s bout with America’s most famous traitor, Benedict Arnold. Less known, however, are the trials and tribulations of Arnold’s British co-conspirator, Major John André. The tragic tale unfolded on a scenic bend of a slow-moving river in upstate New York. There, amidst the forest-covered hills that plunge into the Hudson, today sits a famous American landmark: the United States Military Academy at West Point.
The preeminent source of commissioning officers for the army of the world’s lone superpower, this institution feeds a thousand new cadets each year into leadership posts in the United States Army. Rigorously trained in academics, military leadership, combat, and physical fitness, these young men and women are well prepared to defend their country from any threat. But before these patriotic souls commence their service to their country, they enjoy four years on the beautiful, hallowed grounds of the historic Military Academy. Nestled within the serenity of the rolling hills that dominate the region, the campus brims with a youthful vitality. Here, on tree-lined paths that cross the manicured lawns, the nation’s future military elite proceed to their intense academic and physical exercises. Some, dressed in crisp uniforms, chat casually as they stroll while others in jogging suits run together in groups. Whether they are heading to weapons training or applied quantum physics, they go proudly. The objective of the Military Academy is to foster excellence. Boasting two American presidents, seventy-four Medal of Honor recipients, seventy Rhodes Scholars, and eighteen astronauts as alumni, the institution has clearly succeeded.1
Unsurprisingly, this time-honored symbol of American military prowess pays homage to George Washington as the country’s father and first commander in chief. In fact, Washington Hall is one of the more popular places on the campus. Just as the general breathed life into his nation, Washington Hall energizes the cadets: it houses their mess hall. Before the entrance stands the striking, larger-than-life effigy of the general. While the bronze is weathered blue-green with age, the statue still clearly depicts a strong military leader on horseback. With his hat in his hand and a sword by his side, the gallant hero towers over all who walk by. His right hand stretches outward as if reaching towards the future that he would shape so dramatically. With this tribute to General Washington at its heart, the handsome Collegiate Gothic campus exudes a stately permanence.
West Point today is the epitome of safety and security. It was not always this way. Once called “Fort Arnold,” this post was nearly betrayed to the British—a betrayal that would have doomed the American cause. Washington retaliated against the treachery with deadly military justice, the ramifications of which can still be felt today.
The chapters in this part scrutinize the United States’ Revolutionary War precedents for military tribunals. In his fierce defense of the nation, Washington forged the American way of meting out justice.
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Gentleman Johnny vs. Granny Gates
When the military post was hastily constructed at West Point, its success was so vital to the revolutionary cause that it became known as “the key to the American Continent.”1 After the British invaded New York City, Washington feared they were going to seize the opportunity to sever New England from her sister states. The rebellious New England states not only constituted the heart of the young nation’s patriotic fervor, but also were a vital source of rations, supplies, weapons, and soldiers for Washington’s army. Barely holding the battered Continental Army together, Washington desperately needed all of these. It was imperative that he retain access to the region. General Howe had other designs.
After conquering New York City, Howe placed the “utmost importance” on securing “free communication between Canada and New York, by means of the Lake Champlain and Hudson’s River, . . . in order to facilitate the operations of the British arms in the mediate plan of subjugating the Colonies.”2 If the British were to gain control over the Hudson, it would enable them to utilize their naval assets to funnel massive quantities of troops and weapons through Montreal and down into New York City, leaving Washington with little means to attack. In the process, Howe would cut the heart out of the rebellion by isolating New England.
Consequently, Americans were equally interested in sparsely populated upstate New York “from every sound principle of policy,” in order to counteract the British actions and “to preserve the communication between eastern and southern states, for the conveyance of supplies of provisions, and for the marching and counter-marching of troops . . . .”3
Still without a navy to match Britain’s, the Americans had little choice but to rely on a land-based defense. Congress determined that “a fort should be erected . . . to check any naval force”4 and resolved that “a post be . . . taken in the Highlands on each side of Hudson’s River and batteries erected in such a manner as will most effectually prevent any vessels passing that may be sent to harass the inhabitants on the borders of said river . . . .”5
Prior to deciding on the West Point location, the patriots first attempted to build a fort downriver. About fifty miles outside of New York City, they threw together a somewhat crude defense: They created a chain of floating logs across the river to obstruct ships attempting to pass, and guarded their barrier with six cannons housed in an ill-conceived fort. Built on a low-lying position, Fort Montgomery was vulnerable to Britain’s tall gunships and lacked adequate munitions to repel an intense assault.
Determined to destroy this and all obstacles to British domination of the region, Sir Henry Clinton, a British Army lieutenant general serving under Howe, led a raiding party from his New York City stronghold up the Hudson riverbank. The son of the former colonial governor of New York, Clinton knew these parts and was hell-bent on returning them to British rule. Towards this end, his immediate objective was to crush the rebel installations and clear the way for British support from Canada.
Of noble blood, Clinton had quickly risen through the ranks of the British Army by purchasing higher commissions and capitalizing on familial connections. He possessed a long nose, softly cleft chin, and gentle eyes. His prominent arching eyebrows defined the lower boundary of a high forehead that added to his aristocratic air. Clinton was described by his staff as “[v]ain, open to flattery; and from a great aversion to all business not military, too often misled by aides and favourites.” He was particularly noted for being hot-tempered, jealous, and wary of perceived slights.6 A self-described “shy bitch,” he tended to be excessively cautious and inordinately touchy.7 Upon obtaining command of New York City from Howe after the British commander and Mrs. Loring relocated to Philadelphia, this insecure underling was eager to prove his military prowess to his scornful British superiors. He resented being Howe’s subordinate and embraced the chance to display his superiority over his master.
Clinton’s raiding party took a treacherously steep, winding path over a mountain in order to catch the Americans at Fort Montgomery by surprise on October 6, 1777. As night closed in, they pounced on the undermanned fort, while the cannon of their fearsome naval support lit up the darkening sky. “[T]he Gallies with their Oars approaching, firing, and even striking the Fort; the Men of War that Moment appearing, crouding all Sail to support [Clinton’s troops]; the extreme Ardor of the Troops” all added up to a lethal blow that slaughtered the American forces.8 The defending patriots, outnumbered three to one, fought valiantly until they were driven out at the points of enemy bayonets. By the time darkness had fallen, more than half of the patriot fighters were killed, wounded, or captured.
Once the Americans were crushed, the British force advanced up the Hudson, “carrying fire and devastation before them.” The town of Kingston, seat of the rebel government, “beautifully situated near the West bank of the Hudson river,” was “laid to ashes.”9 Clinton’s men destroyed approximately four hundred structures—homes, barns, and mills.10 This British victory proved to be a pyrrhic one, however. The American forces were trounced, but Clinton’s campaign was ineffective in helping the British hold the Hudson Valley. His destructive little campaign was intended to divert American ire from a larger British force that was besieged to the north; but the patriots refused to take the bait. If anything, Clinton’s brutality hastened the British defeat in the region: the local populace was enraged.
Britain’s dominion over the Hudson Valley was cut short, ironically, by the military genius of none other than the duplicitous Benedict Arnold. Upriver from Clinton’s troops, the American Northern Army, led by Horatio Gates and his brilliant officer, Arnold, confronted a British force that was marching south from Canada.
This force of 7,000 well-trained soldiers was a fearsome one, led by “Gentleman Johnny” Burgoyne. A dashing man with a strong jaw and a prominent widow’s peak, Burgoyne was known for his stylish clothes and lavish spending. He was rumored to be a heavy gambler, and he certainly gambled with his force: he underestimated the journey to New York City. With cooks, smiths, officers’ wives, servants, and a herd of cattle in tow, Burgoyne’s army resembled a “lumbering baggage train” more than a nimble fighting force.11 And that train became dangerously bogged down in the dense forests above Albany, New York.12
As he neared his objective of connecting with the British forces in New York City—and thereby securing the entire Hudson—Burgoyne’s unwieldy regiment faced difficulties in transporting equipment and artillery through upstate’s primitive dirt pathways. With its supply lines stretched in these backwoods, the British force was also short on food. To make matters even worse, their mere presence roused the local patriot militiamen in substantial numbers. The Americans went ballistic over reports that Britain’s Native American allies had shot, scalped, and stripped an American teenage girl. 13
Despite the growing peril, the brash Burgoyne was eager to obtain a quick victory about which he might boast. “The Messengers of Justice and of Wrath await them in the Field,” he exclaimed, “and Devastation, Famine, and every concomitant Horror that a reluctant but indispensible Prosecution of Military Duty must occasion, will bar the way to their return.”14 Overconfident as ever, Burgoyne “spent half the nights in singing and drinking, and amusing himself with the wife of a commissary, who was his mistress, and who, as well as he, loves champaign.”15 But the strength of his bravado exceeded that of his military position. Gentleman Johnny was perilously isolated from supplies and reinforcements—Howe was distracted fighting Washington in Pennsylvania and Clinton was reluctant to divert troops from defending New York City. The floundering force was on its own.
The Americans took full advantage and pounced. The patriot force swelling to 14,000 as incensed farmers flocked to the cause, the Americans clawed at Burgoyne’s army. But when the fog lifted one late summer morning in 1777, the tricky Burgoyne struck back. His goal was to outsmart Washington’s third-in-command, “Granny Gates.”
Horatio Gates was an ambitious forty-nine-year-old English immigrant. He was a well-mannered, courteous man who exhibited no great bravery.16 In fact, his subordinates called him “Granny Gates” due to his avoidance of direct attacks as well as his relatively advanced age and sagging spectacles. His large, hooked nose and drooping, sleepy eyes made for a homely man who lacked looks as well as any particular military aptitude. His father a minor government official and his mother a housekeeper, Gates was determined to surpass the modest circumstances into which he was born. And he saw the military as a means of doing so.
Gates entered the British Army as a teenager and garnered quite respectable, albeit not particularly illustrious, military experience over the next two and a half decades. He fought alongside Washington in the Seven Years’ War, so his old friend as commander in chief urged Congress to grant Gates a high position in the new American army. Gates was not content with his commission, however. He wanted more, and he possessed the means to get it. He had many prattling friends in Congress as well as a knack for political intrigue. 17
Gates first set his sights on the job of his immediate superior, General Philip Schuyler. Washington’s third-in-command when the war began in 1775, Schuyler was a generous and courteous gentleman who treated Gates with the utmost respect. With a kind face, narrow-set dark eyes, and a bulbous nose, he resembled the “puppy-dog” that he was in temperament. Schuyler once stumbled upon a wounded enemy soldier who had just attacked his party. Moved by the soldier’s cries, he carried him to a doctor, thereby saving his life.18 But Gates and his friends were more than willing to kick this puppy.
Like a high school election campaign, the congressional cliques’ rumor mills began to churn. The New England faction was particularly vocal. Typical of the regional clashes between the states, New Englanders generally disdained New Yorkers as the two regions competed for power and influence. As a legislator, Schuyler had defended New York’s claims to Vermont lands against those of the bombastic Ethan Allen and his New England brethren. “For this crime the men of New England were never able to forgive him, and he was pursued with vindictive hatred until his career as general was ruined.”19 Gates’s New England allies in Congress spread rumors of Schuyler’s military mismanagement and even indirectly accused him of treason. 20 While Gates did not possess the brashness to lead this slander coup, “his nature was thoroughly weak and petty, and he never shrank from falsehood when it seemed to suit his purpose.”21
The rumors worked. The majority in Congress slowly turned against Schuyler. Just as the New Englanders in Congress had planned, Gates took Schuyler’s spot as Washington’s third-in-command. Now he finally had a chance for greatness as he confronted Burgoyne in the woods of upstate New York.
Referring to Gates as the “old midwife,” Burgoyne struck back at the American forces.22 The inert Gates was nearly outflanked, but Arnold foresaw their opponent’s strategy and argued vehemently for dispatching troops to counter the maneuver. Gates, a man often “influenced by spite,” disliked his brash underling’s know-it-all demeanor.23 He did not like being second-guessed or having his newly won authority questioned. But he held his rage in check and finally came to agree with Arnold.
For his part, Arnold was “maddened” by Gates’s incompetency and “seemed inspired with the fury of a demon.” In a bold frontal attack that sent the British troops recoiling, he “proved his courage and ability.”24 In the fierce battle, the ill-trained, ragtag American troops swarmed against the British regiment. Both sides suffered disastrous casualties in the intense fighting, but by the time the Americans retreated, they had inflicted far more casualties than they sustained. One American officer wrote, “I trust we have convinced the British butchers that the ‘cowardly’ Yankees can, and when there is a call for it, will fight.”25
Mere weeks later, a second battle erupted between Gentleman Johnny and Granny Gates. The American forces now outnumbered the British 11,000 to 5,000.26 Still confident he could win, Burgoyne struck the Americans on the afternoon of October 7, 1777. After yet another quarrel over tactics, Gates angrily relieved Arnold of his field command and told him, “I have nothing for you to do; you have no business here.”27 Not one to be dismissed, Arnold nevertheless charged into the battle. He bravely led his men, quite literally risking life and limb—he was shot in the leg during the firefight and nearly crushed by his horse.28 When the gunpowder and cannon smoke dissipated, the Americans emerged triumphant. After a horrific day of fighting, dusk settled upon the battered men.
The British sat awake that early autumn night, listening to the groans of their comrades dying in the battlefield that separated the two opposing camps. However well trained they were, Burgoyne’s ranks were thinning while the American side was continually refueled with fresh militiamen from around the countryside. His supplies of food and munitions dwindling along with his hopes, Burgoyne frantically attempted to formulate a plan of escape.
Meanwhile, Howe was so fixated on Philadelphia that he never ordered Clinton to provide reinforcements from New York. While Burgoyne assumed that Clinton was bound by orders to join him “at all risks,” Clinton never received such a command.29 Leaving much to Clinton’s discretion, Howe had merely said, “if you can make any diversion in favor of General Burgoyne’s [army], I need not point out the utility of such a measure.”30 And Clinton did not exactly jump to Burgoyne’s rescue of his own accord.
Instead, ever cautious, Clinton feared that Washington would launch a renewed attack on New York City and decided to retain the bulk of his forces there. Like Howe before him, he was thoroughly enjoying the New York high life, as evidenced by his tremendously high liquor bill. Not only did he have four houses, but he also took a liking to an officer’s wife, Mrs. Mary Baddeley.31 He had little desire to venture out of the city.
When Clinton received Burgoyne’s plea that “an attack on Fort Montgomery must be of great use,” he dispatched just that small force for its quick assault on the fort and rampage up the Hudson.32 Not fully grasping his comrade’s desperation, Clinton failed to do more, writing merely, “I hope this little success of ours may facilitate your operations . . . . I heartily wish you success.”33
Clinton’s diversionary effort was too little, too late. Refusing to divert troops south towards Clinton, the Americans proved unrelenting in their pressure on Burgoyne.
After days of hesitation, Burgoyne was surrounded by the Americans, who “swarmed around the little adverse army like birds of prey.”34 Retreat became impossible. As a chilly rain began to fall, he knew his beleaguered force was doomed. Burgoyne surrendered on October 17, 1777, at what came to be called the “Battle of Saratoga.” His ego finally checked, he would return to Britain in disgrace. The Americans took thousands of prisoners in a victory that stunned the world.
This was not just a military victory, but also a hugely symbolic one, since it demonstrated the Americans’ ability to defeat the British in large-scale European-style warfare. If the sneak attacks at Trenton and Princeton had been the psychological turning point in the war, Saratoga was the political one. It prompted the French, eager to prey on their old rival’s weakness, to enter the war on the United States’ side. Washington was overjoyed. Although suspicious of the French, he adhered to the ancient Chinese proverb “the enemy of my enemy is my friend,” since he badly needed the help of this “friend.” He looked forward to France’s money, ammunition, clothing, and troops. Perhaps most of all, he wanted the aid of her powerful navy. His efforts had repeatedly been hobbled by his lack of a naval force, and France was his only hope to counter Britain’s maritime supremacy. When France then prompted Spain to declare war on Britain also in an attempt to settle old scores, Washington exclaimed that these new allies brought “universal joy” to the patriots.
This joy was not so universal, however. Little did Washington know, the great victory at Saratoga would lead to treachery that nearly ended the Revolution. Ironically, Arnold’s great triumph also led to his betrayal of the American cause.
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A Traitor Lurks
Benedict Arnold was born into a wealthy and socially prominent Connecticut family. After two of his sisters died during a yellow fever epidemic that swept New England during his childhood, Benedict’s grieving father began paying more attention to rum than the family finances. He eventually squandered the family fortune and was thrown into a debtors’ prison, thereby forcing his family out of the Arnold ancestral home in a humiliating public spectacle. These hardships instilled in Benedict a tremendous drive for both financial success and public recognition. As a headstrong, ambitious teenager, he sought to prove his worth through military service and enlisted in the provincial militia to fight in the Seven Years’ War in 1757. Although he served for very short stints and saw no combat before returning to his family, his service in the war instilled in him a taste for battle and a hatred for the French.1
Back home in Connecticut, he grew into a courageous man, though haughty and vain. Reaching five foot nine, he was of average height for the era but powerfully built. He was stern-featured, with a sharp chin, high cheekbones, a prominent nose, and intense blue eyes that quickly transformed from cordial to cold when his temper flared. As quarrelsome as he was bold, Arnold had a knack for making enemies. He once attempted to kill an English sea captain in a duel over a perceived slight, and he fired a pistol at a Frenchman he caught alone with his only surviving sister.
When he was not busy fighting, he worked furiously to rebuild the family’s estate. With the funds he could scrape together, he founded a small trading company in New Haven, Connecticut. He married the sheriff ’s daughter and benefitted financially from her family’s investments in his business. Protected from creditors by his father-in-law, Arnold’s trading house thrived. Enterprising, he eventually became one of the most successful merchants in New England, trading wares all along the eastern seaboard. It was in this role as a prosperous merchant that Arnold became disenchanted with British rule.
Angered by the Crown’s rising taxes in the lead-up to the Revolution, Arnold turned to smuggling to avoid the new duties. He came to see the Crown’s actions as a threat to his enterprise and to Americans’ personal liberty. As usual, Arnold was eager to fight. Thus, upon hearing of the outbreak of war, he swiftly organized a small group of New Haven militiamen to join the fight, declaring that Britain’s actions had rendered him “obliged to have recourse to arms in defense of our lives and liberties.”2
Despite his patriotic fervor, however, Arnold did not fit in well with his revolutionary compatriots. To many Americans, Arnold’s mannerisms, powdered wig, and fashionable dress made him seem more a Brit than a patriot. No matter how many times he proved himself in the early battles of the war, he was disliked on a personal level by the Revolution’s political and military leaders. This fact crystallized for Arnold following his great victory at Saratoga.
“Granny Gates,” ever eager for more power after ousting Schuyler, claimed credit for the Americans’ triumph at the Battle of Saratoga, even though it was due in large part to Arnold’s tactics and bravery. Adding injury to insult, he even accused Arnold of insubordination. This infuriated the prideful man. The serious leg wound he suffered during the battle was far less vexing to him than the fact that Gates took credit for routing the British. When asked about his injuries, Arnold— dejected from all the ill-treatment—whispered in a wavering voice that he had been shot in the leg and added, “I wish it had been my heart.”3
After Arnold’s victory at Saratoga, General Howe’s days enjoying the Philadelphia highlife ended abruptly. He resigned as commander of the British forces in 1778 so that he might return to Britain to defend his honor. He was anxious to explain his failure to end the American uprising before his vocal detractors in the British Parliament, and to make them understand the difficulty of subduing such a large nation’s rebellious populace. He was unsuccessful. Fiercely condemned for his indecisive leadership, he lost the seat in Parliament that he had held for two decades. He had lost his command along with Mrs. Loring. And to add insult, his smug underling benefitted from Howe’s fall from grace.
Sir Henry Clinton, much to his delight, was selected as the new British commander in chief. He had arrived with Howe and Burgoyne in 1775, and, as the last man standing, he held seniority. Taking a less conciliatory approach to the rebels than his predecessor, Clinton was eager to show that his leadership could crush the American rebellion.
During the transition of command in the spring of 1778, London ordered Clinton to abandon Philadelphia. With the French navy looming, the British feared that the city was under threat, and they chose to employ their overextended resources elsewhere. Clinton sent some of the troops to the Caribbean to protect British interests there and ordered the others to bolster his New York City stronghold. With a supply train twelve miles long, 10,000 redcoats set out across New Jersey back towards the island.4 Believing them to be more vulnerable as they traveled, Washington seized this opportunity to keep the British off-guard, and in the process, he settled some old political scores.
When the British withdrew from Philadelphia, Washington received intelligence that the redcoats were on the move across New Jersey. He convened a war council to seek advice on how best to disrupt Clinton’s plans. Meanwhile, the ever-insubordinate Charles Lee had returned to the scene.
Washington had negotiated Lee’s release in a prisoner exchange following his humiliating capture at Widow White’s, but Lee was far from appreciative. Greeting Lee “as if he has been his brother,” Washington brought him back to his headquarters, held a dinner in his honor, and provided him with Martha’s sitting room to sleep. The next morning, however, Lee missed breakfast and, when he finally awoke, he appeared “as dirty as if he had been in the street all night.” It turned out he had snuck a “miserable dirty hussy” into his room that night.5 Martha was not pleased.
Resuming his old antics, Lee was ever ready to criticize Washington. At the war council, he lambasted Washington’s plan of attack as “criminal” and convinced the council to reject it.6 But Washington, now effectively a military dictator, ignored them. He prepared to pounce on Clinton’s rearguard at Monmouth, New Jersey.
Washington had used the winter of 1777–1778 to drill his unruly troops into a lethal fighting force. Much of the credit for this transformation falls to Friedrich Wilhelm August Heinrich Ferdinand von Steuben. A veteran of the Prussian army, he claimed the title of Baron, although it was a sham based on a falsified lineage invented by his father. Due to “alleged homosexuality and accusations of his having taken improper liberties with young boys” in 1776, Steuben had resigned his post in Europe and sought work far away.7 Agreeing to aid the American army gratis, he was soon on a ship sailing across the Atlantic.
Regardless of his questionable background, Baron von Steuben was welcomed by the Americans with open arms. What was most important to Washington was that Steuben was schooled in the cutting-edge fighting tactics of Frederick the Great, whose machinelike style Washington aspired to emulate.8 With his beady eyes and drooping jowls, Steuben looked like a bulldog as he barked orders in his English-French-German mix. Throughout the winter, he mercilessly drilled the troops in the ways of European warfare. A gruff and short-tempered man, he unwittingly amused the American soldiers when he would exhaust his vocabulary and demand of his aide, “Come and swear for me in English; these fellows will not do what I bid them!”9 The Americans respected his efforts and tenacity—Washington included. The troops learned to march more efficiently, fire their guns more accurately, and use their bayonets more lethally. So when the warm weather arrived, Washington was eager to put his newly trained force to the test.
On the scorching hot morning of June 28, 1778, Washington sent Lee to lead the initial assault on the British force at Monmouth. It was a natural assignment for Lee as second-in-command, but Washington kept a close eye on his perpetual detractor since he was dubious of Lee’s loyalties after his yearlong captivity. The British had treated him a little too well, showering him with wine and even allowing him to dine with officers, thus fueling suspicion that Lee had leaked intelligence to them. Washington could not count on him to fight.
With temperatures climbing to over 100oF before the sun even reached its zenith, the well-clothed British were finally at a disadvantage—the Americans’ rags breathed far better than the redcoats’ red-hot wool uniforms. One British soldier wrote,
We proceed for miles on a road composed of nothing but sand which scorched through our shoes with intolerable heat. The sun beating on our head with a force scarcely to be conceived in Europe and not a drop of water to assuage parching thirst. A number of soldiers were unable to support the fatigue and died on the spot.10
Washington was undeterred by the blazing heat and ordered Lee to strike.
Lee, however, still opposed the action and had developed no real battle plan. His troops were in disarray as they approached the British columns on the scorched fields, and they soon began to retreat. Lee followed.
While Washington was a rather sensitive man who was usually quite unforgiving of perceived slights, he had remained surprisingly tolerant of Lee’s insubordination. But this time, Lee had gone too far. As Washington rode along to buoy the troops, he came upon a lone fifer. Perplexed, he asked the young man where he was going. The fifer answered that he had been ordered to retreat. As he had been in New York, Washington was “exceedingly surprised” and “exasperated” by this unauthorized withdrawal. He followed the trickle of retreating soldiers back towards Lee.11 Upon finding him, Washington lost his composure. Quivering with rage, he purportedly called Lee a “damned poltroon” to his face and swore at him “till the leaves shook on the trees.”12
Putting himself directly into the line of fire yet again, Washington took over command and rallied his troops. With the British artillery “rending up the earth all around him,” Washington courageously led another bold attack. 13 The redcoats tried again and again to pick off the American commander, but he proved as indestructible as he seemed to fancy himself—the British missed and the patriots charged.
As the 20,000 soldiers shot and bayoneted one another throughout the blazing afternoon, more men died on both sides from heatstroke than gunfire.14 In fact, the British reported, “some preferred the shade of the trees in the direct range of shot to the more horrid tortures of thirst.”15 The Americans’ aim had improved, however, and one such thirsty gentleman “had his arm shattered to pieces.”16 Clocking in at over five hours of continuous fighting, it was the longest battle in the war.
By sunset, Washington’s forces had held their ground. The Battle of Monmouth was technically a draw, but the British suffered higher casualties and withdrew that night towards New York. For the first time in years, Washington was left in possession of the battlefield. He showed the world that his troops had finally gained the skill necessary to stand up to the British, and he further solidified his standing as the unquestionable leader of the American army.
On the other side, Clinton’s embarrassment over Monmouth made him ever more eager to punish the Americans. And he would soon have that opportunity presented to him by Arnold. Washington never suspected it, for he was too busy dealing with his other subversive officer, Lee.
Following his shameful retreat, Lee tried to deflect blame. But Washington had had enough. He ordered that Lee be tried before a panel of military judges for his “disgraceful” conduct.17 The gypsy trial moved along with the Continental Army during New Jersey’s hot summer of 1778. After six weeks of often-heated proceedings, the indignant Lee was finally convicted of disobedience of orders, misbehavior before the enemy, and disrespect to the commander in chief.18 As punishment, he was suspended from command for a year, which effectively ended his military career. Livid, Lee “publicly abused General Washington in the grossest terms,” running his mouth off to anyone who would listen.19 Word quickly traveled back to camp. When he learned of the scurrilous attacks on his beloved leader, Washington’s aide John Laurens challenged Lee to a duel.
A relic of the Middle Ages, dueling originally developed as “judicial combat,” a means of letting God determine who is in the right by allowing him to win. It was still commonly used to settle serious disputes in the eighteenth century. When one man’s honor was grievously offended by another, he might challenge him to a duel. The man so challenged could apologize, thus ending the disagreement, or he could fight. Simply attempting to avoid the fight was seen as cowardly, and word would likely spread throughout the community.
The combatants, typically armed with large-caliber, smoothbore flintlock pistols, stood at a certain distance from one another and fired on cue. Taking more than three seconds to aim their pistols was viewed as dishonorable, so they merely raised their guns and fired rather blindly. Along with the pistols’ inherent inaccuracy, this ensured that death for either party was quite unlikely.20
Laurens was a young southern gentleman with big eyes and a round nose. The son of a wealthy merchant and landowner, Laurens had quickly made a name for himself as an abolitionist and an ardent patriot who loyally served Washington. The reckless twenty-four-year-old set out with Washington’s most trusted aid, Alexander Hamilton, to avenge his general’s honor. Although Washington condemned the practice of dueling, it was improbable that these two men would have done this without at least tacit approval.21 Laurens hit Lee in the side, thereby achieving his objective.
Lee retired home with his pack of dogs and died in a tavern just a few years later, in 1782. In his will, composed mere days before his passing, Lee wrote, “I desire, most earnestly, that I may not be buried in any church or church-yard, or within a mile of any Presbyterian or Anabaptist meeting-house, for, since I have resided in this country, I have kept so much bad company when living, that I do not choose to continue it when dead.” His wishes ignored, he was buried with military honors in the churchyard of Christ Church in Philadelphia.22 Washington paid his respects.
Although his old rival was no longer a threat, Washington faced a far more dangerous and unexpected one. His trusted officer Arnold was beginning to scheme.
When Philadelphia was liberated that hot June of 1778, Arnold became the military supervisor of the capital’s reconstruction. During Howe’s occupation, the British had destroyed much of the city, looting buildings and burning homes as firewood. The devastation and the inhabitants’ suffering had been great, and Washington therefore turned to Arnold to ameliorate their plight. On Washington’s suggestion, Arnold was appointed military governor of Philadelphia to reestablish order and rebuild. Still hobbling around on crutches, he used the time to heal from his battle wounds.
Arnold’s wife had died three and a half years earlier, and a local socialite caught his eye. Margaret “Peggy” Shippen, age eighteen, was the beautiful youngest daughter of a prominent Philadelphia family. Descended from the founder of the College of New Jersey (Princeton) and other politically powerful men, she had a great pedigree to match her smarts. And with her blond curly locks, small pretty face, and piercing glance, she was a woman of “every engaging attraction.”23 This lady of high society had been courted by many, but being passionate about politics, she favored military men.
Arnold was beguiled by the coquettish and intelligent young woman, two decades his junior, with “gray eyes that stared even as they smiled.”24 Besides, marrying a Shippen would certainly enhance his social standing. While the Shippens’ wealth had faded during the war, a misfortune shared by many Tories, their aristocratic prominence had not. So as he enjoyed the extravagances of Philadelphia’s high life, he actively courted the young beauty.
Peggy was likewise attracted to the courageous soldier. She had read about his exploits since childhood and was ecstatic to be lavished with attention from such a famous war hero. She also enjoyed “the vitality that irradiated his light-blue eyes and his high-cheekboned face.”25 Soon she was seen with him at parties around town, unable to resist his flamboyance and spendthrift ways.
Peggy’s father had misgivings about the match, however. The upper-crust, Loyalist-leaning Edward Shippen IV did not particularly care for a patriot with a money-hungry reputation, and he rejected Arnold’s first request for his daughter’s hand in marriage. But he came to appreciate Arnold’s fair treatment of Philadelphia’s Loyalists and to believe that Arnold’s apparent wealth would keep his favorite daughter happy. The Shippens eventually gave their approval, and Peggy soon married the dashing officer. Their divergent political views quickly became less of a problem: Arnold adopted her Loyalist tendencies as he grew more disgusted with his fellow patriots.
Despite his pretenses, Arnold was heavily indebted by his lavish lifestyle and by his spending of personal funds to support his military campaigns. To his great insult, Congress had balked when he demanded reimbursement for his contributions to the war effort, and so he took matters into his own hands. Always astute in turning a profit, he was purported to have “established lucrative connexions” with the Continental Army’s provision suppliers and their wives, and “made them the instruments of converting into money, his embezzlements of public stores.”26 In one alleged scheme, he made deals with the merchants to protect their wares in exchange for a cut of the profits. In another shady deal, he was said to have used army wagons to transport his own goods for sale. 27
Even though such profiteering was commonplace among officers during the war and often overlooked, the politicians in Philadelphia seized the opportunity to disgrace Arnold. His brashness had elicited resentment from Pennsylvania’s executive council, which went so far as to charge him with “various accounts of extortion on the citizens of Philadelphia, and with peculating funds of the continent.”28
Humiliated, Arnold stood trial before a panel of military judges for these corruption charges, starting on June 1, 1799.29 Washington privately sided with Arnold but publicly did little to aid him. This was because the great Virginian was being blackmailed.
The governor of Pennsylvania, determined to flex his political muscle, threatened to withdraw the state’s support for the war should Washington come to Arnold’s rescue. Desperate for supplies as he was, Washington decided not to interfere in the charged situation. Arnold, unaware of the blackmail, saw Washington’s silence as betrayal.
Arnold was acquitted of the serious charges, but the scandal left its disgraceful taint.30 He wrote his commander a pain-filled letter pleading for help in clearing his name, but Washington’s hands were tied.
Arnold snapped.
In a shocking twist, he defected from “the cause he had so gallantly maintained.”31 He came to see the once virtuous revolutionary cause as having been sullied by the people who now led it. While recovering from his injuries, both physical and emotional, Arnold expressed his deep feeling of betrayal by the American leaders. To his friends, he “complained of being ill used by Congress and the executive council of Pennsylvania, which had treated him with injustice.”32
As far as Arnold was concerned, he had courageously led the American forces to victory on multiple occasions, sacrificing not only his finances but also his health. And in return he was disgraced time and again as his political enemies in Philadelphia charged him with corruption and his military associates took credit for his victories. They had so offended his sense of honor that he came to consider the new American leadership just as suspect as the British government. The ideal of a government run by “educated, fair-minded men” was gone, and in its place was “something dark and venal.”33 The American cause was further degraded in Arnold’s mind by the nation’s new alliance with the French Crown. He was outraged that his blood and toil at Saratoga had led to an association with the absolute monarch of a “perfidious people.”34
Arnold perceived the corruption of the American cause as having trickled down into the thinning ranks of the patriot soldiers. The middle-class stock that made up the bulk of the troops at the beginning of the war had mostly returned home, discouraged by poor rations, low pay, harsh discipline, and shattering military defeats. In fact, as Americans grew weary of the struggle, the Continental Army’s fluctuating numbers plummeted from 27,500 to as low as 3,000. Those who had been motivated by ideals went back to their farms, while those in desperate need of the military wages stayed on. Arnold looked down on these lower classes, and he feared that the revolutionary spirit was gone.
Having lost the initial patriotic zeal, the American cause had indeed fallen into dire straits. Even Washington began to question the future of the new nation, writing, “unless a system very different from that which has long prevailed be immediately adopted throughout the states, our affairs must soon become desperate, beyond the possibility of recovery. Indeed, I have almost ceased to hope.”35
After fighting valiantly for the patriotic cause, Arnold now found himself with “a ruined constitution, and this limb (holding up his wounded leg) now rendered useless.” He fumed to his friends, “At the termination of this war, where can I seek for compensation for such damages I have sustained?”36 Enterprising as ever, Arnold devised a diabolical plan to get recompense. He would betray the revolutionary cause for £20,000.
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Treason of the Blackest Dye
After Arnold helped expel the British from upstate New York, the necessity of building an “insurmountable barrier against the British navy” was clear.1 The Americans appointed their best military engineer to scout the area and discern the best location to rebuild a land-based defense.2 They selected a “point of land projecting in the river on the west side” on account of “the natural advantages presented not only from the strength of the circumjacent ground, but from the narrowness of the Hudson, where here takes a short winding circuit east and west.” This would force the British ships to tack to a shift in the wind while they drew cannon fire.3
At this ideal location, called West Point, the Americans swiftly constructed the “Great Chain” across the Hudson to Constitution Island in the spring of 1778. This large barricade was composed of a 600-yard iron chain floating atop multiple wooden rafts built from forty-foot waterproofed logs.4 With each two-foot link of the chain weighing 114 pounds, the entire barricade weighed approximately 65 tons and presented a formidable obstacle even to Britain’s most powerful vessels. On a natural plateau on an adjacent hill, the Americans built a fortification from which to defend this “Great Chain” from land assault and bombard any foolish ship captain who dared challenge the blockade. Unlike Fort Montgomery, which had been built a short way downstream two years earlier, the fort at West Point was largely “bomb proof and unassailable from its strength and elevated situation, being built on and composed of rocks,” and was “abundantly stored with every military means of defence that the country was capable of affording at that stage of the war, and made the grand arsenal of the main army.”5
Enticed by the value of this “American Gibraltar,” Arnold “intimated a great desire to have the command at West Point.”6 Washington was puzzled. He respected Arnold’s abilities and was prepared to appoint him to command a large portion of his army. He correctly viewed Arnold as a man of action and a valuable leader in battle. But Arnold turned down a prestigious command in favor of a relatively sleepy defensive role guarding the Great Chain. It was difficult for Washington to refuse Arnold’s request since the officer’s “prowess and gallantry” during his rapid rise through the ranks had “justified his appointment.”7 So he appointed Arnold to the command of West Point. Washington wondered why he wanted this particular station. He never fathomed the actual reason.
After slowly cultivating a relationship with Clinton’s command in New York City, Arnold began negotiating his defection as early as 1778. In order to build trust with the British and prove the value of his services, he transmitted bits of sensitive American military intelligence: he divulged Washington’s troop movements, details regarding the French alliance, and information about the Americans’ inability to defend Charleston, South Carolina. This was all groundwork for wringing top dollar from the British when he sold America’s crown jewel, West Point.
Arnold knew that such a sale would inflict a “deadly wound if not a fatal stab” on the American cause, and he therefore expected the British to pay dearly.8 His quarrelsome ways reemerging, he began to argue with the British over compensation and became offended when Clinton refused to treat him as an equal. After haggling like a street urchin, Arnold finally settled on the £20,000 figure that would scar the history books—roughly the equivalent of 25.7 million in modern U.S. dollars, which he considered “a cheap purchase for an object of so much importance.”9 Because Clinton refused to meet with him directly, Arnold had to orchestrate the plot through a young British major named John André.
John André was an unusually well-educated young man known more for courtesy than for cunning. “To an excellent understanding, well improved by education and travel, he united a peculiar elegance of mind and manners, and the advantage of a pleasing person.”10 With his soft manners, he seemed to be “fraught with the milk of human kindness” rather than suited to warfare.11
Born in 1750 to a prosperous mercantile family in London, he grew into a handsome man with soft features and mannerisms. His large eyes, small mouth, and gently cleft chin gave him a kind and youthful appearance. His long, thick head of hair hung down his back, tied fashionably with a black ribbon.12 André was adept at painting, writing lyric and comic verse, and playing the flute. Educated in Switzerland, he was noted for an “inquiring mind” and an aptitude in mathematics and drawing.13 With a knack for language, he attained fluency in English, French, German, and Italian. But his father was unimpressed by his academic accomplishments.
When André was seventeen years old, his father demanded that he return home to work in the family’s counting house. André obeyed, albeit unhappily. Always a romantic, he looked for a means of escape from the family business, which he despised. Toiling as an accountant in a “gloomy” room warmed by a small coal fire, the teenager longed to join in the adventurous British Army battles he had read about at school.14 The glamour of military life would have to wait, however, for duty and love delayed his enlistment.
Two years after André returned home, his father died. André felt obligated to assume leadership of the family business in order to support his mother and siblings. He trudged through the days, but, as with many young men, his sense of duty was handily overwhelmed by his sense of attraction: André’s attention shifted to a wilting seventeen-year-old named Honora Sneyd.
A blonde “sickly angel” who had survived a bout of tuberculosis, Honora welcomed André into her literary coterie.15 André was warmly received into the group, and together they enjoyed poetry, song, and philosophical debate. In what became a magical time in his life, he joined Honora at her scenic family estate in Lichfield, England.16 Here, “where the shadows of the spires darkened the well-clipped lawn,” Honora and her elite group of romanticists talked of poetry, and André “played his flute as they sang to their reflections in the minster pool.”17 Anna Seward, Honora’s sister, described the beloved young gentleman:
Belov’d Companion of the fairest hours
That rose for her in Joy’s resplendent bow’rs,
How gaily shore on thy bright Morn of Youth
The Start of Pleasure, and the Sun of Truth!
Full from their source descended on thy mind
Each gen’rous virtue, and each taste refin’d.
Young Genius led thee to his varied fane.
Bade thee ask all his gifts, nor ask in vain;
Hence novel thoughts, in ev’ry lustre drest
Of pointed wit, that diamond of the breast.19
But despite André’s intelligence, charm, and heart of gold, Honora’s affections proved fleeting. She fell out of love with him just as quickly as she had fallen into it. She came to feel that he was a frivolous dreamer who “did not possess the reasoning mind that she required.”20 Nevertheless, she followed the era’s rules of high romance and kept up the pretense: she “agreed to be in love with him.”21 To the love-struck André’s delight, the beautiful Honora soon accepted his marriage proposal. However, her powerful family intervened to quell the teenage romance’s rapid progression.
They demanded that André accumulate significant wealth before marrying their daughter. So he returned home and made an effort to “win Honora by making his fortune in the family business.” He was ultimately unsuccessful at amassing enough money to please Honora’s famously wealthy parents, and they broke off the engagement. “His love affair shattered,” André “revived an older ambition. Fame, honor, glory called him to the profession of arms.”22 Finding it too painful to remain in Britain, André would run.
He joined the British Army in March 1771, hoping to “dissipate the memory of his sorrows in the turmoil and dangers of war.”23 After training in Germany, he was transferred to Canada by the time the Revolution erupted in 1775. He fought bravely against the Americans and was even held captive for a short time. Writing of his imprisonment, he said, “[I] was stripped of everything except [my] picture of Honora, which I concealed in my mouth. Preserving that, I yet think myself fortunate.”24
After his release from American custody in a prisoner exchange, André spent nine months enjoying Philadelphia during Howe’s occupation. He lived in Benjamin Franklin’s abandoned home and quickly became a favorite of the city’s high society. As such, he spent much time with the family of Edward Shippen IV, whose lively young daughter Peggy caught his attention. He invited her to a military masquerade ball and even sketched a portrait of her—just as he had done as he was falling for Honora. But any budding romance was promptly cut short by the winds of war. When France entered the war and the British withdrew from Philadelphia in order to defend more vital locations, André departed with them. The American forces rolled in to retake the city, and Benedict Arnold replaced André as Peggy’s suitor.
The overachieving André continued to impress his British superiors with his intellect and writing ability. In recognition, he was appointed adjunct general on Clinton’s staff in New York City, where he won “friendship and even fondness” from his “solitary, resentful, and stubborn” superior.25 Clinton respected the charming, young André’s discretion and placed him in charge of the army’s secret intelligence activities. It was in this role that André eventually came into contact with his old friend’s new husband, Arnold.
Having successfully lobbied Washington for command of the West Point garrison, Arnold took over the post in July 1780 and proceeded to prepare his “treason of the blackest dye.”26 Eager to gain the maximum profit from his subterfuge, he had the audacity to request funds and horses from New York’s state government on the pretext that he needed them to fix his soldiers’ barracks.27 This could get him some quick cash, though the real money would come from the British when they took over.
The fox in charge of the henhouse, Arnold began sending large groups of soldiers off on trivial assignments like chopping wood in order to diminish the fort’s defenses.28 Hoping to offer the British much more, he lobbied to remove the Great Chain across the Hudson, pretending that it required repairs, though the real purpose was to open the river to British warships.29 He even toured the fortresses to analyze their vulnerabilities. Exploiting the help of American engineers, he identified the exact angles by which the British might take advantage of weaknesses in the fortifications. For example, walls facing in the directions from which the British would most naturally attack were nearly impenetrable, but the Americans had neglected areas with rougher terrain from which they did not expect an assault.
While Arnold was unsuccessful in removing the Great Chain, he whetted Clinton’s appetite by informing him that a well-loaded ship could break it. He also offered to provide detailed plans of the fortifications. 30 These plans were the reason why Arnold met with André.
As summer set in 1780, Arnold requested to meet with the British in order to finalize the arrangements for the surrender of West Point and to coordinate the plan of assault. Even though Washington had an uncanny ability to read people, he was clueless about Arnold’s scheming. He never suspected that the man who had fought so valiantly for his army would ever consider such duplicity. Arnold enjoyed free rein, and he turned to his friend Joshua Hett Smith to facilitate a final meeting with the British.
From a prosperous family of British-sympathizers, Smith was a lawyer of relatively low abilities yet high self-regard.31 He was described as a “timorous, prying, bustling sort of character” who wanted to “have a hand in weighty affairs” and who tried, in particular, to stay “on good terms with whomsoever was uppermost.”32 Since the British still appeared to be winning, it was unsurprising that Smith himself was suspected of sympathizing with them.33 He was rather homely with his sleepy eyes above a prominent nose and somewhat wild gray hair, but his small, feminine mouth would come in handy as part of a transvestite disguise.
Smith lived with his wife and children in a stately two-story home. Located about eighteen miles south of West Point, on the main route “where all communications passed from the eastern and southern states,” this house was ideally situated for Arnold’s purposes.34 From its elevated position, it offered a sweeping view of the ships passing on the Hudson. So the Smith home became the central location for Arnold’s plot.
Arnold and Smith had grown close during the time since the traitor’s transfer to West Point. A social climber who was eager to cultivate a relationship with someone of Arnold’s power, Smith had frequently entertained Benedict and Peggy with elaborate meals.35 While the Arnolds appeared to enjoy the friendship, the other Americans did not take as kindly to Smith. In fact, one of Arnold’s aides called him “a damned rascal, a scoundrel, and a spy.”36 In late September 1780, Arnold approached this scoundrel to arrange his meeting with André.
Adhering to strict orders from Arnold, Smith and his servants rowed under the cover of darkness, in a “silent manner,” to rendezvous with Arnold’s British contact.37 Their oars were muffled so as not to alert the American boats guarding the shores of the river. With the sky dimly lit by the bright stars, the crew cruised along the tranquil river, the waters of which were “unruffled except by the gentle current.”38 Although “[t]he night was serene and the tide favourable,” Smith was apprehensive about the clandestine mission.39
They approached a small British sloop-of-war called the Vulture .40 Smith presented a letter from Arnold to André, uncreatively code-named “John Anderson,” and together they returned to shore at approximately one o’clock that night. Arnold was waiting on the western shore of the river, hiding among the fir trees near the foot of Long Clove Mountain.41 There, in the pitch-black woods, Peggy’s dear old friend and her current husband finally met. Arnold did not extend him a warm welcome. Instead, they went right to work.
With only their discreet lanterns to shed light as they schemed, Arnold and André plotted the final preparations for the surrender of West Point. They orchestrated the moves of the attacking British forces and determined what orders Arnold would give to his American troops so he would appear loyal to the United States but nevertheless quickly surrender with minimal British bloodshed.42
The rendezvous lasted through the night, ending only when Smith interrupted to warn of the approaching dawn. Arnold handed André the fortification plans along with other intelligence, which the young man hid in his boots. They hurried back to the river, but it was too late to return André to the Vulture “without being discovered from either shore by the inhabitants, whose eyes were constantly watching the movements on the river, not only from the forts, but the surrounding shores.”43 As the sun’s first rays lit the sky, nearby American troops fired on the Vulture. Set partially ablaze in the rude awakening, the wounded boat limped downriver as flashes of fire pierced through the billowing smoke. The plan was botched. With his ship gone, André was trapped deep within hostile American territory. Arnold reluctantly decided to fall back to Smith’s house three miles away.
Back at Smith’s house that morning, Arnold, ever the astute tactician, quickly adapted his plan. He ordered André to remove his British officer uniform and put on a civilian coat provided by Smith, who was approximately the same size. Nervous about being caught as a disguised spy, “André, who had been undesignedly brought within [American] posts in the first instance, remonstrated warmly against this new and dangerous expedient.”44 Arnold insisted, and André had little choice but to go along.
Furnishing André with a passport, Arnold sent him to take a land route through American territory back to British-occupied New York City. Smith provided André with a horse and agreed to accompany him through the first and most dangerous part of the passage. This stretch in Westchester, New York, was a treacherous civil war zone fraught with “plunder, outrage, inhuman barbarity, and even murder” as patriots and Loyalists clashed.45 Many on both sides seized the lawlessness of war as an opportunity to exact revenge for old insults or merely to indulge in looting. This was not a safe neighborhood, to put it mildly.
With trepidation, Smith and André rode side by side along the dirt pathways. Soon into their journey, they were stopped and questioned by American patrols searching for enemy spies. Smith took the lead, and, presenting the passports that Arnold had provided, he explained to their inquisitors “that they were on the public services, on business of the highest import” to the American cause.46 Smith then had the nerve to threaten these interrogators that they “would be answerable for [André’s] detention one moment.”47 His brashness paid off. In fact, Smith was so successful in assuaging the Americans’ suspicions that one American colonel invited them to dine at his house. Unsurprisingly, André “seemed desirous to decline,” and they did.48
After days of riding and partaking in friendly conversation about books, music, and their desire to see an end to the war, Smith and André arrived at Pines Bridge. Smith expected that André would encounter fewer American forces past this point. As they ate breakfast porridge at a wayside cottage, Smith provided André with directions for the remainder of his journey back to Clinton’s post in New York City. Smith jovially paid the bill and they parted amicably, unaware that they would soon see each other again in far less cheerful circumstances—as prisoners at West Point.
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Commissions & Courts-Martial
At nine o’clock on the morning of Saturday, September 23, John André was riding down a wooded path towards safety behind British lines. At a narrowing in the road in Tarrytown, New York, just six miles from where he parted ways with Smith, three American militiamen suddenly leapt from the woods and seized his horse’s bridle.1 The three men had been playing cards by the road, hoping for such an opportunity to ride by. “The law of the state gave to the captors of any British subject, all his property,” according to Joshua Hett Smith’s account, “and of course, his horse, saddle, and bridle, were in the first instance a temptation to stop him on the least ground of suspicion, while he being alone, they were the more bold against an unarmed man.”2
André panicked. Since his captors were not in proper uniforms—they were a ragged bunch, with one wearing a faded Hessian jacket likely “borrowed” from a dead man—he did not know whether they were Loyalists or patriots. “At this critical moment, his presence of mind forsook him” and instead of producing his papers from Arnold and pretending to be an American on official military business, he asked the men whose side they were on. The wily men lied, stating that they were Loyalists.3 Fooled, André then divulged his true identity as a British officer and demanded that he be freed. This is precisely what the militiamen wanted to hear. They dragged him into the bushes.
André tried bribing the men with his gold watch and promises of cash, but this only made them more suspicious.4 The Americans stripped and searched him. In his stockings they found “a plan of the fortifications of West Point; a memorial from the engineer on the attack and defense of the place, returns of the garrison, cannon and stores; [and a] copy of the minutes of a council of war held by General Washington a few weeks before.”5 Only one of the men was literate, but they quickly surmised that they had stumbled upon something big. What they did not realize was just how far-reaching the conspiracy was. Even though the documents were in Arnold’s handwriting and pointed directly to his complicity, Arnold’s involvement in such treachery was so unfathomable that the commander of the New York militia stupidly reported André’s capture right back to the treasonous mastermind.
When Arnold received the news at West Point, he bounded into action. Desperate to escape before word of his involvement reached the garrison, he immediately ordered his horse to be saddled and a boat readied. Telling his wide-eyed wife Peggy that he “must fly to save his life without having time to explain,” Arnold bolted from the house and leapt onto his horse. Four of his light horsemen, unaware of what was transpiring, met him outside. They announced to their hurried superior that Washington, who had received intelligence of André’s capture, was approaching. Washington’s forces closing in, Arnold ordered the soldiers to stable their horses in order to slow their pursuit of him once they received word of his treachery. He then took a risky shortcut down to his boat, where, like a wild man, he threw his pistols onto the deck, jumped aboard, and commanded the boatmen to set off.6
He had not yet escaped Washington’s tightening noose. His boat was quickly stopped by an armed boat that Washington had dispatched. In the confusion, the ship’s crew had yet to receive their orders to detain Arnold, however. He told them to “go up to the house to get refreshment,” and when Washington arrived, to say that he would return before dinner. They fell for the ploy. Arnold got away from the wharf, but soon the armed vessel was in pursuit.7 With the Americans closing in on his small, unarmed boat, Arnold turned to his crew and promised them two gallons of rum if they hurried. The bewildered men raced to the Vulture. Once safely on the British gunboat, Arnold took his own boatmen prisoner. His daring flight had succeeded. America’s greatest traitor had escaped.
General Washington “was thrown into the greatest distress from the failure of so well concerted a plan, so near ending the rebellion, as it would have given [the British] all of the forts, half the army, and cut off all communication with the Southern and Eastern Provinces as also the French.”8 He was so shaken that he began to question who else from among his trusted officers might be involved. As he was pondering his next move, Washington was duped by Arnold’s cunning wife.
Peggy was in grave danger on account of her knowledge about the conspiracy, so she relied on her feminine wiles. When Washington’s men found her in the house, she put on a “most affecting scene,” masterfully acting as though Arnold’s treachery were such a shock that it had thrown her into a state of delirium.9 Not above showing some skin, Peggy opened her dress in feigned hysterics. She wailed and convulsed as she held her baby to her bosom. “One moment she raved, another she melted into tears,” lamenting Arnold’s supposed deception. “All the sweetness of beauty, all the loveliness of innocence, all the tenderness of a wife and all the fondness of a mother” worked to hoodwink Washington and his officers.10 The chivalrous general could not believe that such a beautiful, well-bred woman could be complicit in so nefarious a plot. Besides, her seemingly fragile mind made her appear to be an unlikely accomplice in so complicated a conspiracy.
Washington did not know whom he could trust. But despite his fear, he kept a cool head as he tried to gauge the extent of the treason. First, though, he had to defend West Point from the impending attack. He ordered up more troops to reinforce the fort. An American regiment, receiving the call at 1:00 A.M., marched sixteen miles through driving rain to secure West Point by sunrise.11 Then Washington turned to the matter of exacting justice. And he was out for blood.
At midnight on Monday, September 25, Joshua Smith lay in bed with his wife. He was exhausted, having gotten little rest since he had become embroiled in Arnold’s plot a few days earlier: he had been up all night keeping a lookout while Arnold and André conspired, and then shared a bed with the restless British officer as they traveled. But after he parted ways with his young charge, Smith returned to the confines of his stately home for some much-needed recuperation. As he lay surrounded by the comforts of his British fineries, his bedroom door was violently opened and the room filled with American soldiers.
The adrenaline-fueled young men immediately drove Smith out of bed by fixed bayonet and angrily ordered him to dress. His disorientation exceeded only by his terror, Smith obeyed. The household was “thrown into great confusion; the female part especially were in the deepest distress.”12 Once he was dressed, Smith was forced out the door without any explanation and marched for eighteen miles through the warm night. As dawn’s first rays shone on the horizon, the party arrived at a wealthy Tory’s home that Washington had commandeered. Smith was thrown into the guarded back room where irate soldiers questioned him intensely. For hours, Smith adamantly denied aiding the British. After a rough night and morning, he was hungry and exhausted. The soldiers placed him in a room with biscuits, but warned him—rather inhospitably—that he would be shot if he touched them.
Washington then entered to interrogate Smith regarding his involvement in the conspiracy. He demanded answers and coldly threatened to hang Smith if he did not open up. Smith was terrified by this enraged demigod fuming before him. Cowering in his chair, he contended that he was ignorant of the scheme to betray the American cause and was merely helping General Arnold on diplomatic business.
Washington did not believe him. The commander declared that he had evidence against Smith that was sufficient to impose a death sentence.13 Whether this was a bluff or merely his rage speaking is unclear, but on further reflection he decided to remand Smith to a court-martial proceeding. For although Washington was incensed, he was not one to act rashly. Since Smith was an American, Washington deferred to Congress’s authority in deciding how he should be brought to justice. As will be further discussed in Part V, American citizens were under the civil authorities’ control.14 But those politicians were not always forgiving—while he had escaped the gallows for the time being, Smith still faced a trial for his life.
Under the Articles of War passed in 1775, Congress made no provisions for trying spies.15 This was remedied on August 21, 1776, when Congress resolved:
All persons, not members of, nor owing allegiance to any of the United States of America . . . who shall be found lurking as spies in or about the fortifications or encampments of the armies of the United States . . . shall suffer death, according to the law and usage of nations . . . by sentence of a court-martial, or such other punishment as such court-martial shall direct.16
This resolution directed Washington to try foreign spies according to the rules of courts-martial.17 Congress followed this up with a resolution aimed at Loyalists, “authorizing the commander in chief of the army, to hear and try by courtmartial, any of the citizens of the United States who should harbour or [abet] any of the subjects or soldiers of the King of Great Britain.”18
The court-martial was a type of military court with origins dating back to thirteenth-century England, where King Edward I was striving to restore royal authority over the feudal barons. As part of this effort, he issued a royal prerogative asserting the power of the Crown to regulate and discipline the army. Military courts called courts-martial emerged to enable the military to carry out justice when soldiers violated the monarch’s orders. The republican Americans inherited this tradition but substituted congressional resolution for royal edict. In the new United States, court-martial trials were a legislative enactment governed by Congress.
The American courts-martial provided the accused person with “due process,” which is the legal term for the principles of fundamental fairness and justice used in hearing a prisoner’s case. Courts-martial sought to respect the rights of the defendant since these courts were meant to determine justice rather than merely dole out swift punishment. 19 In order to provide due process, Congress employed certain procedures to promote a fair trial.
First, Congress required that court-martial proceedings be conducted before a panel of thirteen commissioned officers, to decrease the likelihood of a skewed sample of biased jurors that may occur with a smaller group. Second, Congress placed special limitations on the panel’s composition based on the ranking of the accused. This was to ensure that jurors had the necessary seniority and insight to judge the defendant properly. Third, in order to promote impartiality, Congress forbade the officer convening the court-martial—in Smith’s case, General Washington—from sitting on the panel of jurors as president.20 This twist from the traditional British system helped to prevent the commander in chief from influencing the other officers to convict the accused. Finally, the members of the court typically swore an oath to “duly administer justice . . . without partiality, favor, or affection,” and to use their “conscience, the best of [their] understanding, and the custom of war in like cases.”21
Although courts-martial historically granted no right to counsel,22 they often involved thorough inquiries with many witnesses called, and provided the accused with opportunity to defend himself. When a man fell within the realm of court-martial proceedings, he was tried according to Congress’s rules and the accompanying guarantees of a fair trial. He had a fighting chance of acquittal. This was not always the case for those unfortunate enough to be brought instead before so-called “military commissions.”
A military commission was similar to a court-martial in the sense that it was likewise a military proceeding to dispense punishment for offenses. But while these commissions often mimicked some of the procedures of courts-martial, they did not need to provide the accused with the same protections for a fair trial.23 A military commission traditionally served as a “quick and dirty” way to eliminate the due process protections used in courts-martial and criminal trials.24 According to a nineteenth-century treatise, “Its proceedings are not a trial, nor, is its opinion, (when it expresses one,) a judgment.”25 Indeed, such war courts were more summary in their proceedings and they would not be deemed illegal even if they left out details required by courts-martial.26 Military commissions involved a relatively superficial inquiry, which usually resulted in a swift hanging of the accused.
While courts-martial were held under rules passed by Congress, military commissions were held according to the commander in chief ’s discretion and did not necessarily provide the accused with any protections whatsoever.27 These tribunals were often more like investigative bodies than formal courts, with procedures largely left to the whims of the commander. They were not bound by Congress’s court-martial rules since the commander made up his own, adapting them to the occasion. And his decision was final.28
Washington’s actions in the fall of 1780 suggest that whether the commander was obligated to try a prisoner by a congressional court-martial or had the option to convene a special military commission depended on whether the accused was American or British. Nationality could thus mean the difference between life and death.
From the beginning of the war, Washington ordered that prisoners’ cases be examined to determine “who of them were subject to Military Jurisdiction and who came properly under the cognizance of civil power.”29 He was in the awkward position of having to juggle congressional and state laws as well as international customs, since the relatively new national legislature did not yet possess the legal foundation to trump laws derived from other sources.30 So while he took care to respect civilian control over military tribunals where appropriate, Washington admitted that he was operating in a confused state of affairs. The process of examining individual cases, he confessed, was “somewhat irregular, and out of the common order to things” due to the chaos of war. He recognized, and Congress agreed, that “the distinction between Civilian and Military power” could not, in the circumstances, be maintained “with that exactness which every friend to Society must wish.”31 Nevertheless, Washington conscientiously did his best to protect the rights of his fellow Americans. As Hamilton wrote, “His Excellency desires to avoid nothing more, than . . . the least Encroachment either upon the rights of the Citizens, or of the Magistrate.”32
“His Excellency” was unique among the great revolutionary leaders of history in that he never declared martial law. He demonstrated that “a republican government could fight effectively in the face of overwhelming odds without resorting to the suspension of civil liberties.”33 Martial law, dating back as far as the fourteenth century in England, was in reality “not a law, but something rather indulged than allowed as a law,” and only in times of crisis.34 Basically, martial law enabled the military to create its own expedient rules, suppressing any legal rights so chosen. It was “not necessarily consistent with the law of the land, but rather provided for a rough, summary justice . . . on the grounds that ‘neither the time nor place suffer the tariance of pleading.’”35 But even while he was losing the war on various fronts, Washington was so committed to defending the rights of Americans that he made time for “the tariance of pleading.”
Washington was intent on showing that a republican commander could effectively fight a war without trampling on civil authority.36 Rather than rule by military decree, he deferred to Congress and the state governments on civil matters. He had attained broad authority over the enemy and war tactics, but not over his fellow Americans. Although there certainly were some deplorable irregularities in the way his officers tried and even executed American civilians outside the direction of civil authorities, Washington opposed such actions, believing that the “temper of the Americans and the principles on which the present contest turns, will not countenance proceedings of this nature.”37
For most crimes, Americans were to be tried in civilian courts, with fair trials and representation as decided by Congress and the states.38 Washington supported this policy, stating that civil authorities “best know the Charge and Merit of the Case, consequently should ultimately determine it.”39 When it came to the crime of spying, Congress ordered military trials for Americans and Brits alike. Specifically, Congress ordered Washington to try the accused by a court-martial.40 Showing great deference to Congress and the states, he wrote, “it is not my desire, neither indeed is it within my power” to interfere with the determinations of the civil authority.41
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American Military Justice
Joshua Hett Smith, being an American, fell within Congress’s purview. Therefore, despite Washington’s knee-jerk urge to hang him “on yonder tree,” Smith was afforded a trial.1 Upon his capture, adhering to their resolution of August 21, 1776, Congress swiftly passed a specific resolution that called for Smith to be tried in a court-martial. This meant his case would receive a thorough inquiry rather than the quick summary judgment of a military commission.2 Thus, even though he faced a military trial for his crimes, he would still receive the protections that Congress set up.
Smith was soon brought before a panel of military officers. The sensational trial was held at the Old Dutch Church in the hamlet of Tappan, New York. In this dusty little room, Smith stood terrified as the court-martial commenced. He was formally charged with ten counts, which, upon his request, were consolidated into one: “You stand charged with aiding and abetting Benedict Arnold, late major general in our service, in a combination with the enemy, for the purpose of taking, seizing, and killing, such of the loyal soldiers of these United States, as were garrisoned in West Point.”3 He was in deep trouble.
During the initial proceedings, Smith was allowed to make his case for citizens being amenable only to the nonmilitary courts. He sought a civilian court because it would provide additional protections and trial by jury, thereby giving him a better chance of acquittal. He argued that Congress and General Washington, by bringing him before this court-martial, were effectively making “the military paramount to the civil authority.”4
After deliberation, the court-martial ultimately rejected this argument. Refusing him a civilian trial, they stated that Smith would be tried by the resolve of Congress, “authorizing the commander in chief of the army, to hear and try by court-martial, any of the citizens of the United States, who should harbor or secret any of the subjects or soldiers of the King of Great Britain . . . .” Over Smith’s objection that they were establishing “a precedent dangerous to the liberties” of Americans, the court-martial began with hearing testimony.5
In what turned out to be a rather thorough inquiry lasting six weeks,6 Smith had a chance to question the many witnesses called by the court.7 He did his best to discredit them, but their evidence against him seemed damning. Some of the Continental Army’s top brass provided their accounts of the events surrounding Smith’s arrest and described him as a knowledgeable conspirator in Arnold’s plot. One such officer presented his evidence “with acrimonious severity, and malignant bitterness.” 8 The odds were stacked against Smith. Like Washington, these officers dearly wanted a conviction—not only for the sake of justice but also to dissuade future American traitors. Despite their desires, however, Smith was given the opportunity to rebut their accusations. He maintained that he was ignorant of the broader plot and believed he was aiding the American cause by following Arnold’s orders.
Testifying subsequently to the top brass were the two boatmen, Samuel and Joseph Colquhoun, who had rowed Smith out to the Vulture to pick up André mere days before. They were poor, hardworking men who spoke with “plainness, perspicuity, and firmness.”9 These simple boatmen were plunged right into the middle of a sensational trial. In fact, the night before he was to testify, Samuel was purportedly “taken into a field by some of General Washington’s officers,” who offered him a purse of gold if he would testify against Smith. He allegedly replied that “although he was a poor man, he could not swear falsely for money . . . and, if made rich by such means, . . . that he should be miserable for life.”10
Both Samuel and Joseph testified to all they knew and nothing more: that they had rowed Smith out to the Vulture, returned to shore with André, and then were unable to bring André back to the Vulture due to the approaching dawn and their own fatigue. They explained that they understood the mission to be “irregular and hazardous” but were assured it was well known to the American side.11 Their testimony did not further condemn Smith, but it did not exonerate him either. Washington’s strong case against him remained on track.
The prosecution next sought to refute Smith’s contention that he was ignorant of the plot. The court introduced witnesses who had observed him interacting with André as they traveled back towards New York City. These witnesses testified to what “appeared to them an intimacy between Major André and [Smith], that was of a very long standing.”12 This was damning to Smith since it suggested that he had long been in cahoots with André and Arnold, rather than being a pawn who unwittingly aided in one small task. To further demonstrate the absurdity of Smith’s plea of ignorance, the prosecution finally brought forth the coat that he had lent André to cover his British uniform. However Smith tried to argue it, this coat showed that he had helped disguise an enemy officer. In all, this case against Smith was a formidable one.
Smith, mustering his modest lawyering skills, presented his own defense for forty-eight hours. Standing alone in the small, dusty chamber, he reiterated that he was merely a private citizen obeying the commands of an American military leader, Arnold. He adamantly contended that he never knew he was partaking in any treachery. In the face of testimony against him by top military officials and other witnesses, as well as physical evidence implicating him, Smith argued that no one could definitively prove that he knew of Arnold’s plot. However, “[t]he reasons he assigned were improbable and his attempts at an explanation only drew a deeper shade over his candor.”13
Desperate to place a high burden of proof on the prosecution, he next argued that he should be presumed innocent until proven guilty, for “it was better ninety-nine criminals should pass unpunished, than that one innocent man should unjustly suffer.”14
Seemingly, the court-martial agreed with his contention that “the law demanded” his conviction to be “supported by the strongest testimony.” 15 After a fortnight of deliberation, the court-martial determined that the evidence presented was not enough to prove definitively that Smith knew of Arnold’s treacherous plot.16 Even though Washington had “anxiously meditated [his] destruction,” Smith was “favoured by the Law.”17
To the shock of many, Smith was acquitted. But he was not released. He was taken into custody by civil authorities on additional charges of aiding Loyalists. He did not remain behind bars for long, however. A slippery character, he soon escaped from prison disguised as a woman—perhaps the ugliest ever to walk the streets of New York—and fled to Manhattan, where he was protected by the Loyalist population. 18 Smith’s co-conspirator did not enjoy such a colorful ending to the saga. André, though accused in the same plot, was not afforded such a thorough inquiry because he was a foreigner. And so he met with a far less fortunate fate.
Days after André’s capture, Washington wrote, “Major André was taken under such circumstances as would have justified the most summary proceedings against him. I determined however to refer his case to the examination and decision of a Board of General Officers.”19 Despite the congressional resolution calling for spies to be tried by court-martial, Washington viewed it as his prerogative instead to try a foreign enemy combatant without “the formality of a regular trial.”20 André was accused in the very same plot as Smith, but Washington felt no obligation to provide him with any of the same legal protections. Although Washington’s thirst for vengeance was foiled by Smith’s court-martial, he need not worry about due process or such a high level of proof in his case against André, and “the general was determined to hang him.”21
Major André’s military commission was worlds apart from Smith’s court-martial. Whereas Smith enjoyed a systematic inquiry, the format of André’s commission and the rights allotted to him were left to Washington’s whim.22 His “board of inquiry” was not sworn to administer justice, but was simply meant to “examine and inquire.”23 Always meticulous about proper procedure, Washington charged the board with reviewing the evidence of André’s conspiracy with Arnold and his subsequent capture within American lines “in a disguised habit, with a pass under a feigned name.”24 He appointed a board of fourteen military officers to dictate the young man’s fate.
“The Board was a virtual who’s who of revolutionary figures” and news of the trial quickly found its way into headlines on both sides of the Atlantic.25 The gripping story of the villainous Arnold’s treachery and the dashing young André’s capture was disseminated widely through the cities, towns, villages, and farms, from the backwoods of America to metropolitan London. At the epicenter of the shockwaves was the hapless André, who stood before America’s top military brass inside the same stone church where Smith was tried.
In this makeshift courtroom, André’s life hung in the balance as he faced the “glowing and prosecuting enmity of General Greene.”26 Washington ordered the board “as speedily as possible, to report a precise state of his case, together with [their] opinion on the light in which he ought to be considered, and the punishment that ought to be inflicted.”27 Although “no precise charge was exhibited against him,” the investigation quickly went ahead.28
The United States’ case was based almost entirely on hearsay,29 as no witnesses were brought forward, “nor could any be brought who had the slightest knowledge of the secret part of [the Arnold] transaction.” Instead, the board relied on the written “statements of some facts” from André’s captors regarding his disguise and the documents found in his possession.30 To his dismay and frustration, André had no opportunity to confront these witnesses against him.31 He just stood, choking back his fear and resolutely believing in his own innocence.
When the board questioned him directly, André spoke passionately but was ultimately “defenseless, friendless.”32 Though he had no legal training, he was offered no assistance in defending himself. 33 He badly needed it. The only counsel he did receive was the mere suggestion that he “not hasten his replies to the interrogatories . . . and if the questions appear to him to be worded with ambiguity, to demand a fair explanation of them, which would be granted.”34
The board primarily delved into the transcripts of André’s answers to previous interrogatories during his captivity, in which he argued that he could not be treated as a spy since he had disembarked from the British gunship “in discharge of his duty, acting in obedience to his sovereign’s proclamation . . . to receive the terms and conditions of a returning rebel,” Arnold.35 He argued that once he was trapped ashore by the Vulture’s retreat downriver, he had become a “prisoner of war subject to Arnold’s orders.”36 He claimed that he merely complied with Arnold’s command to disguise his clothing because he was a prisoner attempting to escape from hostile territory.
Clinton and Arnold wrote letters on André’s behalf, pleading that he could not be considered a spy since he had come ashore “under the sanction of a passport of flag of truce” given to him by Arnold, who at the time had as much authority to extend the invitation “as General Washington himself.”37
After reviewing the evidence, such as it was, the board of officers entered into debate. The “amiable, virtuous, and humane” Baron von Steuben argued that André ought not be condemned.38 He reasoned that according to historical and contemporary writers on the subject, “an enemy, having once entered the lines of an enemy . . . under the sanction of the flag, . . . his personal safety becomes guaranteed from violation . . . .”39 The other officers were less interested in historical precedents, and less moved by “feelings of humanity, and sentiments of justice.” Steuben was overruled by a majority of the board.40
Although Washington and his officers knew that the real villain was the elusive Arnold, they sought to exact vengeance where they could.41 Within days of his capture, the board ruled that “Major John André, adjunct general of the British Army, ought to be considered as a spy from the enemy, and that, agreeably to the law and usage of nations, it is their opinion that he ought to suffer death.”42
André had little chance to mount a defense in this ad hoc system. Without a formal charge, a unanimous vote, representation, a thorough investigation of the background evidence, a right to confrontation, or even direct questioning of pertinent witnesses, he was sentenced to the gallows.43 And with that, the young officer was quickly readied for execution.
Meanwhile, André’s friends “were incessant in their efforts to rescue him from his impending fate.”44 Clinton and Arnold both wrote letters to Washington urging him to refrain from taking his rage out on André when Arnold was his real target. They implored Washington to trade André for American prisoners they held. Arnold even threatened that although “Clinton had never put to death any person for the breach of the rules of war,” he held many American prisoners whom he could execute in retaliation. Washington, however, was unwavering in his resolve. He would only trade André for Arnold.
Clinton despised the traitorous Arnold and desperately wished to save André, but he could not renege on his agreement to protect Arnold lest he discourage other American defectors and appear treacherous himself. Arnold was safe. Though the Americans hoped he would “undergo a punishment comparatively more severe” than André’s in “the permanent, increasing torment of a mental hell,” Arnold instead lived out the rest of his life after the war in England.45 André did not.
André approached his impending doom with “the manly firmness, and complacency of countenance, which spoke the serene composure of his mind.”46 He merely requested that he be shot rather than hanged, since the latter method of execution was perceived as more disgraceful. Washington, though he pitied the young man, refused this request since “the practice and usage of war . . . were against the indulgence.”47 Washington was not being cruel, but pragmatic: he needed to present a strong front against such treachery in order to win the war. He felt sorry for the young man, but had to execute him for the good of the nation. At no other time did he obey “the stern mandates of duty and policy” more reluctantly.48
André’s execution was held at midday on October 2. Less than two weeks after he had disembarked from the Vulture with Smith that late summer night, he prepared himself for a swift death behind the old church in which he was convicted.49 Dressed in full crimson British uniform, he marched to his death, “the gland of his throat sinking and swelling as though he choked with emotion.”50 The American soldiers lining his path were “astonished at the dignity of his deportment.” As he passed along, “a glow of sympathy pervaded the breasts of the soldiers, and the tears of sensibility were present in every eye.”51 Like Washington, “they deemed him a victim of Arnold’s treachery.”52
When André climbed a small hill and spotted the gallows, he stopped cold. He had held out hope that he would instead be executed in a more honorable fashion: by gunshot. He asked, “What! Must I die in this manner?”53 He quickly regained his composure and, though visibly disgusted by the lowly means of his execution, bowed to the American officers as he stepped up onto his own black coffin.
When the clumsy hangman approached to place the noose around his neck, André vehemently swatted the man’s hands away, took the noose, unpinned his collar, and placed the rope around his own neck. Pacing back and forth on top of his coffin, the young man looked up at the pole and then took in “the whole scenery by which he was surrounded.”54 Through welling eyes, he peered over the heads of the crowd, out to where the leaves on the trees were inching towards the explosion of color that arrived each fall and sparrows busily braced their nests for the coming cold. This was the last sight he would ever see, for he then tied the blindfold over his own eyes and implored the crowd to bear witness to the world that he “died like a brave man!”55 With that, the commanding officer gave the signal and the cart bearing André’s coffin violently jerked out from underneath him. Due to the height of the gallows, André fell, his neck cracked, and he quickly perished. The crowd watched in morbid fascination as his body silently swung in the early autumn breeze.
After cutting his corpse down for burial, an American soldier found a poem in André’s breast pocket that he had written just days before, as he contemplated his own demise:
Hail, sovereign love that first began
The scheme to rescue fallen man!
Hail, matchless free, eternal grace
That gave my soul a hiding place.
. . . . . . . . . . . .
A few more rolling suns at most
Will land me on fair Canaan’s coast;
Where I shall sing the song of grace,
And see my glorious Hiding Place.56
After his hanging, Congress demonstrated its approval of the seemingly unauthorized military commission by cheering Washington’s decision and the fact that “insidious designs of the enemy [had been] baffled, and the United States rescued from impending danger.”57 But while Americans were overjoyed that Arnold’s plot had been foiled and justice served upon one of the conspirators, they nevertheless mourned the young man. Hamilton captured the sentiment when he wrote, “never, perhaps, did any man suffer death with more justice or deserve it less.” John André “perished universally esteemed and lamented; indeed, a general sorrow at his fate pervaded all ranks of people through the continent of America.”58
Washington was among those who mourned André, writing, “When youth, adorned with such rare accomplishments, is consigned prematurely to the grave, all our sensibilities are roused, and for a moment human society seems to sustain a deprivation by the melancholy stroke.”59 The British Army’s sense of loss was coupled with rage, as “mingled sensations of horror, grief, sympathy, and revenge” ran throughout the forces.60 A wave of anguish swept from the United States across the Atlantic, where Anna Seward, André’s dear friend and the sister of his long-lost beloved Honora, powerfully captured the spirit:
Remorseless Washington! The day shall come
Of deep repentance for this barbarous doom;
When injured André’s mem’ry shall inspire
A kindling army of reistless fire . . . .
Washington’s military commission had spoken. John André was dead. Benedict Arnold’s plot was unraveled. The revolutionary cause had survived to fight another day. And the commander had defined American military justice.61
The Military Academy at West Point exists today as a testament to America’s life-and-death struggle. What is now perhaps one of the safest place on earth was once the place where the future of the nation teetered in the balance. As far as Washington was concerned, the military post at West Point was the most important one in the United States during the Revolutionary War.62 In a tale of treachery and tragedy, the crucial fort was nearly sold out to the enemy, and the traitor escaped, but a military commission dispensed swift justice on a co-conspirator. Washington’s response to the crisis was ad hoc. It was merciless. It was condemned by many. Nevertheless, the patriotic security and serenity that now pervade the campus of the United States Military Academy stem directly from the actions of the gallant man depicted on a horse in front of the dining hall.
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HIS EXCELLENCY’S LOYAL SUBJECTS
“The immediate objects are the total distruction and
devastation of their settlements and the capture of as many
prisoners of every age and sex as possible. . . . [L]ay waste
all the settlements around [so] that the country may not be
merely overrun but destroyed. I need not urge the necessity
of using every method in your power to gain intelligence
of the enemy’s strength motions and designs.”1
—GEORGE WASHINGTON, 1779
For over two centuries, a majestic bur oak has stood sentinel to a forgotten past. Much like the memories of the ground it marks, this old tree’s vitality has faded with time. The giant hangs on to life amidst the stumps of fallen kin, its gnarly gray bark regally hovering above a green panorama of rolling grass. The old oak’s leaves seem to let out a whisper as a May breeze interrupts the silence of the little park. So quiet and abandoned, this tree is a place where excitement comes to die.
It was not always this way. Quite to the contrary, the oak guards a secret history of incredible depravity and raging vengeance. Called the “Torture Tree,” this old giant marks the location where Native Americans brutalized American soldiers and Washington retaliated with “total destruction and devastation.”2
The Torture Tree’s history illustrates Washington’s ardent defense of his countrymen’s rights, even if it meant wreaking devastation on his enemies. The following chapters present the gory details.
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Total Ruin
Washington demanded annihilation. Finally living up to his old Native American name, “Devourer of Villages,” he ordered the “total ruin” of the Native American settlements in northwest New York. This was not Washington’s first time dealing with the Seneca tribe that dominated the region. Ironically, these were the people of the late Half King Tanacharison—the ax-happy warrior who had ensnared Washington in the Jumonville debacle so many years earlier. The commander certainly displayed no affection for his former ally’s tribe. To the contrary, he ordered that their entire nation “not be merely overrun but destroyed.”1
Known as the Onöndowága’ or “great hill people,” the Seneca lived off their fields’ grain and forests’ game. As the primary keepers of the homes and farms, women played a prominent role in their society: they chose the tribe’s (male) chief. While the women looked after the home front, the men hunted, developed new settlements, traded, and made war. Unfortunately for these women, the Seneca men decided to make war against Washington.
Along with their Loyalist allies, the Seneca and five allied tribes launched attacks on American patriots throughout the region. The British, of course, were behind this plot. King George III promised the Native Americans their old lands in exchange for support against the American rebels. Eager to seize this opportunity, the six tribes ended their neutrality and began slaughtering patriots, taking their livestock, and burning their homes.
On a hot July day in 1778, the Native Americans and Loyalists moved south into a gorgeous valley in eastern Pennsylvania. Between two mountain ranges, the Wyoming Valley was kept lush by the Susquehanna River. Here, the American settlers, along with their cattle and farmlands, flourished on the river’s fresh waters. Isolated from the horrible war to the east, these patriots enjoyed bountiful harvests and nature’s tranquility. But their visitors would put a swift end to their happy existence.
When the Americans learned that their “paradise of beauty and fertility” had been invaded, they were quick to defend their homes: “the whole population flew to arms. Grandfathers and their aged sons, boys, and even women, seized such weapons as were at hand, and joined the soldiery.”2 This untrained mob advanced towards the trespassers, intent on repelling them. But the invaders had devised a deadly plan.
As the Native Americans lay unseen amid the riverbank’s tall marsh grasses, the Loyalists coaxed the Americans into a frontal assault. Seeing their traitorous countrymen before them, the irate patriots took the bait and charged. But suddenly, the Native Americans “sprang forward like wounded tigers” from the grass.3 With their darker skin, flowing black hair, and foreign clothing that displayed limbs toned and tanned by a lifetime of hunting, they appeared almost otherworldly to the terrified patriots. Providing “no quarter,” the tribes mowed down the patriots in close, gruesome combat.4 The bloody forty-five-minute clash was described in the following poem:
Scarce had he utter’d—when Heaven’s virge extreme
Reverberates the bomb’s descending star,
And sounds that mingled laugh,—and shout,—and scream,—
To freeze the blood in once discordant jar
Rung to the pealing thunderbolts of war.
Whoop after whoop with rack the ear assail’d;
As if unearthly fiends had burst their bar;
While rapidly the marksman’s shot prevail’d:—
And aye, as if for death, some lonely trumpet wail’d.5
By nightfall on that horrible day, the fighting had ceased and the patriots were utterly defeated. But while “[d]arkness put an end to the conflict,” it only “increased the horrors”: according to patriot sources, the American prisoners “were tortured and murdered. At midnight sixteen of them were arranged around a rock, and strongly held by the savages, when a half-breed woman, called Queen Esther, using a tomahawk and club alternately, murdered the whole band.”6
The victorious Native Americans and Loyalists then “spread over the plains, and with torch, tomahawk, and scalping-knife made it an absolute desolation. Scarcely a dwelling or an outbuilding was left unconsumed; not a field of corn was left standing; not a life was spared that the weapons of the savages could reach.”7 Tales of torture, barbarity, and even cannibalism quickly spread throughout the region.8 The area’s remaining patriots deserted their homes in a panic. One eyewitness wrote, “I never in my life saw such scenes of distress. The river and the roads leading down it were covered with men, women and children, flying for their lives . . . .”9 The Loyalists and Native Americans spread terror and murder, turning the whole region into a “dark and bloody ground.”10
This atrocity would not go unanswered. Washington saw the defense of his countrymen’s lives and liberty as so crucial that he diverted a quarter of his sorely needed troops to this frontier mission. And to lead this operation, he turned to his quarrelsome underling, Major General John Sullivan.
A vain and ambitious lawyer, Sullivan was not a popular man. The hardworking son of Irish immigrants, he had set up the only law practice in the rural town of Durham, New Hampshire, at the tender age of twenty-four. This did not make him friends, however. He soon became the town pariah on account of his penchant for suing his neighbors.11
The brash young man became embroiled in multiple foreclosure disputes, making a small fortune at the expense of the townsfolk. Needless to say, he was rather detested around this agrarian community. Fed up with this obnoxious attorney, his neighbors eventually sued him for “Oppressive Extortive Behavior.” But the crafty Sullivan defeated their lawsuits and even dared to countersue for libel. Despite suffering multiple mob attacks, he pressed on and won over thirty-five legal actions. And in doing so, he attained financial success while still in his twenties.12 But this was not enough. Beneath a black mane and a high brow, his dark eyes were fixated on personal advancement.
The never-satisfied Sullivan next sought power. He slowly rehabilitated his reputation in the region and managed to curry favor with the political elite of New Hampshire. On the eve of the Revolution, Sullivan renounced his support for the Crown and emerged as an ardent patriot. Harnessing New Hampshire’s patriotic fervor, he convinced the New Hampshire legislature to appoint him to the Continental Congress. There he sided with the radical Massachusetts representatives’ calls for liberty and made known his eagerness for armed resistance. For his ardent patriotism and militant background, he was awarded an officer’s commission in the new Continental Army. The young lawyer relished the fight.
Washington acknowledged that Sullivan was “active, spirited, and Zealously attach’d to the Cause,” but noted that his performance in leading troops was mixed.13 Sullivan’s dearth of military accomplishment would not temper his ambition, however. Ever the argumentative attorney, he quarreled with Washington and Congress over promotions. Notwithstanding his mediocre performance, he took great umbrage at the fact that he was not granted a higher rank. At one point, Washington became so exasperated with Sullivan’s “unjustifiable Suspicions” of being wronged that he told him, “No other officer of rank in the whole army has so often conceived himself neglected, slighted and ill-treated as you have done, and none I am sure has had less cause than yourself to entertain such ideas.”14 So when it came time for Washington to send one of his officers far out into the wilderness, he sent the pesky Sullivan.
Eager to prove himself and win a promotion, Sullivan led 5,000 men on Washington’s scorched-earth campaign against the tribes. Washington had ordered him, “you will not by any means, listen to any overture of peace before the total ruin of their settlements is effected.”15 Thus, the fighting Irishman began his march, beating back the tribes and destroying their villages throughout the summer of 1779. At first, Sullivan’s mission went swimmingly—he soon boasted to Washington that he had destroyed forty towns and burned their surrounding farmlands.16 But, as usual, Sullivan eventually ran into trouble. More precisely, he got lost.
Sullivan was seeking the Seneca capital, Genesee Castle. Located in a remote region in northwestern New York State, Genesee was a “beautifully situated” village of 128 homes, “mostly large and elegant.” It was “encircled with a clear flat, which extended for a number of miles, where the most extensive fields of corn waving, and every kind of vegetable that can be conceived.”17 Washington wanted this bountiful haven wiped off the map, but Sullivan had to find it first.
Arguing with his guides over Genesee Castle’s location, Sullivan dispatched a scouting party. They eventually found the capital, but it was six miles farther away than Sullivan’s team realized, resulting in a delay that the scouts could not afford. As the sun rose through the clouds on that raw September morning, they found themselves deep in hostile territory without the cover of darkness. Proceeding anxiously back towards Sullivan’s camp, the thirty American scouts were intercepted by a force of four hundred Native Americans and Loyalists. 18 The vastly outnumbered patriots fired valiantly from a grove of trees, but were quickly overwhelmed.
The two leading American scouts were taken prisoner, stripped naked, and tied to a hardy young oak.
In a vengeful rage, the Native Americans inflicted on them gruesome “malice & savage barbarity,” some of it “too shocking to relate.”19 According to multiple patriot accounts (which did tend to demonize the tribes), the captors were careful to keep the men alive “in order to heighten [their] misery & satisfy their revenge,” as they whipped them, tore off their fingernails, stabbed them with spears, cut out their tongues, and plucked out their eyes.20 They then allegedly took special care to skin one man’s genitals, partially detach them, and leave them hanging from his body. After suffering “other tortures which decency will not permit . . . mention,” the captives finally found relief only in their beheadings.21 Sullivan’s troops arrived later that day to find pieces of their fellow patriots scattered around the “Torture Tree.”
Horrified and outraged, they razed Genesee Castle. Although the oak survived, little else did—the Americans burned down the whole village and all the surrounding farms they could find. Then they pressed on with their mission of annihilation, leaving a trail of “devastation, destruction, flames and death.”22 They searched the whole region for Native American settlements, tracing “[e]very creek and river,” to ensure that there was “not a single town left.”23 After his force had destroyed an estimated fifty towns, including 1,200 homes,24 Sullivan reported back to the Continental Army that he had completed Washington’s “extermination of the original lords of this vast empire.”25
Washington had effectively answered the Native American threat. This episode seemingly shows him as a ruthless commander who would do anything to win the war, but that was not the case. To the contrary, he highly valued individuals’ rights—as long as those individuals were American. The “Native American” peoples were not viewed as “American.” (Indeed, the term “Native American” would not be coined until centuries later.) Washington saw these tribes as a “cruel and bloodthirsty enemy” that brutally massacred American settlers and destroyed their property.26 And so Washington annihilated them.
To Washington, the Native American attacks were not just another horror of war; they were a grave affront, and as commander in chief, he had a duty to counter it. Ardent in his belief in the sanctity of American rights, he would defend his countrymen with a vengeance.
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Band of Brethren
As commander, Washington saw himself as the guardian of American liberty; but, on the flip side of the coin, he had far less respect for his enemies’ liberty. Washington treated men quite differently depending on their nationality.
During the Revolutionary War, nationality was a tricky and somewhat fluid notion. For the first year of the war—from the Battle of Lexington to the start of the disastrous New York campaign—the “Americans” were technically British subjects. It was not until the Continental Congress issued the Declaration of Independence on July 4, 1776, that the Americans formally renounced their place within the British Empire. At that point, Americans would no longer be royal “subjects”; instead, they became “citizens.”
The notion of citizenship was still a developing one, but it had a long history. The concept harks back to the ancient Greek city-states, particularly democratic Athens. In the fourth century B.C., Aristotle defined a citizen as “he who has the power to take part in the deliberative or judicial administration of any state.”1 Of course, this privilege was restricted to Greek male property owners.
Such men had the right to vote and to hold office, but with these rights came duties: to pay taxes, serve in the military, and participate in their own self-governance. This meant not merely voting, typically conducted by a show of arms “naked to the shoulder,”2 but also being present, active, and vocal in the life of the city. In fact, the Greeks had a term for those who did not actively participate in their democracy: idiotai.3
The Romans adopted a similar concept of citizenship, calling it civitas. Under the Roman Empire, citizenship grew more expansive, guaranteeing rights and protections of law. But many of these notions were lost as Rome disintegrated.
During Europe’s medieval era from the fifth to the fifteenth century, a sense of citizenship existed in some free cities, but the concept of national citizenship was practically nonexistent.4 Instead, society revolved more around individuals’ feudal obligations to the nobles who controlled the land on which they worked. Ordinary people were “subjects” of a ruler and had few rights.5
In the eighteenth century, the Western political world still clung to trappings of a sovereign-subject relationship. The members of the English king’s community were regarded as dependents who were afforded defense against outside aggressors in return for unwavering loyalty to the Crown. Under this tradition inherited by the American colonists, there was a general sense that there should be a distinction between outsiders, to whom the king owed nothing, and the king’s subjects, who had a right to protection.
Analogized to the bond between parent and child, this king-subject relationship was one in which the subject held a “natural” allegiance to the king. This relationship was deemed immutable: the subject owed “lasting obedience to his natural superior, the king.”6 The Americans, however, bristled against this notion of perpetual allegiance.7 They rejected the perception of the king as a father figure to whom they owed a natural, unending loyalty. Instead, they developed the idea that the community owed allegiance only insofar as the government protected their rights. And King George III, along with Parliament, was not protecting theirs.
Inspired by the revival of classical political philosophy that began in the Renaissance, the Americans embraced the relatively radical idea of citizenship. They sought to emulate ancient Greek democracy and the Roman Republic and likewise empower the people to participate in all aspects of government. However, just as in ancient Greece, not all types of people were considered citizens. The backbone of the new American republic was to be white men, while slaves and Native Americans were excluded. Moreover, white women were disfranchised citizens who could not vote or hold office.8 Instead, their role was to raise sons with the civic virtue required to govern the nation.
The white, male American citizens owed their allegiance not to some monarch, as “subjects” did, but to each other.9 The citizens of the United States were to be their own masters and, together, to strive for the betterment of their country. A land of idiotai was to be avoided at all costs. Thus, American citizens were expected to fulfill their civic duties, which included remaining informed and actively improving their republic. Self-government meant hard work, but along with these duties came privileges.
In some respects, American citizenship was a club. One congressman characterized the American citizenry as a “band of brethren, united to each other by the strongest ties, . . . attached to the same principles of government, very similar in their manners and customs.”10 Being a part of this band provided certain perks: citizens were guaranteed their natural right to “life, liberty, and property.”11 It was the government’s duty to protect these rights, and Washington, as commander in chief, served as the defender of citizens’ rights in wartime.
This club of citizenship was so unaccustomed at the time that Thomas Jefferson, in an early draft of the Declaration of Independence, referred to the American people as “subjects.” But he remedied this mistake with zeal. While he simply crossed out other errors in the draft, “subjects” was the only word that he obliterated with the furious strokes of his pen.12 He was so intent on removing that word because it signaled loyalty to King George III. The Americans wished to renounce their allegiance to the British Crown and declare themselves citizens of the new United States of America. With the Declaration of Independence, the American people collectively naturalized everyone living in the states (except those of African descent and Native Americans) and automatically made them United States citizens. 13
The Declaration basically formalized the prevailing notion that “Americans” were those who had lived in the colonies prior to the outbreak of war. In keeping with the general xenophobia common at the time, those who had recently emigrated from Britain were often viewed with suspicion, however. For example, Charles Lee was an Englishman who had moved to America only three years before the war. Even though his military qualifications were superior to those of the Virginia-born Washington, his relatively recent arrival—along with his many other faults—made Lee a less desirable candidate for commander in chief.14 But while newcomers were often distrusted, they were still generally considered Americans. Surprisingly, the same largely held true for Loyalists.
Not even a clear majority of white males living in the United States actively supported the Revolution at the time. About 40 to 45 percent of them were active patriots, while approximately the same numbers where indifferent or uncommitted. The final 15 to 20 percent supported the British as Loyalists.15 This posed a dilemma for the Americans: quashing their fellow Americans’ rights ran afoul of their republican principles, but suppressing opposition to the Revolution was vital to the very survival of the new nation. With an estimated 50,000 Loyalists joining the British to fight against the patriots, these Tories were a serious threat.16
They were hated. Likening them to “Spiders, Toads, [and] Snakes,” John Adams colorfully described them as “the most despicable Animal in Creation.”17 But at the same time, abusing them would violate the Americans’ own republican principles. While there was disagreement on the point, many Americans believed that Congress and the state governments acted on behalf of all the American people, including the unpatriotic ones. To many patriots, the Loyalists were indeed Americans. 18 Rather than treat them as British subjects, as many of them desired to remain, such patriots instead considered them a dissenting minority within the larger American society.19 And that minority was expected to obey the patriotic will of their neighbors. When they did not, they would be punished.20
Some patriots certainly made life difficult for Loyalists—for while Washington saw American rights as sacrosanct, others were not as principled. Though the “American revolutionists were [typically] not bloody-minded men” and the country never suffered a reign of terror on par with the mass murders perpetrated during other wars, there was nevertheless much violence and destruction. Patriot mobs looted Tory homes, taking valuables and burning other possessions. As discussed in Part II, patriotic mobs forced Loyalists to “ride the rails,” endure gruesome spickettings, and face tar and featherings.21 They whipped Loyalists, or forced them to sit on hot coals and cut off ears.22 They stripped many Loyalists of their freedom and even their lives. This was also a civil war, after all.
“The division among the people is much greater than I imagined,” wrote Nathanael Greene, “and the Whigs [patriots] and Tories persecute each other, with little less than savage fury. There is nothing but murders and devastation in every quarter.”23 The threat of violence and destruction was so palpable that even many of the bravest Loyalists backed down or fled from patriot wrath. One such man, ironically, was rather friendly with Washington.
Reverend Jonathan Boucher was a gifted orator and outspoken critic of the Revolution. Although he had served as Washington’s stepson’s teacher and enjoyed cordial relations with the great patriot, his loyalties remained with Britain. Cutting an imposing figure, this argumentative gentleman possessed a prominent widow’s peak and confident eyes that blazed from his pulpit. From his strong jaw spewed fiery sermons that condemned the revolutionaries. This made Boucher some powerful enemies, and he took to preaching with loaded pistols under the cushions on his chair in church.
One Sunday, Boucher faced a mob of two hundred patriots blocking his way to the pulpit. The mob’s leader forbade him to give his sermon, but to the dauntless reverend “there was but one way by which they could keep me out of it, and that was by taking away my life.” With his sermon in one hand and a pistol in the other, Boucher obstinately pressed on towards the altar. He was saved only because a friend threw his arms around him and warned that twenty men were under orders to fire the moment he reached the pulpit.24 Like many Loyalists, Boucher fled the country.
Many patriots in Congress and among state authorities regarded such “lawless mobs” as an effective means of suppressing the Loyalists. In fact, the New York Provincial Congress even ordered that the pitch and tar “necessary for the public use and public safety” be made available. 25 While mob action lacked any strict legal backing, it was often met with a wink and a nod from the authorities. And Washington often did not see it as his place to stop the mobs, since he did not want the military to interfere in matters sanctioned by the civil authorities, if only implicitly. For example, as related in Part II, Washington scolded Old Put for interrupting the New York City patriots’ abuse of the Tories.
Congress was slow to develop a formal system for suppressing the Loyalists. They began gingerly by striking at the citizens’ wallets. Couching their actions in moral terms, Congress held that anyone “so lost in virtue and regard for his country” that he refused to accept the (quickly devaluing) bills of credit that Congress used to finance the war would be treated as an enemy and therefore “precluded from all trade or intercourse” with other Americans.26 This was akin to imposing an embargo on their own people. When this relatively gentle action did not seem effective in quelling the Loyalist threat, Congress gradually invented harsher measures.
Next, Congress recommended that local authorities disarm all those who were “notoriously disaffected to the cause of America, or who have not associated, and shall refuse to associate, to defend, by arms, these United Colonies, against the hostile attempts of the British fleets and armies; . . . .”27 This was another attack on property, but the patriots could not allow the Tories to keep their weapons. Guns in the hands of Loyalists had proven to be too great a danger to the revolutionary cause. And when Washington uncovered a potentially disastrous Loyalist plot, Congress realized that its legal weaponry against the Loyalists needed even more bite.
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Poison & Peas
One Loyalist scheme was feared to be such an elaborate conspiracy that it “would have made America tremble, and been as fatal a stroke” to the Revolution had it been carried out. As one patriot reported, the plan was “to have murdered, with trembling heart I say it, the best man on earth, Gen. Washington.”1 Although the facts were never fully uncovered, shocking rumors implicated high-ranking New York politicians, musicians in the Continental Army, and even Washington’s own bodyguards.
Like any good story, this tale of intrigue began with a mysterious woman. One warm June afternoon in 1776, she insisted on speaking privately with the commander. Taking her aside, the general learned of an “infernal plot”: the woman claimed to have witnessed one of Washington’s bodyguards poisoning his peas for that evening’s dinner!2
According to one account, the unflappable Washington reacted calmly and decisively: he threw the peas into the yard, where some unlucky hungry chickens swiftly met their demise.3 Convinced that the woman’s revelation was true, he then pondered his next move. A master of espionage, Washington knew it was imperative that he act with secrecy so as not to lose the element of surprise. He quietly called a meeting among his trusted friends and members of the New York Provincial Congress. They set up a twenty-four-hour guard, secured civilian approval to strike against the Loyalist suspects, and then patiently prepared to act.
On a night soon thereafter, Washington went to bed at his usual hour, but then arose at two in the morning. He soothingly told Martha—who was visiting him at his headquarters, as she often did—to “make herself easy, and go to sleep.” He told her that he was merely “a going, with some of the Provincial Congress, to order some Tories seized.”4 But he was really going on an all-night raid to unravel a plot against his life.
Carrying lanterns and “proper instruments to break open houses,” Washington and a few select men set out to apprehend the conspirators. By sunrise, they had arrested forty men, including several merchants, five of Washington’s bodyguards, and even the mayor of New York City. Washington soon gained confessions from various members of this motley crew and discovered that they had planned to “assassinate the General, and as many of the superior officers as they could, and to blow up the [Americans’ ammunition] upon appearance of the enemy’s fleet, and to go off in boats prepared for that purpose to join the enemy.”5 Had such a plot been accomplished, it would very likely have ended the Revolution.
As Washington dug deeper, the backstory unfolded. The mastermind of the plot was the royal governor of New York, William Tryon. With a double chin to match his ill-defined cheeks, Tryon was “haughty and unfeeling in temper, fond of show and of absolute power.”6 And he astutely used his military and aristocratic social connections to gain that power. Securing a royal appointment as governor of New York, he reveled in the role. He lavished tax dollars on ostentatious displays of wealth and grandeur as he entertained New York’s elite. But when war broke out, the patriots became rather unruly constituents. It was “very probable,” wrote Tryon, that he might be “taken prisoner, as a state Hostage, or obliged to retire on board one of His Majesty’s Ships of War to avoid the insolence of an inflamed mob.”7 This proved prophetic.
Soon after the outbreak of war, the Continental Congress had recommended that the states arrest all royal officers bold enough to remain in the colonies. The New York Provincial Congress was not yet willing to follow through on that suggestion, but Tryon considered it wise to sneak off to the safety of the British gunships sitting around New York City. Though exiled in effect, this shrewd and cunning man was still dangerous.
Washington feared that Tryon might use his considerable influence to encourage more Loyalist New Yorkers to fight against the patriots. The commander ordered one of his officers to “Keep a watchful Eye upon Governor Tryon, and if you find him directly or indirectly, attempting any Measures inimical to the common Cause, use every Means in your Power to frustrate his Designs [and] if forcible Measures are judged necessary, . . . I should have no Difficulty in ordering of it, if the Continental Congress was not sitting.”8 And Washington’s wariness was well founded. Tryon indeed was eager to suppress the patriots and regain his seat of power. To do his bidding, he soon called upon the Loyalist whom he had appointed as mayor of New York City, David Mathews.
The “obnoxious” Mathews was a money-hungry attorney who seized the chance to cash in on Tryon’s scheme.9 With a wife and ten children, he certainly had many mouths to feed. And he boldly remained with them in his home within American lines around New York City, even as Washington’s forces swarmed around it.10 Although Washington and others suspected his Loyalist leanings, they respected Mathews’s rights as an American. He used this respect against them and began to employ his sanctuary within the American lines to liaise with other undercover agents. Mathews readily recruited Loyalists and even convinced some patriots to defect with the lure of Tryon’s British pounds—of which he would presumably take a cut, of course. Mathews and his henchmen were rumored to have persuaded an astonishing seven hundred patriots to defect to the British side.11 One such defector was Washington’s bodyguard Thomas Hickey.
Hickey was a rascal who had previously deserted the British Army. At five foot six, he was sturdily built and had a complexion that was rather dark for an Irishman. 12 Having cultivated a good reputation while residing in Wethersfield, Connecticut, he was selected to join Washington’s newly formed personal guard. Although this trusted position was quite honorable, Hickey was looking for something more lucrative. He decided to moonlight for a counterfeiting ring.
The currency of the era employed few security measures. The bills did not have especially complicated designs or colors nor did they use special ink. In fact, all a counterfeiter needed was an ordinary printing press and a certain kind of paper, which was not too difficult to come by. One just needed to know the right press operators.13
Unsurprisingly, counterfeiting was somewhat common. But as the war sparked inflation, the patriots made a concerted effort to capture the “unpatriotic” counterfeiting rings. The authorities kept a watchful eye out for people asking the wrong questions or passing inordinate quantities of bills. The not-so-bright Hickey drew such attention.14 He was caught passing counterfeit bills and thrown into jail. For this relatively minor offense, he would likely have received only a mild punishment, but Hickey’s wretched fate would be sealed by his big mouth.
While in prison, Hickey bragged to another inmate about his involvement in the Loyalist conspiracy. He boasted of the plot against Washington and additional plans to have moles within American forces turn their guns against their compatriots in the middle of battle.15 Upon overhearing this, a fellow prisoner ran to the authorities in hopes of securing his own release. Hickey was interrogated at once and the plot unraveled. The conspirators swiftly divulged the names of others in the ring as well as incriminating details. One conspirator swore he had received 100 British pounds towards the plot from Mathews.16 This information corroborated the patriots’ other intelligence and set in motion the events that led to Washington’s late-night raid.
That night, Washington rounded up Mathews and Hickey’s other co-conspirators from both inside and outside the army’s ranks. Next he turned to exacting justice. But he trod carefully, since he was dealing with American citizens. While he held great authority to decide the fate of foreigners, Americans were a different story. Here, he deferred to the civil authorities’ mandates, which instructed him to deal with the conspirators differently based upon whether they were soldiers or not.
Congress had provided for the military to deal with its own men through the congressionally authorized procedures of courts-martial. And so with congressional backing, Washington put Hickey on trial in front of his fellow soldiers, on charges of “exciting and joining in a mutiny and sedition, and of treacherously corresponding with, inlisting among, and receiving pay from the enemies of the United American Colonies.”17 He was prosecuted not merely for being a Loyalist, but for violating his obligations as a soldier.
In his own defense, the rascal argued that he merely pretended to be part of the plot in order to collect the money. But the American soldiers deciding his fate were unconvinced, to say the least. After hearing multiple witnesses condemn him, they found him guilty of treason.
Washington and the patriots were intent on making an example of this treacherous scoundrel with a public hanging. Thus, they quickly sentenced Hickey to death and Washington ordered that every brigade witness his fate as “a warning to every soldier in the army.”18 Hickey walked unrepentantly to the gallows and refused any clergy “on the grounds that all of them were cut-throats.”19 In addition to the army, virtually all of New York City, around 20,000 people, turned out to watch the spectacle in an open field in southern Manhattan at eleven in the morning on June 28, 1776.20 For many people, this was prime—if morbid—entertainment.
Hickey attempted to remain stoic and not give the heckling crowds much of a show. But as the scratching noose tightened around his trembling neck, he momentarily lost his nerve and a “torrent of tears flowed over his face.”21 Then he promptly regained his composure and his defiant bearing.
A dour Washington strangely seized this occasion to give a moral lecture to his troops, telling them, “in order to avoid these crimes, the most certain method is to keep out of the temptation of them and particularly to avoid lewd women who, by the dying breath of the poor criminal, first led him into practices which ended in an untimely and ignominious death.”22 Whether New York City’s prostitutes led to Hickey’s money problems or a more general degradation of character is unclear. In any case, Hickey had become the first American to be hanged in the name of the Revolution.23
His nonmilitary co-conspirators met with a happier fate. As commander in chief, Washington did not see himself as having the right to punish private citizens. Instead, he left the fates of the civilian conspirators largely to the discretion of the civil authorities.24
While Tryon sat smugly aboard a British ship just outside the Americans’ grasp, his underlings did not enjoy the benefits of Britain’s naval supremacy. After Washington arrested David Mathews by order of a committee of the New York Provincial Congress, he then scoured the mayor’s house for evidence. Washington did not ransack the American’s property by virtue of his broad military powers, but rather as a servant of the civilian who was executing the Provincial Congress’s order. This was important to Washington because he firmly believed that the military lacked the right to molest Americans or their property. He was fighting for the American citizens’ liberty, and he was not about to allow the military to trample it. Citizens had rights, which should be stripped only by the civil authorities. Those authorities threw Mathews in jail.
As a civilian American, Mathews was a problem for the patriots, however. While the early congressional resolution had deemed it appropriate for Washington to drag the soldier, Hickey, before a court-martial and hang him for violating his duties as a soldier, the Americans were still grappling over the appropriate treatment of someone such as Mathews. He was not a soldier and could therefore not be tried for violating military duties as Hickey was.
News of the plot—in its various incarnations—helped to rally public opinion against the Loyalists. No longer would the patriots merely preclude Loyalists from trade or confiscate their guns. In June 1776, Congress passed a resolution that would transform disaffection from the patriot cause into treason. Recommending that the colonial legislatures pass measures against treason, Congress resolved:
That all persons residing within any of the United Colonies, and deriving protection from the laws of the same, owe allegiance to the said laws . . . .
That all persons, members of, or owing allegiance to any of the United Colonies, as before described, who shall levy war against any of the said colonies within the same, or be adherent to the king of Great Britain, or other enemies of the said colonies, or any of them, within the same, giving to him or them aid and comfort, are guilty of treason against such colony.25
As the colonies followed up with their own legislation, it became a crime for civilians to resist the Revolution. Although Congress would make exceptions later in the war for spies such as Joshua Hett Smith, as discussed in Part IV, civilians were generally referred to civilian trials.26
The Americans had to sort this all out before they could properly deal with Mathews. As a civilian citizen, he deserved a high burden of proof. But since Washington found nothing incriminating in his house, the Americans lacked direct evidence of his complicity. Doubting that the witnesses alone would be enough to condemn Mathews, as in the case of Hickey, the cautious American authorities held him in jail while they mulled their next step. But the wily Mathews would not rot for too long.
Mathews spent his months in prison complaining about his treatment and plotting his escape. Not about to leave his fate to the American “Insurgents,” he bribed his Connecticut guards with 150 pounds sterling. They let him go, and he raced back to British-occupied New York City.27 He was frustratingly outside the patriots’ grasp, but they took some solace when the New York Provincial Congress labeled him a traitor and seized his two homes and 26,000 acres of land.
This episode is illustrative of Washington’s approach to American lives and property: he did what he was told by the civil authorities. While he possessed authority over war tactics, the treatment of foreign prisoners, and even foreigners’ trials, the same was not true for American citizens. He served as their protector and, as such, he would not deprive them of due process or seize property without the consent of civil authorities. The legislatures and civil courts referred their fellow Americans to courts-martial, confiscated their property, executed them, and did a host of other nasty things to them. But Washington let the civilian leaders make those decisions.
Neither Mathews nor Tryon was ever captured, and both lived out the rest of their lives in Britain. The accounts of their plot mutated as the stories spread throughout the colonies. Some believed that there were no poisoned peas and that the Loyalists wanted instead to take Washington alive. This kidnapping rumor was bolstered by Mathews’s later admission that he had “formed a Plan for the taking Mr Washington & his Guard Prisoners.”28 Other gossips denied that there was ever a plot against Washington at all, pointing to the fact that the plot was not included in Hickey’s official trial documentation. But still others saw this absence merely as proof of a patriot cover-up meant to prevent widespread alarm.29 There was much debate about the specifics as the tales of treachery swirled through America’s camps and towns. While the true facts about the peas or the kidnapping were never definitively known, the talk was more crucial than the specifics. Whatever form the rumors took, they helped to harden the patriots’ resolve against their Loyalist neighbors.
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America’s Defender
American courts were soon flooded with prosecutions for treason as hundreds of Loyalists were indicted for the new crime. They were imprisoned or forcibly relocated and stripped of their property.1 The British denounced these actions as
Arbitrary Imprisonments, Confiscation of Property, Persecution and Torture, unprecedented in the Inquisitions of the Romish Church . . . inflicted by Assemblies and Committees, who dare to profess themselves Friends of Liberty, upon the most quiet Subject without Distinction of Age or Sex, for the sole Crime, often the sole Suspicion, of having adhered in Principle to the [British] Government under which they were born, and to which, by every Tie divine and human, they owe Allegiance.2
The Loyalists who were tried in civil courts generally fared better than those left to the whims of mobs, however, since they escaped with their lives—usually.
Following the liberation of Philadelphia in 1778, for example, mobs exacted revenge upon those who had supported the brutal occupation of their capital city. Among these Loyalists, 490 were formally prosecuted in court. Nearly all of their property was confiscated and several were hanged for aiding the British.3 But this ratio is telling: relatively few Loyalists throughout the colonies were executed under official sentence. The revolutionaries generally kept their bloodlust in check and reserved the ultimate punishment for the most egregious cases. Court-ordered executions were the exception rather than the rule.4
The American courts took “great pains to observe procedural safeguards once the formal machinery of justice was called into play.”5 While treasonous, the Loyalists were often viewed as citizens, after all. Thus many patriots adopted the philosophy that the “Law should be strictly adhered to, severity exercised, but the doors of mercy should never be shut.”6 As a result, convictions were somewhat rare and pardons for those few convicted were surprisingly common. Rather than serve time or face the gallows, many Loyalists were given the option of joining Washington’s army—a sentence which Washington did not particularly care for due to its obvious impact on morale and discipline.7 But when it came to his fellow Americans, he abided by the politicians’ and judges’ directives, however irksome they might be.
Punishing Americans was the civil authorities’ prerogative, as Congress made very clear. At the outset of the war, they resolved that “no man in these colonies, charged with being a tory, or unfriendly to the cause of American liberty, be injured in his person or property, or in any manner whatever disturbed,” except by authorization from civilian politicians.8 While the civil authorities could sanction Loyalists and strip them of rights, Washington did not see himself as having the power to do so. As in the cases of Joshua Hett Smith, David Mathews, and Thomas Hickey, he referred Americans to the civil courts whenever possible and tried citizens by congressionally defined courts-martial when explicitly authorized to do so. Throughout the war, he repeatedly said that he “would rather have them punished agreeable to the Civil than by military law.”9 This included all Americans—even the traitorous ones.
Washington “strenuously discouraged patriot groups from taking the law into their own hands and avoiding the judicial process” against the Tories.10 He had many Loyalist friends and understood that Americans could not all be forced to have the same viewpoint. Since his youth, he had maintained a close relationship with the Fairfax family, one of the most powerful British noble families in Virginia, and many of its members were ardent Loyalists. Washington exchanged “heated, although polite” letters with them, debating the patriotic cause but exhibiting his tolerance of deep political disagreement among Americans.11 Militant as he was, Washington was not one to bring a sword to a civilized debate.
In another example of his respect for Tories’ safety, Washington received a request from a Loyalist, Judge Andrew Elliot. An avowed enemy of Washington’s cause, accused of being a “rapacious, dissolute, overbearing fraud,” Elliot nevertheless had the nerve to ask that the commander check in on his daughter, herself married to a Loyalist.12 Washington graciously obliged, writing, “I shall be happy in occasions of rendering her any service which may be in my power.”13 Nonmilitant Loyalists deserved the same protection that Washington attempted to provide all Americans. He assured Elliot “that the most perfect regularity and good Order prevail in this City, and that every description of People find themselves under the protection of the Laws of the State.”14
Washington’s tolerance was particularly notable when he faced Loyalists taking up arms against him. Rather than quickly crushing them, he asked the governor of Connecticut, “Would it not be prudent to seize those tories who have been, are and we know will be active against us? Why should persons who are preying upon the vitals of their country be suffered to stalk about while we know they will do us every mischief in their power?”15 After consulting with Connecticut authorities, he ordered his men “to seize upon such persons as held commissions under the crown and were acting as . . . enemies to their country and hold them hostage.”16 This was yet another sign of restraint—he limited his arrests to royally commissioned officials. He made sure to exclude private individuals, no matter how rabidly pro-Britain they might be, since he did not see it as part of the military commander’s role to seize them. He was not a complete saint, however, for he warned, “the day is not far off when they will meet with this or a worse fate if there is not a considerable reformation in their conduct.”17 And on one occasion, Washington may have violated his own principles.
Thomas Shanks was a sticky-fingered ensign of Pennsylvania’s 10th Regiment.18 This rascal attempted to steal two pairs of shoes from his lieutenant, perhaps to protect his feet from the autumn chill of 1777.19 He proved a lousy thief, however. He was caught and promptly cashiered from the army, since Washington would brook no thievery in his ranks. But Shanks would not merely go home after his disgraceful discharge. Instead, he went over to the enemy. Unfortunately for him, he proved to be as lousy a spy as he had been a thief.
In the late spring of 1778, the British devised a plan to smuggle Shanks back inside American lines to spy on Washington. The plot quickly unraveled when a redcoat deserter informed the Americans of Shanks’s intelligence activities. This British grenadier, Sergeant William Sutherland, testified that he was meant to lead Shanks through the British lines so he could return to the American base. After they got past the British defenses and parted ways, however, Sutherland took a shortcut to beat Shanks to the Americans’ camp and informed them of the conspiracy.20 For his trouble, Washington gave Sutherland 60 pounds—blood money.21
When the obtuse spy arrived at the camp, the Americans confronted him with the grenadier’s testimony. It was apparently enough to make him crack: under intense interrogation, Shanks confessed to spying. And with that, Washington decided to “avoid the formality of a regular trial,” reasoning that it “ought to be dispensed with” in a case like this one. Instead, he would have a military commission examine Shanks, “and if his guilt is clear, his punishment will be very summary.” 22 Washington had previously reserved this kind of summary treatment for noncitizens.
Even though Washington was careful to protect Americans’ right to due process, this time he strayed. A seemingly illegal military commission was assembled to try a citizen. The panel of soldiers heard from the British grenadier as well as Shanks’s apprehenders. Taking Shanks’s own admission into account, they deemed him a spy by a vote of 10 to 4. Per Washington’s request, his officers—by a slim 8 to 6 margin—voted to make Shanks “a proper subject for an example” and ordered that he be hanged.23
On Washington’s terse instruction that Shanks “be hanged tomorrow morning at Guard mounting at some convenient Place,” the soldier was brought to the gallows the next day.24 “Muffled drums beat, fifes wailed the death march,” and excited spectators looked on as Shanks solemnly neared his wretched fate.25 He was unceremoniously hanged, and his name would fade back into obscurity.
Washington had denied due process to an American. It was quite possible that he skipped a congressionally mandated court-martial because he categorized Shanks as a mutinous soldier, or he believed that the traitor’s confession made a full trial superfluous, or perhaps Washington received undocumented authorization from Congress to employ the military commission. In any case, this was the exception rather than the rule.26 Washington generally remained a staunch defender of Americans’ right to be prosecuted according to the procedures established by civil authorities. He was careful to protect the lives and liberty of Americans, however treacherous they may have been.
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License to Plunder
While Washington and the courts largely defended Americans’ lives and liberty, they were less respectful of the Tories’ property. As congressional and state coffers were rapidly depleted, many patriots eyed the Loyalists’ vast wealth as a means to pay for the war, which had driven the nation to the brink of bankruptcy.
Lacking taxation powers, Congress attempted to print more currency to satisfy its obligations. As a result, the Continental became nearly worthless and the populace became unable to afford even the basic necessities. “America has much more to fear from the effects of the large quantities of paper money than from the operations of [the British],” wrote one patriot in a letter to his father. He recounted the privation suffered by the people due to what he estimated to be a 200 percent increase in prices over a short time. A pair of boots cost him $21 ($444 current dollars), a hat went for $18 ($381), a quart of rum for $20 ($423), and a quart of whiskey for $10 ($211).1 These prices were crushing the American home front.
Even Washington’s mother was clamoring for supplies. At approximately seventy years old, Mary Bell Washington was an unstable character who lacked her son’s finesse. She carried the emotional scars of childhood tragedy and revealed them with her flair for the dramatic. Mary’s father died when she was three, and she was rendered an orphan when her mother passed on nine years later. The girl was graciously taken in by a family friend, George Eskridge.2 A prominent lawyer and member of the Virginia House of Burgesses, Eskridge was a part of the burgeoning colonial gentry. Fortunately for Mary, he was also a compassionate and down-to-earth man who made sure the young orphan was well cared for. He attempted to ensure that she had proper breeding and even introduced her to her future husband, Augustine Washington.
While Mary shunned the high society in which she was raised, she was thankful to Eskridge. Out of appreciation, she named her firstborn (and surprisingly sturdy) son after him. And she came to expect this new George to care for her as well, because she had grown into an anxious and needy woman.3
Her neediness was aggravated by the loss of her husband when George Washington was eleven years old. A slovenly woman with little regard for social conventions, she never remarried. Instead, Mary viewed her strapping eldest son as her husband’s replacement around the farm and in raising her four other children. Washington grew into the role and complied with her many demands. As he matured into an adventurous young man, however, he became eager to escape.
As self-centered as she was willful, Mary perceived George’s opportunities as competition for his devotion, and she thwarted his attempts to leave as a teen. When he eventually broke away to become a surveyor and then a soldier, Mary never completely forgave him. She sent him letters incessantly complaining of his abandonment and even boycotted his wedding to Martha when he was twenty-seven.4
A devoted son, Washington attempted to care for his mother even in his absence. He purchased for her a darling white house situated near those of his two brothers and his sister. Because she was not pleased, he built on a large porch overlooking a garden, but Mary remained unsatisfied and asked for an additional home on the other side of the mountains. Washington apparently received not an ounce of appreciation but plenty of grief.5 His mother excelled at doling that out.
Mary seemed never to acknowledge Washington’s amazing accomplishments as commander, either. Instead, she was known to say, “Ah George, had better have stayed at home and cultivated his farm.”6 She neither congratulated him on his military victories nor consoled him after his defeats. In fact, to add insult to injury, she was even rumored to be “one of the most rabid Tories”!7
Ignoring the fact that her son was battling for his life as well as the fate of the Revolution, Mary acted as though he had neglected her. Like much of America, she suffered from the wartime shortages of food and medicine. However, unlike most of America, she had a son who was the commander in chief. Mary did not care. While her eldest was desperately trying to feed and clothe his army, she went behind his back to petition the Virginia General Assembly for a government stipend. The speaker of the assembly, fearful of insulting Washington, timidly asked him how he would like the legislature to proceed.
Washington was mortified. He wrote his brother saying that their mother was “upon all occasions, and in all Companies complaining of the hardness of the times, of her wants and distresses; and if not in direct terms, at least by strong innuendos inviting favors which not only makes her appear in an unfavourable point of view but those also who are connected with her”—especially her eldest son, a man who worked assiduously to craft his public persona.8 Deeming her requests to be for “imaginary wants” that were “oftentimes insatiable,” he sent his brother on a mission to ascertain her real needs and ask that she cease embarrassing him.9 He also took the time to write the Virginia Assembly to explain his mother’s irrationality and instruct them to ignore her.10 He knew she was relatively well off compared with his troops starving around him. The country was suffering and he urged the assembly to deal with bigger problems.
As the costly war raged, Congress soon owed great debts to the nation’s own soldiers and civilians, as well as to France. The nation was on the verge of bankruptcy, but Congress was unwilling to default on its debts, seeing those obligations as sacrosanct. The congressmen did not feel the same way about the value of the currency, however.
By the winter of 1780, the financial situation was so bleak that Congress repudiated the Continental in order to stave off bankruptcy. Although Congress refused to default on the debt owed to its own citizens and foreign governments, it saw this devaluation as an alternative solution. Therefore, the national government retired the circulating Continentals by accepting them at just one-fortieth of their face value. 11
The result was near chaos. American troops watched in dismay as the value of their pay virtually evaporated. Bartenders stopped accepting Continental bills to purchase rum. Merchants barred their doors, unwilling to sell their wares for anything but gold or silver. Protesters marched through the streets of Philadelphia, parading as their unhappy mascot a tarred dog that was “feathered” with Continentals.12
Meanwhile, Benjamin Franklin was in Paris vigorously lobbying for more monetary aid. French loans and subsidies kept the United States financially afloat, but just barely. Even Franklin’s unmatched shrewdness could not get enough money to alleviate America’s suffering. And as the costly war drained even Louis XVI’s deep coffers, France’s patience waned.
The Americans were so desperate for funds that many turned to seizing the riches of their neighbors—the hated Loyalists. While the courts and politicians showed the Loyalists clemency when it came to their lives, the civilian authorities were less merciful to their wallets. Congress and the states launched an “attack on their personal fortunes which gradually impoverished them.” They began their monetary assault with a “nibbling system of fines and special taxation.”13 In addition to the double and treble taxes commonly imposed by the states, Loyalists also faced fines for refusing to fight for the patriots, for the misdeeds of the substitutes they hired to fight in their stead, and for almost any showing of support for the British.14 A Loyalist convicted of entering the British lines could be fined a whopping 2,000 pounds, roughly worth $350,000 in modern U.S. dollars!15
If the Loyalist could not—or would not—pay such fines, his property could be sold from under him.16 And the wretch whose property did not cover the fine risked a whipping, branding, or even the loss of an ear.17 This hardship was heightened by the fact that in some states, a Loyalist who refused to swear allegiance to the patriots’ cause could neither buy nor sell land, sue his neighbor for amounts owed, or even practice as an attorney if that was his profession.18
When Congress and the states were still not collecting enough from these Tory outlaws, they resorted to outright confiscation. Congress resolved “it be earnestly recommended to the several states, as soon as may be, to confiscate and make sale of all the real and personal estate therein, of such of their inhabitants and other persons who have forfeited the same, and the right to the protection of their respective states, and to invest the money arising from the sales in continental loan office certificates.”19 The states readily heeded this recommendation. New York alone confiscated 3.6 million pounds worth of property from its Loyalist population.20
While the civil authorities were seizing property like a drunken kleptomaniac, Washington was far more restrained. As a corollary to his defense of Americans’ lives, the commander also defended their property.
It was the American commander’s role to protect Americans’ rights and employ the proper procedures determined by the republic. In fact, it was the Continental Congress and the state legislatures that often trampled on Americans’ property rights, while the commander in chief sought to protect them. For example, after Congress evicted Loyalists throughout Philadelphia from their own homes in 1778, Washington fired off a letter of protest, criticizing the move as “impolitic,” contending that “to exile many of its Inhabitants cannot be the interest of any State.”21 But even though he disagreed with some of the legislators’ actions, he understood such measures to be their prerogative.
The American commander refused to be a plundering one, and his men suffered for it. He had matured since those days leading up to the Jumonville Affair decades earlier, when he played loose with the rules on confiscation. Now, rather than permit his troops to ravage the countryside like ravenous hyenas, Washington believed his only lawful option was to obtain supplies via the proper congressional channels. And Congress had proven utterly inept at obtaining supplies for his army. Early in the war, they attempted to collect assessments from the states and supplement the shortfall by printing Continentals. But when the states were not paying enough and the Continentals plummeted in value, Congress then attempted a republican experiment in “direct supply.”22
Under this plan, the states were expected to supply guns, shoes, pork, etc. on request. Like a starving man shouting into the wind, these requests fell on deaf ears—the states were usually unable (and often unwilling) to supply Washington’s army. The states were concerned about defending themselves and reluctant to divert their resources for the protection of their sister states. New York even went so far as to take clothing meant for the Continental Army and keep it for the state militia. With his troops “perishing for want of it,” Washington lambasted this appropriation of the clothing as “a most extraordinary piece of Conduct”23
“People are starving,” Washington lamented; “the Cry of want of Provisions comes to me from every Quarter.”24 His army had been fighting for years without adequate pay or supplies. During the winter months especially, his men perished for want of food and clothing. The supply shortage became particularly acute at Valley Forge during the bitter winter of 1778.
Upon the arrival of Washington’s troops, the farming community of Valley Forge quickly transformed into a military city of death. Like locusts, the 14,000 soldiers culled trees for miles in every direction to use for construction material and firewood. They worked furiously to erect thousands of crude wooden huts before the frigid winds could pierce their ragged clothing. They built defensive fortifications, and raced against the freezing ground to dig miles of trenches designed by Washington to repel attacks. But the smell of the trenches was probably repulsive enough—they also came to serve as the army’s latrines. Within a few days, the pastoral valley turned into a field of putrid misery.
One patriot reported, “It is certain that half the army are half naked, and almost the whole army go barefoot.”25 Washington’s officers recommended that to keep the army in good fighting condition, each soldier needed daily rations of a pound of beef, pork or salted fish, a pound of flour or hard bread, a half gill of rum or whiskey (liquid courage), and a half pint of rice.26 But Congress could not keep up with this demand at a cost of three shillings and four pence per ration,27 and the soldiers were lucky to receive just a fraction of that amount, or any at all.
Washington pleaded for more. “I am now convinced, beyond a doubt,” he wrote to Congress, “that unless some great and capital change suddenly takes place in that line, this Army must inevitably be reduced to one or other of these three things. Starve, dissolve, or disperse, in order to obtain subsistence.” Bemoaning the lack of food and clothing, one of his officers summarized, “All things seem to contribute to the ruin of our cause.”28
A staggering 2,500 of Washington’s men were estimated to have perished that winter. His principled opposition to plunder was certainly put to the test; there must have been tremendous emotional and political pressure to allow his men to run carte blanche through the countryside seizing supplies for mere self-preservation. But Washington was determined to “crush in its earliest stage every attempt to plunder even those who are known to be Enemies to our Cause.”29 It was his role to protect the Americans. Only the civil authorities, he believed, had a right to strip Americans of their property.
Washington was fighting to create a democratic republic, not a military dictatorship, after all. And while his powers over war tactics were sweeping, even dictatorial, these did not extend to the American citizens themselves. And so he declared:
The General prohibits both in Militia and Continental Troops, in the most positive terms, the infamous practice of plundering the Inhabitants, under the specious pretence of their being Tories—Let the persons who are known to be enemies to their Country, be seized and confin’d, and their Property disposed of, as the Law of the State directs—It is our business to give protection, and support, to the poor, distressed Inhabitants; not to multiply and increase their calamities. After the publication of this order, any officer, either Militia or Continental, found attempting to conceal the public Stores; plundering the Inhabitants under the notion of their being Tories, or venduing of Plunder taken from the Enemy, in any other manner than these Orders direct, may expect to be punished in the severest manner; and be obliged to account for every thing taken, or sold.30
There was also a practical side to Washington’s principled stance, because he believed that “no plundering Army was ever a successful one.”31 Cognizant of the fact that he was also fighting for the hearts and minds of the war-weary American people, he reasoned that plundering would “create dreadful Apprehensions in our Friends, and when it is once begun, none can tell where it will stop.”32 Confiscating property without authorization would “embitter the minds of the People, and excite perhaps hurtful jealousy against the Army.”33 Washington aimed to distinguish his army from the plundering British and Hessian forces that had terrorized the countryside. In this way, Washington was acting virtuously not just because he was a “good guy” but also because it was crucial to be seen as such.
Washington was so “resolved to put a stop to plundering, and converting either public, or private property” to military use that he reacted swiftly and severely when his troops violated his orders.34 Any soldier found to have plundered American property was to be “immediately confined” and “most rigidly punished.”35 Surprisingly, the prohibition on plunder by the army even extended, for the most part, to the property of civilian Loyalists—much to his ravenous troops’ dismay. While he detested the Loyalists as “abominable pests,” Washington was astonishingly protective of their rights.36 Though he viewed them as traitorous Americans, the key was that he still generally considered them to be Americans. And he believed this afforded them protection from his military. Many of his starving soldiers, as well as many congressmen, saw his refusal to confiscate Loyalist property as outrageous.
When some troops inevitably disobeyed his strict rules, Washington was not surprised—to his unending frustration, the Continental Army was not the paragon of American virtue that he wished it to be. Exasperated, he explained to Congress, “I have with some others, used my utmost endeavours to stop this horrid practice, but under the present lust after plunder, and want of Laws to punish Offenders, I might almost as well attempt to remove Mount Atlas. I have ordered instant corporal Punishment upon every Man who passes our Lines, or is seen with Plunder . . . .”37 The commander vigilantly strove to keep his unruly men in line.
On one occasion, a whole regiment was accused of “the infamous practice of Plundering.”38 Along with a party of twenty men, the colonel of the regiment had purportedly robbed a house on the outskirts of the American encampment. A bemused Washington wrote that the young man was found with “large Pier looking Glasses, Women’s Cloaths, and other Articles which one would think, could be of no Earthly use to him.”39 But this was no laughing matter. Washington promptly tried the soldier by court-martial, and when the court acquitted him and called for him merely to apologize, Washington rejected such leniency. He “ordered a Reconsideration of the matter, upon which, . . . they made Shift to Cashier him.”40 Then Washington proceeded to have the regiment expelled along with the colonel. For a man who needed all the troops he could get, this was true conviction.
Washington even went so far as to execute a member of his personal guard for taking supplies from an obstinate Tory. He had entrusted this guard, John Herring, with obtaining supplies from the countryside. With a horse and a pass, Herring set out and arrived at the home of Mr. Prince Howland.41 A known Loyalist living in Fishkill, New York, Howland owned a collection of fine garments, which Herring spotted during his visit.42 Following Washington’s protocol, Herring asked to purchase the clothes, but Howland refused to sell them; he was not one to aid the patriot cause.
Herring was not willing to take no for an answer. He gathered other members of Washington’s guard and organized a heist. They knew the policy under Washington: the penalty for such thievery was hanging. Therefore, they donned disguises. While careful to blacken their faces with burnt cork, these not-so-stealthy burglars foolishly wore the round bearskin hats that clearly identified them as Washington’s guard. The bumbling burglars broke into Howland’s house and stole the fine clothing along with some silver spoons and cash.43 Then they proceeded to loot his neighbor before returning to Washington’s camp. Howland promptly reported the theft, complete with a damning description of the burglars’ telltale hats.
Washington was livid. “Shocked at the frequent horrible Villainies of this nature committed by the troops of late,” he was “determined to make Examples which will deter the boldest and most harden’d offenders.”44 He had Herring and his cat burglars tried by courts-martial. When they were found guilty and Herring condemned to death, Washington upheld this harsh punishment. He wrote in his general orders for the day, “Men who are called out by their Country to defend the Rights and Property of their fellow Citizens, who are abandoned enough to violate those Rights and plunder that Property deserve and shall receive no Mercy.”45 The commander had made a strong statement in defense of a Tory’s property.
Realizing their inability to supply Washington’s army, Congress soon granted him license “to take, wherever he may be, all such provisions and other articles as may be necessary for the comfortable subsistence of the army under his command, paying or giving certificates for the same; to remove and secure for the benefit of the owners, all goods and effects, which may be serviceable to the enemy.”46 Washington was reluctant to take advantage of this authorization, however. During the winter of 1778 he wrote, “I shall use every exertion . . . for subsisting the Army and keeping it together; But I must observe, that this never can be done by coercive means. Supplying of Provisions and Cloathing must be had in another way, or it cannot exist.”47 He believed it was Congress’s place to confiscate supplies, not his. But with his men in such dire need, he eventually did seize American property—albeit in the least coercive way possible.
Washington acted as a tool of Congress, and a delicate one at that. He reasoned that he must proceed gently, since the military’s exercise of power was always viewed “with a jealous and suspicious eye.”48 Thus, when he did order his men to confiscate supplies, he provided careful instructions.
In order to requisition supplies in the most democratic way possible, Washington set up a sort of confiscation checklist. His soldiers were required to: 1) have a compelling reason for the taking; 2) work with local authorities as closely as possible in carrying out the seizures; 3) take only small amounts so as not to harm the citizens; and 4) arrange for some type of repayment or, more likely, a promise thereof.
The first criterion was easy to fulfill. By the winter of 1780, Washington had shifted north from his previous quarters at Valley Forge to the area around the tiny village of Morristown, New Jersey. He and his 9,000 men settled into this little hollow nestled in a tranquil region of rolling farms and pasture in northern New Jersey. The land was dotted by picturesque cottages built in the so-called “ancient Dutch form,” with signature sloping dormitories that projected from a dramatically pitched wooden roof. Almost uniformly painted white, these houses varied in size but were typically encircled by “verdant lawns, shrubbery, and well-cultivated gardens.”49 The Continental Army, however, did not find their stay so idyllic.
Far from a rural utopia, this was a warzone. Adjacent to New York City, the county had been scarred by gruesome battles and had witnessed Washington’s disastrous defeats following his loss of New York. By 1780, Washington had retaken New Jersey and was determined to remain in the mid-Atlantic in hopes of retaking New York. He set up camp at Morristown so that he might keep pressure on Clinton’s troops holed up in the city. The two commanders still assumed there would be a climactic battle between them after so many grueling years of bloodshed. But for now, Washington just worked to survive.
His contest with Clinton had devolved into a war of attrition. And he was losing. In fact, Parliament kept the British troops so well fed and clothed—albeit to the British taxpayers’ growing dismay—that Clinton began putting on a great deal of weight from all the dinner parties he enjoyed in New York. The Americans were unable to keep pace.50 Washington, for his part, was living comfortably with Martha, five of his officers and eighteen servants in the white Georgian mansion that served as his headquarters. The grand house had been owned by a late patriot, and Washington respectfully paid rent to the widow.51 But despite his comfort, he was not one to grow detached from the condition of his soldiers, who were shivering and hungry in the less genteel lodgings in the surrounding areas.
The Revolution had already robbed northern New Jersey of its tranquility, and now Washington wanted its food. At the same time, he was aware of the civilian population’s fears. The 250 residents of Morristown locked up their chickens and daughters as they watched the hungry-looking patriots warily.52 With the coldest winter of the century hitting in 1780, the region was a powder keg of trouble. Before things turned ugly, Washington dispatched his troops to collect 200 head of cattle and 800 bushels of grain from the neighboring farms.53 He demanded that his men act cautiously and respectfully in doing so, telling them:
I have reposed this trust in you from a perfect confidence in your prudence, zeal and respect for the rights of Citizens. While your measures are adapted to the emergency, and you consult what you owe to the service, I am persuaded you will not forget, that as we are compelled by necessity to take the property of Citizens for the support of the Army on whom their safety depends, we should be careful to manifest that we have a reverence for their rights, and wish not to do any thing which that necessity and even their own good do not absolutely require.54
This was a clear expression of Washington’s stance: the military should remain subservient to the civilians they protect.
Even when authorized by Congress to take citizens’ property, the army should work alongside local civilian authorities,55 and “with as much tenderness as possible to the Inhabitants, having regard to the Stock of each Individual, that no family may be deprived of its necessary subsistence.”56 He warned his men, “Nothing is to be taken by way of plunder under any pretence whatever.”57 Washington would rather his troops starve than trample Americans’ rights.
Though the country was verging on bankruptcy, Washington even took measures to repay citizens for the property taken from them. “The Commissary is either to pay or give proper Certificates for whatever he takes,” he directed.58 While this was somewhat wishful thinking since repayment seemed unlikely, the principle was clear: Citizens had a right to their property, and the government could seize it only in extreme circumstances. Even then, the citizens were owed compensation.59
Washington was so delicate in carrying out these authorized confiscations, in fact, that he was ridiculed in Congress for being weak. But he considered his restraint to be a form of strength—the strength of American liberty. He wrote to Congress, “I confess, I have felt myself greatly embarrassed with respect to the vigorous exercise of Military power. An Ill placed humanity perhaps and a reluctance to give distress may have restrained me too far.”60
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Not-So-Civil War
As Washington struggled to hold his army together while also defending Americans’ rights from his ravenous troops, the British shifted their focus to conquering the southern states. Lord George Germain, the British secretary of state for the American Department, hatched an aggressive strategy that relied on aid from the Loyalists who pervaded the South. With his large, pointed nose, gaping almond eyes, and sharp chin, he appeared almost gremlin-like as he sent his many directives from London to Clinton, Cornwallis, and other officers in the warzone.1 More gifted as an orator than as a strategist, Germain was a distinguished aristocrat with a fine educational and military pedigree, but little understanding of the American continent. For one thing, he sorely overestimated the Loyalists.
According to Germain’s southern strategy, the British could easily conquer Georgia and the Carolinas, leaving the Loyalists to occupy in their wake. He assumed that once the Tories were placed in charge, the British would not need to expend precious forces policing and holding their conquests, as they had been compelled to do in the highly rebellious northern states. In effect, Germain envisioned a southern conquest as more like a liberation effort. The British forces just needed to throw off the chains of the patriot oppressors and install the loyal subjects back into power—or so Germain believed.
General Howe knew better. Back in London, the disgraced former commander warned against this simplistic view of America. But he was ignored, and the British invaded Savannah in late December 1778.
From 1778 to 1780, it appeared that Germain was correct. As Washington remained with the main force in the north outside New York City, the British racked up victories in Georgia and South Carolina. By the spring of 1780 it looked as if the American southern forces were defeated. At the Battle of Charleston, the combined might of the British naval and land forces trapped the patriots on a peninsula. With no means of retreat, the haggard troops were besieged on all sides for many blood-soaked weeks. In May, 5,500 tattered Americans finally emerged from the smoky rubble to surrender. They had just handed Clinton his biggest prize of the war: the American Southern Army.
Clinton’s delight was premature, however. A wave of patriotism swept the region and the Americans hastily raised a second Southern Army. At its helm, Congress placed Granny Gates.
Riding high on his victory at Saratoga, the ambitious Gates had become the stalking horse for Washington’s position as commander in chief. The thrill of the great victories at Trenton and Princeton in 1777 had long since subsided, and Washington was now perceived by many politicians as the man defeated by the British around Philadelphia. Congressmen even began to criticize his deference to Americans’ rights as a sign of weakness. Gates, on the other hand, was enjoying renewed admiration in Congress after taking credit from Arnold for defeating Burgoyne. Of course, the cunning “Granny” leveraged this esteem to seek more power.
Gates was soon confronting an old foe in the South. But Cornwallis had reentered the war a changed man. Following his embarrassing defeat at Princeton, he had finally obtained leave to return to his sick wife. He was able to tend to his wilting love for just a few months before she died on Valentine’s Day 1779. The man was devastated. After burying her, Cornwallis threw himself into his work: warfare.
Cornwallis returned to America “not with views of conquest and ambition” but because he could not stand to remain in England. His wife’s death, he said, had “destroyed all my hopes of happiness in this world.”2 There was nothing left for him to do but crush the Americans. For a man with nothing to lose, Cornwallis certainly grew accustomed to winning: by the spring of 1780, he was well on his way to conquering the South. Fearing all was lost, Congress turned to Granny Gates to stop him.
Washington recommended his trusted friend Nathanael Greene for the job of stopping Cornwallis, but Congress astonishingly handed command of the Southern Army to their darling Gates. Washington was livid and Gates smug. Gates hoped to stage a repeat of Saratoga and thereby topple Washington’s reign as leader of the entire Continental Army.
With 3,700 troops versus Cornwallis’s 2,100, Gates had the numbers on his side.3 But quality would trump quantity: Gates’s army was dominated by untested militiamen, while Cornwallis led battle-hardened veterans. Further, while Gates would never admit it, Cornwallis was simply a superior military leader. Even Charles Lee had smugly warned Gates, “Take care lest your Northern laurels turn to Southern willows.”4 But the proud Gates did not heed this advice. Overestimating the battle readiness of the Americans, as well as his own prowess, he chose to make a stand.
Gates’s and Cornwallis’s armies unexpectedly collided at Camden, South Carolina. As the sun rose over the quaint town on the hot, summer morning of August 16, 1780, both sides were surprised when musket fire interrupted the birds’ serenade. Although neither side was prepared, this was especially inopportune timing for the patriots. Short on food and rum, Gates had served his troops half-cooked meat and molasses for dinner the night before. Thus, not only were they lacking their usual liquid courage, they were also suffering from gastrointestinal problems as they faced a terrifying mass of British red and metal. It was not a great morning to be sober and sick.
Within minutes, the patriots’ exuberant calls for battle were quickly replaced by yelps of pain and terror. When Cornwallis’s highly trained regiments fired on Gates’s militia, panic spread through the sickly American ranks. As their compatriots fell and the British bayonets neared, many of the terrified Americans ran without even firing a shot. Cornwallis seized this weakness and effectively used his cavalry to shred the American lines.
Gates was among the first to flee. As his army crumbled behind him, he galloped northward on the army’s swiftest horse.5 In fact, by the time the Americans were defeated after just one hour of combat, Gates was already many miles away. His abandoned army suffered over 2,000 casualties. Lord Germain wrote from London, “The Glorious success of Lord Cornwallis at Camden . . . will have removed all apprehensions of further disturbance from the rebel troops and must crush every hope in the secret abettors of rebellion of again subverting the King’s authority . . . .”6 It appeared to the patriots that the South was lost.
Washington was not pleased. While he remained politely silent on the matter, Hamilton and his other aides ridiculed Gates mercilessly. For his devastating miscalculation, Congress relieved Granny Gates of his command and resolved “that the Commander-in-Chief be and is hereby directed to appoint an officer to command the southern army, in the room of Major General Gates.”7 They had gone against Washington’s counsel in appointing Gates and had now learned their lesson. This time, the choice was left to the commander. Washington gave the position to his old friend who had lobbied Congress to grant him sweeping powers a couple of years earlier: Nathanael Greene. In selecting this “man of abilities, bravery, and coolness,” Washington had chosen wisely.8
Despite their catastrophic losses, the Americans proved scrappy. As Howe predicted, Germain’s southern strategy underestimated the difficulty of occupation. The British had crushed the Americans’ two southern armies, but they had inflamed the patriotic sentiments of the local populace. Cornwallis had kicked a hornets’ nest.
The patriots rose up against Loyalist dominance. Old rivalries and land disputes sent the region spiraling into civil war. Like a fire feeding on itself, the region erupted into a vengeful bloodbath when patriots and Tories plundered one another’s homes and massacred each other in retaliation for atrocities. There were over one hundred battles and skirmishes in South Carolina alone in which not one Brit even participated. It was American vs. American.
The British were taken aback by the mayhem. “The houses of desolate widows have been laid waste [and] innocent and neutral persons murdered,” said one officer.9 Washington would likely not have approved of the carnage, but he was far away in New Jersey, with little means of stopping it.
One massacre occurred when patriots tricked a Loyalist regiment with their snappy uniforms. With short green jackets and plumed helmets, resembling the uniforms of a nearby British regiment, the patriots fooled the Tories into believing they were friendly forces.10 As the patriot leader was shaking hands with his duped Loyalist counterpart, the South Carolina militia emerged from the trees and mowed down ninety Tories.11
With patriots gaining the upper hand and Loyalists running scared, it became very clear that Germain’s southern strategy was flawed. Cornwallis realized he could not count on the Loyalists to hold the South, as small bands of angry frontiersmen began attacking his forces from behind trees and rocks in guerilla warfare. Never camping in the same place for more than two nights in a row, the Americans confounded their hulking British pursuers. One American named Frances Marion particularly angered Cornwallis.
A Carolinian of French Huguenot descent, Marion was called the “Swamp Fox” due to his penchant for hiding his forces in the Carolinas’ abundant marshlands. His cunning and bravery were complemented by an almost supernatural ability to discern the redcoats’ next move. As his ambush attacks on Cornwallis’s men kept succeeding, the patriots throughout the region began to look upon his thin face and intense gaze with admiration and hope. He was an inspiration. One patriot gushed, “His genuine love of country and liberty, and his unwearied vigilance and invincible fortitude, coupled with the eminent success which attended him through his brilliant career, has endeared him to the hearts of his countrymen, and the memory of his deeds of valor shall never slumber so long as there is a Carolinian to speak his panegyric.”12 Eluding Cornwallis’s determined efforts to kill him, the Swamp Fox was able to “keep alive the expiring hopes of an oppressed militia.”13 Thanks in part to Marion, the American forces were growing and Cornwallis’s were shrinking.
Still, Cornwallis had the superior force. When Nathanael Greene took command of the resurrected Southern Army, he described it as something like a zombie army, “wretched beyond description . . . living upon charity and subsist[ing] by daily collections” and having “not a drop of spirits.” Without ameliorative measures, Greene added, “I foresee we must starve.”14 He predicted, “An army naked and subsisted in this manner, and not more than one-third the size of the enemies’ army, will make but a poor fight.”15 But Greene proved himself wrong. He transformed those wretched men into an agile yet lethal fighting force.
In order to prevent his unseasoned militiamen from retreating, Greene placed men behind them with orders to “shoot down the first man that runs.”16 As draconian as this sounds, it was a common and effective method of getting men to fight. But Greene was careful not to expect too much from the frightened farmers who dominated his ranks. After his militiamen fired two volleys, he allowed them to resume their usual flight “like a flock of sheep frightened by dogs.”17 He reasoned that the British would advance anyway, but with those two barrages of lead flying towards them.
Greene also shrewdly adopted Marion’s guerilla tactics against Cornwallis’s larger force. Outnumbered and inexperienced, Greene’s small regiment was still no match for Cornwallis. Avoiding an all-out battle (in stark contrast to Gates’s disastrous approach), Greene instead pestered the British force with a hit-and-run campaign. Utilizing the Americans’ knack for fast retreat, he adroitly picked side skirmishes that he could win and then slipped away before Cornwallis could squash his army. Hamilton marveled at Greene’s ingenuity with his “destitute” troops, praising his ability to strike and quickly retreat as “a masterpiece of military skill and exertion.”18
In an attempt to keep up with his nimble foe as he chased the patriots throughout 1780 and into 1781, the infuriated Cornwallis destroyed all of his own heavy tents, most of his wagons, and even all provisions in excess of what his men could carry.19 Determined to decimate the Americans, he even resorted to grapeshot, a messy technique in which cannons were loaded with items ranging from metal slugs to rocks and glass. Unlike a single large cannonball, these pieces scattered throughout the field, ripping through soldiers’ flesh. Grapeshot was tactically costly, however; it was impossible to control, and the British therefore lost many to friendly fire. In one battle, between grapeshot and Greene’s relentless barrage, Cornwallis lost a quarter of his men.
Although Greene retreated repeatedly into 1781, leaving Cornwallis with technical triumphs, one British politician quipped from London, “Another such victory would destroy the British Army.”20 Cornwallis, still emotionally numb from the loss of his beloved wife, seemed to care little about the inhumanity of it all as his army disintegrated.
The American forces gradually wore down the once-superior British forces with masterful maneuvers. Washington monitored the southern campaign from New Jersey, where he was pinning Clinton down in the Northeast to prevent him from reinforcing Cornwallis’s beleaguered army. Washington and Greene were proving to be a dynamic tag team.
Though they did not realize it at the time, the Americans were drawing near to their great victory. And Washington would make sure that victory did not come at the expense of his fellow citizens’ liberties.
Washington defined the American commander in chief as the people’s defender. Fighting to establish a new republic in which the (white) American people enjoyed the right to “life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness,” he saw it as his duty to protect them from all threats—whether foreign or domestic.
On this principle, he ordered his troops “to preserve tranquility and order . . . and give security to individuals of every class and description [from] every species of persecution, insult or abuse, either from the soldiery to the inhabitants or among each other.”21 Even the Loyalists, he wrote, “those execrable Parricides, whose Counsels and Aid have deluged their Country with Blood, have been protected from the Fury of a justly-enraged People.”22
Washington strove to ensure that no American’s life or freedom would be torn away without a proper trial, as defined by the civil authorities. Thus, he routinely referred citizens to the courts that they prescribed.23 While these courts were typically lenient, they did occasionally apply severe penalties: they locked up Loyalists indefinitely, inflicted bizarre corporal punishment, and executed many. But Washington saw it as their prerogative to do so. He would reinforce the procedures determined by the civilian government, and let the cards fall where they may.
He was similarly careful of American property rights. Even though supplying his forces was a vexing problem,24 he confiscated property only with congressional approval and a plan for repayment.25 He took special care to avoid “greatly distressing the families” and to employ the proper procedures that citizens deserved.26 Washington would rather risk the lives of his troops than permit the military to violate citizens’ liberty. While the American commander in chief had vast powers in dealing with enemy combatants, he was conscious of his limitations when it came to impinging on the rights of fellow citizens. 27 Americans were to be protected and their liberty cherished.
The old bur oak that stands in Boyd-Parker Memorial Park in western New York may be viewed in two different lights. As the “Torture Tree,” it serves as a dark symbol of the horrors of war. Each side inflicted death and destruction upon the other. On this very ground, the Seneca mutilated patriots in the most horrendous manner imaginable. In turn, Americans under Washington’s command obliterated the thriving village that encircled the oak.
The tree may also be viewed as a beacon. Washington’s destructive response did not stem from cruelty, but from an ardent desire to defend Americans. In describing the character of the United States, Washington wrote, “Liberty is the Basis, and whoever would dare to sap the foundation, or overturn the Structure, under whatever specious pretexts he may attempt it, will merit the bitterest execration, and the severest punishment which can be inflicted by his injured Country.”28 Liberty was the battle cry of the Revolution, and Washington guarded it, ruthlessly.
Washington was intent on guarding against precedents by which the military might later subjugate freedom. He preached for the new nation to “avoid the necessity of those overgrown military establishments, which, under any form of government, are inauspicious to liberty, and which are to be regarded as particularly hostile to Republican Liberty.”29
Thomas Jefferson famously wrote, “The Tree of Liberty must be watered from time to time with the blood of patriots and tyrants.”30 He was not thinking of this bur oak, but in a way the Torture Tree is like the tree of liberty. Patriot blood watered that tree during Washington’s battle to protect his new nation. Those scouts’ sacrifice helped create the United States and define its principles. It is because of great American patriots like them and the many service men and women of subsequent generations that the oak stands in the peaceful little park today. The 250-year-old tree has withstood the ages as an enduring reminder of the ongoing struggle to preserve American liberty.
VI
COULD HAVE BEEN KING
“If he does that, he will be the greatest man in the world.”
—KING GEORGE III, 1783
America has lost a crucial piece of her history. But unlike the metaphorical sense in which time robs us of our memories, this piece was literally stolen. It was a pair of reading glasses, with surprisingly heavy frames made of solid silver, artfully hinged and elaborately hand engraved. The small, circular lenses were designed with +3.50 magnification to correct the presbyopia that afflicts all people as they age.1 Aside from being old, these tarnished glasses were seemingly ordinary. What made them priceless was the person whose vision they were believed to have corrected—George Washington.
In Washington’s time, eyeglasses were considered a sign of weakness. They displayed a vulnerability of which most men were deeply ashamed. Glasses were seen as a “humiliating disfigurement,” akin to a clubfoot or hunchback, but early America made an exception for this specific pair.2 These spectacles were cherished as a great relic of national history. They were enshrined at Independence Hall, which came to be a temple to the nation’s founding after the Constitutional Convention.
Prominently featured on the “New York” table near the bar in the Assembly Room, the glasses drew the fascination of Americans from all walks of life.3 Washington’s figurative vision had helped to forge the nation, and this simple device had helped to make his literal vision 20/20. The symbolism was likely not lost on the many proud men, women, and children who viewed them; these eyeglasses were treasured as a precious piece of Americana.
In fact, the spectacles proved to be all too precious. They were reported stolen at 9:35 A.M. on Saturday, August 19, 1967, in a mysterious heist that remains unsolved to this day.4 And with them, a tangible link to our past was lost. Without it, many more Americans are sure to forget that Washington’s eyeglasses quite literally saved the republic.5
The chapters in this part examine America’s approval of Washington’s wartime actions as detailed in Parts II through V. Washington saved the new nation from near destruction and led the way to victory. For doing so, he was revered to the point of near deification and became the model for all future American commanders in chief. Returning full circle back to Part I, this section explains how Washington’s wartime precedents defined the powers granted in the new Constitution to all future presidents.
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O God! It Is All Over!
Washington was beloved. As victory neared, his celebrity intensified. From soldiers to politicians to the general citizenry, the American people praised his military leadership. They had scrutinized Washington’s actions for years, avidly following the letters, newspaper reports, pamphlets, and (most often) word-of-mouth accounts that chronicled his exploits. Whether he was explaining the justification for torture, dictating military strategy, convening military tribunals, or defending citizens’ liberty, Americans watched intently as the nation hung in the balance. They liked what they saw.
By 1781, it had been years since Washington had won any great victory on the battlefield, but he was still adulated. As he orbited around New York City, hoping in vain to recapture it, he fought only small skirmishes. But his esteem was deeper and more subtle than that of a coach with a winning scorecard: he was the personification of the revolutionary struggle. Washington did not have many victories, but after nearly six years of battle, he still held the hearts of the people.
Americans credited his “good destiny and consummate prudence [for having] prevented want of success from producing want of confidence on the part of the public.”1 They praised not only his bravery and leadership, but also his impeccable character and astute handling of the messy war. “He was received with that heart felt exultation, which superior merit alone can inspire, after having, in his progress through the states, been honoured with every mark of affection and esteem which they conceived were due the man, the whole continent looked up to for safety and freedom.”2 And he soon won that freedom for them.
Nothing catapulted Washington’s popularity higher than winning the war. And thanks to Nathanael Greene’s southern campaign, he was on the verge. The American Southern Army had driven Cornwallis to Yorktown, Virginia, an unremarkable piece of southeastern Virginia that jutted into the York River. Inhabited by fewer than a couple thousand citizens nestled around its harbor, Yorktown was a diminutive port village that Cornwallis fancied a prime location from which to exploit Britain’s sea power. But the British could no longer count on their naval supremacy—the French fleet was finally on its way.
In a strange twist of fate, a failure of communication between Washington and his Southern Army proved crucial to winning the war. The Southern Army sent a message to Washington requesting that he support their Yorktown assault, while Washington simultaneously sent a message outlining his objective of retaking New York City. Only one reached its intended recipient. Fortuitously, Washington’s plan was intercepted, putting Clinton on high alert for an attack on New York and thus unwilling to divert troops to reinforce Cornwallis. But while Clinton was fretting over the north, Washington had received the Southern Army’s request for support. Having grown highly adaptable, he quickly devised another sneak attack back in his home state.3
Before he left his perch outside New York, Washington concocted a “judiciously concerted stratagem” to throw Clinton into alarm and prompt him to call back part of his forces from Virginia in order to defend his New York garrison.4 Washington—this time intentionally—began cultivating false information about a fake plan to attack Manhattan via Staten Island. He left a small skeleton army behind in order to create the illusion of an invasion force, ordering his men to pitch tents, keep the fires burning, and lay pontoons so that Clinton might believe they were preparing for an amphibious assault.5 His ruse set, Washington then ordered as many men as he could spare to march southward.
His designs were so secret that his own army was flummoxed. A doctor attending to the Continental Army described the situation as being like “some theatrical exhibition, where the interest and expectations of the spectators are continually increasing, and where curiosity is wrought to the highest point. Our destination has been for some time a matter of perplexing doubt and uncertainty.”6 That is exactly what Washington wanted.
However confused they were by his intentions, the troops held Washington in such high esteem that they placed “the fullest confidence” in his “capacious mind, full of resources.” The soldiers marching south had no idea where they were going or where they would fight, but they would follow their commander unquestioningly, trusting in the plans he held “under an impenetrable veil of secrecy.”7 Many of them believed they were preparing for an amphibious assault on New York rather than a 550-mile march down to Virginia—and so did Clinton.
Soon, Washington’s caravan of men, weapons, wagons, and camp wives and children streamed through New Jersey. Keeping step to the unusually swift beat of the fife and drum on those dry summer days, the soldiers kicked up a cloud of blinding dust into the hot air. His men were happy to follow their esteemed leader blindly (at times literally so, due to the dust) in order to fulfill his secret plan. As they raced, the ragged soldiers were “cheered with enthusiasm by the populace, who hailed them as the war-torn defenders of the country.”8
Clinton had no idea of Washington’s true intentions until the Continental Army had already marched all the way through New Jersey and crossed the Delaware River. He had duped his old adversary, but Washington worried that his plan would still fall apart. He was very much dependent on French naval support to block both Clinton’s reinforcements and Cornwallis’s retreat. Therefore, he and his officers had lobbied hard to get the French ships to leave their posts defending France’s interests in the Caribbean and come to assist in the American siege. The American Revolution had become a world war, with the French forces harassing the British from the Caribbean to Egypt to India. While such far-flung warfare indirectly aided the Americans by diverting British power, the Americans viewed the situation more myopically: they wanted the French to be directly involved in their fight. With only a small window of opportunity, the French agreed to make a detour to the waters surrounding Yorktown. Washington could only hope they would hold true to their word.
As the days ticked by without any sign of the French, Washington grew increasingly nervous that Cornwallis would slip away before his forces were positioned. He was “distressed beyond expression,” questioning whether the French warships would arrive before the British fleet could “frustrate all our flattering prospects.”9 When masts were spotted out over the water, both sides watched in great suspense to see which flags they flew. To the Americans’ jubilation—and Cornwallis’s dread—the summer horizon filled with fleurs-de-lis.
Winning the race, twenty-four French ships took up defensive positions in time to repel the nineteen British rescue warships that had finally been sent from New York City.10 “So unexpected a naval superiority on the side of the enemy—which far exceeded everything we had in prospect—was not a little alarming,” wrote a stunned Clinton, “and seemed to call for more than common exertion to evade the impending ruin.”11
When the aggressive French cannon sent the British ships recoiling back to New York, the Americans knew they finally had the upper hand. An officer informed Greene that they had gotten Cornwallis “handsomely in a pudding bag.”12 Another said, “Cornwallis may now tremble for his fate, for nothing but some extraordinary interposition of his guardian angels seems capable of saving him and his whole army from captivity.”13
Washington began pounding Cornwallis with a terrifying artillery barrage. He sent his French troops and a contingent of Americans under his trusty protégé Hamilton to confront British defensive positions. The allied forces trounced the British, and Cornwallis grew desperate to escape with what was left of his men. His guardian angels did not save him after all. Once again, the elements came to the Americans’ aid, as a sudden storm prevented Cornwallis from fleeing northward into the night.14 The allied American and French forces had sealed him in.
Riding to the front line, Washington appeared almost godlike as he fearlessly dismounted his horse amidst the British fire. One of his aides, “solicitous for his safety,” suggested nervously, “Sir you are exposed here. Had you not better step a little back?” To which Washington replied, “if you are afraid, you have liberty to step back.”15 Washington struck a few ceremonial blows into the ground with a pickax and the Americans dug in for a siege. Finally, they were the ones attacking.
As Cornwallis and his men hunkered down within the city praying for Clinton to rescue them, the American and French forces rained metal upon their prostrate bodies. One patriot described the ships as “enwrapped in a torrent of fire . . . spreading with vivid brightness among the combustible rigging” against the night sky, “while all around was thunder and lightning from our numerous cannon and mortars.” In his eyes, it was “one of the most sublime and magnificent spectacles which can be imagined.” The Americans marveled at the magnitude of the cannon fire hitting the town and the river beyond, sending up “columns of water like the spouting of monsters of the deep.”16
Cornwallis found the spectacle far less entertaining. He realized that reinforcements would not arrive in time, and “thus expired the last hope of the British army.”17 Thinking it “wanton and inhuman to the last degree to sacrifice the lives of [his] small body of gallant soldiers,” Cornwallis drafted his surrender in October 1781.18 Washington, expressing his “Ardent Desire to spare the further Effusion of Blood,” accepted the surrender on generous terms: Britain’s army at Yorktown would surrender to Washington and its navy to the French.19 The Americans would take the common soldiers prisoner, but allow Cornwallis and his officers to retain their private property and return home. Washington thus came off as not only triumphant, but magnanimous.
The surrendering British, on the other hand, were not viewed so positively. One New Jersey officer wrote that “the British officers in general behaved like boys who had been whipped at school. Some bit their lips; some pouted; others cried. Their round, broad-brimmed hats were well-adapted to the occasion, hiding those faces they were ashamed to show.”20 Cornwallis, who had so often “appeared in splendid triumph at the head of his army,” now sailed in disgrace back to England, where only his wife’s grave was awaiting him.21
When news of Yorktown reached Congress, they did not even have enough money to pay the messenger. But, after taking up a collection from among themselves to settle the tab, the congressmen—and the rest of America—could rejoice. Washington had finally humbled the British Empire.
Word of America’s great victory took over a month to sail across the Atlantic. When news arrived on the British Isles in late November 1781, it was met with shock and humiliation. The prime minister of the British Parliament, Lord North, took the news like “a ball in his breast.” He “opened his arms, exclaiming wildly, as he paced up and down[,] ‘O God! it is all over!’”22 And it was. After suffering 25,000 military deaths and losing more battles than they had won, the American forces had humbled the mightiest empire on earth.
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Winning the Peace
The British people sued for peace. Anticlimactically for him, Clinton lost his post as British commander in a whimper rather than a grand battle with Washington. His legacy was mixed: some described him as “an honourable and respectable officer” and others as “fool enough to command an army when he is incapable of commanding a troop of horse.”1 In his own defense, Clinton attempted to pin the blame on Cornwallis, who shot back by publicly reciting the strategic blunders of his former commander. Clinton would continue to serve his country as a soldier and a politician. But when he departed New York for London in the spring of 1782 and resumed his seat in Parliament, this body was much different from the one he had left at the beginning of the war.
The British Parliament was deeply shaken by the loss at Yorktown. Antiwar factions took over, and Lord North, saying that “the fatal day has come,” resigned as prime minister.2 King George III accepted his resignation with dread. While he had previously enjoyed control over Parliament, he now faced a legislature that not only wanted to end his war, but also declared that “the power of the Crown has increased, is increasing, and ought to be diminished.”3 Now even his throne was in question.
The king had closely identified his own honor with winning the war. He was said to have aspired to “keep the rebels harassed, anxious, and poor, until the day when, by a natural and inevitable process, discontent and disappointment were converted into penitence and remorse.”4 But the will of his people had changed, thus making his continued crusade impossible. And so he drafted his abdication.
George III was convinced that the shift in Parliament had “totally incapacitated Him from either conducting the War with effect, or from obtaining any Peace but on conditions which would prove destructive” to Britain. Therefore, he felt obliged to take “the painful step of quitting . . . for ever.”5 Although he never submitted the abdication and even managed to fend off major changes to the monarchy, he suffered emotionally and endured bouts of insanity.6 He nevertheless retained the thrown until his death in 1820, becoming the longest-ruling British monarch up to that time.7 But he spent the rest of his days knowing that he would go down in history as the king who lost the American colonies.
After Yorktown, the Americans had not won yet, however. They still needed to navigate the treacherous peace process, which proved to be an international diplomatic struggle of colossal magnitude and deep intrigue. As former allies secretly turned against one another and bitter foes joined forces, it appeared probable that the American novices would be diplomatically outmaneuvered by the shrewd old European powers. They were rabbits in a fox den. But as they had shown throughout the war, the wily Americans could outfox just about anyone.
The peace talks would fundamentally shape the future of the new nation, but America’s great leader was not at the table. Instead, Washington held down the home front while Benjamin Franklin, John Adams, and John Jay, a thirty-five-year-old congressman, took the helm in Europe.8 These three men, all brilliant, could not have been any more different in temperament. Franklin was cunning and reserved, while Adams was direct and irascible, and Jay suspicious and isolationist.9 Together they made a formidable team.
And all their skills would be needed to navigate the tangled web of old alliances and grudges. The European powers were prepared to step all over the United States in pursuit of their own interests. In fact, America’s closest ally, France, intended to hijack the peace process in order to obtain the spoils for its Crown. After all, the French had entered the war more out of hatred for the British than any grand love of liberty. And the American peace delegation was not under any illusions otherwise. John Jay was particularly distrustful of French motives. “They are interested in separating us from Great Britain,” he surmised, “and on that point we may, I believe, depend upon them; but it is not their interest that we should become a great and formidable people, and therefore they will not help us to become so.”10
Jay was correct. As long as it meant more leverage for their Crown, the French were willing to allow Britain to hold on to the Midwest, Savannah, Charleston, Maine, and even New York City, thus leaving the United States a not-so-peaceful piece of Swiss cheese.11 To add to their treachery, the French conspired with the Spanish to block the United States’ territorial expansion. For a time, they were even willing to permit the British to deny recognition of the United States’ independence at the outset of the talks!12
It appeared likely that the duplicitous French would succeed in their plans. They not only possessed money, power, and diplomatic expertise, but had influence in the American Congress. “I can do what I please with them,” wrote one French agent in the United States.13 There was even speculation that the French had bribed General Sullivan, who was a congressman at the time. Whether this was true or not, they successfully lobbied Congress to grant them the lead in the peace talks.14 The hoodwinked congressmen decided to place the French court “in possession of sufficient power to make a peace”15 and instructed Franklin, Adams, and Jay to make “no step without the approbation of His Majesty,” the king of France.16 However, Franklin, Adams, and Jay were not men to follow another’s lead.
In a stunning turn of events, the three American peace commissioners ignored this congressional directive and began separate talks with the British. Adams felt, “amidst all these doublings and windings of European politics,” that the Americans should “have opinions, principles, and systems of [their] own.”17 In a coded letter, Jay explained, “Had I not violated the instructions of Congress their dignity would have been in the dust,” for the French were not seeking America’s best interests.18 Suspecting that the French were trying to stall the talks until they captured British territory in Europe, the Americans ignored French opposition to the move and demanded that the British acknowledge American independence as a preliminary to any discussions.
The British proved surprisingly compliant. Because Britain was now engaged in a world war with their arch enemies, the “rebellious colonies” were no longer as high a priority as they had been just a few years prior. In fact, the British were most anxious to drive a wedge between the Americans and the French, fearing that a lasting alliance between them would effectively counter their power for as long as it endured. And so they looked for cracks in the “friendship of convenience.” Those cracks were easy to find—a rift between the allies became readily apparent to the British when the French sent a secret envoy to Britain in an attempt to block the Americans’ demands for fishing rights off Nova Scotia. John Jay intercepted a ciphered French letter on the matter and likewise wrote to the British requesting that they not allow the French and Spanish to wield too much influence in the peace talks. The British smelled blood. They needed only to take advantage of the “profound feud [that] had sprung up between the Americans and their European allies.”19 Luckily for the Americans, the British saw a quick peace with the United States as the best means of doing so.
Leveraging the British agenda, Franklin, Adams, and Jay negotiated a sweetheart deal. They won recognition of American independence, doubled the nation’s landmass by extending it west to the Mississippi River, and gained fishing “liberties” off the coasts of New England and Canada. While the British pushed for the Americans to restore the Loyalists’ confiscated property, Congress agreed only to recommend that the states do so—a recommendation they were very likely to ignore. Instead, the United States would stick the British with the bill. If they wanted those Americans who supported their cause to be compensated, the Parliament would have to dig into its own coffers.
Franklin informed the French of America’s separate peace. They were not pleased. “The English buy peace rather than make it,” one Frenchman seethed, adding, “Their concessions exceed all that I could have thought possible.” The French saw this “dream” treaty as a blatant ploy by the British for “the defection of the Americans.”20 A breach between the allies seemed inevitable.
Like a stern father, the French diplomat Charles Gravier, comte de Vergennes, scolded Franklin, “I am at a loss, sir, to explain your conduct and that of your colleagues on this occasion. You have concluded your preliminary articles without any communication between us, although the instructions from Congress prescribe that nothing shall be done without the participation of the King.”21 A sixty-five-year-old member of the French aristocracy, Vergennes had been instrumental in convincing France to aid the Americans. He had helped persuade the Crown to throw its army and navy into the battle and even loan the Americans $31 million. Now it was becoming clear that the French had been duped out of their chance to obtain territory and other spoils. Instead, Americans reaped the rewards of the French investment.
The cunning Franklin delicately replied that the Americans, as novices, had blundered and had not intended to cut out the French.22 “But as this was not from want of respect to the King, whom we all love and honor, we hope it will be excused,” he wrote, and he hoped that what the two nations had accomplished together would “not be ruined by a single indiscretion of ours.”23 Franklin dissembled, of course. Appealing to France’s self-interest, he aimed to close the public breach by concluding with a wily suggestion: “The English, I just now learn, flatter themselves they have already divided us. I hope this little misunderstanding will therefore be kept a secret, and that they will find themselves totally mistaken.”24 The befuddled French could do little to fix the situation. Making the most of bad circumstances, they decided to mend the rift in order to avoid handing the British their objective of splitting their enemies.
Jefferson summed up America’s reception of the treaty when he wrote to Jay, “The terms obtained for us are indeed great, and are so deemed by your country.”25 Washington’s protégé, Hamilton, remarked that the peace terms exceeded “the expectations of the most sanguine.”26 But despite this grand diplomatic victory, all was not well for America. While Franklin was outsmarting Europe, Washington was busy trying to stop a brewing insurrection.
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Spectacles & Speculation
Even as the Americans were nearing “the greatest achievement in the history of American diplomacy” by scoring such a favorable peace treaty, their republic was far from safe.1 Its own military nearly toppled it. From Washington’s perspective, the war was still on until the treaty was signed and the British were removed. Because of “their former infatuation with duplicity and [the] perverse system of British policy,” he said, he was “induced to doubt everything, to suspect everything.” 2 He even suspected that the peace talks were a ruse and was certain that “the King will push the war as long as the nation will find men or money.”3 Thus, after his victory over Cornwallis at Yorktown in October 1781, he returned with his wearied army to corner the British troops holed up in New York City. Many saw this move as a power play.
Some Americans believed that Washington would take control of the country after the war. His insistence on maintaining the army at full strength despite the looming peace appeared to signal that he was unwilling—or perhaps unable, considering Congress’s ineptitude—to relinquish his quasi-monarchical power.4 Adding credence to this theory, reports abounded that Hamilton, possibly while intoxicated, expressed his belief that the nation would be far better off if Washington marched with his troops into Philadelphia and disbanded Congress.5 In fact, Washington’s leadership during the war was so highly regarded by the American people that many welcomed the idea—especially his troops.
“Great discontents prevailed” in the Continental Army, even as the end of the war was in sight. By the spring of 1782, Washington’s men had been rendered nearly destitute, and on some days “they were absolutely in want of provisions.” Congress and the states could barely feed the troops, let alone keep up with their salaries. Many soldiers doubted they would ever see even half the pay they had been promised, and “fears began to be expressed that, in the event of peace, they would all be disbanded with their claims unliquidated and themselves cast upon the community penniless, and unfitted, by long military habitudes, for gainful pursuits of peace.”6 Such fears were justified, as some state legislatures indeed discussed abolishing the Continental Army so that they might void their responsibility to pay the troops.7
The soldiers turned to their commander for help. One who directly approached Washington was Colonel Lewis Nicola. Born to a British officer in Ireland, Nicola had followed his father’s footsteps into the British Army. He served for decades in Irish garrisons before leaving the army and emigrating to Philadelphia, where he ran a dry goods store and founded a library. Some saw him as “feather-headed and irresponsible,” a claim that may be supported by his avid job-hopping: he also tried his hand as an author, pub owner, and teacher before returning to military life as an American soldier. Having developed a professional, but not particularly friendly, relationship with Washington, he wrote his commander in May 1782 to convey his ideas for the future of the country.8
In his carefully crafted letter, Nicola reminded Washington that the soldiers were growing restless and resentful of the government, which they saw as inefficient and ineffective. In fact, the troops were so desperate to obtain their rightful pay that they were willing to fight for their “pecuniary rights.” Nicola explained, “God forbid we should ever think of involving that country we have, under your conduct & auspices, rescued from oppression, into a new scene of blood & confusion; but it cannot be expected we should forego claims on which our future subsistance & that of our families depend.”9 Even more alarming was Nicola’s proposed solution.
Admitting that he did not favor “a republican form of government,” Nicola suggested that the country experiment with a constitutional monarchy in the image of Great Britain. He outlined a “scheme” in which Congress would compensate the soldiers and then delineate a “tract in some of the best of those fruitful & extensive countries to the west of our frontiers” that might be “formed into a distinct State under such mode of government as those military who choose to remove to it may agree on.” Since the wartime experience “must have shown to all, but to military men in particular the weakness of republics,” he predicted that this new state would adopt a monarchical government.10
Nicola pointed to the Continental Army’s successes “under a proper head,” meaning Washington himself. It was “uncontroverted,” he believed, that “the same abilities which have lead us [sic], through difficulties apparently insurmountable by human power, to victory and glory, those qualities that have merited and obtained the universal esteem and veneration of an army, would be most likely to conduct and direct us in the smoother paths of peace.”11 Many inferred from this letter that Nicola, and possibly a growing chorus in the army, wished for Washington to be king.12
Whatever the letter’s precise intent, Washington was appalled. He shot back that very same day, “you could not have found a person to whom your schemes are more disagreeable.” Viewing Nicola’s proposals “with abhorrence,” Washington remonstrated, “no occurrence in the course of the War, has given me more painful sensations than your information of there being such ideas existing in the Army as you have expressed.” He was offended by the suggestion that he might participate in such a scheme, saying, “I am much at a loss to conceive what part of my conduct could have given encouragement to an address which to me seems big with the greatest mischiefs that can befall my Country.”13
Washington was willing to help alleviate the plight of the soldiers, but only via the existing republican system. Although he himself had criticized Congress, he staunchly opposed the establishment of a monarchy in the likeness of the one he had fought against for so many years. He would play no part in ending the republic that he played a pivotal role in creating. Sounding like the strict stepfather that he was, Washington ordered Nicola “to banish these thoughts from your Mind, and never communicate, as from yourself, or any one else, a sentiment of the like Nature.”14 He considered this response to Nicola so momentous that he demanded—for the only time during the war—that his aides provide proof that it had been sealed and posted.15
Nicola indeed received the scathing rebuke and promptly replied with three repentant letters. Despite Nicola’s mea culpa, discontent continued to seethe within the army, however. If the soldiers were compensated, wrote one officer, they would be “the lambs and bees of the community,” but if not, they were likely to become “its tigers and wolves.”16 By the start of 1783, those wolves began to growl.
As the war wound down, Washington settled with his troops in winter quarters near West Point, in the town of Newburgh, New York. No longer burdened by battles, marches, or fear of attack, the troops milled about, anxiously contemplating their future. And if idle hands do the devil’s work, here in Newburgh the devil was using them to foment a military coup.
The intrigue began to unfold when the destitute army readied “to procure justice to itself,” just as Nicola had foretold.17 On March 10, 1783, two anonymous tracts circulated, calling on the soldiers to “assume a bolder tone” with Congress and “never sheath your swords . . . until they had obtained justice.”18 The troops were exhorted to do something about a “country that tramples upon your rights, disdains your cries and insults your distresses.” Declaring that the army would not “Go, starve and be forgotten,” the mysterious author—signing the tracts only as “a fellow soldier”—urged the troops “to oppose tyranny, under whatever garb it may assume; whether it be the plain coat of republicanism, or the splendid robe of royalty.”19
When his officers planned an unauthorized meeting to discuss the situation, Washington saw a grave threat brewing: it appeared that the army was sliding down a slippery slope towards mutiny and even armed conflict with Congress. He foresaw the possibility of the army marching to Philadelphia to demand their pay at gunpoint. Trembling with anger and shock, he intervened.20
Washington blasted the unapproved meeting and vowed “to arrest, on the spot, the foot that stood wavering on a tremendous precipice, to prevent the Officers from being taken by surprize while the passions were all inflamed, and to rescue them from plunging themselves into a gulph of Civil horror from which there might be no receding.”21 Although he sympathized with his men and even admitted that the anonymous call to action was an elegant “force of expression,” he needed to nip the uprising in the bud.22 It could send the country spiraling into civil war, perhaps lead to military rule, or even invite the British to resume hostilities.23 Washington forbade the unauthorized meeting and proposed, instead, his own meeting of officers for March 15 so that they might air their grievance via ordinary channels.24 Plus, this would give them a few days to cool off.
Since the commander was not expected to attend this meeting, his old rival Horatio Gates would chair it. This was ironic, because circumstantial evidence pointed to his involvement in the plot: the two anonymous tracts were believed to have been written by his former aide and his current aide, thus leading some to pin the culpability squarely on “Gates and those around him.”25 Although his military ascent may have been halted, his political ambitions remained active. But with little direct proof linking Granny Gates to the scheme, it was unclear whether he had been pulling the strings or merely lending a sympathetic ear. Regardless, with the tract exhorting the troops to “suspect the man who would advise to more moderation,” namely Washington, the commander was in danger.26
On the day of the meeting, the officers anxiously milled within a building called the “Temple of Virtue” due to its use as a church, dance hall, and Masonic lodge.27 But at noon on that Saturday, the Temple was far from sanctified. A palpable anger permeated the hall along with the aroma of its freshly milled wood. The murmur of complaints was abruptly cut off by an unexpected attendee—Washington had entered.
Washington’s solid steps echoed through the cavernous room. He strode to the front and stood before his surprised officers. Although a man of astonishing control over his emotions, Washington was “sensibly agitated.”28 It being the first and only time that he stood in opposition to his men, he began by reading a lengthy address from a script, uncharacteristically replete with exclamation points.29 Washington reminded the stone-faced officers of his own devotion to them as their “constant companion and witness of [their] distress.” He pledged to use his power to champion their cause and entreated them to “place full confidence in the purity of intentions of Congress.”30 He next turned to castigating the “insidious foe” who had penned the anonymous letters, decrying:
this dreadful alternative of either deserting our country in the extremest hour of her distress, or turning our arms against it, which is the apparent object, unless Congress can be compelled into instant compliance. My God! what can this writer have in view, by recommending such measures? Can he be a friend to the army? Can he be a friend to this country?31
He ordered his men to join with him in suppressing this movement to “overturn the liberties of our country and deluge our rising empire in blood.” Attempting to rouse their “sacred honor,” he implored them to “give one more distinguished proof of unexampled patriotism and patient virtue, rising superior to the pressure of the most complicated sufferings.”32
Washington’s men were mostly unmoved—hunger trumped words. For all his political genius, he was proving ineffective in maneuvering the country from the verge of a military coup. Looking at the faces of the men before him, Washington sighed. He had failed. But, as had happened so many times throughout his life, a twist of fate would save him—and the republic.
In a last-ditch effort, Washington reached into his coat pocket and pulled out a letter illustrating “the good disposition in Congress towards the army.”33 But he began to stumble through the closely written words of the congressman’s scribble. His officers leaned forward, “their hearts contracting with anxiety” as they observed their gallant commander suddenly appear confused and helpless.34 Then he reached into his pocket again and withdrew something they had never seen: his spectacles.
By April 1783, Washington was fifty-one years old and had aged noticeably since attaining his commission as commander in chief eight years earlier. Violent bloodshed, crushing defeat, stinging sleet, and untold hardships had turned the youthful farmer into a haggard veteran. As inevitably happens, his eyesight eroded along with his youth. During the last part of the war, he had begun borrowing eyeglasses from his officers. Increasingly dependent on them to keep up with his voluminous correspondence, he contacted David Rittenhouse, a renowned mathematician, astronomer, inventor, and optical expert. Washington asked him to craft a pair of spectacles, sending him the borrowed lenses that best met his needs so that Rittenhouse would “know how to grind his Christals.”35 Honored, Rittenhouse promptly began the task at his workshop in Philadelphia. After less than a month, Washington received two pairs of eyeglasses, one with ornate silver frames, and was pleased at how they “shew those letters very distinctly which at first appear like a mist blended together and confused.”36
Rittenhouse had donated his own time and expertise, but asked reimbursement from Washington for the silversmith’s charge. Had he known how prominently the glasses would be featured in the annals of history, he may have absorbed the extra cost and portrayed himself for posterity as even more generous.
As he brought the spectacles to his eyes in the Temple of Virtue, Washington self-consciously told his officers, “Gentlemen, you must pardon me. I have grown gray in the service of my country and now find myself growing blind.”37 They had never seen him exhibit vulnerability before. This was the man who refused to flinch as musket and cannon fire whizzed past his face. Ignoring the words coming from his mouth, they instead fixated on the imagery. This display, “so natural, so unaffected,” was “superior to the most studied oratory,” reported one witness, adding that “it forced its way into the heart, and you might see sensibility moisten every eye.” As Washington spoke, “every doubt was dispelled, and the tide of patriotism rolled again in its wonted course. Illustrious man!”38 With one unplanned gesture, Washington had melted their anger and possibly saved the republic. He departed the hall, and his officers reaffirmed their support for him and for the United States government. Eventually, the soldiers did receive much of the pay owed them.
The Continental Congress approved the peace treaty on April 15, 1783, and it was officially signed on September 3. Thanks to Washington’s leadership, America had won the war. The fight was bloody. It was messy. The nation had fumbled time and again. But America did what it took to win and the United States emerged triumphant as a democratic republic. Now the world wondered: what would happen next?
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The Greatest Man in the World
While sitting for a portrait, King George III questioned the American-born painter Benjamin West about General Washington’s plans for the future. Although he was now the royal court painter, living in London, West retained friendships in America and kept abreast of happenings across the Atlantic. In fact, he so fiercely clung to his roots that he bravely confessed to the king his desire to paint a portrait of Washington.1 The king thus viewed West as a window into the American psyche and was said to have asked him whether he thought Washington would retain control of the army or immediately become the head of state. West replied, “They say he will return to his farm.” According to the legend, the king let out a huff of disbelief and said, “If he does that, he will be the greatest man in the world.”2 He would.
The British evacuated New York City on November 25, 1783. Not above petty antics, the redcoats nailed a British flag to a sixty-foot flagpole at the Battery, greasing the pole to make the Americans look foolish when they struggled to remove it. They also went about removing any Stars and Stripes prematurely raised. According to lore, when a drunken Bloody Bill Cunningham spotted one such flag outside Day’s Tavern in Harlem, he went to tear it down. To his great surprise, the “robust” Mrs. Day burst from the tavern, fist and broom flying. Beaten until “the powder flew from his wig,” Cunningham retreated with a bloody nose.3 He would live out his last few years in Britain before he was convicted for forgery and hanged. Poetic justice was served.
Once all the troops and fleeing Loyalists were aboard, the majestic warships’ sails filled with the wind and they slowly set off for the British Isles. Throngs of gloating patriots lined the wharves to jeer the humiliated redcoats and the thousands of Loyalists who accompanied them. In anger, the British responded with a boom, firing a cannon towards their hecklers. The lead ball splashed harmlessly into the river, and as it sank into the dark gray waters, the last vestige of British rule in the United States disappeared along with it.
Having secured the nation’s independence at last, Washington marched into New York City to a jubilant racket of fife, drum, and fanfare. Like returning home after much time away, even the intact neighborhoods of the bustling island appeared intangibly altered despite the familiar facades. Whether it was the city that changed or the viewer, Washington cared little. He had yearned to retake Manhattan for so long, but now he cared most about getting home to Mount Vernon.
He ordered his officers to Fraunces Tavern for a meeting on December 4, 1783. The stately brick inn had served as a meeting place for the Sons of Liberty at the outbreak of war, and then, during the British occupation, the Freemason who ran the tavern served as an American spy. Considering the central role it played throughout the Revolution, Washington viewed the handsome corner tavern as the perfect place for an impromptu goodbye.
Raising a glass of Madeira, Washington stood to address the three dozen officers gathered in the long banquet hall. With sidelong rays of the weak December sun pouring in through the tall windows of the elegant room, he took a moment of “almost breathless silence” to gaze upon the men in their blue and gold uniforms. “His emotions were too strong to be concealed which seemed to be reciprocated by every officer present,” recounted one of those officers.4 Together they had fought, shivered, and suffered for so many years, but it was over at last. Washington could finally say, “With a heart full of love and gratitude I now take leave of you. I most devoutly wish that your latter days may be as prosperous and happy as your former ones have been glorious and honorable.”5
The aloof general—a man who normally was not to be touched—then surprised everyone: he began doling out kisses. His deep voice announced, “I cannot come to each of you but shall feel obliged if each of you will come and take me by the hand.”6 The first officer to approach him received more than he expected. Washington, “suffused in tears, was incapable of utterance but grasped his hand when they embraced each other in silence. In the same affectionate manner every officer in the room marched up to, kissed, and parted with this General-in-Chief.”7 The speechless room turned into a “scene of sorrow and weeping.” After embracing the last man, Washington raised his arm to wave farewell to “his grieving children” and departed without looking back.8 He was ready to go home.
Washington boarded a barge and set out to visit Congress. This conduct elicited “astonishment and amazement,” for it was “so novel, so inconceivable to People, who, far from giving up powers they possess, are willing to convulse the Empire to acquire more.”9 As he headed south from New York City, Washington was worshipped. “I saw the greatest man who has ever appeared on the surface of the earth,” boasted a Dutch businessman who witnessed his passage through Philadelphia. “. . . We all waved our hats three times over our heads . . . . I don’t know if, in our delight at seeing the Hero, we were more surprised by his simple but grand air or by the kindness of the greatest and best of hero.”10 A French army chaplain, though not a huge fan of Americans, likewise reported,
Through all the land, he appears like a benevolent god; old men, women, and children—they all flock eagerly to catch a glimpse of him when he travels and congratulate themselves because they have seen him. People carry[ing] torches follow him through the cities; his arrival is marked by public illuminations; the Americans, though a cold people . . . have waxed enthusiastic about him and their first songs inspired by spontaneous sentiments have been consecrated to the glorification of Washington.11
While Washington was uncomfortable with such extravagant praise, he had little choice but to accept it. America was more than pleased with her first commander in chief. Stories of his grand exploits were on the tip of every tongue. Scrutinized throughout the war, Washington was accustomed to being the focus of public attention, but this most recent wave of admiration reached new heights. One observer found it amusing that, “in a place so crowded with the fair sex, everybody had eyes only for this Hero. Indeed, we only now and then stole a glance at our girls. His Excellency drew everyone’s attention.”12 Now that was celebrity.
For the last eight years, Washington’s actions as commander in chief had been under intense scrutiny by Congress, the state legislatures, and the American people. His wartime record had “been often detailed” and was “familiar to almost every person.”13 From the highest politician to the humblest everyman, they loved what they heard. The “public mind pointed to him as the most proper person for presiding over the military arrangements of America. Not only Congress, but the inhabitants in the east and west, in the north and south . . . were in great degree unanimous in his favor.”14 One admirer quoted scripture to liken him to Moses: “he was beloved of God and men . . . . The Lord magnified him so that his enemies stood in fear of him, and he made him glorious in the fight of kings.”15 And Washington’s reputation only grew with his next move: he resigned.
Washington paid Congress a special visit. The transient assembly had since transferred to Annapolis, Maryland, in hopes that the city’s balls and theaters might coax the chronically absent delegates to actually attend its sessions.16 Approaching the lively city on December 19, 1783, Washington waded through the welcoming dignitaries and fawning citizens. On the 22nd, America threw a grand ball in his honor. Here, he toasted to “competent powers to Congress” and danced all evening with the star-struck young belles as he bathed in America’s gratitude.17 Ready to take his place in history, he awoke the next morning and prepared himself for what he thought would be his final public act.
Wearing his commander-in-chief uniform for the last time, he walked into the Maryland statehouse at noon on December 23. A sense of almost mythic magnitude pervaded the elegant classical chamber as Washington stood before the doting congressmen, while a crowd of gushing spectators in the back of the room peered over a balcony supported by bright Ionic columns. Like a scene out of the Iliad, Washington was viewed as a demigod. Feeling the momentousness of the occasion, he was overcome with emotion. His right hand, holding his prepared speech, shook so violently that he needed to steady it with his left.18
Deeply affected, Washington humbly offered his “sincere Congratulations to Congress” and requested “the indulgence of retiring from the Service of my Country.”19 His voice “faltered and sank and the house felt his agitations”20 as he choked out the words, “I consider it an indispensable duty to close this last solemn act of my Official life, by commending the Interests of our dearest Country to the protection of Almighty God.” In dramatic yet genuine fashion, he composed himself and concluded with a flourish: “Having now finished the work assigned me, I retire from the great theatre of Action; and . . . take my leave of all the employments of public life.”21 His horses waiting out front, Washington nobly departed amidst the audience’s cries of admiration.
An admirer remarked that from the time Washington entered New York in triumph until he resigned his commission, “festive crowds impeded his passage through all the populous towns, the devotion of a whole people pursued him with prayers to Heaven for blessings on his head, while their gratitude fought the most expressive language of manifesting itself to him as their common father and benefactor.”22 But this demigod just wanted to go back to his farm.
After sleeping in over two hundred different locations through the previous nine years, he finally returned to Mount Vernon on December 24, 1783. This Christmas he could finally look forward to surprising not Hessians, but his loving family. As a heavy snow blanketed the estate, he settled back into a peaceful existence. Reflecting on where his path had taken him, he wrote,
I feel now, however, as I conceive a wearied Traveller must do, who, after treading many a painful step, with a heavy burden on his shoulders, is eased of the latter, having reached the Goal to which all the former were directed; and from his House top is looking back, and tracing with a grateful eye the Meanders by which he escaped the quicksands and Mires which lay in his way; and into which none but the All-powerful guide, and great disposer of human Events could have prevented his falling.23
He would live happily as a gentleman farmer for a precious few years—until called upon to oversee the creation of the United States Constitution.24
George Washington’s actions throughout the Revolutionary War reveal much about what powers the founding generation meant to bestow on the president. With the Revolution, they established a new and radical republic. They consciously sought to break away not only from British dominance but also from the monarchical mold. They needed to develop their own alternative. In forming their understanding of the appropriate powers for the United States president and commander in chief, the Founders had before them the example of George Washington, their original commander in chief.
Washington had carefully defined the commander-in-chief powers through his actions, as he strove to defend the nation without trampling its republican principles. This was quite a balancing act and America watched intently, with many expecting him to stumble. Newspapers circulated accounts of Washington’s treatment of prisoners. Politicians wrote letters detailing the commander’s war powers. Soldiers gossiped about his military commissions. Citizens witnessed his defense of their rights. Washington’s precedents were known. And they were loved.
He was hailed as “the great soldier of liberty—a man whose exceptional virtue and patriotism assured final triumph. ”25 In fact, so great was the public approval of his wartime conduct that few debate whether Washington could have made himself king.26 But instead, he became a legend.
When it came time to vote on the new Constitution, the states all elected delegates to their individual ratifying conventions. When these delegates saw the words naming the president “Commander in Chief of the Army and Navy of the United States,” they knew exactly what that meant: the powers that the great soldier of liberty had shaped in the crucible of war. These war powers became officially fixed in the presidency once the states approved the Constitution one by one, and it went into operation on September 13, 1788. 27
When they set about to fill this new executive office, Americans could imagine no one else but Washington in it. So his adoring countrymen promptly elected him the first president of the United States, with votes from 100 percent of the electors.28 In doing so, they placed him right back into the role that he had already defined for all future presidents: America’s commander in chief.
In the same way that eyes are the window to the soul, Washington is the window to presidential war powers. Washington’s eyes faced horrible prisoner abuse. They witnessed the emergence of dictatorial military might. They oversaw military commissions and swift executions of enemies of the state. They also carefully watched over American citizens’ lives and livelihoods. In fact, they had seen so much that they were deteriorating by the end of the war. But that would not impede the great man from defining the new nation.
With his spectacles, the “Father of Our Country” not only saved the republic from an incipient military coup but also wrote hundreds of letters to instruct posterity on how the American republic should defend itself from a perilous world. As always, he led by example, expressing what the new nation should—and should not—do in the name of liberty. We need his direction still.
Washington confronted issues similar to those we face today. And he triumphed. “Held in the highest veneration over the whole continent,” he epitomized to America what it meant to lead a United States at war.29 And when our Founders adopted the Constitution with him in mind, he became the model for all subsequent commanders in chief.30 It is about time we looked to that model for guidance.
In a gripping eulogy delivered upon Washington’s death in 1799, Pastor Jedidiah Morse said, “Washington was the directing spirit without which there would have been no independence, no Union, no Constitution and no Republic. His ways were the ways of truth. His influence grows. In wisdom of action, in purity of character he stands alone.” He “hoped posterity will be taught” how Washington transformed the nation, for stories of his deeds will undoubtedly be “instructive to future generations.”31
I hope so too. We still have much to learn from him.
EPILOGUE
GOVERNING FROM THE GRAVE
“No matter how ingenious, imaginative or artfully put, unless
interpretive methodologies are tied to the original intent of
the framers, they have no more basis in the Constitution than
the latest football scores. To be sure, even the most
conscientious effort to adhere to the original intent of the
framers of our Constitution is flawed, as all methodologies
and human institutions are; but at least originalism has the
advantage of being legitimate and, I might add, impartial.”1
—CLARENCE THOMAS, ASSOCIATE JUSTICE OF THE SUPREME
COURT OF THE UNITED STATES, 2008
In some fundamental respects, America’s current challenges in the ongoing War on Terror mirror those that General Washington faced well over two centuries ago. We have fierce debates today concerning war tactics, drone strikes on Americans, torture, military tribunals, citizens’ rights during wartime, and how to reconcile the needs of national defense with liberty and self-rule. It is not too late to learn from Washington’s leadership as we navigate our nation towards a better future.
We are lucky to have such a tremendous exemplar to help guide us through troubled times. We can study Washington himself and the founding generation’s writings for object lessons in leadership that were developed in the heat of battle and internal strife. To this day, the Founders illustrate how a republic may effectively confront and defeat mortal dangers while retaining its core values. But just in case we are not enlightened enough to learn from them volitionally, there is another important reason to study the founding generation: our legal system calls for it.
More precisely, the legal theory of originalism requires attention to the past. According to this theory of interpretation, the Constitution’s provisions have a fixed and discernible meaning that was established at the time of enactment. In order to determine what war powers are granted to today’s president, originalism bids us to study the founding era to explain what it meant to be “Commander in Chief of the Army and Navy of the United States” when the Constitution was enacted.
Originalists contend that because our democratic republic’s laws emanate from “we the people,” it is important to understand what the people who enacted these laws had in mind. Originalism calls for modern interpreters of the Constitution to ascertain what was meant by “commander in chief ” to the people when they enshrined their will in that document. Originalists reason that to do otherwise would subjugate the will of the people who created the law to the will of the unelected judges interpreting it.
This theory has some powerful adherents. In the 2008 District of Columbia v. Heller opinion, ruling on the meaning of the “right to bear arms,” the justices of the Supreme Court clearly displayed their originalist stripes. In fact, the Heller opinion has been described as “the most detailed display of originalist jurisprudence by a majority opinion in the Court’s history.”2 Led by Justice Antonin Scalia, an avowed originalist, the majority analyzed what the language of the Constitution meant to Americans of the founding era. Scalia’s opinion—which was joined by Chief Justice John Roberts and Justices Samuel Alito, Anthony Kennedy, and Clarence Thomas—reasoned that the Second Amendment, at the time it was enacted, was understood to allow citizens to possess firearms, even if not serving in a militia. With this opinion, the majority of the United States’ final arbiters of justice displayed their belief that history directly shapes modern law. And they are not alone.
Originalists come in many forms. Broadly speaking, liberal jurists and scholars tend to place less weight on original understanding than conservatives do, not least because originalist methodology tends to produce conservative results. But conservative judges are not alone in according at least some authority to history. It is notable, for example, that Justice John Paul Stevens’s dissent in Heller likewise focused on originalist arguments. The rest of the Supreme Court’s more liberal wing, which then consisted of Justices Stephen Breyer, Ruth Bader Ginsburg, and David Souter,3 joined Stevens in looking at the history of the Constitution’s drafting in order to elucidate its meaning. While they arrived at different conclusions based upon their specific analyses, what is most important to this discussion is that both sides relied on the history of the founding. The Heller opinion and dissent both reflect the common notion among judges and legal scholars that “triangulating from the wisdom of the past to the . . . circumstances of the present is at least the default point of departure,” as William Galston put it. He added, “The alternative to that is chaos.”4
There certainly are many scholars and jurists who are skeptical of originalism or even reject it altogether. Some of these critics claim that it is ridiculous to allow antiquated—and arguably unascertainable—notions from centuries past to govern modern society. They see the Constitution as a living document whose meaning should be adapted to the realities of our day. For example, what constituted “cruel and unusual” punishment in the eighteenth century may not be the same as how it is understood today. Proponents of a “living Constitution” argue that as times change, judges should reinterpret the words of the text in order to keep the document relevant, even if the new reading does not fit the original meaning or even the clear sense of the words.
Justice Scalia rejects this approach, arguing, “Every time you insert into the Constitution—by speculation—new rights that aren’t really there you are impoverishing democracy. You are pushing one issue after another off the democratic stage.”5 Rather than permit the voters and their legislators to decide issues, inserting new rules into the Constitution largely takes those choices out of their hands and into the courts. Scalia admits that originalism can serve to maintain antiquated laws that are no longer useful or beneficial. But our democratic republic has a solution for outdated laws, as Scalia points out: a law “may well be stupid, but if it’s stupid, pass a law” to replace it.6 The republic needs to pass new laws that better reflect the will of modern society, instead of allowing judges to discover new meanings in old law, thus aggrandizing their own role at the expense of the political process. In the case of a “stupid” or outdated constitutional provision, the people can amend the Constitution using the mechanisms that the forward-thinking Founders provided.
The interpretation of a law based on its meaning hundreds of years ago may sometimes yield results that appear to be absurd. For example, the Constitution names the president as “Commander in Chief of the Army and Navy.” The Framers did not anticipate airplanes, so does this mean that the president should not also command the Air Force? Many originalists consider this a straw-man argument because the phrase “Army and Navy” in the eighteenth century encompassed all the armed forces—and all their weaponry. Only the most comically hyper-literal originalist would believe it excludes the Air Force. Even so, this example illustrates how the meaning of the eighteenth-century text may conflict with contemporary common sense. But even if there were a genuine concern over this issue, there is a way to clarify that the president is the commander in chief of the Air Force: pass a constitutional amendment.
It is not the purpose of this book to advocate for a particular level of deference to originalism, or to contend that the history of the Constitution’s enactment should be the ending point of an inquiry into its meaning. Rather, I argue that historical understanding should at least be a starting point for interpreting the Constitution.7 People will have varying subjective convictions as to the merits of originalism in constitutional analysis, but even those who are intellectually opposed to it must agree that this mode of interpretation is objectively important if only because major players believe it is important.8 It is undeniable that history directly affects law and policy today.
There are various angles of history to look at, however, and thus there are different approaches to originalism, as the result in Heller suggests. Some scholars and jurists seek the “original intent” of those who wrote the Constitution. To interpret the Commander in Chief clause, they would aim to discern what the delegates to the Constitutional Convention intended that phrase to mean when they wrote it. They would examine the delegates’ diaries, the Federalist Papers, and other documents of the Framers to determine what war powers those men intended the Constitution to grant the president. Many academics and judges prefer to cast a broader net.
The more prominent branch of originalism seeks to determine the “original meaning” rather than the “original intent” of the Constitution. In this line of inquiry, one must look at history to determine how the constitutional text was understood by the “original readers—the citizens, polemicists, and convention delegates who participated in one way or another in ratification.”9 The idea is to ascertain the will of the entire people rather than just the elite few who drafted the document. The full “intent” of the Framers at the Constitutional Convention may not have been conveyed to the delegates at the state ratifying conventions, or the farmers in the field, through the Constitution’s brief words. Those seeking the “original meaning” of the Constitution’s Commander in Chief text would be interested not only in the delegates’ documents, but also in speeches, debates, newspapers, and even dictionaries of the time.10 This book, by drawing upon all of these sources, incorporates both major branches of originalism.
When the Founders adopted the Constitution, Washington’s precedents were no secret.11 His frequent letters communicated his views to Congress and the state legislatures, many of whose members became Framers of the Constitution.12 But his precedents were much more widely disseminated than that. His practices were likewise known by the soldiers who witnessed them, the townsfolk who talked about them, and the farmers who read the newspaper reports. The episodes recounted in this book were on the tips of the everyday tongue during the revolutionary years. The American people loved what they heard and exalted Washington for his military leadership.
To Americans of the time, the plain meaning of the phrase “Commander in Chief” was cast by their recent memories of the only commander in chief that the new nation had ever had. When they created the presidency, Washington personified what it meant to be commander in chief specifically, as well as the president more broadly. In fact, he was so fully identified with the role that when it came time to elect their first president, he received a vote from every single elector. When the American people ratified the Constitution, they envisaged their Revolutionary War commander as the legal model for all subsequent presidents.
While we can certainly derive personal enrichment from our founding generation’s struggles, the direct impact of those struggles on modern law provides a practical reason to study the revolutionary era. I am not attempting to oversimplify the weighty issues addressed in this book by arguing that “Washington did X, therefore the modern presidents can also do X under the powers granted them by the Commander in Chief clause.” Instead, I more humbly assert that the precedents set by Washington in wartime should be taken into consideration when we interpret the presidential powers established by the Constitution. Does the president have a constitutional power to torture foreign enemy combatants? Overrule Congress on war tactics? Deny formal trials to enemies? Trample on the rights of American citizens? At least consider our first commander in chief’s principles when searching for an answer.
George Washington’s actions as a leader in wartime demonstrate the moral and practical truths on which the nation was founded. In this way, the story of America’s first commander in chief both constrains and empowers contemporary occupants of the Oval Office. Luckily, General Washington set a good example. He still governs from the grave.
“The foundation of our Empire was not laid in the gloomy age of Ignorance and Superstition, but at an Epocha when the rights of mankind were better understood and more clearly defined, than at any former period . . . . At this auspicious period, the United States came into existence as a Nation, and if their Citizens should not be completely free and happy, the fault will be intirely their own.”13
—GEORGE WASHINGTON, 1783
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